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Over the last 100 years, we have been at the
forefront of the UK’s waste industry, collecting
15,000 tonnes of rubbish every day from 76,000
businesses and around 2.2 million households.
But our skills and capabilities stretch well
bevond the bins.

Today our operations span the entire breadth
of the waste management process including
collection, recycling, treatment, disposal and
energy generation.

We believe our 8,000+ team can lead the way in
achieving a sustainable future for the UK, helping
to change the way people think about waste.
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Performance Highlights

Continued growth

Financial Highlights Non-Financial Highlights
Statutory Revenue Net Revenue Underlying Lost Time Injury Rate COe Emissions
(£m) [Em] Operating Profit (£m] (%] [scope 1&2) (ktns)

£1,163.1m £1,102.8m £90.5m 0.23% 572ktns

Underlying Leverage Ratio (x] Statutory Profit Employee Total Renewable
Free Cash Flow (£m) after Tax (Em) Engagement [%) Energy Generated [MW)

£53.6m 2.4x £45.6m 58% 423MW

Dividend Statutory Earnings Underlying Earnings
per Share (pence) per Share (pence) per Share [pence)

2.47p 18.3p 23.1p

1. Fortechnical terms and abbreviations please refer tothe
glassary on pages 161 to 162.

2. The impact of IFRS 16 on FY20 results has been to increase
Underlying EBITDA by £18.9m, Underlying Operating
Profit by £2.8m, reduce Profit after Tax by £1.1m and
Underlying EPS by 0.5p. Net Debt has increased by £141m.
The impact on leverage is 0.6x.

3. Lost time injury rate refers to the number of 105t time
injuries relative to the number of ernployees calculated
over a specified time period.

4. Our total energy generated reduced as we diverted less

waste to landfill resulting in less landfill gas (which we
use to generate energy).
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Ata Glance

Creating value for
our stalkeholders

Biffa has an efficient and sustainable
business model. Qur ability to capture
value from the waste we collect and
through recycling, energy recovery

or safe disposal, is both profitable
and environmentally sustainable.

Abusiness model with
sustainability at its core

Our business is formed of two divisions: ‘Gollections’ and ‘Resources
and Energy’ {R&E). Collections encompasses our Industrial and
Commercial (I&0), Specialist Services and Municipal businesses
and provides collection, disposal and other services for businesses
and households. R&E which includes Recycling, Organics, Inerts and
Landfill Gas, focuses on serting, treating, processing and recycling
waste streams. See pages 21 to 24,

We have a strong track record of reinvesting in our businass, people,
infrastructure and systerns and processes, whilst providing positive
returns to pur shareholders over the lang-term.

We believe our strong heritage, brand and reputation give us a
competitive edge and males it challenging for new and existing
players to compete with us. As with most businesses across both
the UK and the globe, COVID-19 is undoubtedly testing the resilience
of our business model. However, we believe we have responded well
to the challenges (as detailed on pages 6 to 7) and continue to be
well placed. This is undoubtedly due to our swift response and the
hard work our people put in every day.

We have a deep and unrivalled understanding of the UK waste
market, which comes with over a century of experience. Our
expertise is often sought not only from our custormers, but

from the UK Government which values Biffa's opinion at alocal
and national level. This, along with our scalable infrastructure,
distinguishes us from our competitors and is why we believe we
have an exciting growth journey ahead.

Collect

We collect general waste and recyclate materials

Revenue sources
m Service fees for collection and disposal of commercial waste

& Qutsourced provision of household callection services

Costs

w Gate fegs payahle to third-party operators
(if waste cannot be pracessed at a Biffa facility)

m Vehicle, personnel and associated support services

Biffa Annual Report and Accounts 2020




100+ Leader

70 1&C depots

2 Polymers plastic recycling facilities

years of heritage in industry health & safety 15 Soil treatment and composting facilities
performance .
38 1&C waste transfer stations
I.\ l 1 ; ! 8 O O 11 Hazardous waste facilities
0 ] ’ 8 Operating landfill sites
for 1&C collections vehicles 4 Materials recycling facilities
8 0 O 0 9 0/ 33 Landfill gas sites generating electricity
y l ! " 0 3 Anaerobic digestion plants
employees UK postcode coverage 35 Municipal collections contracts
Process Produce

We process and treat waste and recycling
atour facilities

Where we cannot recycle material at our sites,
we send to Energy from Waste facilities or, as
a last resort, dispose of to land#ill

Revenue sources

m Gate fees for processing and treating waste

We generate renewable energy and recycled materials

Revenue sources
m Sale of commodity products

m Sale of renewable energy

Costs

m Processing and treatment costs
(including equipment and persannel costs)

m Landfill tax

m Gate fee disposal costs for certain products

Biffa Annual Report and Accounts 2020
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Our Stakeholdexs

Engaging our
stakeholders

Positive relationships with our stakeholders,
who have an interest in our business and
may be impacted by the decisions we malke,
are key to our long-term success.

Employees

We therefore engage with thern to understand what mattaers
tothem and take this into account when setting strategy and
also in our day-to-day business operations. Our key stakeholder
groups are identified below. We hava saet out on these pages

how the business engages with these stakeholders, the key
interests raised and the outcomes of that engagement.

Customers

Shareholders

How we engage

We regularly engage with our employees
face-to-face and through a number of
channels including pur employee app,
emplovee roadshows, all employee calls,
newsletters and our intranet. We conduct
an annual employes engagement survey
and hold focus groups to share results and
gain feedback.

Key interests raised
= Pay and benefits

a Communication
& Devalopment gpportunities
s Employee fundraising

w Business perforrnance and
customer information

u Health and Safety (H&S) progress

Jutcomes of engagement

= Introduced our ernployee
app ‘Biffa Beat’

® Launched ‘Safer Together’
H&S pampaign to build a
stronger safety culture

® Smarter Ways of Working
programme to support flexible
working and work life balance

® Improved henefits and
employee discounts

® Introduced new comprehensive
online suite of training and
development materials

m Partnered with the charity WasteAid

Where to find more information
See our People section
on pages 29 to 31

How we engage

Ensuring that we work collaboratively
with our customers is of vital importance.
We communicate regularly via customer
rmeetings, newsletters, blogs and social
media updates.

Keyinterests raised
m Service delivery

m Strategy and growth oppostunities
m Support with sustainahility ambitions
m HE&S

m Ability to self-serve online and more
digital products

m Electric vehicles and alternative [uels

Outcomes of engagerment

m Customer events held to update

customers on business strategy

and opportunities

Launched Sustainability Strategy

*Resourceful, Responsihle”

& Developing an online training product
to support our customers in how to
segregate their waste

m Trialling SMS text alert service with
national customers, letting them
Iknow when their collection is due

a Introduced new e-comymerce enahled
waste collaction service called Skoup

Where to find more information
See our Operating Review
on pages 21to 24

How we engage

The Executive Directors and Investor
Relations team meet [in person or

via conference call) with existing and
potential investors. We also provide
webeasts, ermail blasts and events
throughout the year.

Key interests raised
m Financial results

m Business model/strategin direction
& Capital allocation

m Merger & Acquisition potential

a Competition in the industry

m Sustainability Strategy

Outcornes of engagement

m High number of meetings held
throughaut the year

m Held Capital Markets Day for key
stakeholders (including anline
webcast]) to outline growth strategy
and introduce members of Biffa’s
Executive team

m Launch of Sustainability Strategy
"Resourceful, Responsible”

m Developed investor section of the
website to include alert service

Where to find more information
See our Shareholder Engagement
on page 52
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Section 172 statement

During the year, the Directors have acted to promote the success of the Company
for the berefit of shareholders, whilst having regard to the following matters:

» Likely long-term consequences
m Interests of the Company's employees

=& Business relationships with suppliers and customers

= Impact on the community and environment

& Reputation for high standards of business conduct

®» Acting fairly hetwaen shareholders

Where to find out more [page)

6107 10 to 11, 39
4105,7.29t0 31, 48
4t05,7,21t0 24, 48
4t05,7,25t0 31,48

6t07,13,49
7,48, 52

Government and Regulators

Suppliers

Communities

How we engage

‘We have regular contact with Government
and regulatory stakeholders and participate
in various expert working groups,
Government consultations, waste sector
liaison groups and councillor training.

Kevy interests raised
® Environmental policy and compliance

m Waste and resources policy
and regulation

m Sustainability issues, including
climate change, circular economy
and bioplastics

m Landfill tax issues
m Tackling modern day slavery and H&S

Outcomes of engagement

m Input to, and member of, industry
working groups

m Responses to statutory consultations
and calls for evidence

m Liaison over new national policy
and regulation issues

m Publication of Biffa “Reality Check”
report series on website

u Launch of Sustainahility Strategy
“Resourceful, Responsibie”

How we engage

We look to secure excellent value

for money, whilst minimising risk in
our supply chain. Dur Procurement
team hosts events and ensures a positive
two way communication process with
our suppliers.

Key interests raised
® Business model/strategic direction

m Sustainability strategy, including
use of electric vehicles

® Stamping out modern slavery
in the supply chain

m Support of Biffa's sharity
partrier WasteAid

Outcomes of engagement

® Suppliers provided electric and
hybrid vehicles on trial and Biffa
provided feedback to product
development teams

m Launch of Sustainability Strategy
“Resourceful, Responsible”

w WasteAid/Slave Free Alliance joint
supplier day. Cornmitment from
suppliers to join the alliance and
help support our charitable efforts

How we engage

We are proud to give something back

to the communities in which we serve.

We attend parish council and local

liaison meetings, invite community
rmembers to visit our sites, provide regular
community newsletters and participate in
volunteering and fundraising initiatives.

Key interests raised
m Local site specific environmental and
operational issues and complaints

s Funding of local projects through Biffa
Award Landfill Comraunities Fund

m Sustainability issues including
waste plastic rnanagement and
circular economy

m Support of Biffa's charity
partner WasteAid

Outcomes of engagement

® Working relationships with
local communities

m Direct contributions through
community volunteering,
sponsorship and fundraising

& Local project funding through
Biffa Award schema

= Biffa “Reality Check” series of reports

& Launch of Sustainability Strategy
“Resourceful, Responsible”

Where to find more information
See pur website for further information:
www.biffa.co.uk/publications

Wherae to find more information
See how the Board engages with
Stakeholders on pages 48 to 49

Where to find more information
See our People section
on pages 23 to 31
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COVID-19 Response

Decisive action in
challenging circumstances

The COVID-19 outbrealk is one
of the biggest challenges Biffa
has faced in its long history.

Since the crisis began, we have taken decisive action,
focusing on the following three immediate priorities:

a Protecting the health, safety and wellbeing of our
employeas and the comrnunities we serve.

» Ensuring our business operations are able to continue
with minimal disruption and that customers continue
to receive the essential sexrvices that we provide.

m Pretecting the financial strength of the Group.

The response of the entire Biffa team in ensuring we have
been able to successfully balance these three challenging
priorities has been exceptional.

Volumes are beginning to recover and COVID-1S-related
absence is reducing. See ‘Ensuring Continuity of Business
Operations’ for further information.

Protecting Health, Safety and Wellbeing

Biffa contributed to and supported the development of
national Health & Safety guidarnce. The UK Government and public
health authorities provided H&S-based instructions and guidance
and the Exacutive and Waste Industry Safety and Health (WISH)
body, of which Biffa is a leading member, have also established
sector-specific H&S guidance.

We providad a comprehensive suite of Biffa H&S protocols and
supporting guidance, such as social distancing, cleaning standards
and good hygiene to our managernent, office and front line teams.
We were, like most businesses, faced with the challenge of obtaining
supplies of cleaning products and hand sanitiser in the early days
of the crisis. We workad with our supply chain partners to ensure

we had reasonahle timefrares for deliveries and prioritised depots
that were in short supply. We also educated our workforce on what
alternative options they could utilise, such as soap and bottled
water for handwashing when hand sanitisers were not available.

We put measures in place to safeguard our emmployees who met

the vulnerable and extremely vulnerable category criteria and
iraplemented pay enhancaments for these people to enable

thermn to keap safe. We also developed an individual employee case
tracksar to help monitor and advise individuals within these groups.

The business made a huge effort to enable and support horne working,
by issuing over 230 new laptops and supporting an increase in rernote
connections to the Biffa network from [on average) 100 t0 1,300 a

day. Technical guidance was developed to help people during the
transition along with tips and advice on looking after their wellbeing
during these challenging times.

Ensuring Continuity of Business Operations

In pur Collections division, the Industrial & Comrnercial
business has continued to serve customers, providing essential
serviecss such as food manufacture and retail, distribution,
health and utilities. It is however, the most severely irmpacted
part of Biffa's business, with almost all revenues frorm customers

COVID-19 Response timeline

March

4 March 2020 Pre-close Trading
Update and regular Leadership
Team calls begin

6 March Additional Safety, Health
and Quality cleaning and hygiene
protocols introduced

B March Internal response team set
up to coordinate business response

16 March Trade unions briefed
on Biffa's action plan

20 March Michael Topham, CED
begins weekly coronavirus video
updates for emmployees

25 March Additional Trading Update

28 March Letter to every Biffa
employee outlining priorities
and the financial support available

31 March Business Continuity
Statement published on website

April

1 April *Hi-Vis Heroes' campaign launched
to provide appreciation for our employees

Biffa Annual Report and Accounts 2020



affected by the lockdown ceasing for the time being, across sectors
including hospitality, leisure, transport and non-food retail. Qverall,
revenues were initially down around 50% from their position prior
to COVID-19, however volumes are now beginning to recover with
revenues now c. 40% down.

The Municipal business has remained resilient, with revenues
rernaining stable. The business has worked with clients to ensure
continuity of almost all services and the team is performing
admirably despite the inevitable increased ermnployee absence
due to COVID-19, Increased absence levels with COVID-19 related
absence peaked at ¢.17%, now they are c.6%.

The impact across Resources & Energy is varied, with the most
riotable impact being on Biffa's landfill operations, which rely on
the construction industry for a large proportion of their business
and saw revenues reduce by around 50% from their position prior
to COVID-18. Volurnes are now beginning to recover with revenues
now ¢. 40% down. The other areas of the business, whilst impacted,
are holding up well.

For further information see our Operating Review on pages 21 to 24.

Protecting Financial Strength

We took swift and decisive action to mitigate the impact of the
crisis on trading performance and to protect the Group’s finances,
inciuding:

m rightsizing I&C operations by re-routing trucks, taking c40%
of the front line fleet off the road;

m all M&A activity was suspended;

m all non-essential and uncommitted capital expenditure
was deferred;

m 1,500 staff, predominantly in or supporting our I&C business,
were furloughed under the Government’s Coronavirus Job
Retention Scheme;

m the Board, Executive and Leadership Teams have taken pay

cuts, whilst we continue with the Government's Coronavirus

Job Retention Scheme;

all uncommitted pay increases were cancelled;

FY20 bonuses, for the maost senior participants, are to be settled

in shares and FY21 bonus schemes have been suspended,;

all areas of operating costs were reviewed and non-essential

costs curtailed;

the Group agreed deferrals in payments of indirect taxes with

HMRC; and

m no final dividend has been recommended for FY20.

In addition, the Group's banks have been very supportive. Covenant
amendments and an additional £60m (in principal) liquidity
headroom has been agreed.

Stakeholder Management

Al of our stakeholders were affected in some way by the
COVID-19 crisis. Our swift action and clear engagement with
all stakeholders has enabled Biffa to endure these challenging
circumstances in the best way possible, whilst ensuring we have
continued to support these stakeholders and act fairly at all times:

Employees - our internal effort to protect our peopie was our top
priority. From adapting staff benefits where relevant, utilising the
Coronavirus Government Retention Scheme, creating an internal
responge team, utilising cur ernployee app to proactively engage
with our teams, offering wellbeing support and other engagement
methods including letters, appreciation videos and much more.

Customers - we actively worked with custorners to minimise service
disruption and support them where possible. We have also enjoyed
good levels of new business wins.

Shareholders - we sought to engage proactively with sharsholders,
participating in nurnerous calls with thern as well as briefing broker
sales teams, and releasing three RNS announcements inrelation
to the crisis. Our share price reaction has been consistent with our
sector and the FTSE 250 overall.

Suppliers - we are extremely grateful to the many long-standing
suppliers who have supported our operations through the crisis.
We worked proactively with key suppliers to agree rebates, payment
deferrals and discounts where appropriate.

Government and Regulators — we proactively engaged with the
Government and Regulators and other industry operators to pull
together as an industry, helping to develop industry guidelines and
best practice in response to the crisis.

Comrmunities - our key workers are providing an essential service
to businessas and households, We were overwhelmed by the support
we received from our customers and members of the public (in the
form of hand-written notes, pictures and social media posts) who
have expressed their gratitude for our front line workers.

You can read more on:

Principal risks on pages 34 to 38

Viability statement and going concern on page 39

How the Board Engages with Stakeholders on page 47

v

2 April Biffa provides waste collection
services for the first temporary COVID-19
hospital, NHS Nightingale in London
(the tirst of three NHS hospitals we

are supporting)

6 April Remuneration measures
Trading Update

B April Regular rhythm of all-employee
calls begin

8 April Furlough process introduced

Biffa Annual Report and Accounts 2020

15 April Biffa receives letter frorn MP
Rebecca Pow, the Parliamentary Under
Secretary of State for Defra, thanking
the industry for the vital services we
are delivering

22 April Issued wellbeing guidance to
managers and podcasts to employees
to offer additional support

4 May Bank covenant amendments agreed

6 May COVID-19 Financing and
Reporting Trading Update

June

5June Full year results announced
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Chairman’s Statement

Maintaining a strong
business foundation

Ken Lever
Chairman

Last year, my Chairman’s Statement had the
strapline “Well positioned for the future”
and 2019/20 was ancther good year for Biffa,
building on the progress made since our IPO
in 2016 and establishing a clear path for
future growth against our vision, to ‘lead the
way in UK sustainable waste management’.

It was not until the final couple of weeks of the year that the
impacts of COVID-19 became truly apparent. Biffa's management
reacted swiftly to the changing economic circumstances and the
significant reduction in dernand that the business has experienced
since the year end, especially in the Industrial and Cormmercial
[1&C] Cullections and landfill operations businesses.

Uf paramount importance to the Board and the management
is protecting the health, safety and wellbeing of our employees
and the communities we service. lam proud to say that I, and
the rest of the Board, are confident that we have taken the right
steps to do this whilst ensuring the continuity of the critical
services that we provide.

At the end of the financial year, we had over £150m of available
liquidity. This strong liquidity position, combined with the decisive
action taken to control costs, leaves Biffa well placed to weather
these unprecedented trading conditions.

Business and Markets

We understand the increasing scrutiny placed on businesses and
households to manage their waste responsibly. That is why we are
corrnitted to providing our custorners with efficiant, reliable and
sustainable waste management. Central ta our business is the
collection of industrial, commercial, and domestic waste which
we process, prioritising its recycling and energy recovery, with
safe disposal to landfill as a last rgsort.

The markets in which we operate provide us with a number of
opportunities for prganic and inorganic growth. Our business spans
each area of the waste hierarchy, which means we are well placed
to take advantage of these opportunities when they arise.

At the beginning of the last financial year we re-organised the Group
into two divisions — Collections and Rescurces & Energy. This has
created a more efficient, focused structure and positioned us for
growth in the areas where we have advantaged positions. We have
made good progress in both divisions, delivering our plan for the
vear and performing in line with expectations, despite the initial
impact of COVID-19 in the Iast month of the year. You can read

rnore in our Operating Review on pages 21 to 24.

Strategy and Capital Allocation

Biffa has a clear strategy for growth based on three strategic pillars;
grow our market share; develop services and infrastructure; and
optimige systemns and processes. These are underpinnad by a focus
on three specific opportunities - growing our collections business:
expanding our plastics recycling business Biffa Polyrmers; and
investing in energy from waste (EfW). The strategy fully supports
Biffa’s purpose to ‘change the way people think about waste’ and
our visian to ‘lead the way in UK sustainable waste management’
and is underpinned by our Sustainability Strategy, ‘Resourceful,
Responsibie, which we were delighted to launch in March 2320.

One of the highlights of the year for me was attending the official
opening of the first phase of Biffa's new 57kt PET recycling facility
in Seaham, Gounty Durham, in January 2020. This is progressing
well, despite the COVID-19 outbreak and we still see significant
opportunity for further investment in our Polymers plastics
business over the next few years.

We have also continued to comumit capital to bolt-on acquisitions
in the Collections business, which are central to Biffa's combined
organic and inorganic growth strategy.

You can read more about our gverall strategic focus on
pages12to13.

Biffa Annuai Report and Accounts 2020



Shareholder Returns

We had planned to see an increase in the dividend for the year
ended 27 March 2020, but due to cash conservation measures
in response to COVID-19, the final dividend of 2019/20 has
been cancelled. The Board belisves this to be prudent in the
circumstances and aspires to return to dividend payments

as soon as more norrmal trading conditions allow.

Health & Safety

The waste management industry carries inherent Health & Safety
(H&S) risks and we are committed to keeping our people, our
customers and the general public safe and well. Protecting the
health, safety and wellbeing of our people has been our top priority
throughout the COVID-19 pandemic. Biffa has always been an
industry leader, setting extremely high safety standards. The Board
was delighted to see the achievement of the planned year-on-year
reductionin the Lost Time Injury rate as well as the introduction

of a new H&S culture change programme, ‘Safer Together'

Corporate Governance

‘We set out in some detail later in the Corporate Governance
Report [see pages 40 to 85), our approach to corporate governance
and compliance with the UK Corporate Governance Code. The
ingreasing cost associated with meeting such requirements must
be recognised. We seek to ensure an appropriate balance between
pragmatic compliance and the asseciated cost, whilst upholding
the highest governance standards in those areas that truly add
value to the business.

The Board

Last year we made a number of changes to the Board. This year
we have seen these changes successfully embedded and Board
members working and interacting well together and building
strong relationships. Inevitably the COVID-19 crisis has challenged
the Board and the Group Executive Tearn, butitis at times of crisis
that the high gquality of our team and leadership is apparent.

Bitfa Annual Report and Accounts 2020

Employees

Our people are the core of our organisation. It is the hard work they
put in every day which makes the difference. Identified by the
Government as ‘key workers' our people have continued to work
throughout the COVID-19 crisis, highlighting their commitment,
dedication and loyalty. The Board thanks all our employees for this
and for the sacrifices they have made to ensure we have been able
to continue to pperate and support our customers and communities
during this time.

It has been regrettable that as a result of the downturn in business,
some of our employees have been put into the Government Furlough
Scheme. Biffa has provided enhanced benefits, designed to ensure
that no employee suffers undue hardship whilst unable to work

due to COVID-19. Our executive and senior leadership teams have
also taken adjustments to their rermuneration and I'would like to
recognise the contribution they have made at this difficult time.

Employee engagement continues to be of key importance to the
organisation. I was delighted that David Martin, our Board member
who has responsihility for workforce engagement, attended two
employee roadshows, conducted a focus group with a cross section
of employees and attended the annual employee awards event,
along with several other activities enabling him access toalarge
nurnber of employees.

You can read more about this on pages 29 to 31

Looking to the Future
Wa are mindful that the immediate future of Biffa is very much affected
by the current uncertainty in markets attributed to COVID-19.

However, Biffa is a strong company, built on solid foundations, with
a dedicated and committed management team and a clear strategy
for growth. The irumediate focus of the Board is very much to protect
and preserve the fundamental value of the business so that we can
return to business as usual and deliver further progress against our
strategic growth plans, once we are through these difficult times.

Ken Lever
Chairman

4 June 2020
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In Conversation with our CEQ

Supporting customers
and communities
through the crisis

Michael Topham
Chief Executive Officer

How would you summarise the year for Biffa?
Events sinice March have, for cbviaus reasans, completely
overshadowed what was otherwise a very successful year for
Biffa. We delivered a strong set of financial results, continued
to execute our exciting growth strategy, and comruitted to

an arbitious 10-year Sustainability Strategy, "Resourceful,
Responsible’ which will see the Group unlock £1.25bn of
investment in green econamy infrastructure by 2030,

We continued to make good progress in our 1&C business, through
a combination of organic growth, a number of acquisitions and a
standout performance in cur Specialist Services business. The
Municipal business stabilised with some excellent new business
wins and contract extensions. In Resources & Energy, a strong
performance in our Biffa Polymers business offset some weakness
in the recycling facilities that arose from ongoing softness in
commodity prices. You can read more about this on pages 21 to 24,

We combined strong business performance and strategic delivery,
with committed leadership in helping to tackle hroader issues
affecting our industry including rough sleeping, modern day
slavery, managing waste in the developing world, and diversity
and inclusion in the workplace. We also delivered our best ever
safety performance.

We were admitted to the FTSE 250 Index in March 2020 and I'm
proud of what we have achieved in the year, and even more so
by our response to the COVID-19 erisis.

What are Biffa's strategic priorities and what progress
has heen made in their delivery in the year?

In September 2019 we held a Capital Markets Day event, our first since
the IPO in 2016. The materials presented on the day are availablein
the Investors section of our website. At the event, along with merabers
of the Croup Executive Team, we explorad the key themes of our
strategy, including the growth of our leading I&C Collections platiorm,
investing to grow our award-winning plastics recycling business

Biffa Polymers, and investing in EfW infrastructure.

During the year we made good progress in all three areas:

10

m Our I&C business operates in a fragmented market where
scale delivers significant benefits. Jur focus on growing, both
organically and through synergistic acquisitions, rernains central
to Biffa’s strategy. In the year we delivered strong acquisition growth
of 8.3% of revenue, integrating the acquisitions completed in the
prior year and completing five further bolt-on acquisitions. We
also made good progress in evolving our offering to enable us
to drive further organic growth by developing enhanced digital
capabilities and launching new products to market.

» Qur Polymers business operates in an exciting sector, with
demand for the closcd-loop, food-grade recycled plastic that
we manufacture growing rapidly. In the year we successfully
built and commissioned the first phase of gur PET plastic bottle
recycling plant at Seaham in County Durharm. The plant can
process the equivalent of 1.3bn plastic bottles each year, turning
them into food-grade recycled raw materials for reuse here in the
UK. We also announced a £7m investrnent in nearby Washington,
in a plant to process plastic pots, tubs and trays. The Palymers
business has again combined the delivery of a strong operational
performange with the development and execution of an exciting
growth strategy.

a In EfW, the UK continues to have under-capacity to treat non-
recyclable waste for energy recovery. Biffa, as one of the UK’s
largest controllers of waste feedstock through its Collections
business, is well placed to unlock the development of this much-
needed infrastructure. I was delighted that we reached financial
close on our Newhurst project in Leicastershire [£45m for 50%
equity commitment]. Plant construction is now under way and
scheduled to be completed in 2023, We corttitiuu lo progress our
second opportunity, Protos in Cheshire, and are at an advanced
stage of this evaluation.

Tam pleased with our strategic progress and remain confident
about the future growth opportunities ahead.

Biffa recently launched its Sustainahility Strategy.
What are the key parts of the strategy and how does

it align with Biffa’s growth strategy?

Sustainability isn’t new to us - it has been core to our business and
investment pians ever since the business and the wider industry
began to move away from landfill disposa) and into recycling and
renewable energy.

We launched ‘Resourceful, Responsible’, our 10-year Sustainability
Strategy, in March 2020. The strategy, which is aligned to the UN's
Sustainable Developruent Goals, is centred around three key
pillars: building a circular economy; tackling climate change; and
caring for our people and supporting our communities. It includes
a commitment to unlock £1.25bn of investment in green economy
infrastructure, whilst reducing ouxr CO: emissions by a further 50%
in the coming decade. When combined with what we've achieved
in thelast 15 vears, that will amount to areduction in our C0:
emissions by over 80%.

‘Resourceful, Responsible’ is inextricably linked to our strategic
framework and the investrment in green economy infrastructure
includes the plans already outlined in our growth strategy,
including: plastics recycling- which reduces the carbon intensity
of packaging; Collections acquisitions- which reduce the carbon
intensity of business collections as well as improving local air
quality and reducing traffic congestion; and EfW- which helps
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reduce the UK's dependence on fossil fuels. In addition to those
existing plans we have outlined our ambition to invest in solar
energy across our legacy landfill land bank, and our commitment
to phase out the purchase of diesel refuse vehicles by 2030.

It's a bold and ambitious plan, but it is grounded in known
technologies and solid investment opportunities that we are
well positioned to deliver.

Biffa has refreshed its vision and purpose.

What does this mean for the organisation?

Iam fortunate to lead such a committed team of individuals,
who share & clear vision and purpose for our business.

Our vision is simple - to lead the way in UK sustainable waste
management. We wish to lead in business perforrance and
returns, innovation, reputation and in how we tackle broader
societal issues relevant to our industry. In the year we have
proved we are worthy of the mantle, through the delivery of

a strong business performance, the ongoing execution of our
ambitious strategic growth plans, the articulation of our 10-year
Sustainability Stratepgy, and the exceptional commitment and
resilience the team has exhibited through the COVID-19 crisis.

Our purpose is - to change the way people think about waste. This
smbodies what drives us as an prganisation. We understand that waste
matters to people in a way that it didn’t use to. We see the opportunities
that exist in our sector and believe that our role is to help people
understand them so that together we can make them happen.

I believe that together our vision and purpose are a great embodiment
of what life at Biffa is all about and they help to drive pur teams to
dothe best that they can do.

You've mentioned the COVID-19 epidemic.

What impact has it had on the business and

what are you doing to mitigate this?

The COVID-18 crisis is of course unprecedented, and it has had

a significant impact on our business. Since the emergence of the
crisis we have focused on three priorities: protecting the health,
safety and wellbeing of our people and the communities we serve;
ensuring our business operations are able to continue with minimal
disruption and that customers continue to receive the essential
services that we provide; and protecting the financial strength

of the Group.

We took swift action to protect our people, including a rapid shift to
horme working where possible and the introduction of new protocols
to ensure that social distancing was observed where practical in our
frontline operations. At all times we have been closely involved in the
development of, and of course have strictly observed, industry and
Government advice and guidelines. In addition to ensuring we kept
our people as safe as possible, we offered enhanced financial benefits
for those unable to work due to COVID-19-related sickness or absence.

The impact has varied across the range of services we provide. Qur
most severely impacted business is I&C, where we experienced a
significant reduction in demand for our services and a 50% revenue
decline during the lockdown period, versus pre-COVID levels.
Dermand for our Municipal services was relatively unatfected
however, ensuring services could continue in the face of significant
workforce absence has been challenging. Our Resources & Energy
business has been most notably affected in our Inerts business,
with landfill revenues down c50%, versus pre-COVID levels, due to
reduced volumes particularly from the construction sector. Other
parts of the division have been less impacted.

Owerall, Group revenues for the period of lockdown were down
30% versus pre-COVID levels. However, the Group saw an early
stabilisation of these trends and in recent weeks we have seen
increases in revenues, with revenue levels in both I&GC and landfill
operations now down about 40% from pre-COVID levels.

To support short-term cash preservation we have taken a number of
proactive measures, deferring all discretionary capital and operating
expenditure and other strategic investments such as acquisitions,
settling the majority of earned bonuses from the 2019/20 year in
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equity, pay reductions for the Board, Executive Team and other
leaders, the suspension of bonus schemes for the 2020/21 year
and cancelling our year-end dividend. We have benefited from
Government support through the deferral of indirect tax payments
and furloughed approximately 1,500 people. As outlined in our
Chief Financial Officer’s Review, we negotiated waivers of lending
covenants and secured agreement to £60m of additional headroom
financing lines from our existing lending banks, should they be
required. When combined, these measures have ensured that the
Group is positioned to withstand the impact of the crisis and will
help to ensure that we emerge strongly when the crisis passes.

Twould like to offer my thanks and appreciation to all of Biffa’s
stakeholders, in particular our ermployees, for their exceptional
response to the COVID-19 crisis.

As aresult of all the actions taken to control costs and enhance
liquidity, the Group remains EBITDA positive and is seeing only
modest rmonthly cash burn. As a result of mitigating actions, the
Group has taken, we are confident that we can manage through FY21
without seeing a marked increase in debt. Consequently, the Group
is in a position to weather the unprecedented operating backdrop
and trade through all modelled scenarios.

However, it is clear that COVID-19 is having a very significant impact
on some of the Group’s markets and the duration of the pandemic'’s
impact and the ongoing effect it may have on the Group's financial
performance rermains uncertain.

As a result, our balance sheet and liquidity planning is based upon a
cautious base case scenario, which assumes lockdown restrictions
continue to be imposed for the duration of Q1 FY21 and are followed
by a subdued and incomplete recovery over the remainder of the
year. Under this scenario:

m The I&C division is expected to recover slowly as customers begin
to renew activity, exiting the FY21 year with run rate revenues of
~80-90% of FY20, and remaining st these levels as we enter FY22.

m The Resources & Energy division is expected to experience a
continued and more marked decline in Landfill Gas revenues during
FY22, based on known volurme reductions and current electricity
prices, The Group expects its recycling business to continue to grow
across FY21 and FY22, with the new Seaham PET plant coming
on-line and Material Recycling Facility contract improvements.

The impact of reduced EBITDA would see leverage increase at the
end of FY21 to ¢.3x on the base case and 4x on worst case scenaria
[both on a pre-IFRS 16 basis).

As a consequence of the covenant amendments agreed with lenders,
we have agreed a number of restrictions, relating to levels of capex,
M&A and shareholder distributions, which we expect taremain in
place for ¢.12-18 months. The Company is therefore continuing to
consider its funding options on an ongoing basis, including raising
equity capital, to aliow it to continue with all the previously outlined
growth investment opportunities across I&C, closed loop plastic
recycling and Energy from Waste, without delay.

What are your core priorities over the next year?

Our immediate priorities remain those associated with navigating
the GCOVID-13 crisis. I am however hopeful and confident that as
the year continues, and given the extensive measures we have
taken, we will be able to refocus on delivering our strategic growth
plans, make further progress against our Sustainability Strategy
and ensure Biffa emerges as a stronger and better business.

COVID-19 will eventually pass and we will be able to restore
underlying profitability over time, but the climate emergency
is a continuing glohal challenge that will still be with us, and
we at Biffa understand the vital role we have to play in helping
the UK to address it.

Michael Topham
Chief Executive Officer

4 June 2020
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Qur Strategic Framework

Driving progress
through strategy

Our purpose

To change the way people

think about waste

Read morg on page 11

Our vision

To lead the way in UK sustainable
waste management

Read more on page 11

Our strategy for the future is built on three key pillars:

Grow our
market share

Biffa seeks to drive nrganic growth
across all of its businesses by gaining
new customers and by upselling
services to existing customers.

In its [&C business, Biffa has a clear
focus to grow by acquisition, as

4 natural consolidator within

a fragmented market.

Read more on page 13

Develop
services and
infrastructure

Biffa looks to leverage the control

of waste feedstock from its collections
operations to invest in sustainable
waste processing infrastructure.

The expanded capacity and service
offerings that this brings will help
deliver the sustainability ambitions
of both Biffa and its customers whilst
providing the Group with long term
sources of earnings.

Read more on page 13

Optimise
systems and
processes

Biffa aims to maximise margins by
operating its business as efficiently

as possible. Optimising Biffa's systers
and processes includes activities such
as integrating acquisitions on to Biffa
systerns, delivering strong levels of
customer gervice to minimise customer
churn, leveraging e-cornmerce
opportunities and ensuring that
projects meet investment criteria and
help deliver our Sustainability Strategy.

Read morc on page13

Focused on three specific investment areas:

Collections
growth
m Scale and capabilities position
us well for organic growth
m Proven track record of M&A

w Platform gives unique
synergy oppaortunities

Underpinned by an extremely powerful sustainability story:

Leading in UK
plastic recycling

m Operational and developrment
track record

m Control of materials

m Trusted offtake partnerships

Developing
energy from waste
infrastructure
u Proven market need
m Control of waste and consented sites
u Underpins I&C business

We are unlocling ¢.£1.25bn of investment in the green economy, supported by fundable and deliverable investment plans. See pages 2510 26.

Building a ¢ircular
economy

& (Quadrupling our plastic
recycling capability
m Investing in energy from waste

Tackling climate
changse
w Efficient low carbon collections
m Transitioning to EV/alternative fuels
u Solar development

Caring for our people,
supporting our
communities

a Reduce Lost Time Injuries

m Top guartile business for
ermnployee engagement

m Manage 30% of estate for biodiversity
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Our strategy for growth sets us on a clear path to lead the way
in UK sustainable waste management.

Grow ouy
market share

What we achieved

Biffa has continued its strong track record of
delivering both organic and inorganic growth,
delivering good levels of new contract wins
in all arsas of the business and by acquiring
and successfully integrating acquisitions in
our I&C business.

During the year, we achieved some flagship
Collections division customer wins including
Transport for London and Center Parcs in

our I&C business, Winchester and Cornwall
Council in our Municipal business, and North
London Waste Authority and Miiller in our
Resources & Energy division.

We acquired the trade and assets of

five small businesses for a combined
consideration of £5.1m, which takes oux
total number of successfully integrated
businesses up to 22 since 2016, with £102m
invested and £132.6m in revenue acquired.

We made good progress in integrating
acquired businesses from the prior year
with all integrations on track. In particular,
the integration of Weir Waste has seen
strong operational synergies by reducing
the size of the combined trade waste

fleet by 24% and in SWR, where we have
benefited significantly from additional
revenues into our collection network.

FY20 Acquisitions

June 2019 Thamesdown Recycling
July 2019 IWMS Waste Gollection.com
September 2019 Ribbhex
Novernber2019 Kier Somerset trade waste

Jan 2020 Winchester City Council
Trade Waste Business

Priorities

We have a strong track record in delivering
on our M&A programme. The marlket
remains fragmented and once we emerge
from the COVID-19 crisis we will be well
placed to continue with our strategy.

As at March 2020, we had several potential
acquisitions that were significantly
progressed, but those processes were put
on hold due to the impact of COVID-19.

We are confident that as the year progresses,
we will be able to further progress our
strategic growth plans in this area.

Risks
See pages 32to 38
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Develop
services and
infrastructure

What we achieved

A particular area of focus for the Group
is in plastics recycling, where we have
the operational track record, control of
feedstock materials and the deep trusted
partnerships with our customers that
position us for success in this critical
and growing sector. Similarly our focus
is in EfW, where our control of feedstock
and consented sites give us the potential
to unlock the development of this much
needed infrastructure.

InJanuary 2020, we opened and
cormunissioned the first phase of our new
£27.5m PET plastics recycling facility in
Seaham, County Durham. In the next year,
Biffa intends to progress the second phase
of this facility in addition to building a £7m
facility in Washington, which will expand our
recycling capabilities for piastic pots, tubs
and trays. These combined investments
will increase Biffa's total recycled plastic
processing capability to 140,000 tonnes
per annum.

We also made good headway in growing

our EfW assets, reaching financial close

for our facility in Newhurst, Leicestershire
in February 2020, a commitment by Biffa
pfc.£45m. The plant is now in construction
and is expected to be operational in 2023.
Our second project, the Protos EfWin Cheshire,
is at an advanced stage of evaluation.

In response to the COVID-19 crisis, we
deferred all non-essential and uncommitted
capital expenditure. We anticipate that
this will have only a modest impact on the
timing of our plastics expansion plans and
EfW programme.

Priorities

Our strategic priorities continue to remain
as outlined in our Capital Markets Day in
Septernber 2019, the presentation for which
is included on our website. We intend to
proceed at pace with these plans once the
COVID-19 crisis passes.

Risks
See pages 32 to 38

Optimise
systems and
processes

What we achieved

At the beginning of the financial year

we restructured our business inte two
operating divisions - Collections and
Resources & Energy. The restructure has
delivered real benefits and synergies in
particular with closer working between the
I&C and Municipal businesses and between
our Landfill and Landfill Gas operations.

Increasing efficiency was a key

focus throughout the year which we
accomplished in many areas, including
our finance back office by deploying a
Robotic Process Automation (RPA] using
UI Path. The tool automates repetitive
tasks and increases the speed of
completing certain finance processes.

From a custorner perspective, we experienced
low levels of churn, in our I&C business,
with key renewals including John Lewis
Partnership, Baxter Healthcare, Greene King
and Mitchells & Butlers. We also deployed
customer facing Power BI reporting across
64 corporate customers which enables
thermn to report on their overall spend,
volurmes, carbon consumption and other
detailed activity. It is proving tobe areal
differentiator for new business versus
competitors, adding to Biffa's unique and
quality service offering.

We successfully integrated prior year
acquisitions, together with five additional
businesses bought in year, overseen by

our experienced rmanagerment tearm. Our
excellent MEA track record and integration
capabilities have been key success factors
in ensuring we can quickly benefit from the
synergies that these acquisitions deliver.

We have also been progressing 'Project
Fusion, the Group's system replacement
programumne. More on this can be found
on page 20.

Priorities

Our investment focus remains on
improving efficiency of Collections,
processing and back office function
operations. We also seek to reduce

the level of manual intervention in
operational day-to-day tasks so that our
resource can provide more added value
elsewhere. We will implement RPA in
other areas of the business in the coming
vear to drive increased efficiency and will
explore potential efficiency opportunities
using our internal BrightSparks innovation
process which generates new ideas.

Risks
See pages 32 to 38
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Key Performance Indicators

Measuring our progress

Financial

Underlying Organic Acquisition Net Underlying Operating

Net Revenue Growth (%) Revenue Growth (%) Profit Margin (%)
2020 2.5 2020 4.5 2020 7.8
2019 15 2018 2.9 2019 7.5
2018 2.1 2018 1.4 2018 7.5

Definition

Performance

I

The increasa/{decrease)} in
Net Revenue in the period
excluding Net Revenue from
acquisitions completed in
the period and Net levenue
from acquisitions completed
in the prior period up tothe
anniversary of the relevant
acquisition date, to the
extent such Net Revenue
falls in the current period.
Where comparative periods
differ in duration, the KPlis
adjusted on a pro-rata basis.

The Group had a strong
vear of cxganic growth with
some flagship customer
wins. In our Uollections
division these included
Transport for London and
Center Parcs in the 1&0C
business and Winchester
and Cornwall Council in
our Municipal business.
In our Resources & Fnergy
division, we had some
important contract renewals
that will underpin ongoing
organic growth including
Miiller, Arla and North
London Waste Authority.

Target

CPI+1%

Acquisition Net Revenue
Growth in any pariod
represents the Net Revenue
Growth in the relevant
perivd [iurn [1) acquisitions
completed in the relevant
period and [ii) any
acquisitions completed in
the 12 months prior tothe
relevant period up to the
12-month anniversary of
the relevant acquisition
date [to the extent such Net
Revenue falls in the current
period). Acquisition Revenue
Growth is calculated on the
same basis, using revenue
in place of Net Revenuae.

Weacquired the trade

and assets of five small
husinessss for a combined
cornsideration of £5.1m.

We also made good progress
in integrating acquired
businessas from the prior
year with all integrations
on track.

As at March 2020, we
had several potential
acquisitions that were
significantly progressed,
but those processes were
put on hold due to the
impact of COVID-19,

Profit before exceptional
items, amortisation of
agquisition intangibles,
impact of real discount
rate changes tnlandfill
provisions, finance costs
and taxation expressed
8s a percentage of sales.

The Underlying Profit Margin
remained stable, despite
coramodity price headwinds
and disposal cnst pressure.
On a pre-IFRS 16 basis the
margin for the current year
was 7.5%.

> 2.5%

Continuous improvernent.

Associated with annual
bonus financial or
personal metriecs.

Associated with annual
bonus financial or
personal metrics.

Remuneration Linkage Associated with annual
bonus financial or
personal metries.

Link to Strategy

14
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Return on Operating Assets Return on Capital Employed Underlying Earnings Leverage Ratio

(%) %) per Share (pence} (x}
2020 194 2020 8.9 2020 23.1 2020 2.4
2019 26.5 2019 9.4 2019 20.6 2019 21
2018 27.2 2018 a.8 2018 19.2 2018 19

Underlying Operating Operating Profit excluding Underlying Profit After Tax Net Debt: Underlying

Profit divided by the average
of opening and closing
tangible fixed assets plus
net working capital.

exceptional iterns and the
impact of real discount rate
changes to landfill provisions
divided by the average

of opening and closing
shareholders' equity plus

Net Debt (including lease
liabilities), pensions and
environmental provisions.

divided by the number of
shares in issue.

EBITDA.

Return on Operating
Assets decreased due to
the inclusion of £134.9m of
IFRS 16 Right of Use assets.
On a pre-IFRS 16 basis

Whilst operating profits have
increased year-on-year, due
to IFRS 16, Capital Employed
hag increased by £141m. On
a pre-IFRS 16 basis ROCE

Underlying Earnings per
Share rose by 12.1% to 23.1
pence. This is driven by
higher underlying profits
and lower underlying

Leverage has increased in
the year due to the inclusion
of £141m of IFRS 16 finance
leases. On a pre-IFRS 16
basis leverage reduced

ROOA improved to 26.4%. improved to 10.3%. financing costs. from 2.1x to 1.Bx as aresult
of strong underlying cash

See page 122. See page 122. See page 102. flow gerieration and lower
ME&A expenditure.
See note 27 on page 143,

Grow to over 20% and Grow to over 10% and Consistent growth. <2.5x and to return to =2x over

maintain above this level.

maintain above this level.

medium term (pre-IFRS 16].

Associated with annual
bonus financial or
personal metrics.

Associated with annual
bonus financial or
personal metrics.

LTIP - Earnings Per Share 50%.

Associated with annual
bonus financial ar
personal metrics.

Biffa Annual Repert and Accounts 2020
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Key Performance Indicators continued

Financial Non-Financial
Undexlying Free Cash Flow Dividend per Share Tonnes of waste processed
(£m) [(pence] (ktns)
2020 53.8 2020 2.47 2020 4,055
2019 47.7 2019 7.20 2019 4,031
2018 a4.4 2018 8.70 2018 3,693

Definition

Performance

Net cash and cash
equivalents plus
dividends, acquisition
spend, restructuring, EVP
and exceptional spend
maovement in financial
assets less net borrowings.

Dividend declared divided
by the total number of
shares in issue.

Tonnages received in

the period subjected to
processing activities, such
as sorting, bailing, plastics
recyriing afc. at

Biffa operated sites.

Underlying Free Cash Flow
increased by £56.9m in the
year, due to lower finance
costs and working capital
improvements.

Target

Remuneration Linkage

[

Link to Strategy

16

Maxirmising conversion
of underlying PAT to cash
(currently 93%].

Annual bonus,

Due to the impact of
COVID-19, the Board is

not recommending a final
dividend for the FY20

year. As a result, the only
dividend for the period was
the interim dividend of
2.47 pence per share.

Growth over time.

Tonnage processed
increased by 1% this year.
A decrease in transfer
station volumes was
offset by increased soil
treatment volumes.

Growth,

Associated with annual
bonus financial metrics.

Associated with annual bonus
financial or personal metrics.
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Tonnes of waste collected
(ktns)

Lost Time Injury Rate
)

C0.e emissions reduction
[ktns)

Employee engagement (%)

2020 4,082 2020 0.23 2020 183 2020 58

2019 4,007 2019 0.39 2019 27 2019 58

2018 4,124 2018 0.27 2018 1089 2018 53
Total waste tonnages LTIs are defined as workplace Greenhouse gas (GHG) The levels of employee

collected from customers

by Biffa operations. Excludes
sub-contracted services and
haulage/internal movements.

injuries which resulted in
the injured person taking
time off work to recover
from their injuries.

emissions data is captured
which is then converted

to COz equivalents using
Government emission
conversion factors for

GHG reporting published
by the Department for
Business, Energy &
Industrial Strategy.

engagerrent as measured
through the Kincentric
Employee Engagement Index.

Tonnes of waste collected
has increased by 1%, I&C
volumes rernain static
with an increase in
Municipal tonnage.

During the year we had our
best ever H&S performance,
significantly reducing the
nuraber of LTIs across the
organisation by 42%. This
achievement was the result
of great efforts by all cur
employees, supported by our
‘Watch your Step' campaign,
which resulted in a 50%
reduction in the number

of slips, trips and falls from
the previous year.

Wereduced carbon
emissions by 23% in the
year. We achieved this
through a combination

of landfill gas reduction
(with a 31% decrease in
methane emissions]) and

an improvernent in how we
capture gas for reneawable
energy generation purposes.

The 2020 result from
a survey carried out in
February 2020 was an
employee engagement
score of 58%.

Growth.

5% reduction in LTI rate.

Year-on-year reduction in
overall carbon emissions.

A 2% increase to an employee
engagement score of B0%.

Associated with annual bonus Annual bonus personal Associated with annual bonus Annual bonus personal
financial or personal metrics. metric (6%). financial or personal metrics. metric (6%).
See page 28 for See page 26 for See page 30 for

more information

more information

more information
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Financial Review

Positioned well ahead
of the downturn

Areconciliation from Underlying Profit After Tax to Statutory
Profit After Tax is set out below:

Richard Pike
Chief Financial Officer

Group Performance

1am pleased tobe able to present another strong set of financial
results. Compared with the prior year, Statutory Revenue was up 7%,
Statutory Operating Profit increased 63% and Statutory Profit before
Tax was up 163%, resulting in Earnings per Share (EPS] increasing
154%. Looking at underlying performance measures, Underlying
Operating Profit (pre-IFRS 16) was up 7.3% and Underlying EPS
increased 14.6%.

Other Items

To enable a better understanding of business performance, certain
iterns are excluded when calculating the Group's underlying
measures of performance. These items are explained further in
Note 3to the congolidated Financial Statements and include:

{i) exceptional iterns; and

(ii) Other non-underlying iterms that recur most years but
that the Group feels will aid the user by excluding from
underlying performance- amortisation of acquisition
intangibles and movement on landfill provisions as
aresult of discount rate changes.

These Alternative Performance Measures (APMs] are also used
to enhance the comparahility of information between reporting
periods and the Group's divisions, by adjusting for non-recurring
or uncontrollahle factors which atfect IFRS measures, to aid the
user in understanding the underlying performance.

18

IFRS 16 Pre
FYZ20 Adj IFRS18 FY18
£m fm £m £m

Undertying Profit
After Tax 574 11 58.5 51.5
Acquisition-
related costs [1.1) - 113 (2.8)
Amortisation
of acquisition
intangibles (16.9) - (16.9) [18.5)
Impact of changes
inreal discount
rate on landfill
provisions 4.9 - 4.9 (18]
Strategy and
restructuring cost (4.8) - 4.8) (21)
Onercus contracts 15 - 1.5 (10.2)
Pensions GMP
equalisation - - - [3.1]
Finance charges 11 - 11 (6.2)
Taxation impact
on other items as - 3.5 8.0
Statutory Profit
After Tax 45.6 11 a6.7 18.0
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Finance Charges

Underlying financing costs fell significantly compared with the prior
vear, as a result of renegotiated loan horrowing and bonding facilities
and the natural decline of the number of older, more expensive lease
liabilities. A breakdown in net finance charges is below:

IFRS 16 Pre
FyzQ Adj's IFRS 18 FYig
£fm £fm fm £fm
Interest on net
borrowings 9.0 - 9.0 9.9
Interest on lease
liabilities 9.2 - 4.2 5.0
IFRS 16 leases 4.2 4.2) - n/a
Bond premiums 1.8 - 1.6 1.8
Provision discount
unwind/other (0.3) - (0.3) 1.0
Net underlying
finance charges 187 4.2 14.5 77
Discount unwind
on EVP instrument
and IPO costs (y - (1.1) 24
Unarmortised
arrangement fees
on old facility - - - 3.8
Net finance
charges 178 4.2) 134 239
Taxation

The Group's tax strategy is approved annually by the Board and is
avgzilable on the Group's website. The Group remains committed
to fully discharging its responsibilities in respect of all relevant
tax legislation in a clear and transparent manner based on a
collaborative relationship with all tax agencies.

The statutory effective tax rate was 19.2%, slightly higher than

the prevailing rate due to certain charges being disallowed for UK
corporation tax. Payments in respect of corporation tax in the year
were {£0.2m]) (prior year £0.2m). The Group’s deferred tax balance

of (£17.3m]) includes balances totalling (£39.91m) in respect of
Accelerated Capital Allowances, previously written off goodwill and
losses which will continue to moderate tax payments in future years.

Earnings per Share

Underlying Earnings per Share rose by 12.1% to 23.1 pence from
20.6 pence in the prior year. In addition, Total Earnings per Share
increased to 18.3 pence, over 154% higher than the prior year

7.2 pence, as a result of impraved trading performance and lower
exceptional, non-underlying items.

Retirement Benefits

The Group operates defined pension schemes for certain employees.

These are closed to new mernbers and to future accrual (except for
a small number of members who have protected entitlements under
local Government contracts]. At 27 March 2020, the net retirement
surplus was £124.7m (prior year £79.0m). The Biffa Pension Scherme
had an actuarial deficit of £29,2m at the time of the last valuation
in March 2018 [compared with £66.7m in March 2015), and an
inflation-linked annual payment of £4.3rm has been agreed with

the Trustee of the scheme.
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Capital Allocation

The Group seeks to balance the allocation of its discretionary capital
between shareholder returns, acquisitions and organic growth
opportunities.

Due to the impacts of COVID-19, and the prudent prioritisation of
cash conservation, the Board is not recornmending a final dividend
for the FY20 year. As a result, the only dividend for the period was
the interim dividend of 2.47 pence per share.

Prior to putting all M&A activity into abeyance, due to the impending
impacts of COVID-19, the Group had continued to deliver against

its growth strategy by completing five small acquisitions for £56.1m
during the year. As the SWR business was acquired on 12 March
2019, the integration of this business, and the other six acquisitions
last year, has been a significant focus for the Group.

Cash Flow

Another year of focus on strong cash flow delivery in the year
enabled the Group to exit the year with a further strengthened
balance sheet and reduced leverage.

Asummary of the Group’s cash flows is shown below:

IFRS 16 Pre
FY20 Adj's IFRS16 FYi8
£m £m £m £m
Underlying EBITDA 174.0 [18.9) 165.1 150.7
Worling capital
movement 128 - 12.8 3.2)
Net capital
expenditure (55.8) - (55.8) [(45.2)
Net interest paid (16.9] 4.2 12.7] (18.0)
Lease principal
payments [50.2) 14.7 (35.5) [33.0)
Pension deficit
payrments 4.1} - a1 (4.0]
Advance for
purchase of own
shares for share
awards (6.0) - (6.0) (1.4)
Tax paidre
acquisitions [0-2) - [0.2) (0.2)
Underlying Free
Gash Flow 53.6 - 53.6 477
Restructuring and
exceptional items (1a.2) - (14.2) (4.5)]
Acquisitions (5.1) - (5.1) [41.5)
Investment in
associates [5.0) - [6.0) -
Changes in
borrowings 0.5 - 0.5 451
Moverment in
financial assets 10.1 - 101 [(4.4)
Dividends (18.3) - (18.3) (17.0)
Netincrease/
[(decrease] in
cash and cash
equivalents 21.6 - 21.8 25.4
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Financial review continued

Underlying Free Cash Flow increased by £6.9m in the year, driven

by working capital inflow and reduced interest costs, which offset
increased capital expenditure and purchase of own shares for share
awards. Net cashflow [excluding movernent in borrowings) is stronger
than last year as a result of lower M&A spend, offset by the Hazardous
waste landfill tax payment to HMRC (detailed further below]) and the
initial equity investment in the Newhurst EfW facility.

Systems Replacement Programme

We have made some substantial changes to ‘Project Fusion’, the
Group's systems replacement prograrmrne, during the year. We were
not satisfied with the progress to date and as a result, we paused
the programme in May 2018 in order to reassess the constituent
elements, ordering and project milestones. The increased costs
associated with this pause are included in Other Iterns: Strategy and
restructuring costs. We replaced the Systems Integration delivery
partner and recommenced the prograrmme with a new partner in
Novernber 2319. The programine has been paused again in April
2020 as a result of COVID-18.

Net Debtand Financing Facilities

In March 2018, the Group refinanced its bank borrowings with a new
unsecured revolving credit facility (RCF) of £360m. This facility
had an initial five-year term and was extended by a further yaar

to March 2025 during the period. The RCF provided the Group with
a lower than average cost of debt compared with the prior year, an
increased maturity profile and improved covenants. As previously
reported, after the year end, an agreement was reached with the
Group's banks to revise covenants and increase liquidity headroom
for FY21 to provide appropriate flexibility to cope with the impacts
of COVID-19 in order to cater for all rmodeiled scenarios:

» Anamended pre-IFRS 18 Net debt: EBITDA covenant for FY21 H1
of 6.5% [compared to the previous covenant of 3.5x) and an
interest cover covenant unchanged at 4x;

m An agreement that in relation to F¥Y21 H2, the Group will be
afforded a 30% covenant headrocrn over and above Biffa's
forecast profit run rate as calculated in September 2020,
to cater for the current lack of visibility around the post
lockdown run rate of profitability; and

w» In addition, whilst the Group has sufficient liquidity to cover the
various modelled scanarios, its banks have agreed in principle,
to an additional £60m cormmitted liquidity headroom facility,
should it be required.

Reported Net Debt at year-end breaks down as:

IFRS 16 Pre

Reported Net Debt FY20 adi's IFRS 16 FYi9
(fim) £m Fm fm £m
Cash a8 - 818 66.2
Loans {249.0) - {249.0) (248.0)
Lease liabilities (268.0) 141.0 (117.0) (122.8)
EVP preference

instrument [(6.3) - (6.3) (6.3)
Total {425.5) 141.0 (284.5) (310.7)

Reported Net Debt excludes £41.3n (prior year £42.3m) of EVP
preference instrument liahility in respect of the EVP Dispute
{see Note 33). £6.3m of these costs is included in Reported Net
Debt as it will be payable irrespective of the outcome of the
dispute and is therefore considered core debt.
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Landfill Tax Matters
The Group is currently engaged in the following disputes with HMRC:

EVP: The Group is engaged in a dispute with HMRC concerning
historical landfill tax, Biffa was successful in its appeal at the Upper
Tax Tribunal hearing held in November 2019. HMRC has appealed
this decision to the Court of Appeal. This is covered in more detail
in note 34 of the accounts.

Hazardous Waste: As previously disclosed, HMRC assessed Biffa
for £8.5m of landfill tax relating to the period 2012 to 2016, Biffa
paid these monies to HMRC in December 2019 and is appealing the
assessment. The cash payment is within exceptional cash flows
and is held on the balance sheet within prepayments as we expect
to successfully defend this case.

Financial Reporting Council (FRC) Information Request
In February 2019, the Group received a request for information on
the reporting treatment of certain areas frorm the FRC, following a
review of the Group's 2018 Annual Report and Accounts. The request
focused on four main areas- APMs, landfill restoration and aftercare
provisions, pension schemes, and service concession arrangements,
The Group responded fully and on a tirnely basis to the FRE, anabling
it to close its enquiry in early May 2019. As a result of the enguiry, the
Group made a nurmber of small disclosure changes in the prior year
Financial Statements, which have also been incorporated this year.

IFRS 16

The Group has adopted IFRS 16 with effect frarn the start of this year.
It has not restated the priar year Financial Statements. Adoption

of IFRS 18 has no effect on how the business is run, nor on the cash
flows for the Group.

The Balance Sheet impact of IFRS 16 is:

IFRS 16 Pre

FY20 adj's IFRS 16 ryY19
(£m) £m £m £m Em
Property, plant
and equipment 52737 (139.9) 344Y.3 366.4
Lease Liability (258.0) 141.0 (117.0) [122.6)
Other 1431.3 0.5) 140.8 117.3
Net Assets 411.0 11 4121 360.1

The impact to the trading statement of IFRS 16 is:
IFRS 16 Pre

FY20 adj's IFRS 16 FY19
{Em) £m Em Em b5l
Underlying EBITDA 174.0 {18.9) 1556.1 150.7
Depreciation (83.5) 16.1 (67.4) (69.0)
Underlying
Operating Profit 90.5 (2.8) 877 817
Underlying Profit
before tax 717 14 731 64.0
Underlying profit
after tax 57.4 11 658.5 515

Richard Pike

Chief Financial Officer

4 June 2020
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Operating Review

Collections Division

Jeff Anderson
Chief Operating Officer, Collections Division

The Collections division comprises the Industrial & Commercial
[I&C), Municipal and Specialist Services businesses. Collection
services are provided for local authority and commercial custorners,
together with commodity recycling and a wide range of additional
services including hazardous waste collection.

Industrial & Commercial

The I&C business provides waste
collection and materials handling
services for commercial customers.

Performance Summary

The I&C business performed extremely well in the year, with revenue
growing by 7.8% to £603.7m. Organic growth of 1% was supplemented
by 8.3% from acquisitions.

Inthe year, we benefited significantly from SWR revenues (which

we acquired in March 2019]. We successfully integrated seven
acquisitions from FY19 into our business and made a further five small
acquisitions during the current year. Integration of these acquisitions
is progressing well and we had a strong pipeline of future opportunities
inMarch 2020, prior to putting all acquisitions on hold.

We were pleased to achieve a further year of excellent customer
retention (overall churn of 5.2%], as well as a number of flagship
customer wins including: Transport for London, Center Paxcs, SSE,
Malmaison, Barratt Homes and Skanska.

In our Small to Medium Enterprise {SME] market we had a record
year. The growth was largely driven by strong performance fror our
telesales tearn and good progress in our lead generation capability.

Biffa Annual Report and Accounts 2020

Market Conditions

Overall Biffa remains a leader in a fragmented Collections market,
benefiting from our scale, route densities and lower operating
costs. We are seeing increasing requirements from custormers

to help manage their sustainability performance, specifically
around landfill diversion and carbon emissions. Our smarter
logistics mapping allows for constant reconfiguration of routes

to help reduce carbon ‘waste miles’ and our integrated position
rmeans our customers have full visibility of the waste supply chain.

Volatility in the global commodity markets depressed the value
received for recycled materials in the year. In addition, we alsa saw
the introduction of import tariffs on refuse derived fuel in both the
Netherlands and Sweden. Market pricing responded accordingly,
and these costs were successfully mitigated, demonstrating the
resilience of the business model.

As discussed at our Capital Markets Day, the [&C business intends to
reduce volume into some European export refuse derived fuel (RDF)
markets over time, and expects more UK incinerator volume, including
EfW developrments planned by Biffa, to increasingly become available.

Strategy and Outlook

The I&C business has been significantly impacted by the COVID-19
crisis as many customers, particularly those in hospitality, leisure
and non-food retail, ceased or reduced trading, with revenues falling
by approximately 50% in the weeks since the financial year end.

By taking rapid action to reduce costs, we have been able to ensure
that service levels continue to be maintained at their normal very
high standards, with over 97% of services successfully provided first
time. In addition, despite these challenges, new business wins have
continued at high levels, as some smaller operators have struggled
to ensure continuity of service.

We have a clear strategy to grow the Collections business through
organic growth and the development of additional services,
supported by cornplementary acquisitions.

We are developing a number of new routes to market, innovating
and broadening our digital capabilities. We are strengthening our
g-commerce capability, by adding additional customer features on
pur self-serve web portals and introducing more digital products
to market. During the year, a new reactive waste collection service
'Skoup’ was introduced which enables residential and commercial
customers in the UK to order a skip, van collection or bag service
online. You can find out more about Skoup here: www.skoup.co.uk
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Operating Review continued

Collections Division continued

Specialist Services

The Specialist Services business provides
specialist, tailored and niche services to
customers who have more complex waste
requirements. It was formed through the
amalgamation of Integrated Resource
Management (IRM] and our Hazardous Waste
operation, together with Biffpack, our plastic
packaging compliance service business.

Performance Summary

Specialist Services delivered a strong performance through
operational synergies, customer retention and some encouraging
new business wins. Revenue grew by 23.9% to £89.8m. In IRM

we continued to secure more complex customers including
manufacturers such as Britvic and tood processors such as Avala
Foods. We improved underlying performance in Hazardous Waste by
leveraging Biffa's I&C customer base to provide additional collection
and treatment services ta customers and this was further supported
by some encouraging new contract wins, including Royal Mint.

Through Biffpack we have a role to play in helping husinesses
to meet their legal compliance with packaging regulations.
We pffered free compliance workshops in the year an topics
including WEEE and batteries, to help customers understand
the regulatory requirements.

Market Conditions

The market for Specialist Services is growing and Biffa's unique
positian in having a fully integrated waste management platform
means we can take advantage of cross-selling services from uu
I&C customer base.

Going forward we will continue to engage with the UK Government,
10 ensure our opinions en packaging compliance reforms are
considered during the development of new waste policy and
regulatory measures, including the Resources and Waste Strategy
in England.

Strategy and Outlook

Specialist Services is holding up well in the current circumstances,
with IRM continuing to provide an extremely valuable service to
the food manufacturing sector in particular, with Hazardous Waste
collections and end of life processing continuing, albeit around 20%
down on pre-COVID-19 crisis levels.

Going forward, the business has a gocd opportunity for growth,
particulasly in the Hazardous Waste arena. This will be reflacted in
our acquisition pipeling, once we emerge from the COVID-19 crisis.
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Municipal

The Municipal business provides household
waste and recycling collections, street
cleaning and other services for households,
on behalf of local authorities.

Performance Summary

We have made significant progress in stabilising the business,
winning new contract tenders, building vur strong order book and
achieving good operational delivery. Revenue grew by 7.7% to £177.3m.

We successfully mobilised our East Sussex and Waverley contracts,
delivering good levels of customer service and ensuring strict
Health & Safety protocols are in place. In addition, key contract
wins in the year include the waste and cleansing contracts for
Cornwall, Tandridge and Winchester Councils, which have added
over £300m to the order hook.

Market Conditions

Our Municipal business is number two in the UK domestic market,
with 35 municipal contracts and is regarded by local authorities

as a key partner, delivering a high-quality service. The market
remains competitive; however, we are seeing a shift in approach
and some parties are now exiting the market, resulting in increased
stabilisation. This in turn is leading to more maturity in the sales
and procurement processas and a more equitable risk balance
between the public and the private sector.

The business is well placed to benefit from the Government’s
Resources and Waste Strategy (RWS] in the next few years as
demand for recycling services from local avthorities increases.
We are also seeing more willingness from iocal authorities to
increase their budgots for waste contracts as they appreciate that
a sustainable quality service is morg beneficial over the long term.
Labour supply, including driver availability continues ta be a key
risk, but we are confident that we have the best team in place to
raanage our business needs.

Strategy and Outlook

The Municipal business has remained resilient in the current
market conditions, with revenues remaining stable. The business
has worked with clients to ensure continuity of almost all services
and the team is performing admirably despite the inavitable
increased employee absence due to COVID-19.

Going forward, the business will continue to fogus on delivering an
efficient, high-quality service, keeping costs firmly under control
and delivering efficiencies through the increased use of technology.

We will continue to build our complementary and adjacent Non-
Local Government revenue streams whilst delivering high quality,
commercially robust and risk appropriate tenders for new business
in our core market.

We have enhanced our teclinology capabilities by investing in
the remote monitoring of vehicles to improve safety performance
and custamer sarvica.

In line with our sustainability ambitions, we are supporting
Manchester City Council with the implermentation of electric
refuse collection vehicles. We are committed to being at the
forefront of this innovation and embracing this technology
forms a key part of Biffa's Sustainability Strategy and our
target to reduce carbon emissions by 50% by 2030. You can
read more on this here: wwwbiffa.couk/sustainability
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Operating Review continued

Resources & Energy Division

Mick Davis
Chief Operating Officer, Resources & Energy Division

The R&E business, which includes Recycling,
Organics, Inerts and Landfill Gas, focuses

on the treatment, recycling, energy recovery
and ultimmate disposal of waste. Net revenue
in the year was £232.1m.
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Performance Summary

Recycling

Our recycling facilities cormprise our Polymers plastics business
and our materials recycling facilities (MRFs).

In our Polymers business we have seen increasing dermand for
recycled plastics result in revenues increasing by 0.4% to £79.5rm
and (as described on page 24) we have invested £15m in the

first phase of 2 new 57kt PET facility in Seaham during the year
to satisfy the growing demand in this space.

We faced variable comrodity prices in the year, which reinforced
the need for us to change cur business model to irnprove gate fees
and lower cormmodity exposure. We have repurposed some of
these facilities from dry mixed recyclables to focus purely on
plastics so we can increase capacity and produce feedstock for
our Polymers business.

Organics

Revenue decreased by 7.8% to £56.9m due to a mixture of service
contract changes in West Sussex, where material is now sent to
EfW rather than landfill and the impact of planned maintenance
downtime in Poplars, reducing energy generation. Qur Leicester

site has had a solid year with improving underlying performance.

Inerts

Landfill has had a strong year, improving tonnage from 2.8 to 2.9MT,

offsetting a modest reduction in average gate fees due to changes

in geographic and waste type mix. These volumes have been

underpinned by our rail hub operations in Leeds and Manchester.

Soil and aggregate treatment operations have also had a solid year.

As a result, net revenue in the business grew by 11.2% to £52.4m.

Landfill gas

Ongoing landfill gas yield declines were lower than recent years due

to strong operational performance. Higher average forward-selling

prices achieved (£49.23 per MWh in FY20 versus £46.00 in FY19)
have been offset by a lower ROC upside.
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Operating Review continued

Resources & Energy Division continued

Market Conditions

We continue to experience strong demand for plastics recycling
material as a result of ongoing consumer and brand preference
coupled with emerging Government policy.

Inthe budget it was announced that a plastics tax of £200/t would
be introduced frorn 2022. The additional measures announced in
the Government's RWS are subject to ongoing consultation, but are
generally expected to have a positive market impact on recycling
levels, which will provide the right conditions for companies, such
as Biffa, to invest in waste infrastructure.

The landfili market continues to see the closure of sites as void
space is filled with no near term sites replacing them. This is
resulting in fewer landfill sites within the UK and waste being
transported further. Biffa has responded by expanding its current
rail hub programme, which can transport inert waste cost effectively
to alternative sites with capacity.

Whilst the market prices for energy have weakened, Biffa has
forward sold ¢90% of its FY21 output.

The growth of separate food waste collections has been limited
during the last year and there continues to be an excess of anaerobic
digestion processing capacity, placing pressure on gate fees. However,
through our scale, operational expertise and collection networle, we
remain well positioned to benefit from a rebalancing in this market as
the RWS measures around food segregation are introduced over time.

2q

Strategy and Qutlook

The impact of COVID-19 across R&E is varied, with the most
notabie impact being on Biffa's landfill operations, which rely on
the constructian industry for a large proportion of their business
and have seen revenues reduce by around 50% from their position
prior to COVID-18. The other areas of the business, whilst impacted,
are holding up well.

Going forward we will continue to focus on expanding our capacity
for closed-loop recycling, which is the highest-grade (food grade
rnaterial} and therefore has the highest value.

In January 2020, we opened the first phase of our £27.6m rPET plastics
recycling site in Seaham, County Durham. The plant, which can
recycle the equivalent of 1.3bn plastic bottles per annurn, was built
on budget and on schedule and was fully pperational at the start

of the new financial year. We also announced a new £7m facility

in Washington, Tyne & Wear, which will expand our recyeling
capabilities for plastic pots, tubs and trays. These combined
investments will increase Biffa's total recycled plastic processing
capability to 140,000 tonnes per annum.

EfW forms a key part of our strategy. The Newhurst EfW development
reached financial ¢lose on 11 February 2020 and will corumence
operations during 2023. As previously disclosed, Biffa's financial
cormmmitment to this development will be cE45m over the next
three years. We continue to progress our second opportunity,
Protos in Cheshire, and are at an advanced stage of this evaluation.

We announced ir gur Sustainability Strategy that we will laok

to invest in solar energy generation on closed or restored landfill
sites. Our low cost access to the grid and large land holdings make
this an interesting future investrent opportunity.

We will continue to expand our rail hub network to support our
landfill operations, together with optimising gas, electrical and
material yields whilst maintaining operational efficiercy across
all gur sites.
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Sustainability

Our ambitious
approach to
sustainability

In March 2020 we launched our Sustainability
Strategy: Resourceful, Responsible.

The strategy builds on our long track record of making a positive
contribution to the environment and communities we operate in,
outlining Biffa’s ambition to drive the sustainability agenda within
the UK waste management industry for the next 10 years. Itis
underpinned by an ambitious but deliverable plan, which is aligned
to our strategic framework and fully supported by aur previously
outlined investment plans.

In the strategy, we pledged to continue building on the significant
progress that we have made in recent years to decarbonise our
services, which has already seen CO: emissions reduce by 65% since
2002. In the yvear we reduced our emissions by over 23%; however

we have big ambitions and are targeting a further 50% reduction in
emissions by 2030. This will be achieved through increased recycling,
diversion frorn landfill and by improving collection route densities.

Our Sustainability Strategy has been informed by recognised best
practice, new and ermerging UK and EU waste and circular economy
policies, and the United Nations Sustainable Development Goals.

Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs)
Under each strategy pillar we have mapped the SDGs to demonstrate
how we are making a contribution.

You can read more about this in the Sustainability Strategy, which
is available at: www.biffa.co.uk/sustainability

Strategic Pillars Strategic Ambitions Targets to 2030 Alignment to the SDGs
Bulldmg a circular Unlock £1.25bn of investment m Expanding our low-carbon
in green economy infrastructure collection business
economy by 2030 ,
m Quadrupling our
plastic recycling
m Investing inlow carbon,
Energy from Waste
Tackling climate Having reduced emissions by m 50% reduction in
65% since 2002, we will deliver carbon emissions
Ghange a further 50% reduction by 2030 . .
m Cease buving fossil-fuelled
collection vehicles
a1 Increase collection route
efficiency by 20%
Caring for our people, To be recognised as a top ranked w To continuously be a
. employer and to continue to top quartile business for
SUppOItlﬂg our be a good corporate citizen, Employee Engagement
communities supporting good causes to

m 50% reduction in our

make a real difference X )
Lost Time Injury rate

m Manage 30% of our estate
for biodiversity
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Sustainability continued

Environmental Performance

Biffa has a team of environmental regulation and policy specialists,
who engage with the UK Government, regulators and policy makers
ta help shape the national regulatory and policy framework in
relation to environmental matters.

We also provide our expertise in our Reality Check papers, published
on our website, which cover important topics such as recycling,
plastics and waste treatment.

<G> Toread these papers visit:
www.biffa.co.uk/media-centre/publications

Below is our strearnlined energy and carbon reporting data for year
snded 27 March 2020, Further environmental data can be found at:
www.hiffa.co.uk/sustainability/environmental-performance

Global GHG Emissions and Energy Use Data for period 1 April 2019 to 27 March 2020
Currentreporting year Comparison reporting year

2Mas20 2018/19
Emissions from activities for which the cornpany own or control
including combustion of fuel & operation of facilities (Scope 1) ACOze (kins) 543 716*
Ermissions from purchase of electricity, heat, steam and cooling
purchased for own use (Scope 2] 00 (kins] 28 31
Total gross scope 1 & 2 emissions/ACO.e (ktns) 572 747
Intensity ratio: tC0.e (gross scope 1 & 2 emissions per employee) 71 a5
* Scope 1 emissions for 2018/19 have been restated as improved diesel data has now become available.
Energy consumption used to calculate the above emissions
Current reporting year Comparison reporting
Climate change/GHG emissions table (Total kWh): 2019/20 year 2018/19
Methane emissions [utilised) 434,148 447,463
Diesel fuel used 449,367,933 474,364,639
Red diesel used 80,800,198 89,689,097
Unleaded petrol used 846,055 1,251,655
Kerosene used 106,848 96,240
LPG 8,164 15,782
Natural gas 7,700,877 6,952,145
Purchased electricity 76,585,813 73,334,935
Self-supplied electricity 37,460,319 38,692,163
Total kWh 653,310,356 682,844,119

To calculate the above consurnption figures, we used methodology based on Energy Savings Opportunity Scheme [ESOS) and CRC Energy
Efficiency Scheme cornpliance.

Following our ES0S audit, cornpleted in November 2019, a number of Biffa's sites undertook energy saving projects. These included installing
LED lighting at 45 of our sites and PIR motion sensors at 11 of our sites, both aimed at reducing electricity consumption.

Overall, we reduced carbon emissions by 23% in the year. We achieved this through a combination of landfill gas raduction and an improvement
in how we capture gas for renewable energy generation purposes.

Energy Generation
2020 2019
Generation (GWh] 423 441
Carbon benefit (kt CO.6) ns 125
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Non-Financial Information Statement

Our Annual Report and Accounts details our approach to environmental, social and employee related matters. The table below outlines

where in the report vou can find this information and where additional information can be found on pur website.

Main policies and standards which govern our approach

Where to find further information

Anti-fraud, bribery
and corruption

® Anti-fraud, bribery and corruption policy
and procedures
m Whistleblowing policy and procadures

Qur People (pages 29 to 31)

Audit Committee Report [page 57)

Business model,
principal risks and
non-financial KPIs

B Business model
m Principal risks
® Non-financial KPIs

Group at a glance (pages 2 to 3]

Principal risks (pages 34 to 38)

Key performance indicators
[pages 1410 17)

Employees

u Employee handbook

m Corporate responsibility statement

m Sustainability strategy

m Diversity policy

m Health, safety and wellbeing policy

» Whistleblowing policy and procedures

Our People {pages 29 and 31)

www biffa.co.uk/sustainability/
corporate-social-responsibility

www.biffa.couk/sustainability

Environmental matters

® Corporate responsibility statement
® Sustainability strategy

See page 28

www.biffa.co.uk/sustainability/
corporate-social-responsibility

Human rights

s Employee handbook

& Corporate responsibility statement

= Modern slavery and human trafficking policy
a Supplier Code of Conduct

Our People (pagses 29 to 31)

www.hiffa.co.uk/sustainability/
corporate-social-responsibility

www.biffa.co.uk/about-us/suppliers

Social matters

=m Corporate responsibility statement
& Sustainability strategy

Qur People [pages 29 to 31)

www.biffa.couk/sustainability/
corporate-social-responsibility

www.biffa.co.uk/sustainability

Biffa Annual Report ang Accounts 2020
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Health and Safety

Keeping our people

safe and well

Keeping our people safe and well is our
absolute priority. This extends to the
safety of our contractors, custormers
and members of the public. The Board
has pverall responsibility for Health &
Safety, including setting policy and
reviewing performance.

Health and Safety Policy

Dur H&S policy outlines our approach to health, safety and wellbeing
across the Group. In order to support the implementation of the
policy, we have a set of management standards which apply to all of
Biffa’s operations. In the year, we undertook a project to consolidate
these intp 20 Group standards which cover key areas of H&S, such
as waste handling processing and traffic management. Training is

provided to employees, including contractors, to ensure compliance.

Performance

During the year we had our best ever H&S performance, significantly

reducing the number of LTIs across the arganisation by 42% (33 in
2019/20 compared with 67 in 2018/19). This achievement was the
rasult of great efforts by all our emmployees, supported by our ‘Watch
your Step' campaign, which resulted in a 50% reduction in the
number of slips, trips and falls from the previous year.

Lost Time Injury and RIDDOR Rate

28

Despite our recent positive performance, there is still much to do.
Our long-term cormritment is to create a zero harm environment,
with no injuries or work related ill health across gur tearn. We are
aiming for a further 50% reduction in our LTI rate by 2030.

To support us on this journey, we implemented or continued the
following initiatives in the yean:

Safer Together

‘Safer Together', which launched in February 2020, is pur new H&S
programme centred on collective responsibility by working together
to ensure the safety of our people and those we worl with, including
contractors, customers and mernbers of the public.

The foundation of the programme is the Safer Together Pact:

Allour senior leaders attended o twa hour Safer Together leadership
training experience so thaey can continue ta lead by example. This
will be supported by training for rnanagers, supervisors, drivers and
front line operatives thraughout the year ahead.

People in Bins

Biffa is working collaboratively with the waste industry, hormelesaness
charities and members of the public to address the growing issue

of people sleeping in bins, which poses significant H&S risk. By
raising awareness of what preventative measures need to be taken,
by both drivers and members of the public, we hope to prevent these
incidents from gecurring. This includes, training our own drivers on the
importance of checking bins before they are collected and reporting
such encounters to Street Link, a national rough sleeping reporting
service. You can read more about our research and action plan on
our website here: www.biffa.couk/media-centre/publications

Driving Recklessly on Pavements (DRoPs)

Our employees continue to face the threat of reckless and aggressive
drivers who do not have the courtesy or patience to allow them to
perform their duties. Biffa is committed to raising awareness of the
social unacceptability of DRoPs to help protect the safety of our
crews and the public.
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Our People

Engaging
our people

Our services are delivered by a team of
over 8,000 colleagues across Biffa. We
work hard to create a culture and an
environment that allows everyone to work
effectively and safely and to contribute to
the growth of the organisation. Our People
Strategy guides our priorities with a focus
on; Attraction, Leadership, Engagement,
Development and Performance.

Our policies ensure that our positions on key topics are clearly
defired and communicated to our employees and that we all
take consistent and appropriate action.

Our Values

QOur values (Be safe, Be innovative, Be customer focused, Be a team
player and Be accountable) help guide our people in their daily
activities and support our behavioural framework. They describe
the behaviours we encourage all employees to adopt to best serve
the interests of our custorers, employees and the business overall.
We have been finalising a new set of values over recent months to
reflect our evolving position as key workers and to better capture
the sentiment of how we act. Once approved, they will be embedded
internally over the coming months.

Health and Wellbeing

We care about the health and wellbeing of our employees. Our

“& Me" prograrame focuses on aspects of health and wellbeing

that are particularly relevant to Biffa. The prograrmnme delivers
regular campaigns, training and offers a dedicated website with
agdvice and guidance on how to improve wellbeing. We also have
our Smarter Ways of Working programme which supports flexible
working and work-life balance and provides a confidential Employee
Assistance Programme with a 24-hour helpline.

Bitffa Anmual Report and Accounts 2020

Board Engagement Activities

David Martin, our Senior Independent Director, has Board
responsibility for workforce engagement. David has attended,
and been privy to, a number of employee-related activities
over the course of the year, which have provided opportunities
to interact directly with representative groups of employees

in a variety of forums.

This included attending events such as employee roadshows,
manager conferences, employee focus groups and the annual
Diamond Award ceremony.

In addition, David attended, with the Group Executive

Teammn, a presentation on the results of the annual employee
engagement survey and employee action plan reviews with

the CEQ, Group HR Director and the lead employee engagernent
champions, where he had the opportunity to consider and raise
guestions about the annual srmployee engagernent survey and
subsequent action planning activities.

David has provided feedback to the Board on engagement
activities and provided a full report at the April 2020 meeting
when the engagement plan for 2020/21 was also agreed.
Site visits for future Board meetings will be structured to
accornrmodate general discussion with employee groups.

“Having completed a full year undertaking the
responsibilities of the Non-Executive Director

for Workforce Engagement, I am content that the
Terms of Reference and Engagement Framework is
proving fit for purpose, and providing me with ample
opportunity to sample reactions and viewpoints of
the workforce at large.”

“At all the meetings [ attended I noted high levels
of motivation, engagement and pride at being part
of a successful business and significant buy-in

to ‘changing the way people think about waste’ a
purpose which has landed strongly across a range
of employees and managers.”

"I was very impressed at the constructive input from
all participants, which gave me confidence to advise
the Board that so far I have seen practical evidence
of our values being cpenly expressed and validated
by a good cross-section of employees.”

David Martin
Non-Executive Director for Workforce Engagement

Details of how the Board has considered employee
interests during the year in its decision making are
setout on pages 48 to 49
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Our People continued

Engaging our Employees

Creating high levels of employee engagement is one of our top
priorities and is central to our People Strategy; we strive to make
Biffa a consistently great place to work. Since 2011, the percentage
of engaged employees at Biffa has doubled and in the past year
our overall level of engagement has remained stable at 58%,
following a 5% point increase last year. Although levels have
rermnained stable this year, we are still ahead of our strategic
target and ahead of the UK average. We engage with our employees
throughout the year through multiple communication channels
including: face-to-face roadshows, conference calls, recorded
vlogs and our employee app, Biffa Beat.

In addition, we recognise our ernployees and teams who have gone
the ‘extra mile’ through our annual Diamond Award ceremony.

Learning and Development

We continue to invest in the personal development of our colleagues.
Dur Learning and Development Team provides a broad selection

of programumes ranging trom comphance and technical training Lo
management and leadership developrment. We have also invested

in a comprehensive portfolio of e-learning modules, allowing all our
employees access to relevant and timely learning content.

One key area of focus for 2020 is our Advanced Leadership
FProgramme. This new senior leader developrment programme
will accelerate the developraent of some of our brightest talent
across the organisation.

We continue to offer a portfolio of apprenticeship programmes
which range from engineering apprenticeships through to master's
in business administration,

Anti-fraud, Bribery and Corruption

Our anti-fraud, bribery and corruption policy and procedure sets
out the standards that are expected of exnployees and the systems
and procedures which Biffa employs to minimise the opportunity
for fraudulent or corrupt behaviour taking place and how it will
deal with any instances of such behaviour. IL applies to all our
employees and appropriate parts of the policy are alsc applied to
representatives, joint venture partners and outsourcing partners.

Promoting Diversity and Inclusion [D&I)

We are cornmitted to promoting D&I across all areas, including
gender and ethnicity, The industry in which we operate has
traditionally employed more men than women. Across the Group,
the workforce comprises 12% female and 88% male employees. There
is therefore lots more to do in this area and it remains a key focus.

The Company entered the FTSE 260 in March 2020 and we will
submit the gender data on our Group Executive Team and their
direct reports to the Hampton-Alexander Review in November
2020. The table below shows aur employment by gender in each
of the relevant categories.

We believe that diversity enlhances our effectiveness and we will
continue to address our gender imbalance when making future
Board and senior leader appointments and will strive to develop
a diverse pipeline of executive talent.

Although women account for only 12% of the overall workforce,
they are better represented within professional and managerial
1ules which means on sverage they receive high levols of pay

in our business. This results in a negative gender pay gap.

More information can be found in our Gendex Pay Gap report:
www.biffa.co.uk/sustainability/corporate-social-responsibility

We are working to create a consistently inclusive environment
where differences are valued and all colleagues can thrive.

We delivered D&I training to our senior leaders during 2019,
introduced an e-learning module on diversity for all managers

and plan to deliver D&I training to front line employaes during 2020.

Our diversity policy also covers specific arrangements for people
with disabilities including:

» giving full and fair consideration to applications from disabled
persong, having regards for their skills and abilities;

= continuing the employment of and arranging appropriate training
for those who have becorne disabled while at Biffa; and

m career development and promaotinn of disabled employees.

More information (including targets for the next 10 years)
can be found in our Sustainability Strategy: www.biffa.couk/

Itincludes guidance to employees on the giving, receiving and sustainability
recording of business gifts and hospitality. There is an e-learning
module on this topic for all Biffa leaders and managers to ensure
they understand and adhere to this. Any breaches of policy are
investigated by the Head of Risk and Internal Audit and are reported
to the Audit Committee (see details on whistleblowing).
Our Gender Statistics:
Male Female Non-Disclosed Total
Category No's % No's % No's % No’s %
Board 6 B5.7% 1 14.3% 0 0.0% 7 100.0%
Group Executive Team 6 85.7% 1 14.3% 0 0.0% 7 100.0%
Direct Reports to Group Executive Team 28 737% 10 26.3% 0 0.0% 38 100.0%
All Employees 7,160 87.4% 1,028 12.6% 8] 0.0% 8,188 100.0%

Board = Chairrnan, Non-Executive Director’s and Executive Director's
Group Executive Team = Executive Directors’ and E Grades

Direct Reports to Group Executive Tearn = Direct Reports to E Grades (except PA'S)

All Ernployees = All Ermnployees
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Ethic¢s and Human Rights

We conduct our business with honesty, integrity, fairness and
respect and encourage all our employees to embrace these
principles. Our employee handbook sets out our expectations
and we also have specific policies including whistleblowing,
anti-fraud, bribery and corruption, disciplinary and grievance
matters, diversity and inclusion and preventing rodern slavery.

Preventing Modern Slavery

Modem slavery is a growing world-wide issue exacerbated by the rapid
rise in global migration. We operate at over 200 sites across the UK
and employ more than 8,000 people, as well as many agency staff. We
aleo have relationships with many external suppliers to source labour
and materials for our business. It is therefore imperative to maintain a
robust and effective approach towards slavery and hurman trafficling
in order to protect our people and supply chain. We procure goods
and services under the Code of Ethics of the Chartered Institute of
Procurement & Supply and complete due diligence checks on new
and existing suppliers. There is an e-learning module on rmodern
slavery for all leaders and managers to build their knowledge and
understand their responsibilities.

More information can be found in our Modern Slavery
Statement: www.biffa.co.uk/media-centre/publications

Biffa Annuat Repart and Accounts 2020

Whistleblowing

The Group has a long established whistieblowing policy and
procedure by which all empioyees may, in confidence, report any
concerns where the interests of the Company or others are at risk.
Employees are encouraged in the first instance to talk to their
raanager, a higher level of management or a member of the HR
teara. However, in circurnstances where this is not possible, or is
inappropriate, the Group has provided an independent, external
whistlehlowing hotline, via Safecall, for the reporting of such
rmatters on a named or anonyraous basis.

All reports are entered in the Group Whistleblowing Register and
are treated in the strictest confidence. The output of an investigation
is typically reviewed by a review body, which confirms the outcome
and any action to be taken, comprising the Group HR Director,
General Counsel & Company Secretary and other senior leaders as
appropriate, dependent on the nature of the complaint. The policy
is reviewed annually to ensure it is fit for purpose and continues
to reflect best practice. There were 39 whistleblowing reports in
the year ended 27 March 2020, nearly 60% of them being in the
categories of inappropriate behaviour or dishonesty.

In five of these cases process/system changes were recommended
to be enacted. In the other 18 cases the investigation completed,
but did not result in sufficient evidence to warrant disciplinary
action or a change to existing processes or systerns.

Giving Back to our Communitias

We encourage all colleagues to ‘give something back’ and are
proud to partner the charity WasteAid, as well as supporting
local communities through employee volunteering, local
fundraising activities and biodiversity initiatives.

‘We support cur employees in their volunteering activities
within their local communities. We believe that, in addition to
giving something back to society, volunteering results in better
teamwork, motivation, engagernent and personal fulfilment for
employees, During the year, more than 56 employees took

part in volunteering activities.

We also have the Biffa Award which diverts a proportion of landfill
tax to help support community projects near landfill sites. During
the year, 44 projects received funding of moere than £3m to support
the improvement of land for biodiversity, the improvement of
community buildings, such as village halls and the installation of
recreational facilities such as play equipment. We are comumitted
to providing an additional £25m to local communities by 2030,

You can read more about our people and cornmunities
in our Sustainability Strategy here: www . biffa.couk/
sustainability/downloads
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Managing our Risks

Managing risks
through unprecedented
circumstances

The Board has overall responsibility for risk
management at Biffa. In support of this, risk
management is firmly embedded within gur
everyday business activities and our culture.

Clearly the evolving COVID-19 crisis has had a significant impact

on the Group. Whilst Biffa has continued its operations throughout
the unprecedented circumstances, there has been increased risk to
the I&C and land{fill businesses in particular. Further detail on risk
raanagerent throughout the COVID-18 crisis is provided in Principal
Risks and Uncertainties on pages 34-38.

Risk Governance

The Board recognises its responsibility to ensure that the Group's
internal control systems and risk management framework are
effective. The Audit Committee has specific delegated authority
to review the effectiveness of the risk management and internal
control praocesses during the year.

Day-to-day risk management and control is the responsibility of
the Group Executive Team, with Board oversight, and is designed
to ensure that management provides leadership and direction to
employees so that our overall risk-taking activity is kept withinour
risk appetite.

Biffa operates the 'Three Lines of Defence’ madel to manage the
ongoing effectiveness of risk and control, to define the relationship
between the various management and oversight functions, and ta
demgnstrate how responsibilities are allocated. The Internal Audit
team assesses our rigks and controls independently and objectively.

32

Risk Appetite

The Board sets our overarching risk appetite and ensures that we
manage risk appropriately across the Group. H&S, regulatory and
environmental risks are our top priority. Biffa dedicates significant
resources and focus to managing and monitoring these risks on a
daily basis, with other key risks considered and reviewed alongside
this. In each case, controls and mitigating actions aligned to the rigk
appetite are put in place.

Risk Assessment

A risk assessment matrix is used to ensure that risks are assessed
consistently. This matrix considers the likelihood of the risk
materialising and its potential impact. We assess both the inherent
risk, before any mitigating actions, and the residual risk, after
considering mitigating actions and controls. We also identify any
additional activities that could be undertaken to further mitigate
the risk.

Emerging Risks

In addition to known risks, we identify and analyse emerging risks
and the need for mitigation as part of our existing risk managerment
processes. These risks are reviewed by both the Group Executive
Team and the Audit Coramittee, and include risks relating to climate
change, such as flood risk arising from high rainfal}, and pandemic
and infectious diseases.
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Risk Management Processes

The Group's risk management processes are centrally coordinated
with an established network of ‘Risk Champions’ in place to
facilitate updates torisks during the year. The Risk Champions
are members of the senior management team and take a lead role
in engaging local management to identify, agree and update risk
information on a regular basis.

The Group Executive Team receives regular reports on the principal
and ererging risks and ownership of each of these risks is assigned

The Audit Committee undertakes regular reviews of the principal
and emerging risks, as identified and assessed by management
through the above process. The Audit Committee also reviews
surmaries of the work undertaken by the Internal Audit team,
which operates a risk-based annual plan of assurance reviews.

Qur risk management systerns are intended to mitigate and reduce
risk to the lowest extent possible, however we cannot eliminate

all risks to the Group. The risk management processes can only
provide reasonable and not absclute assurance against material

to individual members of the Team.

Risk Management Framework

Board

Audit Committee

Group Executive Team

1

misstaternent or loss.

|

I

m Operational mansgement/staff
Activity/controls:

w Policies and procedures

m Internal controls

m Planning, budgeting,
forecasting processes

m Delegated authorities

® Business workflows/IT
system controls

m Personal objectives
and incentives

m Compliance/oversight functions

Activity/controls:
m Health, Safety & Quality Team
with audit programme in place

m Environmental/regulatory compliance
® Risk managemant
u Controls cornpliance monitoring

m Management/Board reporting
and review of KPIs and financial
performance

m Corporate policies and central
function oversight

1stline of defence 2nd line of defence 3rd line of defence
Ownms and manages risks Oversight of risks and Independent
and implements/operates control compliance assurance
business controls

Who is responsible: Who is responsible: Who is responsible:

» Internal Audit
Activity/controls:
= Approved Internal Audit plan

w Internal Audit reporting line
to Audit Committee

m Regular Internal Audit updates
to Audit Comrnittee

Biffa Annual Report and Accounts 2020
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Principal Risks and Uncertainties

Risk title/description Risk moverment Mitigating actions Changes in year Strategic
and Impact objective
changes in Government Experienced and qualified envircnmental Published reports (Reality
policy and legal and - copat expets o e oyl
regulatory compliance . ’ i i Optimise
The Group operates in a " D.peratllonal Representation on the Environrental Managing Waste Plastics. v
. lated i m Financial Services Association and other external 10-vear Sustainability Strategy
highly regulated industry and u Reputational  ppgies; liaison with policy makers and ‘Resourceful, Responsible’
any changes ta Bovernment = Regulatory Regulators at national and local levels; developed and launched in
olicy, standards or regulator responses to Governrment/regulatory March 2020, which helps link
P A Or Iegu V4 P oy . .
compliance requirements consultations and sustainability reporting. mefqmmbielFfi?éégattegv with 4
could have an adverse impact Environmental compliance strategy inplace SR8 oy LW S SRR
an the Broup's operatians ;tg;l:\i;“a% ?;;;‘;acﬁzig‘g;:{iiaaég[if 3123&15 UK Government gnvirpnmental
and results. ' P : policy and objectives, as well as
Established compliance processes in place the United Nations Sustainable
to manage other regulatory cormpliance risks, Development Goals.
such as anti-bribery and corruption, GDPR,
modern slavery, cornpetition and vehicle
operating licences.
Founding mernber of the Slave Free Alliance
and has implernented several Inilldlives,
ingluding a manager's guide to modern
slavery, to raise awareness across the business.
Training for senior Jeaders on modern
slavery, anti-bribery and corcuption, GDPR
and cornpetition.
Health & Safety (H&S) Group H&S function reports to the CEO. New H&S Programme - Safer
cept . —
Biffa's operations present Active and regular engagement by senior Together launched.
inherent H&S risks to cur . managernent including weekly reporting Existing H&S standards updated Optimise
employees, our customers m Reputational  and calls with the Group Executive Team. and incorporated into a new Group
o . ® Regulatory : _— s Integrated Management Systemn.
and the wider public. » Financial Inclusion of HES targets and objectives within
Group Balanced Business Plans (BBP) with cne New driver training pregrarnme
Violations of H&S laws/ of the five pillars being ‘Safe and Sustainable’ - Streetwise developed which
regulations could have a Embedded policies, standards and procedures {;’;ﬁse,ign defensive driving
material adverse effect on in place across Biffa for the systematic control Aviours.
Biffa’s business and reputation, of significant H&S risks. Wellbei‘x.lg plrogranunl a del;’:rered
Primary Authority relationship with Hampshire f[l‘lprl\Jtﬂafl ;nilﬁ\v topics suchas
Fire and Rescue Service enables access to @ & .
advice and counsel on fire 1isk issues.
Managerment system transitioned to IS0 14001
and IS0 8001:2015.
Mergers & Acquisitions Group delegated authorities for the review/ During the year we have
[M&A] strategy and approval of all transactions by senior continued our M&A strategy to
. rmanagement, Investment Comrnittee support growth and corapleted
delivery N = Finansial and the Boord. five small acquisitions. Grow
Biffa faces risks arising from inancla. . ) . -
it isiti t Dedicated corporate finrance expertise in We have also worked to integrate
1S _acqu151 lon stra ESY' such place together with experienced Biffa subject the previous year’s acquisitions
as increased competition for matter experts as senior stakeholders for the inciuding the internalisation Develop

acquisition targets or a lack of

suitable targets. Additionally,
acquisition integration

risks and igsues could arise,
impacting the delivery of
expected benefits, either
within expected timeframes
or to the extent anticipated.

acquisition process.

Board and executive level review and update
included in monthly Board report suramarising
pipeline of identified potential targets.

Due diligence yndertalken for all M&A
transactions, including use of external
advisers depending on target value and
cormplexity. A standardised approach using
an established valuation model is in place
with all transactions reviewed/approved
by the Investment Comumittes and [where
appropriate) the Board.

Project tearn kept in place until integration
phase cornpleted. Post-acquisition reviews to
track benefit delivery with financial benefits
embedded within financial planning processes
(e.g. forecasts and budgets).

of SWR custorner collections
previpusly outsourced. This
activity will coraplete next year.

Post COVID-19 we anticipate
returning to a strong pipeline
of opportunities.
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Rigk title/description Risk movermnent Mitigating actions Changes in year Strategic
and Impact objective
Long-term contracts Group delegated autharities for the review/ Continued focus on the sales
and tendering \l; approval of bids by senior management, governance process including:
) \ the Investment Cornmittee and the Board
The Group is exposed to risks d i bid si m The development of the Grow
inherent in long-term fixed- = Pinarcial [depending on bid slze). contract risk framework to
, : ) m Reputational  Material bids are compiled by dedicated formalise the governance
price contracts, in particular development teamns with significant expertise approach ta key commercial/
in its Municipal division and and experience. They are supported by subject legal risks, which has been
related operations. Risks rnatter experts as appropriate. approved by the .Board.
include inaccurate long-term Protection from change of law or force majeure u Improved oapacity and
i d h. for unforeseen circurnstances is designed capability acrass our project
cost estimates due to changes int oot management and rmobilisation
in the external operating into contracts. team facititating a culture of
environment and market A contract risk framework is in place to identify continuous improvement.
; ; key commmercial/legal risks and confirm u Restructure of the cornmercial/
dvn?. n’.ucs that 19.3(11 '.m material through the governance process that these sales function, integrating
deviations from initial have been considered and mitigated. leadership under the new
underlying assumptions. Municipal Cormmercial
Director, but also adding
additional support in bath
the commercial and business
developrnent teams.
COVID-19 The Group has introduced measures to reduce See pages 6 to 7 for more
Asignification reduction in * costs, including furloughing over 1,5(}0 information.
; employees; pay reductions being taking by
demand for I&C Collection a Financial the Board, the Group Leadership Team and the Grow
services, as many customers a Operational broader leadership group; and suspension of
are forced to cease or w Reputational  bonuses and pay increases.
drastically reduce trading, All MEA has been suspended and non-essential Optimise
may have an adverse capital expenditure that has not already been
: SEfa ; committed for F¥Y21 has been put an hold.
impact on Biffa's operating In addition, payment deferrals have been
performance, revenues negotiated where appropriate and meaningful
and results of operations. in areas such as indirect taxes, pensions, lease
" liabilities and material supplies.
In addition, the, Grmllp Covenant arnendments and additional
expects rgductmns n liquidity headroom have been agreed
volumes into some processing with the Group's banlks.
Iacil.ities in the R&F division Aninternal response team has been setup ta
and impacts to all business ensure we support the health and wellbeing of
operations from workforce our colleagues, manage business continuity,
illness or enforced absence. provide clear and tirnely communications and
mintmise service disruption.
All staff who are able to have been advised to
work from home and secial distancing applied
across our workplaces.
Internal communications and engagement
have been key with CEO vlogs, internal
appreciation campaigns and our employee
App, Biffa Beat all contributing.
35
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Principal risks and uncertainties continued

Risk title/description Risk movernent Mitigating acticns Changes in year Strategic
and Impact abjective
Business continuity, Crisis management and emergency response Continued testing and
cyber security and plans in place for key sites and pperations. improvernent of Biffa Business
IT resilience Server infrastructure supporting key IT gir‘;;mﬁét&g:ngz?ems Optirnise
Asignificant disruption to s Finangial services hosted in Microsoft Azure Cloud & vaar.
Bitfas infr . . m Reputaticnal providing resilience, failover and backup Business continuity capability
I iffa’s infrastructure, mclludmg » [perational services. demonstrated during COVID-19
T svster.ns, could putent:a.xlly 150 27001 certification [Information Security) erisis whereby the rajority of
have an impact on the activity inplace contact centre and head office
of the Group's customers, such : functions enabled to work fror.
: 114 L Externally hosted business continuity
as 1ncrea§ed billing tlmles' recovery sites in place for key administrative
interruptions to collection and support functions with a tri-annual testing
operations and processing prograrmune in place.
logistics, and additional costs. Intrusion detection in place and a cloud-
m based ‘always on' security service provided by
Additionally, the theft, loss, Microsoft protecting against Xey cyber threats.
destruction, mlsaPPmp”anU“ Cyber security education initiatives taken place.
or reiease of sensitive and/or
confidential information
could result in business
disruption, negative
publicity or brand damage.
Economic environment/ Biffa has revenues and costs that are either Whilst we continue to monitor
Brexit directly or indizectly impacted by the value this risk, we are confident that
. . . of Sterling relative to key currencies such as our existing mitigations will
Economic conditions in the a Financial the US Dollar or the Euro. This provides some enable the Group to minirmise Grow
UK may have an adverse degree of offset and natural hedge. the impact of any weakening in
impact on Biffa's operating We enter inta forward contracts for the sale of econoric conditions.
performance, revenues and electricity and to mitigate short-term currency Optirnise
rasults of operations. The exposures, improving earnings visibility in the
Croup is exposed to political, short term.
social and macroeconermic Biffa provides services across the breadth of
: : s . the UK ecenorny and to custormers in the public
I t
isks !Elatl{]\ gto the UK’s exit and private sactors. The breadth of customers
from the EU. offers a degree of protection against economic
. pressures that may affect specific areas of the
Any reonomic weakness economy.
th?t loads ;O reduced The Group has assesserd the potential irnpact
volumes of waste and of certain Brexit scenarios on 1ts attiviilus aud
recyclate will adversely the Board is satisfied that there is unlikely 1o
impact the Groupg's business. be a net material impact on the Group.
Furthermors, a deterioration
in macroeconomic conditions
may also result in increased
competitive pricing pressure
and increased customer
turnover.
People - attraction, Rewsard framewark for ernployees and COVID-19 response tearn set up
succession, retention managers competitively aligned to the rmarket, 1o ensure we support the health
Thel P ! . inpluding Performance Share Plan for senior and wellbeing of cur calleagues,
e loss of the ser.vmes. ofa m Operational personnel and Sharesave scheme available to manage business continuity, Grow
number of Executive Directors, 5 rinancial all employees. provide clear and timely
senior manage_ment or key Talent and management development (s:grmvi:*,l:g;:?\:mt?i:nd rinimise
employees, or if the Group programemes deployed at senior levels and pHon. Develap
encountered labour shortages progressively to other levels going forward. Introduced an Advanced
or was unable to attract people Ongoing review of the recruitment and Leadership Prograrmme.
for core business roles, could retention of drivers. ..
Optimise

have a material adverse effact
on Biffa’s business resulis,
operations, financial condition
and prospects.
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Risk title/description Risk movernent Mitigating actions Changes in year Strategic
and Impact chjective
Strategic project Board and Group Executive Tearn engagernent Fusion transformation project has
implementation — and leadership. rmade sound progress throughout
. . . A software i \off the shelf duct the year but has been slowed Develo
Failure to deliver strategic = Operational Selected software is a proven ‘off the shelf produc down during GOVID-18 crisis. evelop
projects, such as Energy from = Financial Independent programme assurance. The project will resurne following
Waste (EfW) .and Pm]eCt_ Change network in place to ensure line the resolution of the crisis.
Fusion. EfW increases Biffa's managernent ownership of Fusion. Newhurst EfW has achieved Optirmise
tesidual waste treatrmant Proven EW tachnology, substantial UK financial close, securing s
capabilities providing a secure and worldwide reference plants with > 30 price contract
and cost-gffective disposal operational in the UK treating in excess of 10m *
solution for the I&C business. tonnes per anaur.
Fusion is focused on our EfW joint venture previding complernentary
products and servicas, how skill sets and experience to minimise risk.
they are sold and delivered, Limited recourse project structure.
the technology used and
the online services offered
to customers. As with any
such projects, there are
risks that the project fails
to deliver the anticipated
improvements and/or
benefits for the budgeted
investment, adversely
impacting reputation and
operating results.
Finance availability/ Significant and flexible banlk funding facility Covenant amendments and
investment i with substantial headroom to enable the additional liquidity headroom
: Group to progress strategic priorities and have been agreed with the
If the Group were to fail = Financial accommadate any downside performance risk. Group's banlks in response Grow
to comply with any of the : 4 to the COVID-18 grisis.
) ) : . £350m unsecured revolving credit facility,
financial or ngn-ilnal_"kclal expiring in March 2025 but with an option to
covenants in its credit extend for a further year. As at the end of the Develop
facilities (due, for example, year, £98m of the facility was undrawn.,
to deterioration in financial In addition ta the bank funding facility, the
performance), it could Group has over £150m of lease liabilities, Optimi
result in an event of default with undrawn funding of over £70m at the ptimise
; end of the year.
and the acceleration of the Oneo ¥ g of f il and
) foat] tor ngoing monitoring of financial an
Group's Dbhga}tmn? OTepay non-financial covenants with summary
those borrowings, 1ncreased. updates to the Board.
horrowing costs or cancellation
of certain credit facilities.
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Principal risks and uncertainties continued

Risk title/description Risk movement Mitigating actions Changes in year Strategic
and Impact objective
Commodities market Ongoing monitoring and improvements to Investment in sorting technology
and pricing volatility product quality within recycling processes. and process improvements
Biffa produces significant Off-taker strategy review to limit dependency, ;?J;E‘f?:;ig::;g f{ ’;zestspply Develop
® Financial where able, on the Chinese market. . o
volumes of recycled 0 donal agreements now in place with
commodities for re-sale. ® Uperatlona Commuodity price risk sharing within domesﬁc‘prooessors to er_Lable
Commodities produced long-term corunercial contracts, a proportion of the material to Optimise
. . : rernain in the UK,
include various paper grades, Worlking with key customers (e.g. Local i ]
card, plastics, and ferrous Government) to agree gate fees to reflect Biffa's investment in plastic
P ! any increased costs and also dual recycling has significantly
and non-ferrous metals. collection methods. reduced reliance on exports,
In addition, Biffa generates Power price hedging policy in place, which ;1“;;;?: gfg’;ﬁggﬁ;&ﬁfﬁd
power from renewahle sources is regularly reviewed. destination internally.
and changes to electricity unte to market Power Purchase AgrEemt.?nt Gontinued focus on minimising
export prices impact revenues ﬁ?;f%gigﬂﬂ‘;‘f”es off take certainty exposure to recycle corradity
and profits achieved. e . price fluctuations by risk
sharing with our local authority
Markets for these recyclate custumecris. Ix;6 F}’ 2019/2[;. we
TR raitigated 58% of commodity
E;g%?s;sn};a;:rg:ﬁ:;gx;mics price risk through this approach.
impacting both price and
availability of off-take.
Following China’s decision
to ban mixed paper imports
in 2018, other Far East
markets have tightened
quality standards, and in
sorne instances also banned
imports, This has put further
downward pressure on prices
with an oversupply of material
in the market and made it
more challenging to place
lower quality material.
Strategic/competitive Interna} business innovation group focuses Several innovative concepts
i — onmarket developments and to actas an ave been developed as potentia
threat to business model ket devel dtoact have been developed as potential
. \ incubator for ideas and new business madels. projects and evaluated by the
Market disruption from . executive team. Grow
the application of new a Financizal Continual competitor analysis to consider
technology and the advent » Operational threats and changes to the landscape.
: Annual strategy review to ensure that
ofnew business modsls could Biffa business model remains current Develop
chapge the waste supply and competitive.
cbau,l and ad‘versglv lmpe,mt Customer surveys to ensure that the Biffa
Biffa's established operating offer remains relevant and compelling. Optimise

asset base of a traditional
collection network and
processing facilities.

Ongoing investment in and improvement
of the customer experience through
digitisation, improved processes and
management inforrmation.

The Strategic Repart was app-aved by the Board or 4 fune 2020 and signed ori 1ts behalf by

W
Michael Topham
Chief Lrecutive Officer
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Viability Statement and Going Concern

The COVID-19 pandemic is unprecedented and hasled to a sudden and significant
decline in waste volumes, due to lockdown measures. When these measures are
lifted, a marked but gradual recovery in volurmes is anticipated, albeit with depressed
run rate levels, as a result of an expectation that a proportion of small customers
will not survive the pandemic.

Whilst the Group is subject to a number of principal risks, as disclosed in the Strategic
Report, these are ¢onsidered to be well managed by the Board and the Group is fairly
defensive in nature. However, the econemic downturn impacts of COVID-19 have
proved to be an entirely different proposition and the impacts of this are the main
factors taken into gconsideration for the viability assessment.

In accordance with provision 31 of the UK Corporate Governance Code 2018, the
Board has assessed the viability of the Group over a longer period than twelve
rmonths and has adopted a period of three years for the assessment. In determining
the appropriate pariod over which to assess viability, the Board has considered
budgeting, forecasting and strategic planning cycles, the timeframe within which
the Group assess risks and the maturation of the Group’s credit facilities.

Three yearsis considered an appropriate tirne period given the short-term impact of
the COVID-19 lockdown measures to the waste industry and is a reasonable period
for a shareholder to expect a waste business to be assessed over. Beyond the three
year period, the Group has considered and is satisfied the longer term pre-COVID-19
strategy is still relevant and appropriate, this includes further recycling capacity.
acguisition growth and investment in EfW plants.

Ongoing weekly and, more recently as things have started to stabilise, bi-weekly
re-forecasting under different scenarios, have heen undertaken since the COVID-19
pandemic started to impact the business at the end of March. Within these forecasts
the Directors carried out a robust assessment of the Principal Risks facing the Group,
including the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on the various sectors the business
operates in and the waste streams arising in all the Group's operating areas. To assess
viability, multiple, material risks are selected by the Board and are assumed to
crystallise in parallel during the assessment pertod, putting financial and operational
performance of the husiness under plausible, but unlikely, stresses outlined below.

These forecasts assume a 13 weelk lockdown period from the balance sheet date and

a subsequent phased recovery. The financial impact has been modelled on a sub-
divisional level and includes the impact on revenue and operating costs. In modelling
the scenarios, recovery assumptions have been applied on the various sectors the
Group services. Impact to expected credit losses has been considered and reflected

in the modelling. The assumptions have been stress tested with variant recovery time
periods to determine whether current headroom would suffice and whether revised
bank covenants would be breached.

The Group has also implemented various mitigating actions to combat the near-
term reduction in demand for the Group’s services. These include the reduction of
expenditure on M&A, non-committed development and nor-essential maintenance
capital expenditure, rernuneration, other operating costs and not declaring a final
dividend for the year.

The Group’s profitability, liquidity and financial headroom have all been assessed
and incorporated within the above mentioned scenario analysis.

Based on the results of this analysis and after careful consideration of the uncertainty
and dynarnic nature of COVID-19, including reviewing the fast changing external
factors and their cumulative impact in the short, medium and long term, and other
considerations ingcluding the Group’s business model and ability to model a range
of severe, but plausible, reasonable worst-case scenarios, the Directors confirm
that they have a reasonable expectation that the Group will be able to withstand
the impact of each of these scenarios, in isolation and in a number of plausible
combinations, should they occur in the course of the three-year assessment period.
In each event the Group would continue in operation and meet its liabilities as they
fall due. Therefore, the Board concluded that it remains appropriate to consider a
three year time frame ovar which we should assess the long-term viability of the
Group over the period to 31 March 2023.

Biffa Annual Repart and Accounts 2020
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Corporate Governance Report

Summary of the Corporate
Governance Report

40

Board Leadership and Company Purpose

Board of Directors 42-43
Board Engagement with Stakeholders 48-49
Activities of the Board 51

Division of Responsibilities

Governance Framework 15
Roles and Responsibilities 46

Composition, Succession and Evaluation

Board Evaluation Process &3
Normination Coramittee Report 54-56

Board Skills and Attributes 55

Audit, Risk and Internal Control

Audit Committee Report 57-61
Risk and Internal Control 6O
Remuneration

Directors’ Rernuneration Report 62-83
Directors’ Remuneration Policy 86-73
Direclors' Annual Report unt Kemunstadon 74 00

Our Corporate Governance Report, on
pages 40-85 explains how the Company
has applied the principles and complied
with the provisions of the UK Corporate
Governance Code 2018 (the Cade), other
than as referred to below.

Compliance Statement

The Board has applied the principles and
complied with the provisions of the Code
throughaut FY20, with the exception of
provision 21, which requires an external
evaluation of the Board every three years
and provision 38, concerning pension
contribution rates for Executive Directors.
Further information regarding the Board
evaluation can be found on page 56 and
regarding pension contribution rates can
be found in the Directors' Remuneration
Report on page 86,

The Code is available an the website

of the Financial Reporting Council at

wwwircorguk
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Chairman's Introduction

Leading with Purpose

Ken Lever
Chairman

Dear Shareholder,

GOn behalf of the Board, f am pleased to introduce the Group's
Corporate Governance Report for this year. As previously stated,
the Company has had another succegsful year, delivering on its
strategy, with good financial results and the publication of its
first Sustainability Strategy.

Inthe final weeks of the year, the Board's focus moved to the
Company's response to the impact of COVID-19, providing oversight
and approving a number of updates to the market and various
measures for near-terra cash preservation, The Board held weekly
calls at which it received updates on the status of the response
planning and the impact to our employees, other staitehoiders and the
business. Further details on Biffa’s response are set out on pages 6-7.

Changes to the Board During the Year

There have been no changes to the Board during the year, following
last years movements. 1 am pleased to report that the changes have
been successfully embedded, with Board members working and
interacting well together, this was confirmed by the results of our
2020 Board evaluation [see page 53 for more details).

Biffa Annual Report and Accounts 2020

Governance

This year we are reporting under the 2018 UK Corporate Governance
Code for the first time. The updated principles in the Code emphasise
the value of good corporate governance tolong-term sustainable
success, The Board took the opportunity to undertake a comprehensive
review and refresh of its policies and processes, following the publication
of the Code, with these being ernbedded during the yvear. The Corporate
Governance Report on pages 40-85 sets out how we comply with, and
have applied, the Code during the year.

Section 172 and Stakeholder Engagement

Set out on page 5 is the Board’s first section 172 statement. In order
to comply with section 172, the Board is required to consider a
nurmber of matters in its decision making including the interests of
its stakeholders. Further details on this are set out on pages 48-49.
The Board fulfilling its s172 duties has been clearly demonstrated in
its response to the COVID-19 crisis, in particular, how it has engaged
with a number of different stakeholder groups during this time. All
of our stakehaolders have been affected in some way and the Board
has supported the business to act fairly at all times, ensuring the
continuation of our essential services, whilst approving measures
to protect and preserve the fundamental value of the business to
ensure its long-term health. Further information on how the Board
has considered our stakeholders during this time can be found on
pages B-7.

Shareholder Consultations

During the year, the Rernuneration Committee consulted with our
major shareholders in relation to the new Directors’ Remuneration
Policy which will go before shareholders for approval atthe AGM in
July this year. A number of changes were made to the Policy following
feedback from shareholders and the proxy agencies (see page 68 for
details). David Martin, our Senior Independent Director, also consulted
with investors following the votes against the resolution for my
re-appointment at the last AGM {see page 53 for details).

Purpose, Values and Culture

In last year's Annual Report we introduced our new purpose - to
change the way people think about waste - for the first time. During
the year, the Board has monitored how the purpose, values, and
strategy align to the Company’s culture (see page 47 for details).

Environmental, Social and Governance (ESG)

In recent years we have seen an increased focus from shareholders on
ESG. In response to this, we published our first long-term Sustainability
Strategy ‘Resourceful, Responsible’ in March 2020. The strategy,
which builds on the Group's long track record of making a positive
contribution to the environment and communities it operates in,
outlines the Company’s ambition to drive the sustainability agenda
within the UK waste management space for the next 10 years. It is
underpinned by an ambitious but deliverable plan, which is aligned
to the Company's strategic framework and fully supported by the
Group's previously outlined investment plans. Our Sustainability
Strategy can be found our website www.biffa.co.uk/sustainability.

Looking Forward

During the coming year, the Board will continue to focus on
the Group's recovery from the COVID-19 crisis and the strategic
opportunities that will present.

Ken Lever
Chairman
4 June 2020
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Board of Directors

The right balance of knowledge and skilis

Ken Lever
Non-Executive Chairman

Date of Appointment
28 September 2016

Committee Memberships

Nationality
British

Relevant Skills and Experience

Ken is a Fellow of the Institute of Chartered Accountants and a
former partner at Arthur Andersen. He has a wealth of corporate
finance experience, having previously held hoard executive director
positions with Nurmonyx BV, Torakins ple, Albright and Wilson ple
and Alfred McAlpine ple, Ren joined Xchanging plc as its chief
financial officer, and was subsequently appointed and served as
its chief executive officer from 2011 to 2015. He was previously a
non-executive director of Catesby Property Group ple, iSoft ple and
Vega Systerns ple, and served for six vears on the UK Accounting

Standards Board between 2006 and 2012.

External Appointments
Ken is chairman of RPS Group plc and a non-executive director
of Vertu Motors plg, Blue Prism plc and Gresham House Strategic plo.

David Martin
Senior Independent Director

Date of Appointment
28 September 2016

Comrnittee Mernberships

Nationality
British

Relevant Skills and Experience

David is a chartered management accountant and has significant
experience of both domestic and global transport businesses.

He wasg invoived in the acquisition of National Express and the
successive management buy-out, leading to the creation of British
Bus Group Limited. David was subsequently appointed chief executive
of Arriva plg, a position he held from 2006 to Decermber 2015, He was
previously a non-executive director of Ladbrokes plc and Arriva ple.

External Appointments
David is chairman of FirstGroup plc.

Michael Topham
Chief Executive Officer

Date of Appointment
29 Sapternber 2018

Committee Memberships
None

Nationality
British

Relevant Skills and Experience

Michael was appointed Chief Executive Officer on 29 September
2018, having previously held the role of Chief Financial Gfficer
from 2013. Michael trained as a Chartered Accountant with PwC
in London, and heid positions in both the audit and transaction
services practices. Prior to joining Biffa, he was finance director
at Greenstar UK Holdings Limited from 2005 to 2010.

External Appointments
Michael is a director of the Environmental Services Association Limited.

Richard Pike
Chief Financial Officer

Date of Appointment
29 Septembrer 2018

Committee Mcmberships
None

Nationality
British

Relevant Skills and Experience

Richard was appointed Chief Financial Officer on 29 September 2018,
Having trained as & Chartered Accountant with Price Waterhouse,
he went on to hold a variety of financial and management positions
at Pilkington pic, Scapa Group plc and Manchester Airports Group.
Latterly, Richard was the chief financial officer of AB Sugar,
managing director of British Sugar and group chief financiai

officer of Boparan Holdings Limited.

Board and Committee Attendance Tahle 2019/20

Board meetings Nomination Committee Augdit Committee Rernuneration Committes
Director attended/held meetings attended/held meetings attended/held meetings attended/held
Michael Averill 8/8 3/3 4/4 777
Gab Barbarao 8/8 3/3 4/4* B/
Carol Chesney 8/8 3/3 a/4 "7
Ken Lever 8/8 3/3 4/4* 5/7*
David Martin 8/8 3/3 4/4 7
Richard Pike 8/8 3/3* a/4* B/7*
Michael Topham 8/8 3/3* 4/4* B8/7*

* Attended the meeting as an invitee

Biffa Annual Report and Accounts 2020



Committee Membership

Rermuneration Committee
[] Comumittes Chairman

Audit Committee
Nomination Committee

Michael Averill
Non-Executive Director

Date of Appointment
28 Septermmber 2016

Committee Memberships
BEE

Nationality
British

Gab Barbaro
Non-Executive Director

Date of Appointment
1 January 2019

Committee Memberships

Nationality
Italian/Australian

Relevant Skills and Experience

Michael has extensive knowledge of the waste management industry.
He is a Fellow of the Chartered Institute of Waste Management and a
former chairman of the Environmental Services Association. Michael
held a number of senior management roles in the industry before
being appointed group chief executive of Shanks Group plc from 1994
t0 2007 where he oversaw the growth of the group. Michael joined the
former Board of Biffa Group in February 2013. He was previously a
non-executive director of TDG ple, Care UK ple and Van Gansewinlkel
Group inthe Netherlands.

External Appointments
Michael is a non-executive director of the Saudi Investment
Recycling Company in Riyadh, Saudi Arabia.

Relevant Skills and Experience

Bab is currently the managing director of UK business at Centrica plc
(a division trading as British Gas Business], a position he has held
since 2015 following his prornotion from his role as managing
director of British Gas Business Services.

Prior to this, Gab held a series of senior management roles in
strategy including head of group strategy at Centrica plc and
chief risk officer at Snowy Hydro in Australia, as well as strategy
consulting roles in consultancy firms Boston Sonsulting Group
and Accenture.

Carol Chesney
Non-Executive Director

Date of Appointment
12 July 2018

Committee Memberships

Nationality
Armerican/British

Relevant Skills and Experience
Carol is a Fellow of the Institute of Chartered Accountants in
England and Wales, and qualified with Arthur Andersen in the UK.

Carol was the company secretary of Halma ple, the FTSE 100 health,
safety and environmental technology group, where she oversaw
governance, pensions, group insurance and ethics compliance

from 2008 until September 2018. Prior to this role, Carol was
Halma's group financial cantroller with oversight of all day-to-day
finaneial planning and reporting matters.

External Appointments
Carol is a non-executive director of Renishaw ple, Hunting plc
and IQE plc.

Sarah Parsons
General Counsel and
Company Secretary

Date of Appointment
June 2019

Sarah joined Biffa in June 2018 as General Counsel and was
appointed Company Secretary on 11 July 2019. She is responsible
for managing legal risk and in supporting the Chairman and the
Board in maintaining high standards of corporate governance.
She joined Biffa from Rotork plc, where she was Senior Legal
Counsel and Company Secretary. Prior to that, Sarah spenta
number of years in Australia as a senior in-house counsel at ANZ
Bank. She began her career in London at Bryan Cave Leighton
Paisner where she spent more than a decade as a corporate M&A
lawvyer. Sarah is qualified as a solicitor in England and Australia.

Biffa Annual Report and Accounts 2020
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Group Executive Team

Michael Topham
Chief Executive Officer

Michael's full biography
appears on page 42.

Richard Pike
Chief Financial Offiger

Richard’s full biography
appears on page 42.

Jane Pateman
Group HR Director

Date of Appointment:
December 2010

Jane joined Biffa in December 2010. Prior to this, she held a number
of senior HR director positions in FTSE listed businesses, with
significant experience in managing change. Jane is accountable

for the people strategy and her responsibilities include employee
relations, internal cornmunications, learning and developrmaent,
payroll, engagerment and reward and benefits. Jane is also a non-
executive director of Knights plc.

Mick Davis
Chief Operating Officer,
Resources & Energy

Date of Appeintment:
September 2010

Mick was appointed Chief Operating Officer, Resources & Energy with
effect from April 2018, having previously held the role of Managing
Diractor of the RR&T Division from Septerher 2010. He is responsible
for the day-to-day management of the Resources & Energy Division
and the development of new facilities, including the EfW plants. In
addition, he has oversight of the Group's Environmenta! strategy as
well as being a trustee of the charity Biffa Award.

David Gooding
Chief Information Otficer

Date of Appointment:
July 2011

David was appointed Chief Information Officer in April 2020,
having praviously held the role of Group IT Director from July 2011
Davis has worked in the waste industry for 15 years. In his roie
David is responsible for IT services, IT strategy. the development of
managemert information, project governance, and leading Praject
Fusion, the current initiative to iraprove the Group's systems and
processes, and Broup innovation,

Jeff Anderson
Chief Operating Officer,
Collections

Date of Appointment:
Septermnber 2011

Jeff was appointed Chief Operating Officer, Collections with effect
from October 2018, having previously held the role of Managing
Director, I&C Division from September ¢ULL. He is respotisille [ur

the overall leadership of our Collections operations, including our
hazardous waste business. His previous career was spent within B2B
supply chain and logistics cornpanies, and he has held executive
board director positions at Wincanton plc and Securicor plc. Jeff has
significant experience in managing change, turnaround rmanagement
and operational excellence in large-scale operational businesses.

Roger Edwards
Managing Director, Municipal
Dijvision

Date of Appointment:
October 2010

Roger joined Biffa in June 2010 following the acquisition of Greenstar
UK Holdings Limited. Prior to this, he had previously been managing
director at Verdant Municipal Lirnited and held board positions

in other waste businesses. Roger is responsible for the Municipal
business providing waste collection and street cleansing services

to over 2m households and leading a team of 3,400 employees.
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Division of Responsibilities

Our Governance Framework

The Board has a clear corporate governance framework cormprising Board reserved matters, various Committees with their Terms
of Reference and the Grayup delegated authorities matrix ensuring decision making at appropriate levels within the Group.

Board of Directors

The role of the Board is to promote the long-term success of the Company, generating value for shareholders and
contributing to wider society by providing effective leadership and direction to the business as a whole. It sets the Group's

strategy, having regard to stakeholders, while maintaining a balanced approach to risk within a framework of effective
controls. It has also established the Company’s purpose and values and monitors culture to ensure alignment. Its sets the
tone and approach to corporate governance and is responsible for the overall financial performance of the Group.

The principal Board Committees are the Audit, Remuneration and Nomination Cormmittees. In addition, there
iz also the EVP Committee and the Disclosure Committee. Each Committee has its own Terms of Reference,
approved by the Board, which are reviewed annually, and are available ta view at www.biffa.co.uk.

y

Audit Committee Nomination Committee Remuneration Committee
Reviews the integrity, adequacy Evaluates and makes Sets, reviews and recommends
and effectiveness of Biffa's recormmendations regarding Biffa's overall Remuneration

management, and the integrity composition, succession their implementation.

of Biffa's financial reporting, — planning and Directors’
whistleblowing and anti-bribery potential conflicts of interest.
and corruption obligations.
Audit Committee Nornination Committee Remuneration Committee

Report p57-81 Report p54-56 Report p62-83
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Disclosure Committee
Is responsible for the identification and disclosure of
inside information and cornprises the Chief Executive
Dfficer, Chief Financial Dfficer, General Counsel and
Company Secretary and the Director of Group Finance.

EVP Committee
Provides an independent review of the EVP dispute
proceedings, (see note 33 on page 173 of the Financial
Statements,). The mernbers are Gab Barbaro, Carol
Chesney, Ken Lever and David Martin, all Board
members, who have no financial interest in the
result of the dispute.
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Chief Executive Officer

Group Executive Team

The Group Executive Tearn is responsible for the day-to-day running of the business. [t meets monthly and receives regular
reports on financial and business matters, health and safety, divisional updates, and has scheduled periodic reviews
on sustainability and environment, procurement, intemal audit and risk, human resources, IT, and legal, property and
insurance. Relevant matters are reported to the Board by the Chief Executive Officer or the Chief Financial Officer.

Biographical details of the Group Executive Team are on the opposite page

J

Investment Committee
An Executive Managerent Committee comprising the Chief Executive Officer, the Chief Financial Officer and the General
Gounsel and Company Secretary. It reviews and approves significant capital expenditure, potential acquisitions and
disposals, major contracts, tenders and property transactions within specified authority limits delegated by the Board.

Biffa Annual Report and Accounts 2020
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Division of Responsibilities continued

Roles and Responsibilities
The Board members have separate clearly defined roles and
responsibilities, as set out in the table below.

As set out in their biographies on pages 42-43, each member
of the Board has a range of skills and experience that is relevant
to the successful operation of the Group.

Independence of the Non-Executive Directors

The Nomination Committee reviews the independence of the Non-
Executive Directors annually and has confirmed to the Board that
it considers each of the Non-Executive Directors, being Ken Lever,
Michael Averill, Gab Barbaro, Carol Chesney and David Martin,

to be independent in accordance with the Code.

Time Commitment

All Non-Executive Directors are required to devote sufficient time to
rneat their Baard responsibilities and dermonstrate commitment to
their role. During the year, the Nomination Committee considered
the time commitment of all the Directors and agreed that the
required time commitment from them is still appropriate.

Roles and Responsibilities Table

Role Name

Additional Appointments

All Directors are required to consult with the Chairman and obtain
Board approval before taking on any additional appointments.
Executive Directors are not permitted to take on more than ane
significant appointment as a director of a FTSE 100 company or
any other substantial appointment. As part of the selection process
for any new Board candidates, any significant external tirae
cormitments are considered before an appointment is agreed.

Access to Advice

Should any Director judge it necessary to seek independent legal
advice about the performance of their duties with the Company,
thevy are entitled to do so at the Company’s expense. All Directors
have agcess ta the advice and services of the Company Secretary.

Responsibility

Chairman Ken Lever

Chief Executive Officer Michael Topham

The Chairman leads the Board and is responsible for its overall
effectiveness in directing the Company. He promotes a culture of
openness and debate facilitating constructive Board relations and
the effective contribution of all Non-Executive Directors, and ensures
that the Board receive accurate, timely and clear information.

The Chief Executive Officer is responsible for the day-to-day
running of the Group's businesses and the development and
implementation of strategy, decisions made by the Board and
pperational management of the Group, supported by the Group
Executive Team.

Chief Financial Officer Richard Pike

The Chief Financial Officer supports the Chief Executive Officer
in developing and implementing strategy, oversees Lhe day-today
financial activities of the Group aud ensures that policies and
practices set by the Board are adopted at all levels of the Group.

Senior Independent Director David Martin

The Senior Independent Director (SID) is an independent
Non-Executive Director, who provides a sounding board for the
Chairrnan and serves as an interrnediary for the other Directors
and sharcholders where necessary. The 51D also leads the annual
appraisal and review of the Chairman’s performance.

Michasl Averill
Gab Barbaro
Carol Chesney

Non-Executive Director

The Non-Exacutive Directors are responsible for bringing an
external perspective, sound judgement and objectivity to the
Board's deliberations and decision making, and to support and
constructively challenge the Executive Directors using their
broad range of experience and expsrtise,

Company Secretary Sarah Parsons

The Company Secretary acts as Secretary to the Board and all
the Board's Committees and is responsible for supporting the
Chairman and Chisef Executive Officer in the delivery of the
corporate governance agenda.
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Board Leadership and Company Purpose

Effective Board

How Governance Supports Strategy

The Board is responsibie for delivering value for shareholders by
setting the Group's strategy and overseeing its implermentation oy
the Group Executive Team and management. Information on our
strategy is set out on pages 12-13,

During the year, the Board held strategy days in April 2013 and
January 2020 where it received presentations from the Group
Executive Team and the Divisional Finance Directors on the
strategies for the business and functional areas. The Executive
Directors also presented on the overall Group Strategy. The Board
approved the strategy at those meetings and provided further
approvals during the year for material projects. The Board also
receives regular updates on strategy progress at Board meetings in the
Executive reports. Sea Board activities on page 51 for further details.

Culture, Values and Purpose

The Board is rgsponsible for setting the Company’s purpase and
values and ensuring these are aligned with the Group’s culture.
Our new purpose, ‘changing the way people think about waste’ was
approved by the Board in 2019 and launched in last year's Annual

Report alongside our vision, ‘to be the leader in UK sustainable
waste management’. This was a focus of the Biffa leadership and
managernent conferences in June 2020 and following that there
were activities to initiate awareness and understanding.

Dur culture is the way that we work together and is fundamental to
how we operate, We pride ourselves on our common-sense approach
to sustainable waste management, our collaborative working and
our ability to get things done. Our culture is underpinned by our
values, see further details on page 29.

Workforce Policies and Practices

The Beard and Group Executive Team review and approve all key
workforce policies and practices. Our policies are published on the
intranet and referenced in our employee handbook. The Company
induction process covers the core HR policies for new employees
and we communicate any changes that take place. To ensure
policies are ernbedded in our business practices we undertake

a number of activities including mandatory e-learning modules
for line managers.

Measuring Our Culture

A number of our non-financial KPIs,

such as Health & Safety and ernployee
engagement, allow trends and changes in
the culture of the Group to be maonitored.

Key Performance Indicators

on page 17

Leading By Example

Dur Directors and senior management,
act with integrity and lead by example,
promoting our culture to our employees.
They do this through engagement with
our employess.

Our People on pages 29-31

How the

Risk Management

Biffa's risk appetite is approved by
the Board and reviewed annually.
The Group dedicates significant
resources and focus to manage and
monitor risks via our Internal Audit
team. The Audit Committee monitors
risk management processes and
controls on behalf of the Board.

Audit Committee Report on page 50

Board

Monitors

Aligning Remuneration

and Culture

Our annual bonus schemes are directly
linked to the annual Group BBP targets.
These include the results of the annual
employes engagement survey, the Health
& Safety improvernent targets, as well as
behaviours underpinned by our values.

Director's Remuneration Report

on pages 62-83
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Culture

Listening To Our Employees
Employee engagement is measured
through the annual survey, which
provides valuable insight in respect of
engagement and culture. Key findings
are presented to the Board, improvernant
areas are identified and action plans
developed. With the appointment of

our designated Director for workforce
engagement the Board will have the benefit
of further employee engagement feedback.

Our People on page 29

Ethics, Whistleblowing, Fraud
and Anti-Bribery

Mechanisms are in place to facilitate
employees reporting incidents of
wrongdoing on a named or anonymous
hasis. The Audit Comumittee, with
delegated authority from the Board,
regularly monitors and reviews the
Company policies, incidents and trends
arising from any such incidents and
provides the Board with updates.

Audit Comurnittee Report on page 57
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Board Leadership and Company Purpose continued

How the Board Engages with Stakeholders

Qur Stakeholders:
The Board considers our stakeholders when making decisions.
The icons below, denote aur stakehaolders, which have been

identified by the Board.

Emplovees Custorners Shareholders
Government Suppliers Communities
& Regulators

Much of the day-to-day decision malking and stakeholder engagernent
at Biffa {s carried out at a business level. Further details are set

out on pages 21-24. The Board receives details on this engagement
through the Executive Directors and the reports it receives from
senior management in the Board and Cornmittee papers. More
material matters require the Board's consideration, with the Baard
engaging directly with, primarily, our employees and shareholders.
The relevance of Board decision making for each stakeholder group
depends on the subject matter.

We explain below how, during the year, the Board has engaged with our
stakeholders, the key decisions made during the year and the relevance
to our stakeholders are set out in the Board activities on page 53. There
is also a case study, opposite, explaining how the Board considered the
matters in s172 when approving the Newhurst EfW project which was a
major stratagic milestone for the Group this year.

Employees

The Board approved the People Strategy during the year and
received an update later in the year on the progress on the strategy
from the Group HR Director and senior HR team. This included
a presentation on the results of the 2019 ermnployee engagernent
survey. See further details on page 30.

The Board approved the appointment of David Martin, our Senior
Independent Director, as Non-Executive Workforce Engagement
Director in 2018 and David has reported baci to the Board during the
year onthe activities he has attended and feedback received from
the employees he has met. David's report is set out on page 23.

During the year, the Board engaged directly with employees during
site visits and when they were presenting at Board meetings.
A number of employees algo attended a Board dinner in September.

Erngaging our Stakeholders pages 4-5

QOur People pages 29-31

Customers

During the year, the Board received reports and presentations
from management on the business which included feedback on
engagemeant with our customers, including what matters to them
such as innovation and sustainability. In addition, the Board was
requested to consider and approve a number of material tenders
and contracts with major customers.

A number of Board members attended the opening of the PET
plant in Seaham and the Capital Markets Day when they had
the opportunity to meet a number of our customers.

Operating Review pages 21-24

48

Shareholders

The Board approved the annual investor relations strategy
during the yvear which sets out a comprehensive prograrmme
for engaging with shareholders [existing and potential). See
page 54 for further details.

The Board also conducted two consultations with shareholders
in relation to the new Directors’ Remuneration Policy and the
votes against the resclution re-appointing the Chairman.

See pages 68 and 55.

All Board decisions are made with the long-term success of the
Cormpany in mind, which vitimately benefits our investors.

Engaging our Stakeholders pages 4-5

Comrnunicating with our Shareholders page 52

Nomination Committee Report pages 54-56

Directors' Remuneration Report pages B2-83

Government & Regulators

The UK Government published its Resources and Waste Strategy
for England in Decermber 2018, outlining plans for minimising
waste, promoting resource efficiency and moving towards a circular
economy. There are similar policy ambitions in Scotland, Wales
and Northern Ireland

Our strategy supports the Government’s agenda in this area and
our Sustainability Strategy is aligned to the direction of the UK
Government's strategy which will come into effect over the next
few years,

Sustainability pages 25-26

Suppliers

The Board receives information about our suppliers and our

payment practices through the Roard reports. Material supply

tunbiauls also require Doord approval and a number of I
these were approved during the year. '

During the year, the Board received a presentation on our approach
to the risks of modern slavery and considered and approved our
Modern Slavery Statement.

Operating Review pages 21-24

Communities

The Cormpany provides an essential service to over 95% of UK '
postcodes and, as such, plays an important role in the communities

in which it operates. The Board is cognisant of the impact that certain

decisions it makes can have on the community and receives relevant

information in management reports.

A key ambition in gur Sustainability Strategy, which the Board
approved during the year, is to continue to be a good corporate
citizen, supporting good causes to make a difference by investing
in cornmunities and supporting biodiversity.

Sustainability pages 25-28
Our Psople pages 29-31
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Board in Action

Investing in Energy from Waste (EfW)
infrastructure is a strategic priority
for the Group and a major milestone
was reached in February 2020 with
the announcement of financial close
for a new EfW facility in Newhurst,
Leicestershire, which is a joint venture
with Covanta Holding Corporation and
Macquarie’s Green Investment Group.
This major project required Board
approval and in making its decision,
the Board considered the matters set
out in s172 as outlined below.

5172 Matter Considerations Conclusions

Employees Our emnployees want us to engage with Qur strategy has been openly communicated with our employees,
them and to be kept informed of any including regularupdates on the progress of the project and associated
changes in the business that may affect benefits to the wider Group. Supporting our I&C business, the secure,
them and their teams. long term disposal solution ensures service continuity and job security

for the I&C division. The project will create over 300 jobs during the
construction period with approximately 40 permanent employees once
operational, providing future job opportunities.

Customers Ouy customers want a reliable, cost- The Newhurst EfW will provide a long-term, secure, cost-effective
effective and sustainable service. disposal solution for our customers' waste ensuring the diversion of

non-recyclable materials from landfill and the generation of renewable
power, significantly increasing the sustainability of their supply chain.

Shareholders Our sharehglders want to see us The Newhurst EfW progresses our strategy to develop services and
progressing our strategy, maximising the infrastructure. It will generate good returns for the Group: Biffa's
returns to thern in a sustainable way. financial cormitment to the project will amount to cE45m, with

a mid-high teens projected return on investment.

Government &  The UK Government published its The new facility supports the Government’s strategy to both reduce

Regulators Resources and Waste Strategy in December  reliance on landfill and the UK’s ability to treat more non-recyclable
2018, outlining its plans for minimising waste without relying on export to European facilities or disposal to
waste, promoting resource efficiency and landfill. Newhurst provides additional UK capacity for the treatment
muoving towards a circular economy. of non-recyclable waste protecting existing landfill capacity for waste

that cannot be recycled or sent to EfW facilities.

Suppliers Our suppliers are key to our business The project will create many opportunities for the local supply chain
mbdel, and delivering our strategy, and with a commitment from the project to purchase goods and services
are looking for opportunities for growth. from nearby companies wherever possible.

Communities The communities in which we operate Local residents, Council Officers and other representatives all participate
expect us to be a good neighbour, operating in a local liaison group, a forurn to provide regular updates on progress
our facilities responsibly with engagement and an opportunity to ask question and be reassured about any concems.
on any potential concerns or issues.

Environment We are committed to building a circular The Newhurst EfW is a key step in our strategic ambition to unlock
economy and tackling climate change £1.25bn of investment in green economy infrastructure by 2030. The
3s gtated in our Sustainability Strategy - facility will provide alow-carbon energy source, generating up to 42MW
Respurceful, Responsible. of electricity (enough to power around 80,000 homes] and will divert

waste from landfill.

Long-term The Board's decision making is focused The Newhurst EfW has secured a long-term domestic disposal route for
on ensvring the Company is sustainable residual waste for our I&C business, supporting continued growth and
in the long term. is also an attractive investment opportunity.

Reputation We are cornmitted to maintaining Our reputation is very important to us and the Board will be updated on

areputation for high standards of
business conduct.

the deiivery of Newhurst EfW as it progresses to ensure high standards
of business conduet are maintained.

Biffa Annual Report and Accounts 2020
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Board Leadership and Company Purpose continued

How the Board Gperates

The Board had seven scheduled meetings during the year.
Additional Board calls were also held as and when circumstances
required it 1o mest at short notice and also following the COVID-19
outbreak when regular update ¢alls were held. Directors’ attendance
at scheduled Board and Cornmittee rmeetings held during the year
is set out on page 42. An outline of the Board's activities covered

at those meetings is set out opposite.

Directors are provided with papers at least five days in advance
of each Board or Committee meeting and rneeting packs are
accessed from a board portal. For each scheduled Board meeting,
the papers include updates an trading, financial performance
and investor relations and in addition, papers for the special
businegs of the meeting.

Non-Executive Directors are encouraged to comrnunicate directly
with senior management hetween Board meetings. Members

of the Group Executive Tearn are invited to attend at least one
Board meeting each year to present an update on their areas of
responsibility. They also all attended the annual strategy Board
meeting which was held in April 2019 and January this year.

Board Site Visits

The September Board meeting was held at West Sussex MBT.
The Board received a presentation from the site manager on
the business and was also given a tour of the MBT. The visit
gave the Board the opportunity to meet the [ocal team and
see how operations arae run.

In addition, some of pur Board members attended the opening
ceremony, pictured here, of our £27.5m plastic recycling plant
in Seaham, County Durham in January 2020, They got the
opportunity to see how this state-of-the-art recycling facility
ia run and got to meet a number of our stakeholders.

80

Meetings between the Nan-Executive Directors, withgut the
presence of the Executive Directors, are scheduled in the Board's
annual programme. During the year, Non-Executive Directors met
on two occasions without the presence of the Executive Directors.
These meetings provide the Non-Executive Directors with a forurn
in which to share experiences and discuss wider business topics,
fostering debate in Board and Comnittee meetings and strengthen
working relationships.

Matters Reserved for the Board

In order to retain control of key decisions and ensure that there
is a clear division of responsibilities between the Board and
the running of the Company business, the Board has a formal
schedule of matters reserved for its decision that is reviewed
annually to ensure it remains fit for purpose. This is available
at www.biffa.co.uk.

Board Allocation of Agenda Time

Agendas for each Board meeting are prepared in advanced and are
aligned with the approved Board programrne, which is reviewed
annually, and updated when appropriate. All matters are given
due consideration and are reviewed at the appropriate point in
the regulatory and financial cycles.
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Activities of the Board

During the year, the Board undertook the following key activities:

Strategy, Business Performance
and Capital Investment

= Approved the Company's corporate strategy

w Approved the Company's sustainability strategy

m Considered and approved the Newhurst EfW facility

m Considered and approved the investment in a Polymers
wash plant

m Approved the Investor Relations strategy

w Approved a number of material tenders and contracts

m Received an update on Project Fusion and IT

m Approved the Group's Health & Safety strategy

m Considered Brexit impact, mitigations and preparations

m Considered the irapact of COVID-19 on the business

m Received business performance updates

People and Culture

Finance

m Approved the 2019/20 budget and Five Year Plan

m Reviewed the 2020/21 budget

s Reviewed and approved the interim and final dividend
recommendations for financial year ended 2019

m Reviewed and approved the preliminary and interim
results announcements

m Reviewed and approved the Pre-close Trading Statements

» Recommended to the shareholders the re-appointment
of the Auditor

m Reviewed the preliminary results roadshow presentation

m Approved the Treasury Policy

a Approved the appointment of a new corporate broker

Governance, Compliance and Risk

m Approved the Company’s vision and purpose

= Approved the Company’s People strategy

s Approved the appointment of David Martin as the
Non-Executive Director for workforce engagement and
approved the workforce engagement framework and plan

m Approved the Company's Modern Slavery Statement

m Approved the Company’s Gender Pay Gap Staterment

At each Board meeting there are standing items, which include:

® review and approval of the previous minutes;

& status update on any matters outstanding from previous meetings;
® Board Committee updates to the Board;

m report from the Chief Executive Officer;

m report from the Chief Finangial Officer; and

» Investor Relations report.
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a Reviewed and approved the 2019 Annual Report
and Accounts and Notice of AGM

& Reviewed and approved the schedule of matters
reserved for the Board and the Terrms of Reference
to the Board Committees

w Approved the 2020/21 Board and Board Cortumittee
programmes and calendar

m Approved the revised Investrnent Committee Terms
of Reference

m Received an EVP dispute update

m Approved the Group's Whistleblowing Policy
and Procedures

m Considered the Board and Board Committees
evaluation questionnaire

m Reviewed and approved the revised Delegated Authorities

a Approved the Group's risk appetite

a Approved the Directors’ Conflicts of Interest register
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Board Leadership and Company Purpose continued

Communicating with Our Shareholders

Shareholder Engagement

The Board is committed to rnaintaining open channels of
communication with all sharsholders, whether institutional

or private. It is important that shareholders understand the
Company strategy and objectives, and for the Company to receive
shareholders’ feedback and consider the issues and questions
raised. To facilitate this, the Company has a comprehensive investor
relations strategy, which is approved by the Board each year.

For our private shareholders there is an opportunity to meat the
Directars at our Annual General Meeting and further information
on the Company can be found on our website. Information on how
the Company comrmunicates with its shareholders, investors and
analysts can be found in Engaging our Stakeholders pages 4-5.

Both the Executive and Non-Executive Directors meet shareholders
and prospective shareholders, both institutional and private, on
aregular basis. Non-Executive Diractors are available to meet
shareholders if they wish to raise issues without the Executive
Directors present.

During the year the Executive Directors, assisted by the Investor
Relations tear, have held meetings in the UK, USA, Switzerland
and Luxembourg with both existing and potential institutional
shargholders, from countries including UK, USA, Canada, Denmark,
Australia, France, Switzerland, Luxembourg and Germany, providing
insight into the development of the business and its progress. In
addition, our Chairman and Senior Independent Director met a
selection of our largest shareholders during the year.

The Board receives regular updates on the views of our shareholders
and analysts through briefings and in market reports at each Board
meeting, which include:

share price performance monitoring;

review of shareholder performance and sector analysis;
composition of the shareholder register;

peer group comparisorn; and

professional and external adviser feedback.

Capital Markets Day

0On 17 September 2019, the Company held a successful Capital
Markets Day in London welcoming over 100 investors, analysts,
banks and other stakeholders to meet Biffa's management team.
Presentations focused on the core argas of the Group's growth
strategy including: the I&C growth opportunity and investments
in plastics recycling and EfW. The presentation from the day can
be found on our website www.biffa.co.uk/investors/news/capital-
markets-day

Wehsite

The Company's website www.biffa.co.uk acts as & good medium
through which results and other news releases such as acquisitions,
contract wins and new strategic initiatives are published including
key financial calendar information, details of live webcasting
services for key presentations and the source of pastkey
presentations and annocuncernents.

62

Key Shareholder Activities During the Year

2019

June Full-year resulits presentation and
roadshows in London and Edinburgh

July AGM
Investor roadshows in Zurich,
Luxembourg and London

September H1 Pre-close Trading Statement
and Capital Markets Day

October Analyst visit to Seaham

November Half-year results presentation and
roadshows in London, Edinburgh and USA

2020

January Opening event at our plastics recycling
plant in Seaham

March H2 Pre-close Trading Statement and

investor calls
Sustainability Strategy launch

JPM Conference and investor meetings

Shareholders by number of shares
As at 27 March 2020

1to100 53.5%
101to 500 1.7%
501t06,000 12.7%
5,001t0 100,000 11.7%

100,001 to 500,000 5.4%
500,001 to Highest 5.0%

Shareholder by type
As at 27 March 2020

Public Limited

Company 0.4%
Nominee B5.8%
Limited Company 26.9%
Other 6.6%
Bank 0.2%
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Statement on 2019 Annual General Meeting
Resolution Votes Against

At the Company’s Annual General Meeting (AGM]) held on

10 July 20189, 20.48% of votes were cast against the resolution
to re-elect our Chairman, Ken Lever. The resolution was still
passed with the required majority.

There has heen an expanded focus on overboarding of

directors following the publication of the Code and a number

of institutional investors and proxy advisers have developed
specific guidelines with regard to this. The Board understands
that some shareholders may have concerns about the number of
directorships held by the Chairman and that this may undermine
his ability to serve effectively on the Board, particularly at tirnes
when urgent issues arise.

Following the AGM, I wrote to those shareholders who had voted
against the resolution to understand their concerns, outline in
more detail the time commitments of the Chairman and explain
why the Board believed that the Chairman was the right person
to lead the Company forward. No responses were received

from this engagernent.

Board Evaluation

As required by the Code, the Board undertakes an annual evaluation
of its performance and that of its Committees. Under the Code,
itis recoramended that FTSE250 companies have an externally
facilitated Board evaluation every three years.

With the substantial changes to Board cormposition during the
previous year, it was again concluded that it would be more
effective to defer having an externally facilitated evaluation. The
Board and Committee evaluations were therefore facilitated by

the Chairman and Company Secretary by way of an ordine self-
evaluation questionnaire. As the Company rmoved into the FTSE250
in March 2020, and it has not had an externally facilitated evaluation
since its IPO in 2016, this is contrary to provision 21 of the Code.

FY20 Board Evaluation

All Directors, regular attendees and the Company Secretary
responded to the Board questionnaire in March 2020, covering

all aspects of Board performance including: Board/Commitise
composition; conduct of meetings; corporate strategy, purpose,
values and culture; transactions and approvals; risk management
and internal controls; measuring and monitoring performance; and
stakeholders. The participants were asked to score 25 statements
on a scale of 1to 5 and provide written comments, including areas
for improvement.

Initial feedback from the evaluation was presented to the Board for
discussion in April 2020. The overall assessment is that the Board
continues to operate etfectively and it has performed well during the
year with the overall rating up from the previous year. It was agreed
that the key actions would be defined by the Chairman and those
actions would form part of the Board's agenda for the coming year.
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The Board has recently considered the time comrmitrnent of ail the
Directors and specifically whether the Chairman should be required
to address the concerns relating to his other appointments. It has re-
confirmed that it is confident that the Chairman discharges his role
effectively notwithstanding his other Board commitments. This has
particularly been dermonstrated during the recent coronavirus crisis
where there has been an increased time cormmitment requirernent
for all the Directors.

The Board believes that the Chairman plays a pivotal role
in helping drive the strategy of the Group and remains fully
supportive of the role and guidance he provides to the Company.

David Martin
Senior Independent Director

The Chairman and the Senior Independent Director also reviewed
the performance of each member of the Board and provided
feedback and the Senior Independent Director led the Non-
Executive Directors in a review of the perforrmance of the Chairman.
It was agreed that each Director continued to contribute effactively.

Update on FY19 Board Evaluation Outcomes

As reported last year, the FY19 Board performance evaluation was
internally facilitated by the Chairman and Company Secretary.
The review identified some opportunities for the Board.

Format and length of Board papers

A Board paper template has been developed by the Company
Secretariat team which has helped improve the format and
length of Board papers. The remaval of the repetition of papers
in Board and Committee packs has also helped improve the
overall length of the packs. The recent Board evaluation
highlighted the improvement in this area.

Communication of material matters between Board meetings
The Board agreed that it is not necessary to have scheduled Board
call updates between meetings. The Chairman and CEO have a
weekly catch up and consider whether there is anything that is
required to be notified to the Non-Executive Directors. This is

done by email or ad-hoc call. During the COVID-19 crisis, the

Board have had weekly update calls.

Develop the Non-Executive Directors’ understanding

of shareholders views

The CFQ provides an Investor Relations update paper at each Board
meeting. He also provides copies of analysts’ reports when published.
The Non-Executive Directors agreed that this is very comprehensive
and therefore nothing further is required in relation to this.
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Composition, Succession and Evaluation

Nomination Committee Report

Members

Ken Lever (Chairman)
Michael Averill

Gab Barbarp

Carol Chesney

David Martin

Areas of Foous in 2020/21

The Committee's priorities for 2020/21 will be to:

m review Board and senior management succession planning;
and

m take an active rolein setting diversity objectives for the Company.

Dear Shareholdey,
Iam pleased to present the Nomination Committee (Comruittee)
Report on behalf of the Board.

There has been no changes to the composition of the Board
during the year and thererore tie Cottliige Ias nut beew
required to lead the process for any new Board appointments.

In Y20, the Comumittee has ernbraced its expanded role under
the Code and focused on succession planning for the Board and
the Group Executive Team and the leadership talent pipeline.

It has also continued to corgiaer aiversity dand lnclusios,

As previously reported, the Company entered the FTSE250 in March
2020 and we will therefore be subrmitting our gender data for the
Group Executive Team and their direct reports to the Hampton-
Alexander review later in the vear (see page 30 for more detail).

Ken Lever
Chair, Nomination Committee

4 June 2020

Membership of the Committee and Attendance
The current members of the Committee are the Chairman
as Committee Chair and four Non-Executive Directors.
The Cormnmittee met three times during the year and the
attendance at those meetings is shown on page 42.

The Company Secretary attends all the Committes meetings
as Secretary to the Committee and by invitation, they are also
attended by the Chief Executive Officer, the Chief Financial
Officar and the Group HR Director.

Role and Responsibilities of the Committee

The role of the Committee is to lead the process for Board
appointrnents, ensure plans are in place for orderly succession
to both the Board and senior management positions and oversee
the development of a diverse pipeline for succession to ensure
that the Group has the best talent to perform effectively now
and in the future.

The Committee's responsibilities are set out in its Terms
of Reference and include:

® reviewing the structure, size and composition [(including
the skills, knowledge, experience and diversity] of the Board
and making recornmendations to the Board with regard to
any changes;

m sugcession planning for the Board and senior management;

m leading the process for Board appointments and making
recornmendations to the Board;

m assessing whether Directors can commit sufficient time
to fulfil their responsibilities; and

m taking an active role in setting diversity objectives and
strategies for the Company as @ whole and monitoring the
impact of diversity initiatives.

Activities During the Year
During the year, the Committee's key activities were:

m Annual vaviaw nf the slonrtire, diversity, size and composition
of the Board including Board succession planning.

u Reviewing the succession and development plans of the
Executive Directors.

m Reviewing the succession plans for the Group Executive Team.

m Reviewing talent development within the senior leadership team.

» Undertaking the annual teview uf Dheclur independence, time
commitment and conflicts of interest.

m Reviewing and making a recornmendation to the Board to approve,
the revised Committes Terms of Reference.

Board Composition and Skills

The Comrnittes considers that the current Board membership
provides the right mix of skills and attributes for the Board to ensure
effective governance and oversight of the strategic and significant
operational decisions of the business and performance rnonitoring.
Information an each of the Directors’ skills and attributes is sat out
in the table opposite.
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Diversity Overview

Diversity

The Board's policy is for new appointments and succession plans
to be based on merit and against objective criteria but within this
context believes that inclusion and diversity, in its broadest sense
including gender and ethnicity, should be promoted as they are an
important factor in Board effectiveness.

The Committee supports the recommendations of the Hampton-
Alexander Review and the Parker Review and has an ongoing
cormmitment to increase female and ethnic representation at
Board and senior management level. An overview of the diversity
of the Board is set out below,

As previously outlined, now that we have entered the FTSE250,
we will be submitting our gender data to the Hampton Alexander
review later in the year.

The Board also supports the Company’s policy on inclusion and
diversity and has received updates during the year on progress
against objectives in relation to this. For further details see page 30.

Board Skills and Attributes
Michael Gab Carol Ken David Richard Michael
Averill Barbaro Chesney Lever Martin Pike Topham
Independence [ | | | | |
Functional backgraund: Operatians | | | » »
Fungctional background: Finance ] | | n [ |
CEO & Leadership experience || [ | | n B [ |
Waste sector | |
Logistics/networks | | |
M&A/ restructuring [ | | [ | [ | [ | B
Governance & regulatory [ | | [ | | [ | [ | [ |
International | | | | | n
Stakeholder/IR/FR | | | | ] | |
Technology/e-commerce | | |
Business evolution/strategy developrment [ | | [ | [ | || [ | ||
Pecple L | n | | || n ]
Composition of the Board Length of Tenure
Chairman 1 0-2 years 3
Executive directors 2 2-4 years 4
Non-Executive Directors 4
s
7 gezjg?tglure
Board members of the Board
Age Gender
40-49 2 Female 1
50-59 2 Male B
B60-69 3
58 years 14%
Average age Fernale
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Compaosition, Succession and Evaluation continued

Conflicts of Interest

Under the Company’s Articles of Association, the Board may authorise
any actual or potantial conflicts of interest that ray arise and
impose limits or conditions as appropriate. The Company has a
detailed process for the management of conflicts of interest which is
monitored by the Committes. On appointment, a Director is required
to disclose any conflicts of interest to the Cormnpany Secretary and
on an annual basis, as part of our year end reporting, each Director
reviews the Conflicts of Interest register and confirms any conflicts.

Succession Planning

During the year, the Comrnittee has reviewed the succession plans
for the Board, Group Executive Team and the senior management
talent pipeline. The Committee takes an active interest in the
quality and development of talent and capabilities within Biffa,
ensuring that appropriate opportunities are in place to develop
high-performing individuals such as invitations to Board dinners
and the Group Talent Programme,

Board Appointments Process

The Board has a formal and transparent procedure for the appointment
of new Directors to the Board. This procedure includes the evaluation of
the balance of skills, knowledge, experience and diversity of the Board
by the Comunittee to ensure that any new appointments complement
or address any shortfalls in any of these areas.

The Committes ensures that the selection process is rigorous

and transparent and, if appropriate, it will appoint a professional
external search firm. Candidates from a wide range of backgrounds
that meet the role specification will be considered and all appointinents
will be made entirely on merit, with due regard to the benefits of diversity
on the Board, which includes, but is not limited purely to, gender.

Directors’ Induction, Training and Development
Onappointment, all Diractors receive an induction on their duties
and responsibilities as Diractars of a publicly quated company.

The induction process also cornprises a comprehensive programme
which includes meetings with all Directors, members of the roup
Executive Team, the Company Secretary and heads of functions.

To update the Directors’ skills, knowledge and familiarity with the
Company key site visits are incorporated into the programmse and
undertaken to meet management and develop greater commercial
awarenaess of the business, During these visits the Directors receive
briefing sessions from local management, aljowing them to ask
questions, learn about the business and spend time with different
teams and individuals to observe and experience first hand how
the culture and values are embedded across the Company.
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Committee Evaluation

The Committee’s performance during the year was assessed
at the same time as the Board evaluation in March 2020.
Further details on the wider Board evaluation process

can be found on page 53.

FY20 Committee Evaluation

All Directors and the Cormpany Secretary responded to
an online self-evaluation questionnaire, covering all
aspects of Committee performance including: the role

of the Comrittee and its Terms of Reference; maetings
and papers; succession planning and the development of
adiverse pipeline. The participants were asked to score
13 staternents on a scale of 1to 5 and provide written
comments, including areas for improvement.

Initial feedback from the evaluation was presented to the
Comrmittee and discussed at the Board meeting in May 2020.
The overall assessment is that the Committee is clear on

its role and responsibilities and these were fulfilled during
the year. It was agreed that the key actions would be defined
by the Chairman (as Chair of the Committee) and those
actions would form part of the Committee’s agenda for

the coming year.

Update on FY19 Committee Evaluation Qutcomes

As reported last year, the FY18 Committee performance
evaluation was internally facilitated by the Chairman

and Company Secretary. The review identified succegsion
planning and addressing leadership skills for future Executive
directors as some potential opportunities for the Committee.

The Committee is satisfied that the work undertaken during
the year. It has seen an improvement in executive succession
planning, in particular the Group Talent Programme. This
will remain an area of focus for the Committee with the

Rnard having further exposure to senior managers and high
potential employees.
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Audit, Risk and Internal Control

Audit Committee Report

Mermbers

Carol Chesney (Chair)
Michael Averill
David Martin

Areas of Focus in 2020/21

The Committee's priorities for 2020/21 will be to:

m consider the financial impacts of COVID-18 on the
Company; and

m monitor the implementation of the business strategy
and its impact on the Group's internal control and risk
management pyocesses.

Dear Shareholder,

I amn pleased to present this year’s Audit Cornmittee (Cornmittee)
Report which aims to provide anunderstanding of the work of the
Committee over the past year and highlight our areas of focus in 2020.

During the year, the Committee has continued to monitor the
implermentation of the business strategy and its impact on the
Group's internal controls and risk management framework. Further
information an our key activities during the year are on page 60.

In addition, the Committee has considered the impact of COVID-19
on our financial staternents. It has reviewed the Group's profitability,
liguidity and financial headroom as part of a number of forecast
scenarios. As part of this work, the Committee has also reviewed

the viability statement and going concern, follawing which it was
agreed that the going concern basis of accounting continues to be

an appropriate basis of preparation for the financial statements.

Carol Chesney
Chair, Audit Committee

4 June 2020
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Membership of the Committee and Attendance

The current members of the Committee are the Chair and two
Non-Executive Directors all of whom are independent. The Chair
and David Martin are both gualified accountants and the Board
considers their financial experience to be recent and relevant for

the purposes of the Code. The Comumittee met four times during the

year and the attendance at those meetings is shown on page 42.

The Company Secretary attends all the Committee meetings
as Secretary to the Committee and, by invitation, they are also
attended by the Chairman, Chief Financial Officer, the Chief
Executive Officer, Gab Barbaro (Non-Executive Director), the
External Audit Partner, the Head of Risk and Internal Audit
and the Director of Group Finance.

Role and Responsibilities of the Committee

The role of the Committee is to assist the Board in fulfilling
its oversight responsibilities by monitoring and reviewing
the integrity of the Group's financial reporting and the
effectiveness of the Internal and External Audit functions
and risk management framework.

The Committee reports to the Board on its activities and makes
recommendations, all of which have been accepted during the
period under review.

The Committee's responsibilities are set out in its Terms of
Reference on the Cormpany's website at www.biffa.couk.

Whistleblowing

The Board has overall responsibility for monitoring the Group's
whistleblowing arrangernents under the Code. It has delegated
this to the Committee which updates the Board on a regular
basis on all significant whistieblowing matters.

The Committee receives a report on whistleblowing cases
at each meeting. Improvernents were made during the year
to the reports that the Committee receives.

The Whistleblowing Policy and Procedures were reviewead by
the Committee during the year. The Comrnittee is satisfied that
they are effective, facilitate the proportionate and independent

investigation of reported matters and allow appropriate follow-up

action to be taken. It recormmended to the Board that some minor
changes were made to the Whistleblowing Policy and Procedures
which were approved by the Board. Further details on the Group’s
Whistleblowing Policy and Procedures can be found on page 31

57

SJUAUIAIRIS TRIOUBUL] aoueuisaog ayerodsog 110day o18e1eng

U0 RWLIOU] [UCHIPDY



Audit, Risk and Internal Control continued

Key Activities During the Year

Key areas Activitigs during the year
Financial u Reviewed the Annual Report and Accounts, including whether they are fair, balanced and understandable,
Reporting the material judgements and estimates, Going Concern Statement and Viability Staterment.

m Reviewed the half-year accounts, including the material judgements and estimates.

a Reviewed the External Auditor's report on the full-year and half-year audits.

m Reviewed the half-year and full-year results announcements and the Septernber and April Pre-Close Trading Statements.
External Audit = Reviewad the External Auditor's independence, objectivity and effectiveness.

m Considered the succession plans for the lead Audit partnar.

» Consgidered the re-appointment of the External Auditor.

a Considered External Auditor fees and terms of engagement.

m Reviewed and approved changes to the Non-Audit Services Policy.

m Reviewed the External Auditor non-audit services and fees.
Risk and m Monitored the Company’s risk register, including the completeness of the process to identify the Group’s principal
Internal and ernerging risks and moverment in such exposures.
Controls m Considered the status of key risk indicators including any breaches of thresholds.

= Reviewed the effectiveness of the Group's risk management and internal control systems.

Considered responses, and their timelinass, to audit findings and recommendations for control improvements,

including reviewing the External Audit management letter.

and Accounts.

Reviewed the risk management and internal controls disclgsures in the half-year aceounts and Annual Report

Received regular updates on the implementation of the new key controls framework.

Reviewed, and recommended to the Board approval of a revised, Whistleblowing Policy and Procedures,
Received updates on material litigation and whistleblowing matters.

Received an update on the GDPR project and its effectiveness.

Internal Audit = Approved the annual Internal Audit plan, including its alignment to the principal rigks, emerging areas of risk,
coverage across the Group and continuing review of the Group’s processes and controls.

m Monitored and reviewed the Internal Audit effectiveness and independence of the Internal Audit function
including consideration of key Internal Audit reports; stakeholder feedback on the quality of Internal Audit activity;
and the implementation of Internal Audit recommendations.

m Reviewed Internal Audit reports, including those related to cornmodity trading, Municipal tender mobilisation,
credit management, privileged access, M&A integration and GDPR.

Other Areas m Reviewed and recommended to the Board approval of the revised Committea Terms of Referance.
= Reviewed the rooults of tho ovaluation of the effactivanass ol The Dnmmittee,
& Received an update on Project Fusion including the implementation plan and reviewed the key challenges and

risk of the project.

m Received an update on tax matters for the Group and reviewed and recornmended to the Beard approval of the

Group's annual tax strategy.

® Reviewed and recornrmended to the Board approval of a new Treasury Policy and received a treasury update.
m Reviewed and approved changes to the Related Party Transaclions Policy and reviewed the Related Party List.

Financial Reporting

One of the Committee’s principal responsibilities is to review and
report to the Board on the quality and appropriateness of the Group's
Financial Statements, including the half-year accounts and Annual
Report and Accounts, with a particular focus on:

m the suitability of accounting policies;

m the appropriateness of underlying assumptions, judgements
and estimates made by management;

n key audit matters identified by the External Auditor;

nu compliance with relevant accounting standards and other
regulatory financial reporting requirements including the UK
Corporate Governance Code; and

n advising the Board, where requested, on whether the Annual
Report and Accounts are fair, balanced and understandable and
provide the information necessary for sharsholders to assess the
Cornpany’s position and performance, business model and strategy.
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In making its assessment, the Comnittee reviews reports from
members of the Finance team and the External Auditor who are
invited to attend all Committee meetings. Through discussions
and detailed written reports, the Committee is able to understand
and assess the significant judgements and estimates and how they
are being recorded and disclosed in the Financial Statements.

The significant financial judgernents considered in relation to the
Annual Report and Accounts are detailed in the table opposite.
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Significant Financial Judgements Considered in Relation to the Annual Report and Accounts

Significant issues considered by the Commijttee in relation to the Financial Statements

How these issues were addressed by the Cornmittee

Landfill
Accounting

The Committee reviewed the valuation of the landfill
provisions and assets, the level of such landfill provision
and the extent of the depreciation of such assets, it being
noted that the responsibility for a landfill site extends
hevond the cessation of land filling operations until

the Group has fulfilled its aftercare and restoration
obligations which is estimated to be up to 60 years

post closure of the site.

(See Note 21 on page 140 for further details on
landfill provisipn).

The Committee considered the Group Landfill
Capital and Provisioning Policy, which includes
the basis for cost, void space, waste compaction
ratio and gas generation estimates, and associated
accounting methodology.

The Committee determined that with the combination of
external third-party reports and guidance, External Auditor
testing and the Group's experience to provide for these
gstimated costs the current landfill accounting treatrment
and value, and level of provisions were appropriate.

Retirement
Benefit
Obligations

The Group operates a defined benefit pension scherme
known as the Biffa Pension Scheme [BPS]) which is
closed tonew joiners and to future accrual as at

31 October 2013. There are currently active members
of the BPS who have protacted defined benefit accrual
either by virtue of contract location or legislation. The
BPS was in a pension surplus of £116.7m as at 27 March
2020. Due to the COVID-19 impact on fund valuations,
it was necessary to get valuations for all funds as at

27 March 2020,

(See Note 29 on page 145 for further details on pension
and post-retirgment henefits).

The Committee considered reports from managemeant
and the External Auditor in relation to the valuation of
the BPS and reviewed the key actuarial assumptions
used in calculating the defined benefit pension liabilities,
especially in relation to discount rates, inflation rates,
salary growth, rate of pension increase and mortality/life
expectancy, and concluded that the assumptions used
were appropriate and were supported by independent
actuarial experts. Details of the key assumptions used are
set out on page 145 in Note 29 to the Financial Staternents.

Asset
Impairment
Review

The Group carries different classes of intangible assets
on its balance sheet, which include goodwill, landfill gas
rights, the Biffa brand, customer cantracts and Project
Fusion development costs. The Group's assessment of
the carrying value of goodwill and the other intangible
assets is dependent on the disaggregation of cash-
generating units (CGUs) and assurnptions of future cash
flows, including both short and long-term growth rates.
The Group performed its last asset impairment review
atthe end of the financial year with the assistance of an
external third party. The WACC rate increased due to the
COVID-19 impact and the P&L impact for COVID-19 has
been built inta the impairment models.

The Committee reviewed and discussed management’s
report on the impairment review and considered the
External Auditor's testing thereof.

After due congideration, the Committee concluded that
it was satisfied with management’s assumptions and
judgements applied in relation to such testing. Details
of the key assumptions and judgements used are set
out in Note 14 to the Financial Statements.

Onerous
Contract
Provision

The Group operates a broad portfolio of complex contracts,
especially in the Municipal and Resources & Energy
businesses. The accounting for certain contracts may

be underpinned by assurmptions or judgements made by
management in respect of the outcome of future events.

(See Note 3 on page 121 for further details on
onerous contacts).

The Committee reviewed management’s judgernents
and assumptions used to determine onerous contracts
and any required provision for future losses. In addition,
External Auditor testing was taken into consideration.

The Committee concluded that it was satisfied by
management's assessment and the approach adopted,
including the presentation of these as non-underlying
due to the creation of non-recurring provisions.

The last review by the FRC Corporate Reporting Review team
of the Biffa plc Annual Report & Accounts was for the year
ended 30 March 2018. Following the review and responses
fror the Company, the FRC advised in February 2019 it had
closed its enquiry. For more information see page 20.

Biffa Annual Report and Accounts 2020
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Audit, Risk and Internal Control continued

Risk Management

The Board has overall responsibility for setting the Group's risk
appetite and ensuring that there is an effective rislk management
framework. The Board delegates responsibility for review of

the risk management and the effectiveness of internal controls
to the Cormmittee.

The Chief Executive Officer has overall accountability for the
control and managerment of the risks that Biffa faces and working
with the Group Executive Tearn has established processes, as part
of the normal good managernent of the business, to monitor:

m strategic plan achievement, through a ragular review of progress
towards strategic objectives;

m financial performance, within a comprehensive financial
planning and accounting framework, including budgeting and
forecasting, financial reporting, analysing variances against
plan and taking appropriate managemeant action;

w capital investment and asset management;

m performance, with detailed appraisal, authorisation and
post-investment reviews;

m that the principal and emerging risks facing the Group are
being identified, evaluated and appropriately managed; and

& the maintenance of insurance cover tg insure all risk argas
of the Group.

The Committee has reviewed the work done by management on
the assessment of the Company’s principal and smerging risks,
noting that a comprehensive review of the principal risks was
completed in Septernber 2018 for our interim reporting and this
exercise, which additionally included an assessment of ernerging
risks, was undertaken again at the year end in March 2020.

The Bnard also undertook, during the year, a robust assessment
of the principal and emerging risks faced by the Group.

Purther details of the Group's risk management systems and
nontrpls, principal and emerging risks and statement following
the viability assessment are included in the Strategic Report on
pages 34-38.

Internal Control

The Company’s system of internal control, along with its design
and operating effectiveness, is subject to review by the Comunittee,
through reports received from the Company, along with those
from both the Internal and External Auditors. Any control
deficiencies identified will be followed up with action plans
tracked by the Comnmittee.

Policias and procedures, including clearly defined lavels of
delegated authority, have been communicated across the Group.
We continue to implerent a key controls framework across the
Group, in respect of operational and financial processes, that
requires a quarterly self-certification by management, confirming
that key internal controls within their area of responsibility have
been cperating effectively, and will be subject to independent
review by Internal Audit.

Itis recognised that the current restrictions imposed on the
Group by the COVID-19 crisis may lead to some changes in risk
management processes and internal controls in tha short term
in order to maintain operations. To ensure that we continue to
maintain an effective control environment, we are monitoring
any changes carefully and introducing alternative mitigating
controls where necessary and practicable to suppert the ongoing
operation of an effective control environment.
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The system of internal control is designed to manage, rather than
eliminate, the risk of failure to achieve business objectives and

it must be recognised that it can only provide reasonable and not
absolute assurance against material misstatement or loss

The Committes intends to keep the risk rmanagement and internal
control systems under review and to support the Board in carrying
out an annual review of their effectiveness.

As part of the year-end compliance certification process and senior
managerment review on the effectiveness of internal controls and
risk managerment, the Committee has not identified, nor been
advised of, any failings ar weaknesses in the internal control
systems or risk management processes that are determined

to be significant.

Risk Appetite

The Company's approach torisk appetite has been developed in line
with the Code. By clarifying the type and level of risk it is willing to
take in order to achieve its strategic aobjectives, the Company aims ta
support consistent, risk-informed decision raking across the Group.

The Company's risk appetite has been incorporated into the risk

managerent frammework and the Committee monitors whether the
Group is operating within that appetite through a review of a series
of agreed mefrics and a review of the principal and emerging risks.

Internal Audit

The Company has an Internal Audit function, led by the Head of Risk
and Internal Audit, which focuses on performing a programme of
reviews of processes and controls implemented across the Group.
Internal Audit findings are presented to the relevant Head of a
Group division or Group function, the Company Secretary and the
Chief Financial Officer for review. The Committee is responsible
for overseaing the work of the Internal Audit function.

The Committee reviews the effectiveness of the internal Audit
function, reviews and approves the scope of the Internal Audit
annual plan and assesses the quality of Internal Audit reports,
along with managernent's actions, and their timeliness, relating lo
findings and the closure of recommended actions. The Cornmittee
also considers any stakeholder feedback on the quality of Internal
Audit's work. In order to safeguard the independence of the Internal
Augit function, the Head of Risk and Internal Audit is given the
opportunity to rnget privately with the Committee without any
Executive Directors or other mermbers of management present.

External Auditor

Delpitte LLP was appointed as the External Auditor of the Company
on 23 August 2016 and the current lead Audit Partner, Makhan
Chahal, was appointed in August 2016, Mr Chahal is in his final year
as lead Audit Pariner and will rotate off the engagement next year.

The Group confirms it is in compliance with the requirements
of the Statutory Audit Services for Large Campanies Markst
Investigation [Mandatory Use of Competitive Tender Processes
and Audit Responsibilities] Order 2014, which relates to the
frequency and governance of external audit tanders and the
setting of a policy on the provision of non-audit servicas.

The Company intends to conduct a tender process in line with
the regulations and by no later than 2026,

The Comurnittee reviewed the External Auditor's effectiveness
during the year. In carrying out its assessment it considered:

& feedback from the Chief Financial Officer and his team whao
monitor the External Auditor's performance, behaviour and
effactiveness during the exercise of its duties;
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m all key External Auditor plans and repozts;

m the regular engagement with the External Auditor during
Committee meetings and ad hoc meetings, including meetings
without any member of managerment being present;

m the Coramittee Chair having discussions with the Senior
Statutory Auditor ahead of each Committee meeting;

» the External Audit effectiveness review conducted by the Head of
Risk and Internal Audit which was presented to the Cormumittee at
the September Comrmittee meeting. This contained the results of
an External Audit process effectiveness review guestionnaire that
was completed by the Directors and key members of management
and staff who were involved in the external audit process; and

m the independence and objectivity of the External Auditor.

Having completed this review, the Committee concluded that the
audit process, independence and quality of the External Auditor
was satisfactory.

The Cormnmittee has made a recommendation to the Board
to re-appoint Deloitte LLP as the Company's auditor for the
2020/21 financial year. Accordingly, a resolution proposing
their re-appointment will be tabled at the July 2020 AGM.

External Auditor’s Independence and Non-Audit Services
To preserve objectivity and independence, the Committee has
adopted a policy on the provision of non-audit services which
restricts the work and fees available to the External Auditor. This
policy was updated during the year to reflect the requirements of
the FRC Revised Ethical Standard published in December 2019.

The policy specifies certain activities which the External Auditor
may not undertake such as tax, consulting, valuation or corporate
services [other than reporting accounting arrangements). Permitted
services are set out in a whitelist and the fees are capped at 70%

of the average audit fees paid in the last 3 years.

The policy requires prior Committee approval for any non-audit
serviges work permitted under the policy whose value exceeds
£50,000, or where it will cause the cumulative fees for the year to
exceed 10% of the amount of the prior year's audit fee, or where the
cumulative fees for the year already exceed 70% of the average of
the external audit fees paid in the last three years. Prior approval
of the Chief Financial Officer is required for any non-audit services
work permitted under the policy whose value exceeds £10,000.

Non-audit fees are monitored by the Comumittee and the Comimittee
is satisfied that all non-audit work undertaken this year was

in line with the policy and did not detract from the objectivity
and independence of the External Auditor. The External Auditor
confirms its independence at least annually.

The fees paid to Deloitte LLP in respect of non-audit services during
the year related to the review of interim Financial Statements
and governance compliance certificates and totalled £31,600,
representing 10% of the total audit fee (2019 £87,800 and 10%).
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Committee Evaluation

The Committee’s performance during the year was assessed
at the same time as the Board evaluation in March 2020.
Further details on the wider Board and Committee evaluation
process can be found on page 53.

FY20 Committee Evaluation

Ali Directors, regular attendees and the Company Secretary
responded to an online self-evaluation questionnaire, covering
all aspects of Committee performance including: the role

of the Cornmittee and its Terms of Reference; meetings

and papers; the internal audit plan and effectiveness of
management's response to internal audit recornmendations;
and risk management and internal controls. The participants
were asked toscore 20 statements on a scale of 1to5and
provide written comments, including areas for improverment.

Initial feedback from the evaluation was presented to the
Committee and discussed at its meeting in May 2020. The
overall assessment is that it continues to operate effectively
and has performed well overall during the year. It was agreed
that the key actions would be defined by the Chair and those
actions would form part of the Committee’s agenda for the
coming year.

Update on FY19 Committee Evaluation Qutcomes
Agreported last year, the FY19 Committee performance
evaluation was internally facilitated by the Chairman and
Company Secretary. The review identified some potential
opportunities for the Committee including the on-going
personal development needs of the members and to improve
the implementation of the internal audit recommendations.

The Committee members discussed whether anything further
was required in relation to their personal development needs.
They noted that the External Auditor’s reports cover all the
relevant latest developments and other opportunities for
development are provided by Deloitte Academy membership
and through other external sources and were therefore in
agreement that nothing further was required.

The Committee is satisfied that the work undertaken during the
year has seen an improvement inthe quality and effectiveness
of the implernentation of Internal Audit's recommendations.
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Directors’ Remuneration Report

Remuneration Committee Report

Members

Michael Averill (hair]
David Martin
Carol Chesney

Areas of Focus in 2020/21

The Cormmittee’s priorities for 2020/21 will be to:

a continue to consider the impacts of COVID-18 on
remuneration; and

m monitor developments in market best practice.

Dear Shareholder,
Iam pleased to introduce the Directors’ Rermuneration Report
for 2020.

The whole Board is grateful to our shareholders for the continued
support received on rernuneration ratters at the Company's 2019
AGM where nur Directors’ Remuneration Report was approved by
over 99% of our shareholders.

This year, in conjunction with our regular duties the Remuneration
Conamittee (Committee) has been preparing and discussing a

new Remuneration Palicy and we have consulted with our major
shareholders on our proposed Policy which will be presented for
approval at the 2020 AGM. I would like to thank those shareholders
who have participated in this process for their feedback and
guidance, which resulted in changes to the original proposal.

As Twrite, the Commitiee is continuing to consider the impacts of
COVID-19 on remuneration at Biffa, As announced on 6 April 2020,
we have undertaken the following actions:

m the Board of Directors and the Group Executive Team members
have volunteered to take a 20% reduction in salary with effect
frorm 1 April 2020. This will last for the duration of the period
during which the Group is participating in the Government’s
Coronavirus Job Retention Scheme (CJRS);

w Biffa's Leadership group, representing a further 85 people,
have also taken a 10% reduction in salary for the same period;

m all pay increases have been suspended until further notice;

m bonus entitlements earned in respect of the year to 27 March
2020, which under normal ¢ircumstances would be paid in cash
in July 2020, will he calculated in the normal manner but will,
for the most senior participants, be satisfied in shares through
the Group's employee share plans, subject to final Remuneration
Comummittee approval; and
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m the Group’s annual banus scheme inrespect of 2020/21 has
been suspended and will be reintroduced at the discretion
of the Remuneration Committee when appropriate,

The Report comprises two sections:

m the Directors’ Remuneration Policy, which will apply for a
maximum of three years from the 2020 AGM and will replace
tha Directors’ Reuneration Policy previously approved at
the 2017 AGM; and

= the Directors’ Annual Report on Remuneration, which sets out
payments and awards made ta the Directors for 2019/20 and
how the Policy will operate for 2020/21,

The Directors’ Rernuneration Policy will be subject to a binding vote
of shareholders at the forthcoming AGM, with the Directors’ Annual
Report on Remuneration being subject to an advisory vote.

Membership of the Committee and Attendance

The Coramittec is comprised of independent Non-Executive
Directors and is chaired by Michael Averill, with David Martin and
Garol Chesney also being merabers. The Rernuneration Committee
met seven times during the year and the attendance at thoge
meetings is shown on page 42.

The Cormpany Secretary attends all the Cormmittee meetings

as Secretary to the Cornmitiee and, by invitation, they are also
attended by the Chairman, Chief Executive Officer, Chief Financial
Officer, Gab Barbaro {Non-Executive Director), Group HR Director
and external professional advisers for all or part of any meeting

as and when appropriate and necessary.

Role and Responsibilities of the Comrnittee

The role of the Committes is to establish a formal and
Lransparent procodurs for developing policy on rermuneration
in accordance with the Code. It sets the rernuneration of the
Chairman, the Executive Directors and senior management
with due account taken of all relevant factors such as, individual
ana Groug Periv ity aud ceruncrotion poyablo by enmpanies
of a comparable size and complexity and, in relation to the
Executive Directors, the remmuneration of, and remuneration
policies applying to, the Group's ermployees,

The Coramittee reports to the Board on its activities and makes
recorarmencdations, all of which have been accepted under the
period of review.

The Cornmittee’s responsibilities are set put in its Terms of
Reference on the Company’s website at www.biffa.couk.

Advisers

FIT Rermuneration Consultants LLP (FIT), signatories to the
Remuneration Consultants Group's Code of Conduct, are the
Committee’s appointed adviser. FIT provides advice to the
Committee on matters relating to executive remuneration
and all-ermployee share awards, During the year, FIT provided
no other services to the Cormpany and, accordingly, the
Committee was satisfied that the advice provided by FIT was
objective and independent. FIT's fees in respect of the 2019/20
financial year were £101,088 plusg VAT, charged on the basis
of the firm's standard terms of husiness for advice provided.
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Activities of the Committee During the Year

The main Committee activities during the year (further details
of which are set out in the relevant sections of this report)
included the following:

w Agreed the performance against the targets and the payments
for the 2018/19 Executive Director annual bonus awards.

® Reviewed annual bonus payments for 2018/19 for the Group
Executive Tearn, senior managers and employees.

m Setthe annual bonus performance targets for 2019/20
for the Executive Directors.

m Approved the Directors’ Remuneration Report and the
Remuneration Policy for the 2019 Annual Report.

m Agreed the population, award levels and performance
targets for the 2018/19 PSP awards.

a Oversaw the grant in 2019/20 under the all-employee
Sharesave Plan.

m Received an update on Group employee pay and conditions
and employee share plans.

m Reviewed and recommended the Gender Pay Gap report for
2019/20 to the Board for approval.

m Reviewed and agreed an increase to the Executive Director
and Group Executive Team base salary levels from 1 April 2020
(although note subsequent decision in respect of COVID-19
detailed above).

The Cormumittee is periodically updated on wider employee
matters such as information on our wider workforce pay and
conditions, our CEO to employee pay ratio, our gender pay statistics
and our diversity initiatives. The Committee has reviewed these
elements and is satisfied that the executive remuneration structure
rernains appropriate.

Whilst the Company does not currently directly engage with
employees as part of the process of formulating the Directors
Remuneration Policy or reviewing executive pay, the Company
does use several initiatives to obtain insights from the broader
employee population, including the annual engagement survey.
Further detail on engagerent with employees is given in the
Our People section which starts on page 29.

The Committee has ensured that the Directors’ Remuneration
Policy and practices are ¢onsistent with the six factors set cut
in Provision 40 of the Code:

Clarity — Qur Directors’ Rernuneration Policy is well understood by
our senior management team and has been clearly articulated to
our shareholders and representative bodies (both on an ongoing
basis and during consultation when changes are being made).

Simplicity - The Committee is mindful of the need to avoid overly
complex rermuneration structures which can be misunderstood
and deliver unintended cutcormes. Therefore, a key objective of
the Committee is to ensure that our Directors’ Remuneration Policy
and practices are straightforward to communicate and operate.
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® Reviewed and agreed an increase to the Chairman's fees
(although note subsequent decision in relation to COVID-19
detailed above].

® Reviewed the impact of the 2018 UK Corporate Governance
Code and various changes to the regulatory environment
and market practice.

a Approved revised shareholding guidelines applying to
the Executive Directors and Group Executive Team.

® Reviewed and recommended the updated Committee
Terms of Reference to the Board for approval.

m Agreed the terms of remuneration on appointment of the
General Counsel and Company Secretary.

m Received an update on the AGM season voting outcomes
and market developments.

m Considered the Investment Association's letter to
Remuneration Cormnmittee chairs and the Investrnent
Association’s Principles of Remuneration.

m Approved the changes to the malus and clawback provisions
in the Deferred Bonus and PSP rules.

m Undertook a review of the Directors’ Remuneration Policy
and shareholder consultation.

» Considered remuneration related measures to mitigate
the impact of the COVID-19 outbreak on the business
as noted above.

Risk - Qur Directors’ Remuneration Policy has been designed to
ensure that inappropriate risk-taking is discouraged and will not

be rewarded via (i) the balanced use of both annual incentives

and long-term ingentives which employ a blend of financial,
non-financial and shareholder return targets, (ii) the significant
role played by shares in our incentive plans including the deferral
under the annual bontus share and the holding period under the
PSP (together with in employment and post cessation shareholding
guidelines) and (iii) malus/clawback provisions within all our
incentive plans.

Predictability - Our incentive plans are subject to individual caps,
with our share plans also subject to market standard dilution limits.
Exarnples of the range of outcomes under the Policy are shown
within the scenario charts. The use of shares within our incentive
plans means that actual pay outcomes are highly aligned to the
experience of our shareholders.

Proportionality - There is a clear link between individual awards,
delivery of strategy and our long-term performance. In addition,
the significant role played by incentive-based pay, together with
the structure of the Executive Directors’ service contracts, ensures
that poor performance is not rewarded.

Alignment to gulture — Our executive pay policies are fully aligned
to the Company’s culture through the use of metrics in both the
annual bonus plan and PSP that measure how we perform against
key targets and objectives within the Group Balanced Business Plan.
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Directors’' Remuneration Report continued

Pay and Performance

Biffa has had a strong year dermaonstrated by the promotion to the
FTSE 250 towards the end of the year. We have delivered a strong
set of financial results, which include increasing net revenues by
7% and maintaining Underlying Operating Profit Margin at 7.8%. The
Group delivered good organic growth and made a series of earnings
enhancing acquisitions. Strong cash rmanagement and tight capital
controls resulted in year-end Net Debt of £425.5m, which was 2.4
times Underlyving EBITDA.

As a result, in respect of the 2019/20 annual bonus for the Executive
Directors, the actual Operating Profit was between the target and
maximum and the Free Cash Flow result exceeded the maximum
target. In addition, the majority of the strategic/personal objectives
were gither partially met or were met in full. As such, bonus awards of
98.64% of salary for Michael Topharmn and 83.468% of salary for Richard
Pike were awarded. These awards would normally have been paid in
cash where the 200% of salary share ownership guidelines were met,
nr a combination of shares and cash where they were not. However,
as part of the COVID-19 measures mentioned above, all bonus
entitlements earned by the Executive Directors will be satisfied in
sharas through the Group's employee share plans. Full details of the
bonus targets and performance against the targets are set outinthe
Annual Report on Remuneration.

The July 2017 PSP award is subject to underlying EPS performance
to 27 March 2020 and TSR performance. The estimated overall
payout for the award is 100% of maxirnum.

The Gomrmittee considers that the Remuneration Policy operated
as intended during 2018/20 and that remuneration outcomes are
consistent with the Group perforrmance. The Cornmittes considered
the Board's recomrmendation that no final dividend is to be paid for
2019/20 and the implemented measures outlined above regarding
the remuneration for 2020/21 that address the effects of the
COVID-19 pandemic and determined that no discretion needed to
be applied for the ahove remuneration outcomes although as noted
above the Committee has determined that bonus entitlements for
2019/20 should be satisfied in shares.

Also as noted above, the Group’s annual bonus scheme in respect
of 2020/21 has heen suspended and the Committee will consider
the performance delivered for our shareholders when determining
the outcome for 2020/21 if the scheme is reintroduced.
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Cornmittee Evaluation

The Committee's performance during the year was agsessed
at the same time as the Board evaluation in March 2020,
Further details on the wider Board and Comimnittee evaluation
process can be found on page 53.

FY20 Committee Evaluation

AN Directors, regular attendees and the Company Secretary
responded to an online self-evaluation questionnaire, covering
all aspects of Corarnittee performance including: the role of the
Committee and its Terms of Reference; meetings and papers;
communication with key contacts and dialogue with key
institutional investors and representatives on remuneration
issues. The participants were asked to score 20 statements
on a scale of 1 te § and provide written comments, including
argas for improvement.

Initial feedback from the gvaluation was presented to the
Committee and discussed af Its riestivg in April 2020,
The overall assessment is that the Comrnittes is working
well, there is a good mix of skills and experience and all
raembers contribute to the high quality of debate. It was
agreed that the key actions would be defined by the Chair
and those actions would form part of the Committee’s
agenda for tha coming year.

Update on FY19 Committee Evaluation Outcomes
As reported last year, the FY19 Comunittee performance
evaluation was internally facilitated by the Chairman

and Company Secretary. The review identified potential
opportunities for the Committee including, further
improvement in relation to the content and delivery

of Committee papers and personal development needs

of Committee members.

The Comrmittee receive regular updates from FIT during
the year and agreed nothing further was required. The

recent Committee evaluation noted the improvement in
the content of papers and delivery of the meeting packs,
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Remuneration for 2020/21

As explained above, at the 2020 AGM we will be submitting our
Directors’ Remuneration Policy for renewal by our shareholders.
The policy is materially unchanged from our first policy as a
newly listed company which was approved at our 2017 AGM,
with the changes proposed being made to align the Policy with
the new Code and regulatory reporting requirerments.

Basa salaries

No change with increases generally
in line with those awarded to other
salaried employees.

Pensions

Pension contributions for new Executive
Director appointments will be aligned

with the pension henefits available to

the majority of the workforce. Pension
provision for current Executive Directors
[20% of salary for the CEO and 15% of salary
for the CFO} will initially remain unchanged
although will align with workforce rates by
2023 [see below).

Annual bonus

Maxirmurm bonus unchanged at 130% of

base salary. Annual bonus potential for

the CED and CFO will continue to be set at
130% and 110% of salary. Compulsory bonus
deferral will be introduced for new Executive
Director appointments, whereby one-third

of any bonus will be deferred into shares for
three years.

Long-term
incentives

Maximum unchanged at 150% of base

salary. The CEO and CFO will continue to
receive a PSP award of up to 150% and 125%
of salary respectively.

A two-year holding period also now applies
to all PSP awards [and was applied to awards
granted to Executive Directors in 2019).

Shareholding
guidelines

Post-employment shareholding guidelines
will be introduced going forward, requiring
Executive Directors to retain their relevant
shareholding at the date of leaving for two
years post cessation.
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As part of its review of the Policy, the Committee spent significant
time considering the most appropriate approach for pension
provision, noting the Code requirement for pension provision to
be aligned with that available to the workforce. Any new Executive
Director appeintments will have a pension leve! that is aligned
with the pension benefits available to the wider workforce. The
Committee determined that the current Executive Directors’
pravision will initially rernain unchanged, but the Committee will
be aligning the pension contribution for all Executive Directors
to those available across the workforce by 1 January 2023.

The Comrmittee has also been considering the most appropriate
perforrmance targets to be attached to the 2020 PSP awards.

The current intention is to continue to use a mix of EPS and TSR
measures. Due to the current high level of uncertainty surrounding
setting suitably stretching EPS targets, the EPS targets are yetto be
finalised and will be confirmed by the Committee in due course and
in accordance with recent guidance from the Investment Assocciation,
no later than six months following grant. If it is determined that the
Cormurmnittee is unable to set suitably robust EPS targets within this
timeframe the weighting on the TSR element will be increased to 100%.
Full details of the targets will be set out in an RNS announcerment
issued immediately after the PSP award is granted or subsequently
if they are determined later.

As confirmed in the new Policy, the Committee has the ability to
adjust the formulaic outcomes from performance conditions where
appropriate and the Committee will ensure that outcomes reflect
Company and executive performance as well as the experience

of shareholders and other stakeholders. The Cornmittee will also
use its discretion to reduce vesting outcomes where it determines
that windfall gains have been received.

We trust that you find this Report to be informative and
transparent, and we hope to receive your support for both the
Directors’' Remuneration Policy and the Directors’ Annual Report
on Remuneration at our forthcoming AGM.

Michael Averill
Chair, Remuneration Committee

4 June 2020
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Directors’ Remuneration Report continued

Directors’ Remuneration Policy

This Directors’ Remuneration Policy, which has been approved by the Board and is subject to approval of the shareholders at the 2020 AGM,
contains the material required to be set out in the Directors' Reruneration Report for the purposes of Part 4 of The Large and Medium-sized
Companies and Groups {(Accounts and Reports) (Amendment) Regulations 2008 as armended in 2013 (the DRR regulations).

The Directors’ Remuneration Policy will take effect for all payments made fo Directors with effect from the conclusion of the forthcoming
2020 AGM.

In devising the new Directors’ Remuneration Policy, the Committes undertook an extensive review of the existing policy and determined
that it, as approved by 99.7% of shareholders at the 2017 AGM, remains aligned with the Group's remuneration principles.

The minor amendments ta the poelicy are primarily driven by emerging requirements under the Code and regulatory remuneration reporting,
which the Comumittes continues to monitor. Sat out below is the Directors’ Remuneration Palicy table which includes a surmmary of the
proposed changes from the previous policy.

Directors’ Remuneration Policy Table

Executive Directoxs

Element and Base salarv

purpose The core element of pay, reflecting the individual's position within the Company and experience.

Policy and Base salaries will be reviewed as appropriate, but typically not more than annually. In reviewing base salaries, the

operation Cornmittee will consider the perforrmance of the Company and individual, any changes in responsibilities or scope
of the role, as well as pay practices in relevant comparator companies of a broadly similar size and complexity.

Maximum 1t is anticipated that any salary increases wili generally be in line with those awarded to salaried employees. That
said, in certain circurnstances (including, but not limited to, changes in role and responsibilities, market levels,
individual and Company performance] higher increases may be made. However, no incumbent Executive Director's
salary will increase more than an average of 10% p.a. over the duration of this Policy.

Performance n/a

measures

Changes from No material changes.

previous palicy

Element and Benefits in kind

purpose To provide market-competitive benefits valued by recipients.

Policy and The Executive Directors may receive benefits in kind including car allowance, fuel allowance, private family
operation

medical insurance and such other market competitive benefits as the Committee considers appropriate.

Maxirnura Benefits may be provided up to an aggregate value of £50,000 for each Executive Director [or such higher amount
as the Remuneration Comrnittee considers appropriate).

Performance n/a
measures
Changes from Nomaterial changes.

previous policy

Element and Pension

purpose To provide retirerment benefits.

Policy and The Executive Directors will receive & defined contribution provision (or cash supplement).

cperation

Maxiroom The rnaximum employer's contribution (or cash supplement) is 20% of salary. Pension contributions for new

Executive Director appointments will be aligned with the pension benefits available to the wider workforce.

Current contributions are 20% of salary for the Chief Executive Officer and 15% of salary for the Chief Financial Officer.
These Ieveis will be aligned to the wider workforce from 1 January 2023,

Performance n/a
measures
Changes from Newly appointed Executive Directors will be aligned to the wider workforce.

previous policy
Incurmbent Executive Directors remain on current levels through to end of 2022 and then aligned to rate available
to the wider workforce.
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Elernent and
purpose

Annual bonus
To rotivate Executive Directors and incentivise the delivery of husiness strategy over a one-year operating cycle,

Palicy and
operation

Annual borius plan levels and the appropriateness of measures are reviewed annually to ensure they continue
to support our strategy.

Once set, performance measures and targets will generally remain unchanged for the year, except to reflect
events (e.g. corporate acquisitions, other major transactions} where the Committes considers it to be necessary
inits opinion tg make appropriate adjustments.

The Comumittee retains the flexibility to pay annual bonus outcornes in cash and/or deferred shares (which may
allow for dividend roll-up). For current Executive Directors, one-third of any bonus earned will be deferred into
shares for three years to the extent that the Executive Director does not at the bonus payment date already hold
sufficient shares to satisfy the share ownership guidelines as may apply from time to time. For new Executive
Director appointments, one-third of any benus will be deferred into shares tor three years.

Clawback and malus provision apply as explained in more detail in the notes to this Policy table.

Maximum

The maximurm annual bonus opportunity is 130% of base salary.

For 2020/21, the maximum opportunity will be 130% of salary for the CEO and 110% of salary for the CFO.

Performance
measures

Bonuses will be payable subject to the achievement of performance conditions which will be set by the Comruittee,

The targets may be financial and/or personal and strategic, with the majority based on financial targets. It is
anticipated that the financial targets will have a significant profit-based element. Where a sliding scale of targets is
used, attaining the threshold level of performance for any rmeasure will not typically produce a pay-out of more than
20% of the maximum portion of overall annual bonus attributable to that measure, with a sliding scale to full pay-out
for maximum performance. Bonus payments will also be subject to the Committee considering that the proposed
bonus amounts, calculated by reference to performance against the targets, appropriately reflect the Company's
overall performance and shareholders’ experience. If the Cormmittee does not believe this to be the case, it may
adjust the bonug outturn accordingly.

Changes from
previous policy

For newly appointed Executive Directors, one-third of any bonus will be deferred into shares for three years.

The default good leaver treatment is amended so that rather than deferred bonus share awards vesting at cessation,
they will continue to vest at the normal vesting date.

Elernent and
purpose

Performance Share Plan (PSP)
To motivate Executive Directors and incentivise the delivery of sustained performance over the long term, and

to promote alignment with shareholders’ interests.

Policyand
operation

Awards under the PSP may be granted as nil/nominal cost options or conditional awards which vest to the extent
performance conditions are satisfied over a period norrmally of at least three years.

Awards will vest at the end of the specified vesting period at the discretion of the Committee and for awards granted
after 10 July 2019, Executive Directors will be required to retain shares vesting under the PSP (net of tax) until the
fifth anniversary of grant.

The PSP rules allow that the number of shares subject to vested PSP awards may be increased to reflect the value
of dividends that would have been paid in respect of any record dates falling between the grant of awards and the
expiry of any vesting period/holding period.

Clawback and malus provisions apply as explained in more detail in the notes to this Policy table.

Maximurm

The market value of shares to be awarded to Executive Directors in respect of any year will normally be up to
150% and 125% of base salary for the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer respectively, with awards
of a maximum of 250% allowable in exceptional circumstances.

Biffa Annual Report and Accounts 2020
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Directors' Remuneration Report continued

Executive Directors Performance Share Plan (PSP) continued

Performance
measures

Changes from

The Comunittee may impose such conditions as it considers appropriate for each grant which must be satisfied before
any award will vest. This currently includes EPS and TSR that are normally applied with equal weighting.

All awards made to Executive Directors will be subject to performance conditions which measure performance over
a period normally no less than three years.

No more than 25% of awards vast for attaining the threshold level of performance. The Committee also has a standard
power 10 apply its judgement to adjust the formulaic outcome of all PSP performance measures to take account of
any circumstances (including the performance vl the Company, any individual or business) shnnuld it consider that
to be appropriate.

A two-year holding period was applied to PSP awards made to Executive Directors in 2018. This is now included in the

previaus policy forrnal Policy for completeness.
Clarified the ability of the Committee to adjust the formulaic outcomes from performance conditions where apprapriate,
Element and Share ownership guidelines
purpose To promaote stewardship and to further align the interests of Executive Directors with those of shareholders.
Policy and The share ownership guidelines encourage Executive Directors to build or maintain [as appropriate) a shareholding
operation in the Company.
If any Executive Director does not meet the guidelines, they will be expected to retain up to 50% of the net of tax
number of shares vesting under any of the Company’s discretionary share incentive arrangements [(including any
deferred bonus shares) until the guideline is met after which they are expected to retain these levels as a minimum.
These restrictions do not apply to shares acquired through purchase.
From the 2020 AGM, Executive Directors will be required to maintain a shareholding in the Company for a two-
year period after stepping down from that position, being 200% of salary or the Executive Directors’ actual relevant
shareholding at leaving this position if lower.
The Executive Directors’ actual relevant shareholding will include shares vesting under any of the Company's
discretionary share incentive arrangunenls (including any deferrod bonus shares) from awards granted after the
date the Policy was adopted but exciudes shares acquired through purchase and the release of shares under share
ingentive plans where the grant occurred prior to the adoption of the Policy.
Maximum No less than 200% of base salary for auy Executive Director.
Performance n/a
measures
Ghanges frarn Extended the application of share awnership guidelines for & 2-year period post termination of eraployment.
pravious policy

Element and

All-employee share plans
To facilitate and encourage share ownership by emplovyees, thereby allowing them to share in the long-term success

The Executive Directors will be entitied to participate in all of the Company's ernployee share plans, including the

These all-employee share plans are established under HMRG tax-advantaged regimes and follow the usual form for

The maximum participation levels for ail-employee share plans will be the limits for such plans set by HMRC from

Consistent with normal practice, such awards would not be subject to performance conditions.

purpose
of the Company and align their interests with those of shareholders.

Palicy _and

operation Share Incentive Plan and Sharesave Plan, on the sarme terms as other employees.
such plans,

Maximum
time to time,

Performance

measures

Changes from No material changes.

previous policy
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Chairman and Non-Executive Directoxs

Element and
purpose

Chairman and Non-Executive Director fees
To enable the Company to recruit and retain Company Chairs and Non-Executive Direstors of the highest calibre,
at the appropriate cost.

Policy and
operation

The fees paid to the Chairman and Non-Executive Directors aim to be cornpetitive with other fully listed companies
of equivalent size and complexity.

The fees payable to the Non-Executive Directors are determined by the Board, with the Chairman's fees determined
by the Cornmittee. No Director participates in decisions regarding their own fees.

The Chairman and Non-Executive Directors do not participate in any new cash or share incentive plans since Admission.

The Chairman and Non-Executive Directors are entitled to benefits relating to travel and office support and such
other benefits as may be considered appropriate.

The Chairman is paid a single fee for the role, although he will be entitled to an additional fee if he isrequired to
perform any specific and additional services.

Non-Executive Directors receive a base fee for the role. Additional fees are paid for acting as Senior Independent
Director, Chairs of the Audit, Remunearation or other Board Committee and to the designated Non-Executive Director
for workiorce engagement to reflect the additional time commitment. They will be entitled to an additional fee if they
are required to perform any specific and additional services.

Maximurn

Fees are paid monthly in cash.

The aggregate fees and any benefits of the Chairman and Non-Executive Directors will not exceed the limit from time

to time preseribed within the Company's Articles of Association for such fees (currently £5,000,000 p.a. in aggregate].

Any increases in fee levels made will be appropriately disclosed.

Performance
measures

n/a

Changes from
previous policy

No material changes.
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Directors’ Remuneration Report continued

Notes to the policy table

1. Stating maxima for each element of the Remuneration Policy
The DRR Regulations and related investor guidance encourages
cormpanies to disclose a cap within which each element of thae
Directors’' Remuneration Policy will operate. Where maximum
amounts for elements of remuneration have been set within the
Policy, these will operate sirply as caps and are not indicative

of any aspiration.

2, Travel and hospitality

While the Committee does not consider it to form part of benefits
in the normal usage of that term, it has been advised that corporate
hospitality, whether paid for by the Company or another, and
business travel for Directors {and in exceptional circumstances
their farnilies) and any related tax liabilities may technically
corme within the applicable rules, and so the Committee expressly
reserves tha right for the Cornmittee to authorise such activities.

3. Past obligations

In addition to the above elements of remuneration, any
cemmitment made prior to, but due to be fulfilled after, the
approval and implementation of this Rernuneration Policy
or appointment as a Director will be honoured (such asany
cornmitments made in relation to the EVP Return Letters).

4, Malus/clawback

The Cormmittee may apply malus [(being the ability to withhold or
reduce a payment/vesting] to an award under the annual bonus
plan or PSP where there are circumstances which would justify such
action, such as: those relating to materially financially inaceurate or
misleading results, risk management failure leads to financial loss,
errors in calculating a payment/vesting, a participant's behaviour
results in material reputational damage, or the Company becomes
insolvent,

The Committee may apply clawback (the ability to reclaim some or all
of a payment/vesting] to an award under the annual bonus plan or PSP
where there are circumstances which would justify such action, such
as: evidence of misconduct or reaterial exror, material misstatement
in the audited accounts, errors in calgulating a payment/vesting, a
participant’s behaviour results in material reputational damage,

or the Company becomes insolvent.

5. Performance conditions

The performance-related elerments of rermuneration take into
account the Group's risk policies and systems, and are designed

to align the senior executives' interests with those of shareholders.
The Committee reviews the metrics used and targets set for senior
management [notjust the Executive Directors and Group Executive
Team) every year, in order to ensure that they are aligned with the
Group’s strategy and to ensure an appropriate level of consistency.

6. Committee discretions

The Committee will operate the annual bonus plan and PSP according
to their regpective rules and the Policy table. The Comrittee retains
discretion, consistent with rmarket practice, in a number of respects,
in relation to the operation and administration of these plans. This
discretion includes, but is not limited to, the following:

m the selection or participants;

» thetiming of grant of awards;

m the size of an award/bonus opportunity subject to the maximum
limits set out in the Policy table;

m the determination of performance against targets and resultant
vesting/pay-outs;
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m when dealing with a change of control or restructuring
of the Company;

m determination of the treatment of leavers based on the rules
of the relevant plan and the appropriate treatment chosen
[subject to the policy on termination as set out below);

» adjustments required in certain circumstances
(e.g. rights issue and special dividends); and

» the annual review of performance measures,
weightings and targets from year to year.

In addition, while performance and targets used in the annual
bonus plan and PSP will generally remain unaltered, if events
occur which the Corunittee deterrmines have resulted in the
original conditions ceasing to operate as intended, an amended
or different target can be set, provided thatit is not materially more
or less difficult to satisfy, having regard to the event in question.

Any use of the above discretion would, where relevant, be explained
in the Annual Report on Directors Remuneration and may, where
appropriate and practicable, be the subject of consultation with
the Cornpany's major shareholders.

The Committee may make minor amendments to the Remuneration
Policy for regulatory, exchange control, tax or administrative
purposes or to take account of a change in legislation, without
obtaining shareholder approval for that amendment.

Remuneration Policy on Recruitment

The Company’s recruitrnent remuneration policy aims to give the
Committee sufficient flexibility to secure the appointment and
promotion of high calibre executives to strengthen the management
tearmn and secure the skill sets to deliver our strategic aims.

In terms of the principles for setting a package for a new Executive
Director, the starting point for the Cornmittee will be to apply the
KRemuneration Polivy and sliucture a package in accordance with
that Policy (noting that pension contributions for a new Executive
Director will be aligned with the pension benefits available to the
majority ot the workforce). Consistent willi Lhie DRR Regulations,
any caps contained withimn the Policy tor Tixed pay du 1wl spply
new recruits, although the Cornmittee would not envisage exceeding
these caps in practice unless absolutely necessary,

The annual bonus plan and PSP, including the maximum award
levels, will operate as detailed in the Remuneration Policy in
relation to any newly appointed Executive Diteulul. Four aninternal
appointment, any variable pay element awarded inrespect of the
prior role may either continue on its original terms or be adjusted
to reflect the new appointment as appropriate.

For both external and internal appointrents, the Cornmittee may
agree that the Company will meet certain relocation expenses as
it considers appropriate. It is envisaged these would only be offered
for a lirnited pariod.

For external candidates, it may be necessary 1o make additional
awards in connection with the recruitment to buy out awards
forfeited by the individual on leaving a previous employer. For the
avoidance of doubt, buy-out awards are not subject to a forraal cap.
Any recruitment-related awards which are not buy-outs will be
subject to the limits for the annual bonus plan and PSP as stated in
the Rermuneration Policy. Details of any recruitment-related awards
will be appropriately disclosed.
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For any buy-outs, the Company will not pay more than is necessary
in the view of the Committee and will belimited in value to what the
Comrnittee considers to be a fair estimate of the value of the awards
foregone. The Comumnittee will in all cases seek, in the first instance,
to deliver any such awards under the terms of the existing annual
tonus plan annd PSP, It may, however, e necessary in some cases
tormake buy-out awards on terms that are more bespoke than the
existing annual bonus plan and PSP.

All buy-outs, whether under the annual bonus plan, PSP or
otherwise, will take due account of the service obligations and
performance requirernents for any remuneration relinguished by
the individual when leaving a previous employer. The Committee
will seek, where it is practicable to do s0, to make buy-outs subject
towhat are, in its opinion, comparable requirements in respect of
service and performance. However, the Cornmittee may choose to
relax this requirernent in certain cases, such as where the service
and/or performance requirements are materially completed, or
where such factors are, in the view of the Cammittee, reflected in
some other way, such as a significant discount to the face value of
the awards forfeited, and where the Committee considers it to be
in the interests of shareholders,

Service Contracts

Executive Directors

Michael Topham entered into a service agreement with the Company
which was dated 26 September 2018. Richard Pike entered into

a service agreement with the Company dated 25 July 2018. The
policy is that each Executive Director’s service agreement should
be of indefinite duration, subject to termination by the Company
or the individual on no more than 12 months’ notice. However, the
Committee reserves flexibility to alter these principles if necessary
to secure the recruitmeant of an appropriate candidate and if
appropriate introduce a longer initial notice period of up to two
years [reducing over time to no more than 12 months).

The service agreements of all Executive Directors, which are
available for inspection at the Company’s registered office,
comply with this policy as follows:

m Michael Topham's service agreement is terminable by the
Cornpany on not less than 12 months’ written notice or by Michae!l
on not less than 12 months’ written notice. The contract provides
for immediate termination upon payraent in lieu of notice and
contains a 12-month garden leave clayse.

m Richard Pike's service agreement is terminable by the Company
on not less than 6 months' written notice or by Richard on not
less than 6 months' written notice. The contract pravides for
immediate termination upon payment in lieu of notice and
contains a 6-month garden leave clavuse,

In each case, any payment in lieu of notice will be calculated

by reference to base salary and contractual benefits only and
will not include any entitlernent to bonus or holiday pay that
would have accrued during the notice period. The payments in
lieu will be paid in monthly instalments. Each Exgcutive Director
is also obliged to seek alternative employment/income during
this period and the instalment payments will be reduced by the
amount of such income.

Biffa Annual Report and Accounts 2020

Chairman and Non-Executive Directors

The Chairman and Non-Executive Directors' appointments are
subject to the terms of letters of appointment agreed between
themselves and the Company. They are not entitled to receive
any compensation on termination of their appointment (other
than payment in respect of a notice period where notice is served)
and are not entitled to participate in the Company's share, borus
or pension schemes, and are entitled to be reimbursed all
reasonable out-of-pocket expenses incurred in the proper
performance of their duties.

Their appointment may be terminated at any time upon three

manths' written notice. The appointment may also be terminated
pursuant to the Articles or as otherwise required by law. They are
subject to annual re-election by the Company in general meeting.

Original date of
Non-Executive Directar Appointment Letter of Engagement
Ken Lever 12 August 2016 12 March 2018
Michael Averill 25 February 2013 17 October 2016
David Martin 12 August 2016 17 October 2016
Carol Chesney 12 July 2018 12 June 2018
Gab Barbaro 1 January 2019 1 January €019

Remuneration Policy on Termination

The Committee will consider treatments on a termination having
regard to all of the relevant facts and circumstances available at that
time. This policy applies both to any negotiations linked to notice
periods on a termination and any treatments that the Committee
may choose to apply under the discretions available to it under the
terms of the annual bonus plan and PSP. The potential treatments
on termination under these plans are as follows:

Annual Bonus Plan

If an Executive Director resigns or is dismissed tor cause before the
bonus payment date, the right to receive any bonus normally lapses
{unless the Comzmittee determines otherwise). If an Executive
Director ceases employment before the bonus date because of death,
i1l health, injury or disability, retirement, redundancy or any other
reason determined by the Committee, such bonus will be payable
as the Comumittee in its absolute discretion determines taking into
account the circumstances for leaving, time in employment and
performance. Similar treatment will apply in the event of a change
in control of the Company.

If an Executive Director ceases ernployment unvested deferred
bonus awards will normally lapse. However, if employment

ends because of death, ill health, injury or disability, retirerment,
redundancy, the sale or transfer of the employing company or
business (other than on a change of control), or for any other reason
determined by the Committee, the award will vest in full, unless the
Coramittee decides that it should be subject to a pro-rata reduction
in the number of shares vesting to take account of the proportion

of the vesting period during which the participant will not be in
employment. Release wili not typically be accelerated, except

in the case of death in service. The Committee has the ability
torelease a good leaver’s awards early in suitable cases.
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Directors’' Remuneration Report continued

Performance Share Plan
1, during the performance or vesting period, a participant:

= resigns or is dismissed for cause, awards will normally
lapse in full;

m ceases to be employed due toill health, injury or disability
[established to the Company's satisfaction), retirernent with the
agreement of the participant’s employer, redundancy, the sale or
transfer of the employing company or husiness (other than on
change of control), or for other reasons specifically approvaed by
the Comumittee, the award will continue and, unless the Committee
determines otherwise, will vest on the original vesting date
subject to the satisfaction of the performance conditions over
the performance period and a pro-rata reduction in the nurmber
of shares vesting to take account of the proportion of the vesting
period during which the participant was not in employment.
Alternatively, onthe sale or transfer of the employing company
or business, participants may be required to exchange their
awards for equivalent awards in the acquiring company; and

m dies, unvested awards will vest at the date of death subject
to performance testing and time pro-rating, unless the
Rermuneration Committes determines otherwisa,

If there is a takeover, scheme of arrangement, demerger or other
corporate reorganisation of the Company, participants may be
required, or may be allowed, to exchange their awards for equivalent
awards in the acquiring cornpany. If awards are not exchanged, they
will normally vest immediately, the performance conditions will
apply and the number of shares which vest will be time pro-rated
to take account of the proportion of the vesting period which has
elapsed prior to the relevant event unless the Committes, acting
fairly and reasonably, decides that it is appropriate not to apply
pra-rating (A applv it less strictly). An award granted in the form
of an option will normally be exercisable for six months after

the date of vesting and will lapse at the end of that period.

The number of shares subject to an award may be adjusted in such
manner as the Commmittee considers reasonable if there is rights
issue, corporate restructuring eveants, demerger, special dividends
or other variation of capital.

The all-employee Share Incentive Plan and Sharesave Plan provide
treatments for leavers in line with HMRC rules for such plans.

The Company has the power to enter into settlerment agreements with
Directors and to pay compensation to settle potential legal claims,
In addition, and consistent with market practice, in the event of the
termination of employment of an Executive Director, the Corapany
may make a contribution towards that individual's legal fees and
fees for putplacement services as part of a negotiated setflerment.
Any such fees will be disclosed as part of the detail of termination
arrangements. For the avoidance of doubt, the policy does not include
an explicit cap on the cost of termination payments.

External Appointments

The Company's policy is to permit an Executive Director to accept
ong non-executive appointment outside the Company when this
does not canflict with the individual's duties to the Company.
When an Executive Director takes such a role they may be entitled
to retain any fees which they eam frorm that appointrment.

Statement of Consideration of Employment Conditions
elsewhere in the Company

Pay and employment conditions generally in the Company will be
taken into account when setting Executive Directors’ remuneration.
The Committee will receive regular updates on overall pay and
conditions in the Company, including (but not limited to) changes
in base pay, any employee bonuses in operation, gender pay gap
and pay ratios. Thare is also oversight of the all-employee share
plans which Exaecutive Directors and all other Company employess
can participate in on the same terms and conditions. Reflecting
standard practice, the Company does not currently consult with
amployees in drawing up the Directors’ Remuneration Repart ar
when determining the underlying Policy, although it will continue
to monitor developrments in this area.

Differences between the Directors’ Remuneration Policy
and the Policy on Remuneration for Other Employvess
The Rermuneration Policy for other employees is based on broadly
consistent principles as described above. Annual salary reviews
across the Company take into account Company performance,
local pay and market conditions and salary levels for similar

roles in comparable companies.

Other merahers of senior management participate in similar
annual borwus arrangements to the Executive Directors, although
award sizes vary by organisational level. PSP awards may also

ko granted tn a hrnarfder pnpulation than the Executive Directors.
The Cornpany operates discretionary bonus schemes for eligible
groups of employees under which a bonus is payable subject to the
achievement of appropriate targets. All eligible employees may
participats in the Company's Share Incentive Plan and Sharcsave
Plan on identical terms.

Statemaent of Consideration of Shareholders' Views

The Committee considers sharehoider views received during the
year and at each Annual General Meeting, as well as guidance from
shareholder representative bodies more broadly, when deteriuining
the Directors’ Remuneration Policy and its implermentation.

The Committee seeks to build an active and productive dialogue
with investors on developments on the remuneration aspects

of corporate governance generally and it will consult with major
shareholders in advance of any material change to the structure
and/or operation of the Policy and will seek formal shareholder
approval for any such change if required.
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Illustrations of the application of the Directors’ Remuneration Policy
The charts below show how the Directors' Remuneration Policy will be applied for Executive Directors for the 2020/21 financial year using
the following assumptions:

Minimum

m Consists of base salary, benefits and pension.

m Base salaryis the salary to be paid in the 2020/21 financial year.

» Benefits are based on estimated values for the 2020/21 financial year.

®» Pension is measured as the defined contribution or cash allowance in lieu of Company contributions of 20%
of salary for the Chief Executive Officer and 15% for the Chief Financial Officer.

Base salary Benefits Pension Total fixed

Michael Topham £485,000 £11,000 £99,000 £605,000
Richard Pike £325,000 £11,000 £49,000 £385,000

Target

Based on what the Executive Director would receive if performance was on-target (excluding share price
appreciation and dividends}:

m Annual bonus: consists of the on-target bonus [60% of maximum opportunity used for illustrative purposes).
= Long term incentive plan (LTIP): consists of the threshold ievel of vesting (25% vesting) under the PSP.

Maximum

Based on the maximum rermuneration receivable (excluding share price appreciation and dividends]):

m Annual bonus: consists of maximum bonus of 130% of base salary for the Chief Executive Officer and 110%

of base salary for the Chief Financial Officer.
m LTIP: consists of the face value of awards (150% of base salary for the Chieif Executive Officer and 125% of base

salary for the Chief Financial Officer) under the PSP.

Maximum
with 50% share
price growth

® As the maximum scenario plus the value resuiting from share price growth of 50% from the PSP award.

£'000 M Fixed pay (salary, benefits, pension) [ Annuai Bonus [l LTIP [J Shareprice growth

£2.500
T2,962
£2,250
16%
£2,000 £1,991

£1,750

£1,500

£1,280

£1,000

£760

£500

£250

£0

Minirnurn

£401
OnTarget Maximmum Maximum Minimum  OnTarget Maximum Maximum
withshare with share
price growth price growth
Michael Topham Richard Pike
Chief Executive Dfficer ChiefFinancial Officer
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Directors’ Remuneration Report continued

Directors’ Annual Report on Remuneration

2019/20 Remuneration
The following section provides details of how the Directors were paid during the financial year to 27 March 2020.

Single Total Figure Table (audited)
The remuneration for the Executive and Non-Executive Directors who performed gualifying services during the year is detailed below
{with prior year comparatives).

- T T  remane T Lemgterm Total
Directors Salary/Fees benefits! Bonus® incentives® Pension  Remuneration
Executive Directors
Michael Topham? 2020 £495,000 £9,425 £488,264 £495,733 £93,000 £1,587422

2019 £410,000 £9,865 £412,507 £6824,226 £82,000 £1,638,598
Richard Pike® 2020 £325,000 £12,514 £271,258 - £48.750 £657,522
2019 £188,250 £6,288 £1681,461 - £27.187 £383,176
Non-Executive Directors
Michael Averill 2020 £67,000 - - - - £57,000
2019 £57,000 - - - - £57,000
Ken Lever’ 2020 £180,000 - - - - £180,000
2015 £180,000 - - - - £180,000
David Martin 2020 £67,000 - - - - £67,000
2019 £57,000 - - - - £57,000
Caro} Chesney 2020 £57.000 - - - - £57,000
2019 £41,069 - - - - £41,089
Gab Barbaro® 2020 £560,000 - - - - £50,000
2019 £12,500 - - - - £12,500
Former Executive Director
Tan Walkelin® 2020 - - - - - ~
2019 £255,000 £7,304 £273,219 £724,483 £61,000 £1,310,988

L Mo

IS

5
3]
7
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g

Taxable henefits received comprised car allowance, fuel card and private family raedical insurance and the intrinsic value of Sharesave options granted during
the year.

The bornws is to be in paid in shares.

The estimated outtum for the 2017 PSP which vests in 2020 is 100% and the vesling share price has been estimated at 270.9 pence, based on the three-manth
average share price ernding 27 March 2620, Far further infarmation see page 64. £89,485 af the above figure for Michael Topham be attributed to a share price
appreciation of 48.9 pence per share, based on an actual award price of 222 pence.

In June 2019, the Committee confirmed that the 2016 PSP awards would vest as to 73%. The long-term incentive figures in the 2019 comnparatives have therefore
been updated to reflect this and the actual share price on vesting (223 pence] rather than the three-month average used in the 2018 Annual Report (1952 pence).
Michael Topham was appointed CEQ on 29 September 2018; his 2018 recorded salary therefore includes only that as CEO for part of the year.

Richard Pike was appointed GFO on 28 September 2018; his 2018 recorded salary therefore relates to part year tenure,

Ken Lever's Fees restated for 2019 (£187,096) which previcusly inchuded arrears for Fees relating to 2017/18

Gab Barbaro joined the Board with effect from 1 January 2019.

Ian Wakelin stepped down from the Board and left the Company on 28 Septernber 2018.

The aggregate emoluments (being salary/fees, bonuses, benefits and pension allowances) of all Directors for year ended 27 March 2020
was £2,160,210 (2019: £2,238,736). Aggregate value of vested long-term incentives of all Directors for year ended 27 March 2020 was £495,733
(2019: £1,348,689].

2019/20 Annual Bonus (andited)
The Executive Directors' annual bonus targets were set at the beginning of the financial year. As a result of strong underlying financial

pe

rformance, the Group exceeded the threshold underlying profit hefore tax and underlying free cash flow targets set by the Board for

the purposes of awarding the 2019/20 annual bonuses of the Executive Diractors.

More particularly, the profit before tax and free cash flow bonus targets were as follows:

Actual Pay-out

Maximum, [out of

Threshald Target Maximum Actual  Potential Pay- maximum

£m £ £m £m out stated)

Underlying Profit Before Tax -1 89.70 74.83 717 50.0% 35.0%
Underlying Free Cagh Flow 38.18 40.20 4422 53.6 20.0% 20.0%
Total - 70.0% 85.0%

1

74

No payment was pavable for below target performance.
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In respect of the personal performance targets set for each Executive Director, these were set against a range of strategic targets at the start
of the year. The targets set were aligned to Biffa's corporate objectives having due regard to the five-year strategy.

Details of the measures, to the extent they are not commercially sensitive are shown below.

Personal Performance Targets - CEQ

Maximurm Actual
Measure Target Performance Potential Payout
Safety and Sustainability Improve safety m Safety engagement score reduced. Target 5.0% 3.3%
Demonstrate turther progress engagement score by 2% not met
and improvement in safety and Reduce Group LTI a Group LTI rate reduced by more than 40%
environmental performance by 40% (to 0.26%) (to 0.23%)
Reduce no of RTA's 8 Reduction in many RTA categories but
increase overall
3% improvement in = Target not achieved due to odour issuas
permit compliance at a number of landfill sites
gcore vs number of
permits ratio.
Launch Sustainability ~a Completed and launched March 2020
Report.
Roll out safety wm Safer Together Senior Leader
leadership training training completed
to all senior leaders
Employee Engagement Survey improvemnent m Score 58% (no improvement) 5.0% 0.0%
Deliver an improvement in the 2% points at Group level
group Employee engagement score (to BO%]
as demonstrated by the Annual
Employee Engagement Survey
Strategy Execution Progress as per a Partial achievement on M&A 5.0% 2.5%
Malke demonstrable progress approved strategy/five  m PET plant built
in delivery of the strategy year plan a Newhurst financial close complete
Strategy development and financing Strategy approved m Capital Markets day delivered strategy 5.0% 5.0%
Develop and gain approval for the and communicated
Group's growth strategy and ensure to markets including
appropriate funding arrangements deliverable plan for
are in place to underpin its delivery financing
Communications Board assessment-to  m Updated investor slide deck and 5.0% 5.0%
Develop and implement a proactive include policy thought sustainability strategy launch
comprehensive communications strategy  leadership and public
interest items (e.g.
safety, sustainability)
as well as IR-related
activities
Talent management and succession Board assessment m Annual talent review cornpleted with an 5.0% 5.0%
Implement a formal talent management additional focus on manager hi-potentials.
programume; further develop/improve Newly developed Biffa Advanced
the broader leadership team/identify Leadership Prograrmme coramenced.
appropriate successars for Group Executive
Team positions where relevant
30.0% 20.8%
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Directors’ Remuneration Report continued

Personal Performance Targets - CFO

Actual
Measure Target Performance Maximurn Payout
Safety and Sustainability Improve safety = Safety engagerent score reduced. Target 5.0% 3.3%
Demonstrate further progress engagement score by 2% not mat
and improvernent in safety and Reduce Group LTI by m Group LTI rate reduced by more than 40%
environrental performance 40% (to 0.28%) [to 0.23%)
Reduce no of RTA's m Reduction in many RTA categories but
increase overall
3% improvement in m Targel nul achieved due to odour issues
permit compliance at a number of landfill sites
score vs number of
permits ratio.
Launch Sustainability = Completed and launched March 2020
Report.
Roll out safety m Safer Together Senior Leader
leadership training training completed
ta all senior leaders
Employee Engagement Survey improvement ® Engagement score remained static. 5.0% 0.0%
Deliver an improverment in the group 2% points at Group level Target was not met
Employee engagement score as (to 60%]
demonstrated by the Annual
Employee Engagement Survey
Strategy Execution Progress as per m Partiai achievernent on M&A 5.0% 2.5%
Make dermonstrable progress approved strategy/ m PET plant buit
in delivery of the strategy five year plan m Newhurst financial close complete
Efficiency and Process Improvernent Near term Fusion sub m All delivered/progressing to plan 5.0% 5.0%
Reset Project Fusion projects delivered to
plan and longer term
delivery plan approved
and in plage
Financing To include: financing m Dutperformed budgeted working capital, 5.0% 5.0%
Deliver key initiatives to irnprove for strategy (e.g. equity irnproved terms of bonds, overdraft
the availability and cost of the raise), out-performance secured, commenced work for US
Group's financing of budgeted working private placernent bond
caplial pusilio,
improved terms of
bonds, securing access
to other pools of finance
where appropriate
Tnwestar Relatinns To include: improved m CMD delivered, sustainability 5.0% 5.0%
Develop and deliver a more proactive direct communications strategy launched
investor relations programmse with investors and
prospects [including
wehsite], Capital
Markets event, launch
of ESG/sustainability
strategy
30.0% 20.8%
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On the basis of the above performance, the Commmittee determined that payment of 20.8% for the CEQ and 20.8% for the CFD out of the
maximum of 30% for this part of the bonus was proportionate and reasonable in the circumstances. This performance resulted in the
following performance assessment for the year:

Weightings Outcormes
Michael
CEO/CFO Topham Richard Pike
Financial performance (% of potential] 70% 5b0.0% 55.0%
Strategic performance (% of potential] 30% 20.8% 20.8%
Total performance outcome (% of potential) 100% 75.8% 76.8%
Tatal performance outcome [% of salaryl 98.6% 83.5%

Vesting of Long-Term Incentive Awards (audited)

The PSP award granted on 3 July 2017 is partly subject to EPS performance to the year ended 27 March 2020 and partly based on TSR
performance to the date of the preliminary announcerent of results for the year. The performance conditions attached to this award
and performance against these conditions is as follows:

(i) Underlying EPS targets as to 50% of the award, and (ii) relative TSR targets as to the remaining 50% of the award. The details of these
targets are shown in the tables below:

Underlying EPS for 2018/20 financial year [60% of award) Portion of award vesting
Below 19.5p 0%
19.5p 25%
19.5p to 22.6p Pro-rata on straight-line basis between 25% and 100%
Above 22.5p 100%
Actual performance 23.6p
Vesting level 100%

Biffa's TSR? ranking vs the FTSE 250 [excluding financial

services companies and investment trusts] (50% of award] Portion of award vesting
Below median 0%
Median 25%
Between median and upper quartile Pro-rata on straight-line basis between 25% and 100%
Upper quartile 100%
Actual performance To be confirmed at end of performance period
Vesting level [estimated] 100%

2 TSR (calculated based on Biffa plc share price rnovernents, plus dividends reinvested into Biffa plc shares on the relevant ex-dividend dates, over the performance
period) is measured over the period from the date of grant to the date of the preliminary announcement of results for the 2019/20 financial year.

Based on the estimated vesting percentage above, details of the shares under award and their estimated value (based on the three-month
average share price at 27 March 2020 of 270.9 pence per share) are as follows:

Maximum Number Number Estirmated Face value Impact of

Number of shares of shares value at of awards share price

Executive of shares to vest tolapse vesting £2 vesting? on vesting?
Michael Topham 182,995 182,995 0 £495,733 £406,249 £89,485

1 Based on the three-month average share price to 27 March 2020,
2 Based on the number of shares vesting multiplied by the share price at the date of grant (222 pence).
3 Based on the estimated value at vesting, less the face value of awards vesting.

The awards also receive the value of dividend equivalents.
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Directors’ Report on Remuneration continued

EVP Awards (audited)

As described in last year's Annual Directors’ Report on Rernuneration, prior to the Campany’s admission to the London Stock Exchange
certain Directors were granted EVP Return Letters by WasteHoldeo 1 Limited (then the parent Company of the Biffa Group of companies]
in connection with a dispute with HMRC regarding the payment of landfill tax for certain of its operations in the UK {the EVP Dispute).
These EVP Return Letters were granted in recompense for the diminution in value of their interests in the Group resulting from the EVP
Dispute which was linked to incentive arrangements in existence prior to Admission, full details of which appear below in Note 34, on
page 150 of the Financial Statements. As part of the proceedings, the Company was required to pay HMRC approximately £63m shortly
following Admission (the EVP Paid Amount],

If the EVP Dispute is irrevocably settled in the Company’s favour and the EVP Paid Amount is unconditionally returned to the Company
(less any amnounts which the Group is required to pay in respect of costs incurred by HMRC or penaities or other associated costs nf the
EVP Dispute together with the EVP Interest payable (see below]] (the EVP Return), the EVP Return Letters shall be settled and these
Directors shall be entitled to a cash payment (less tax and national insurance contributions) under the EVP Return Letters as follows:

% of net EVP

Return to

which they

Director are entitled
Michael Topham 2.129
Michael Averill 0.184

Inthe event the EVE Dispute is irrevocably settled in favour of HMRC, then subject to the Group receiving a net reduction in the tax liability

of the Group (after taking into account any increase in the tax liability arising in respest of any profit and loss account credits in WasteHoldco
1Limited in respect of the EVP preference shares granted to certain shareholders prior to Admission (the Tax Deduction)] the EVP Return
Letters shall be cancelled and the Directors shall be entitled to a cash payment equal to a percentage of the Tax Deduction subjecttoa
maximurmn payment and a payment in respect of EVP Interest (see below) (1ess tax and social security contributions) as detailed below:

Maximum Tax

% of Tax Deduction Cash EVP Interest Tatal Max
Director Deduction Payment Payable Payment
Michael Topham 2.366 £236,559 £185,226 £421785
Michael Averill 0.215 £21,605 £16,839 £38,344

The Corapany was advised by HMRC in Novermnher 2017 that the remaining penalty interest of £8.7m, payable on the EVP Paid Amount,
was no longer due (EVP Interest]. Once the EVP Dispute has been irrevocably settled, the EVP preference shareholders shall be entitled
to receive a proportion of the EVP Interest in line with their shareholding and, the holders of the EVP Return Letters shall be entitled ta
receive EVP Interest (less tax and social security contributions), as detailed above,

Biffa was successiul in its appeal at the Upper Tax Tribunal hearing held in November 2019. HMKL hag appealed Whis docision to the
Court of Appeal.
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Statement of Directors’ Shareholding and Share Interests (audited)
For each Director, the total number of Directors’ interests in shares at 27 March 2020 was as follows:

Richard Michael Ken David Carol Gab
Pike Averill Lever Martin Chesney Barbaro
Number of Ordinary shares held
as at 27 March 2020 367,401 71,340 a2,777 25,000 6,500 -
Number of Ordinary shares held
as at 29 March 2019 368,046 71,340 52,777 25,000 5,500 -

1 Number of shares held includes 155 shares in respect of the Bitfa Share Incentive Plans SIP Award for Michael Tepham.

The shareholdings above include those held by Directors and their respective connected persons. There were no changes in the current
Directors' interests in shares between 27 March 2020 and 4 June 2020 other than those noted above. Under the share ownership guidelines,
the Executive Directors are required to build and maintain a shareholding equivalent to at least 200% of salary. At the 2020 year-end, Michael
Topharm complied with this requirement. Richard Pike's shareholding increased during 2019/20 and was equivalent to 198% of salary based

on the yvear end share price (175.4 pence).

PSP Awards Granted in the Year (audited)

The following conditional share awards were granted under the PSP in 20189:

Basis of award

Nurnber of

Face value of shares under

Director Date of grant [%ofsalary) awards atgrant award! Date of vesting
Michael Topharm 01 July 19 150% £742,500 358,564 04 Julz2
Richard Pike 01 July 19 126% £406,250 196,731 04 Jul22

1 Based on the three-day average share price of 206.5 pence to 30 June 2019.

These awards vest in 2022 subject to performance relating to (i) underlying EPS targets as to 50% of the award, and (ii) relative TSR targets as to the remaining

50% of the award. The details of these targets are shown in the tables below:

Underlying EPS for 2021/22 financial year (50% of award]

Portion of award vesting

Below 24p 0%
24p 25%
24pto 28p Pro-rata on straight-line basis between 25% and 100%
Above 28p 100%

Biffa’s TSR ranking vs the FTSE 250 (excluding financial services
companjes and investment trusts) [50% of award}

Portion of award vesting

Below Median
Madian
Between Median and Upper Quartile

Upper quartile

0%

25%

Pro-rata on straight-line basis between 26% and 100%
100%

3 TSR (calculated based on Biffa plo share price mavements, plus dividends reinvested into Biffa plc shares on the relevant ex-dividend dates, over the performance
period) is reeasured Sver the period from the date of grant to the date of the preliminary announcement of results for the 2021/22 financial year.

Awards Granted in the Year under the Sharesave Plan [audited)
During 2019, all employees, including the Executive Directors, were eligible to participate in the Sharesave Plan. This table details the

number of options granted to Richard Pilke under the Sharesave Plan:

Share price at  Exercise price Number of
Director Date of grant grant (£]) ey shares Date of vesting
Richard Pike 12 Jul 19 2.26 1.81 1,988 01Sep 22
1 Based on a20% discount to the share price at the invitation date.
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Directors’ Report on Remuneration continued

Outstanding Share Plan Awards (audited]
Details of all outstanding share awards made to Executive Directors are set out helow:

Awards Date of
Interest granted Awards Awards Interest vesting/
) Award Exercise Grant at inthe lapsed in vested in at Exercise
Director type FPrice (£] date 28/08/15 year the year the vear 27/05/20 period
Michael Topham PSP 0 20-Oct-18 361,111 - 84,905 276,206 - -
PSPt 0 03-Jul-17 182,985 - - - 182,985 01-Jul-20
PSP? 0 02-Jui-18 131,048 - - - 131,048 01-Jul-21
PSP 0 01-Oct-18 97,029 - - - 97,029 01-Jul-21
PSp? 0 01-Jul-18 - 359,664 - - 359564 01-Jul-22
sIp+ 0 21-Nov-18 150 5 - - 155 See Note 4
SAYE® 158 21-Jul17 2,278 - - - 2,278 01-Sep-20
Richard Pike PSP? 0 01-Oct-18 121,330 - - - 121,330 01-Jul-21
PSP 0 O1-Jul-18 - 136,731 - - 186,731 01-Jul-22
! SAYES® 181 12-Jul-18 1,988 1983 O01-8egp-22
1 Performance targets for the 2017 PSP awards are presented above.
? Performance targets for the 2018 PSP awards are presented in last year's Directors Remuneration Report.
3 Performance targets for the 2019 PSP awards are detailed above.
4 Award of free shares under the Biffa ple SIP 2016. The awards were granted on 21 Novermber 2016 and are subject fo the normal terms of an HMRC SIP. Awards

5

granted in the year relate to the award of related dividend shares under the SIP.
Awards granted under the Biffa plc 2017 Sharesave Scheme. Awards are based on a three-year savings contract.

The aggregate gains by all Directors during 2019/20 from share plan awards was £1,348,688 [(2018/19: £ nil). The market price of the
shares at the end of the financial year was 175.4 pence; the highest and lowest share price during the financial year were 307 pence
and 175.4 pence respectively.

Payments to Past Directors [audited)
Other than the payments made to Ian Wakelin outlined in the Single Total Figure Table there were no payments to past Directors in the
financial year 2019/20 [2018/19: nil).

Payments for Loss of Office (audited)
No payments were made to any Director in respect of loss of office in the financial year 2019/20 [2018/19: nil).
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Review of Past Performance and CEQ Remuneration Table (unaudited])

The graph below shows the TSR of the Company and the FTSE 250 Index (excluding Investment Trusts) over the period from Admission to
27 March 2020. This is congidered an appropriate comparator for Biffa, and this aligns with the use of the FTSE 250 in the TSR performance
measure for the PSP,

Biffa TSR vs FTSE 250 since Admission

B Biifa M FTSE 250 Excl. Investment Trusts

Total shareholder return (rebased to 100)
135
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{Source: Thomson Reuters)

The table below details certain elements of the CED's rernuneration since Admission.

Long-term

Single figure  Annual bonus incentive

oftotal pay-outas%of vestingratesas

remuneration maximum % of maximurm

2019/20 £1,687,422 75.9% 100%
2018/19 £1,819,483 82.4% 72.8%
2017/18 £1,220,437 90.1% ~
2018/17 £10,681,02! 84.5% -

1 Tt should be noted that £9,507,310 of the above amount relates to the bonus paid under the Management Incentive Plan which was in place from 2013 until the
Company's Admission and was therefore ‘one-off' in nature.

Percentage Change in Remuneration of the CEO (unaudited)
The table below presents the year-on-year percentage change in remuneration received by the CED, compared with the change in
remuneration received by all Biffa employees:

All Biffa

CEDO* employees

Salary -1.5% 4.6%
Short-term incentives -9.3% 30.8%
All taxable benefits -23.0% 10.9%

1 This percentage change reflects the change in the incumbent over the period.
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Directors’ Report on Remuneration continued

CEO to Emiployee Pay Ratio
The table below shows how the CEOQ's single figure remuneration (as taken from the single figure remuneration table on page 81) compares to
the equivalent single figure remuneration for full-time equivalent UK ernployees, ranked at the 25th, 50th and 75th percentile.

25th 75th

percentile Median pay percentile

Year Method pay ratia ratio pay ratio
2019/20 A 801 61:1 49:1

The relevant regulations provide thyee options which may be used to calculate the pay for the amployees at the 25th percentile, median
and 75th percentile. We have used Option A, following guidance that this is the preferred approach of some proxy advisors and institutional
shareholders. Option A captures all relevant pay and benefits for all employees in line with the single figure for remuneration calculated for
Exsputive Directors.

The ratios shown are representative of the PTE 25th percentile, median and 75th percentile pay for UK employees within the Group during
2019/20. Full-year pay data for the 2019/20 financial year has been used to calculate the ratios.

The pay for part-time ermployees has been grossed-up to one FTE.

The Committee has reviewed the employee data and believes the median pay ratio to be consistent with the pay, reward and progression
policies for the company's UK employees over the period.

The Chief Executive Officer's pay is based on the single figure of remuneration set out on page 81 of this report. Because alarge portion
of the Chief Executive Officer’s pay is variable, the pay ratio is heavily dependent on the outcomes of variable pay plans and, in the case
of long-term share-based awards, share price movements.

The tatal pay and benefits and the salary component of total pay and benefits for the employee at each of the 25th percentile, the median
and the 75th percentile are shown below:

Salary Total pay and benefits
25th 75th 26th 75th
percentile Median pay percentile percentile Median pay percentile
Year pay ratio ratio pay ratio pay ratio ratio pay ratio
2019/20 28:1 20:1 18:1 80:1 B61:1 49:1

Relative Importance of Spend on Pay (unaudited)

The table below details the change in total employee pay between financial years 2018/19 and 2019/20 as detailed in Note 7 to the Financial
Staternents, compared with distributions to shareholders by way of dividend, share buy-backs or any other significant distributions or
paymenta. Thoca figuras have haen calnulated in line with those in the audited Financial Statements.

2018/20 2018719

% change £'000 £000

Total gross employee pay 3.3% £2564.7m £246.5m
Distributions to shareholders 7.6% £18.3m £17.0m

Statement of Shareholder Voting {unaudited)
The table below shows the advisory vote on the 2018/19 Directors' Remuneration Report at the AGM held on 10 July 2019 and the binding vote
on the Directors' Remuneration Palicy at the AGM held on 19 July 2017:

AGM resolution Votes for % Vbtes against  Votes withheld
Remuneration Policy 192,592,197 89973 514,821 7,467,112
Remuneration Report 193,472,429 99.01 1,928,292 2,434

Implerentation of Policy for 2019/20 [unaudited information)
Base salary
Base salaries will be as follows (unchanged from the prior year):

Director 1 Apri1 2020 % Increase
Michael Topham £495,000 0%
Richard Pike £3256,000 0%

Any increases to salaries have been suspended and the salaries above are therefore unchanged frorm the prior year. As disclosed in the
Commuittea Chair's letter introducing this report, the Executive Directors along with other members of the management team, have agreed
a 20% reduction in the salary they will be paid from 1 April 2020 as part of the Company's mitigation against the COVID-19 crisis for the
duration of the period during which the Greup is participating in the CJRS.
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Benefits in Kind and Pension Provision
Benefits will be paid in line with the Directors’ Remuneration Policy. Details of the benefits received by Executive Directors are set out
in the single figure table on page 81. There isno intention to introduce changes to existing benefits in 2020/21.

Pension provision for Michae!l Topham and for Richard Pike will remain at 20% and 15% of base salary respectively. Contributions may
be made as cash supplements in full or in part.

Annual Bonus
The Committee had intended to operate the 2020/21 annual bonus in line with previous years. However, as disclosed in the Committee
Chair's letter introducing this report the scheme is suspended and will be reintroduced at the discretion of the Committee when appropriate.

If the scheme is reintroduced it will continue to be based on a maxima of 130% of salary for the Chief Executive Officer and 110% of salary
for the Chief Financial Officer which will be calculated on a pro-rata basis. 33% of any bonus earned will be deferred into shares for three
years to the extent that the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer do not satisfy the Share Ownership Guidelines on the bonus
payment date.

The Committee will consider the appropriate conditions to apply if the scheme is introduced, taking into account the evolving situation
at the time. In determining any payments, the Committee will consider affordability, and supporting disclosures will be made in next
year's report.

PSP Awards
A PSP award will be made in 2020 ta Michael Topham as Chief Executive Officer and Richard Pike as Chief Financial Officer, of shares

worth 150% of salary and 125% of salary respectively.

It is currently envisaged that the performance conditions will be a mix of EPS (50% of award) and relative TSR [50% of award). These are
measures which encourage the generation of sustainable long term returns to shareholders. Due to the current high level of uncertainty
surrounding setting suitably stretching EPS targets, the appropriate range has yet to be finalised but will be confirmed within & months
of the date of grant. If it does not prove possible to set a robust EPS range, the weighting of the TSR elernent will be increased to 100%.
Full details of the targets will be set out in an RNS announcement issued immediately after the PSP award is granted or subsequently

if the targets are determined later.

Biffa's TSR! ranking vs the constituents of the PTSE 250 (excluding financial

services companies and investment trusts) (50% of award) Partion of award vesting
Below Median 0%
Median 25%
Between Median and Upper Quartilg Pro-rata on straight-line basis between 256% and 100%
Upper Quartile 100%

1 TSR (calculated based on Biffa pic share price moverments, plus dividends reinvested into Biffa plc shares on the relevant ex-dividend dates, over the performance
period) is measured over the 3-year period from the date of grant.

The 2020 PSP awards will be subject ta a 2-year post vesting holding period.
Chairman and Non-Executive Director Fees
Ken Lever is entitled to a fee of £180,000 p.a. 85 Chairman [with no additional fee payable for chairing the Nomination Committee].

The Non-Executive Directors are entitled to a fee of £50,000 p.a., with an additional fee of £7,000 p.a. for each of the Senior Independent Director,
Chairs of the Audit Committee and Rermmuneration Committee and to the designated Non-Executive Director for workforce engagernent.

Any increases to fees have been suspended and the fees above are therefore unchanged from the prior year. The Chairman and Non-Executive
Directors have also volunteered to a 20% reduction in their fees for the duration of the period during which the Group is participating in the CJRS.

This report was reviewed and approved by the Board on 4 June 2020 and signed or its behalf by order of the Board.

Michael Averill
Chair, Remuneration Committee
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Directors’ Report

Directors’ Report

This Directors’ Report sets out the inforrmation required to be disclosed by the Cornpany in compliance with the Act, the UK Listing Rules and
the Pinancial Conduct Authority’s Disclosure and Transparency Rules (DTR). It forms part of the management report as required under the

DTR, along with the Strategic Report (pages 1-39) and other sections of this Annual Report and Accounts including the Corporate Govermance
Report (pages 40-86] all of which are incorporated by reference, as outlined in the table below.

Information Reported in Pages
Acquistions and disposals Strategic Report 13
Business model Strategic Report 2-3
Corporate Governance Report
and Staterment of Directors’
Corporate Governance Framework Responsibilities 45
Community and charitable giving Strategic Report 31
Directors’ conflicts of interest Corporate Governance Report 58
Directors’ share interests and remuneration Directors’ Report on Remuneration 81
Director training and development ‘Gorporate Governance Report 58
Diversity, equality and inclusion Strategic Report 30
Employee engagement Strategic Report 29
Employees with diabilities Strategic Report 30
Financial instruments Financial Statements [Note 19) 134
Future developments and strategic priorities Strategic Report 1213
Going conc¢ern statement Strategic Report 39
Greenhouse gas emissions Strategic Report 26
Prinicpal risk and risk management Strategic Report 34-38
Modern Slavery Statement Strategic Report 31
Non-Financial Information Statement Strategic Report 27
Results Consolidated Income Statement 102
Section 172 Statement Strategic Report 5
Stalkeholdet engagement Strategin Repart 4-5
Statement of Directors Responsibilities Directors Report a9
Viability Statement Strategic Report 38

Annual General Meeting

The Company's AGM will be held at 11:00atn on Thursday 18 July 2020 at its offices, Biffa pls, Coronation Road, Cressex, High Wycombe,

Bucks, HP12 3TZ. The Notice of the AGM accompanies the Annual Report and Accounts and js avajlable on the Company’s website at

www.biffa.couk/investors.

Articles of Association

The Company's Articles of Association may only be amended by a special resolution at a general meeting of the shareholders and can

he found on our wehsite www.biffa.couk

Branches

The Company dosas not have any branches outside of the UK.
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Change of Control

The Group has in place a £350m multi-currency revolving credit
facility (RCF} with a syndicate of 10 banks which is due ta mature
in March 2025, Under the terms of the RCF, if there is a change

of control of the Company then any lender may request that its
commitment be cancelled and a]l other outstanding amounts

be repaid to that lender. The Company is not aware of any cther
significant agreerments to which it is party that take effect, alter
or terminate upon a change of control of the Company following

a takeaver big.

There are no agreements between the Company and the Directors
or employees of the Group providing for compensation for loss of
office or employment following a takeover bid.

Charitable Donations
During the year, the Company made a charitable donation of
£100,000 to WasteAid. Further details can be found on page 31.

Company Registration
Biffa plc is a company incorporated in England and Wales with
company number 10336040,

Directors

Details of the Directors who served during the year are set out on
pages 42-43. The Company's Articles of Association provide that
all Directors will stand for re-election every three years but in
compliance with the Code all Directors at the AGM will retire and
present themselves for re-election to the Board.

The business of the Company is managed by the Board, which
may exercise all the powers of the Company subject toits Articles
of Association and the Companies Act 20086.

Directors’ Indemnities and Insurance

The Company's Articles of Association provide for the Directors and
officers of the Company to be appropriately indemnified subject to
the provisions of the Companies Act 2006. In addition, the Group
maintains liability insurance for its Directors and officers. Neither
the Company's indernnity nor insurance covers claims arising from
dishonesty or fraud.

Dividend

The interim dividend of 2.47 pence per share was paid on

20 December 2019. As announced on 25 March 2020, the Directors
are not recommending the payment of a dividend far FY20. For more
information see page 20.

External Auditor

So far as each Director is aware, there is no relevant information of
which the Company's External Auditor is unaware. Each Director
has taken all steps that ought to have been taken as a Director to
make themselves aware of any relevant audit information and to
establish that Deloitte LLP are aware of that information.

As detailed on page B2, the Audit Cormmittee recommended, and the
Board approved, the proposal that the current Auditor, Deloitte LLF,
be re-appointed as Auditor of the Company at the AGM. Resolutions to
re-appoint Deloitte LLP as the Cornpany's Auditor until the conclusion
of the AGM in 2021 and to authorise the Directors to determine their
remuneration will be proposed. to shareholders at the AGM.
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Political Donations
No political donations have been made during the financial year.

Post Balance Sheet Events
There have been no material events from 27 March 2020 to the date
of this Report.

Powers for the Company issuing or Buying Back its Shares
The Company was authorised by shareholders at the 2019 AGM

to allot shares up to a nominal amount of £833,333 and to

make market purchases of up to 25,000,000 of its own shares
(representing 10% of the issued share capital),

No shares were allotted or purchased under these authorities
during the year.

Share Capital

The Company's issued share capital as at the date of this Report
is composed of a single class of 250,000,000 ordinary shares of
1 pence each: each share carries the right to one vote at general
meatings of the Cormpany. The Company may vary the rights
attaching to its shares by special resolution, subject to the Articles
of Association and applicable laws and regulations.

The Articles of Association contain provisions governing the
ownership and transfer of shares. There are no restrictions on the
transfer of shares beyond those required by applicable law under
the Articles of Association or insider trading laws. In accordance
the Company's share dealing policy, the Directors and certain
emplovees are required to seek prior approval of the Company
before dealing in its shares.

The Cornpany is not aware of any agreerments between
shareholders that may result in restrictions on the transfer
of shares and/or voting rights.

On 4 June 2020, the Biffa plc Share Incentive Plan 2016 held
594,685 shares and the Biffa PSP plan held 2,481,169 shares

in the Employee Benefit Trust. The right to receive any dividend
has been waived by the Trustee of the EBT over the entire holding
of the trust and by Wealth Norminees Limited in respect of all
Biffa plc shares in their custodian account.

Employees who participate in the PSP and SIP and whose shares
remain in the Plan's trust give directions to the Trustee to vote on
their behalf by way of a Form of Direction.
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Directors’ Report continued

Bubstantial Shareholdings

The table below shows the holdings in the Company's ordinary shares that had been notified to the Company under the Disclosure and
Transparency Rules [DTR 5§). The information below was correct at the date of notification. It should be noted that these holdings may have
changed since the Company was notified. However, notification of any change is not required until an applicable threshold is ¢crossed.

As at 27 March 2020 As at4 June 2020
Holding of Holding of
issued issued
Number of share capital Number of share
Shareholder Direct/Indirect shares held % Direct/Indirect sharesheld  capital %
Avenue Europe International Management, L.P Direct 21,626,174 8.e5 Direct 21,447,472 8.58
Global Alpha Capital Management Indirect 17,914,683 717 Indirect 17914.663 717
Angelo, Gordon and Co Indirect 12,807,854 7186 Indirect 17,317,864 6.93
Goldman Sachs International Indirect 14,299,746 572 Indirect 16,689,258 6.84
Franklin Ternpleton Investmeants Indirect 13,667,264 543 Indirect 12,748,364 5.09
Legal and General Investrnent Management Indirect 13,409,608 5.36 Indirect 13,409,608 5.36
On benhalf of the Board.
. - Pausow)
Sarah Parsons ‘ﬂ\"d‘ ¢

Company Secretary Biffa plc
Registerad in England and Wales No. 10336040
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Statement of Directors’ Responsibilities

Statement of Directors’ Responsibilities in Respect

of the Annual Report and Accounts

The Directors are responsible for preparing the Annuai Report, the
Directors' Remuneration Report and the Group and Company Financial
Statements in accordance with applicable law and regulations.

Company law requires the Directors to prepare Financial Statements
for each financial year. Under that 1aw, the Directors are required

to prepare the Group Financial Statements in accordance with
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by
the European Union and Article 4 of the International Accounting
Standards Regulation and have elected to prepare the Company
Financial Statement in accordance with United Kingdom Generally
Accepted Accounting Practice (United Kingdom Accounting
Standards and applicable law], including FRS 101 ‘Reduced
Disclosure Frarmework'

Under company law, the Directors must not approve the Financial
Statements unless they are satisfied that they give a true and

fair view of the state of affairs of the Group and Company and of
their profit or loss for that period. In preparing these Financial
Statements, the Directors are required to:

m select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently;
w make judgements and estimates that are reasonable and prudent;

w present information, including accounting policies, in a
manner that provides relevant, reliable, comparable and
understandable information;

m inrespect of Group Financial Staternents, state whether they have
been prepared in accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the EU;

w inrespect of the Company Financial Statements, state whether
applicable UK accounting standards have been followed, subject
to any material departures disclosed and explained in those
staterments; and

® prepare the Financial Staternents on the going concern basis
unless it is inappropriate to presume that the Group and the
parent Company will continue in business.

The Directors are responsible for keeping adequate accounting
records that are sufficient to show and explain the Company’s
transactions and disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time
the financial position of the Company and enable them to ensure
that its Financial Statements cormply with the Companies Act
2006. They have general responsibility for taking such steps as are
reasonably open to them to safeguard the assets of the Group and
to prevent and detect fraud and other irregularities.

The Directors are responsible for the maintenance and integrity
of the corporate and financial information included on the
Company's website. Legislation in the United Kingdom governing
the preparation and dissernination of financial statements may
differ from legislation in other jurisdictions.

Biffa Annual Report and Accounts 2020

Statement of Directors’ Responsibility under

the Disclosure and Transparency Rules

Each of the Directors, as at the date of this report, confirms
to the best of their knowledge that:

m the Financial Statements, prepared in accordance with the
applicable set of accounting standards, give a true and fair
view of the assets, liabilities, financial position and profit
of the Group and the Company;

m the Strategic Report and the Directors’ Report include a fair
review of the development and performance of the business
and the position of the Group and the Company, together
with a description of the principal risks and uncertainties
that they face; and

m the Annual Report and Financial Statements, takenasa
whole, are fair, balanced and understandable and provide
the information necessary for shareholders to assess the
Group’s performance, business model and strategy.

This statement was approved by the Board on 4 June 2020.

Ken Lever Voo oo — ol aes

Chairman

4 June 2020
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Independent Auditor’s Report to the members of Biffa plc \

Report on the audit of the financial statements
1. Opinion

In our opinion:

= the financial statements of Biffa plc (the ‘parent company’) and its subsidiaries (the ‘group’) give a true and
fair view of the state of the group's and of the parent company’s affairs as at 27 March 2020 and of the group's
profit for the period then ended;

= the group financial statements have been properly prepared in accerdance with Internatiornal Financial
Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by the European Union and IFRSs as issued by the International
Accounting Standards Board (IASE];

m the parent company financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with IFRSs as adopted
by the European Union and as applied in accordance with the provisions of the Companies Act 2008; and

m the financial staterments have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act
2006 and, as regards the group financial statements, Article 4 of the IAS Regulation.

We have audited the financial statemnents which comprise:
GTOUP: '

= the consolidated income statement;

m the consolidated statarment of other comprehensive income;

m the consolidated statement of financial position;

® the consolidated statements of changes in equity;

& the consclidated statement of cash flows; and

w thoe related notop 1to 39 for tha ecnnsnlidaled financial statements;

Parent Company:

w the parent cormpany statement of financial position;
m the parent company statement of changes in equity; and
w the related notes 1 to 9 of the parent cornpany financial statements.

The financial reporting framework that has been applied in their preparation is applicable law and IFRSs as adopted
by the European Union and as regards the parent company financial statements, as applied in accordance with the
provisions of the Companies Act 2006.

2. Basisfor opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK) (ISAs (UK)] and applicable law.
Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the auditor's responsibilities for the audit of the
financial statements section of our report.

We are independent of the group and the parent company in accordance with the ethical requirerments that are
relevant to gur audit of the financial statements in the UK, including the Financial Reparting Council’s (the 'FRC's")
Fthical Standard as applied to listed public interest entities, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in
accordance with these requirernents. The non-audit services provided to the group and parent company for the year
are disclosed in note 8 to the financial statements. We confirm that the non-audit services prohibited by the FRC's
Ethical Standard were not provided to the group or the parent company.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is suificient and appropriate to provide a basis for pur opinion.
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3. Summary of our audit approach

Key auditmatters The Rey audit matters that we identified in the current year were:

m Landfill accounting

m Retirement benefit obligations and pension assets

m Asset impairment in the Resources and Energy division

w Onerpus contract provisions

a Capitalisation and classification of costs associated with Project Fusion
m Impact of COVID 19 on going concern and viability

The last two key audit matters are newly identified key audit matters in the current period. Project Fusion comprises of
the investment within a new ERP systermn which is entering its most active phases, where judgement is used to capitalise
material costs on a yearly basis.

As a consequence of the COVID-19 outbreak, which has severely affected the UK economy, there are financial reporting
impacts particularly with respect to key judgments, estimates, pension assets, going concern assumption and associated
disclogsures within the financial statements. In response to this, we performed an updated audit risk assessment and
identified the impact of COVID-19 on going concern and viability as a key audit matter.

Within this report, key audit matters are identified as follows:

Newly identified
Increased level of risk
Similar level of risk

Decreased level of risk

Materiality

Themateriality that we used for the group financial staternents was £4.4 million which was determined on a combined
basis considering revenue, underlying EBITDA and profit before tax, exceptional iterns and re-measurements (“adjusted
profit before tax™). This equates to 0.4% of group revenue; 2.5% of underlying EBITDA and 8.1% of underlying profit before tax.

Scoping

We performed full scope audits on 15 legal entities in the United Kingdom and specified audit procedures on one legal
entity located in Gibraltar, All United Kingdom entities are managed from one central jocation in the UK and all audit
work ig completed by the group audit team. These entities account for 98% of the group’s revenue, 96% of profit before
tax and 98% of net assets.

Significant
changesin
our approach

Apart from the changes to key audit matters as explained above there have been no other key changes in our approach.
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Independent Auditor’s Report to the members of Biffa plc continued

4, Conclusions relating to going concern, principal risks and viability statement

4.1. Going concermn

We have reviewed the directors’ statement in page 39 to the financial statements about whether they considered
it appropriate to adopt the gaing concern basis of accounting in preparing thern and their identification of any
material uncerlainties to the group’s and company's ability to cantinue to do se over a period of at least twelve

months from the date of approval of the financial statements.

We considered as part of our risk assessraent the nature of the group, its business model and related risks including
where relevant the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic and Brexit, the requirements of the applicable financial
reporting framework and the system of internal control. We evaluated the directors’ assessment of the group's
ability to continue as a going concern, including challenging the underlying data and key assumptions used

to make the assessment, and evaluated the directors’ plans for future actions in relation to their going concern
assessment; further details are set out in the impact of COVID 19 on going concern and viability key audit matter.

We are required to state whether we have anything material to add or draw attention to in relation to that statement
required by Listing Rule 9.8.6R(3] and report if the statement is materially inconsistent with our knowledge

obtained in the audit.

Going concern is the
basis of preparation

of the financial
statements that
assumes an entity will
remain in operation
for a period of atleast
12 months from the
date of approval of the
financial stateraents.

We confirm that we
have nothing material
toreport, add or draw
attention to in respect
of these matters.
Refer to this key audit
matter for procedures
performed and key
ohservations,

4.2, Principal risks and viability statement

Based solely on reading the directors’ statements and considering whether they were consistent with the
lnowledge we obtained in the gourse of the audit, including the knowledge obtained in the evaluation of the
directors’ assessment of the group’s and the company’s ability to continue as a going concern, we are required
to state whether we have anything material to add or draw attention to in relation to:

m the disclosures on pages 34-38 that describe the principal risks, procedures to identify emerging risks,
and an explanation of how these are being managed or mitigated;

m the directors’ confirmation on page 39 that they have carried out a robust assessment of the principal and
emerging risks facing the group, including those that would threaten its business model, future performance,
solvency or liquidity; or

m the directors' explanation on page 39 as to how they have assessed the prospects of the group, over what period,
which for Biffa is 3 years, they have done so and why they consider that period to be appropriate, and their
statement as to whether they have a reasonable expectation that the group will be able to continue in operation
and meet its liabilities as they fall due over the period of their assessmaent, including any related disclosures
drawing attention to any necessary qualifications or assumptions.

We are also required to report whether the directors' statement relating to the prospecls ul e group required
by Listing Rule 9.8.8R(3] i5 materially inconsistent with our knowledge obtained in the audit.

Viability means the
ability of the group to
continue over the time
horizon considered
appropriate by the
directors.

We confirm that we
have nothing material
toreport, add or draw
attention to inrespect
of these matters.
Refer to this key audit
matter for procedures
parformed and key
observations.
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6. Keyaudit matters

Kev audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the financial staternents
of the current period and include the most significant assessed risks of material misstatement {whether or not due to fraud) that we
identified. These matters included those which had the greatest effect on: the overall audit strategy, the allocation of resources in the
audit; and directing the efforts of the engagement team.

Throughout the course of our audit we identify risks of material misstatement (‘risks']. We consider both the likelihood of arisk and the
potential magnitude of a misstatement in making the assessment. The extent of the risk determines the level of evidence we seek in
providing assurance that the associated financial statement itern is not materially misstated.

These rmatters were addressed in the context of our audit of the financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon,
and we donot provide a separate opinion on these matters.

5.1. Landfill accounting —

Keyauditmatter Accountbalances: Provisions. Please refer to note 21 to the financial statements. The Audit Committee has included
description their assessment of this risk on page 59 and is included within the key sources of estimation uncertainty in Note 1.
For specifics of the group'’s accounting policy please see page 117.

As at 27 March 2020 the group holds a landfill restoration and aftercare provision of £66.6 million (29 March 2019: £67.4 million).

The group operates a nurber of landfill sites in the UK. A significant cost of owning and operating a landfill site in the
UK arises after the land filling operation ceases due to the constructive and legal obligation to restore sites and then to
care for them until it can he demonstrated that they present no ongoing risk to the environment. The liabilities extend
until the waste is considered to be inert, which is generally assumed to be up to 60 years following closure of the site.
The group makes the provision, within the financial statements, for such long-term obligations through its provisions for
restoration. The level of costs expected are uncertain and can vary significantly from site to site. Biffa uses internal and
external experts to help determine the total expenditure required to remediate sites.

Asthese provisions arise in connection with an asset, under IAS 16 “Property, Plant and Equipment” the costs are
capitalised and depreciated over the remaining life of the associated asset.

The key audit matter arises from a nuraber of estimation uncertainties which exist in relation to the level of the provision
and depreciation required. These include the appropriateness of the total cost and void data as well as the accuracy of
the underlying calculations with the key variables being gross cost assumptions, void assumptions and the discount rate
applied to the forecast cashflow.

As part of our assessment of risk of material misstatements due to fraud, we evaluated which of the judgements and
assumptions in landfill provision might give rise to potential fraud risks. We have focused our audit procedures to detect
the inflation of performance through the manipulation of the provision.

How the scope Our audit respanse focused on verifying and challenging the underlying data and key assumptions used by managernent
of our andit in calculating the restoration and aftercare provisions.
responded to the

key audit matter As part of the audit we obtained and inspected the experts’ reports for consistency with publicly available information

and their reflection in the forecasts prepared. We have also assessed the competence, objectivity and independence of
the internal and external experts.

We performed procedures to understand the adequacy of the design, implerentation and tested the operating
effectiveness of controls in place over the completeness and accuracy of accounting for landfill provisions.

We assessed and challenged the assumptions and judgements in management's calculations with reference to market
and historical data, this included discount rates applied in the forecast cash flows. We independently calculated an
appropriate discount rate range and used this to assess management’s rate. We performed a sensitivity analysis of the
environmental provision utilising our independently calculated range. We also tested the mathematical accuracy of the
calculations prepared including the reversal or utilisation of provisions in the current period.

Furthermore we performed an assessrment of the reasonableness of the forecast earnings, that underpin the cash flows
used in the calculation of the provision, for a sample of sites with comparison to historical financial information and
agreement to budget; tested landfill related provisions through analytical reviews; and re-performed the arithmetical
accuracy of the cost of the provision.

Key observations Whilst we considered management's assumptions to lie towards the optirmistic end of the reasonable range, based on the
work performed as outlined above we conclude the assumptions to be appropriate and concur with managerment that the
level of landfill provision is adequate.

We are satisfied with the group’s related disclosures of environmental provisions in light of the underlying assumptions
and accounting judgments made.
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Independent Auditor's Report to the members of Biffa plc continued

5.2. Retirement benefit obligations and pension assets

Key audit matter
description

How the scope
of our audit
responded to the
key audit matter

Key observations

Account balance: Pensions and other post-retirement benefit obligations and associated assets. Refer to note 29
to the financial statements. The Audit Committee has included their assessrnent of this risk on page 59 and
isincluded within the key sources of estimation uncertainty in Note 1. For specifics of the group's accounting
policy please see page 117.

The group operates several defined benefit pension schemes which are accounted for under IAS 19 (“Employment
Benefits"), At 27 March 2020, the group have recognised a net defined benefit surplus arising from the defined benefit
scheres of £116.7 million (29 March 2019: £79.0 million). Included within this figure is a gross defined benefit obligation of
£485.9 rnillion [2018: £523.8 million), which comprised of valuations of property and alternative investments which as at
27 March 2020 make up £80.9 million [2019: £92.8 million] out of scheme assets of £599.3 million (2019: £587.6 million),

Pensiaon accounting is a specialist area requiring the exercise of significant management judgement and the use of
technical expertise to determine the surplus or deficit of the scheme in accordance with generally accepted actuarial
practices. The assumptions used in valuing the defined benefit pension liabilities including the discount rate, yield
curves, mortality assumption, inflation level, pension increase and measures of longevity are complex and changes to
the assumptions can have a material impact on the value of pension liabilities.

The COVID-19 pandemic has resulted in the valuation of certain property assets being subject to increased uncertainty.
In addition the valuation of certain alternative investrmments including those held in private equity portfolios are subject to
an unusually high level of uncertainty due to the most recent valuations on them being perforraed prior to the significant
economic impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic. Management obtained updated valuations of these assets at the balance
sheet date and provided relevant disclosures regarding the inaletial uncertainty inherent in the valuation in note 29 of
the financial staterments.

Management also determined to account for certain local government pension schemes previously accounted for as
defined contribution schemes on the basis of materiality as defined benefit schemes in the current year. This is a key
audit matter which reguires significant judgement to determine the correct accounting treatment of these schemes
and associated reirnbursable assats.

We performed walk through procedures to evaluate the adequacy of the design and implementation controls in place
over the accounting of retirerment benefit obligation.

We tested the significant judgernents rmade by third party actuaries and assessed their competence and independence.
We also involved our internal actnarial experts to assess the key assumptions applied in determining the pension
obligation for the schemes, and determined whether the key assumptions are reasonabie, The assessment included
reviewing and challenging available yield curves, discount rate, inflation and mortality data to recalculate a reasonahie
benchmark for the key assumptions. We challenged management to understand the sensitivity of changes inkey
assumptions and quantitied the impact of illustrative benchrnark rates that could be used in their calculations

Additionally we considered the independence, objectivity and competence of the independent actuaries engaged by
management to perform valuations of the relevant schemas. We also tested a sample of the data used in the actuarial
valuation, as well as assessed the basis on which perision surpluses were recognised. The latter involved agreeing
related terms to the deeds of the relevant group pension scheme.

We also engaged internal spiecialists to challange management’s valuation of scheme assets, in particular the property
and gertain alternative investments assets. Gur work has included assessing the reasonableness of the valuation
methodologies applied, reviewing publically available information on these assets, comparing the valuations to
internal benchmarks and confirmation of inputs nsed hy management to determine the asset values. In response to
the ‘material valuation uncertainty' in investment properties as a result of COVID-19, we also assessed how it impacts
upon sensitivities of future sources of estimation uncertainty. We reviewed the appropriateness of new key estimates
disclosures in note 1 and the associated sensitivity analysis in note 29.

With regards to the inclusion of the lacal governrnent pension schere and associated reimbursable assets, we assessad
the appropriateness of the accounting treatment with comparison to others within the industry, and through consultation
with inteynal specialists. We also evaluated the valuation of the reimbursable asset with consultation with internal
specialists, and reviewed the terms of the contract to assess whether the calculations were appropriate.

Basad on the work performed as outlined above, we are satisfied that the methodologies and other key actuarial
assumptions applied in relation to determining the pension valuation, when taken in aggregate, fall within our
internally developed reasonable range.

Whilst we note increased estirnation uncertainty in relation to property investments as a result of Covid-19,
we considered the disclosures in notes 1 and note 28 to be reasonable.
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5.3. Assetimpairment in the Resources and Energy division —

Key audit matter
description

Account balance: £1,046.8 million. Refer to note 12 to the financial statements. The Audit Committee has included
their assessment of this risk on page 59 and is included within the key sources of estimation uncertainty in Note 1.
For specifics of the group'’s accounting policy please see page 117.

As at 27 March 2020 the group held non-current assets of £1,046.8 million (29 March 2019: £856.6 million) which could be
at risk of impairment, including a goodwili balance of £132.2 miilion (2018: £128.2 million] arising as a result of the previous
group restructurings and acquisitions. The group carries different classes of intangible assets including, gas reserves,

brand name and customer contracts. Additionally, the group has classes of tangible assets. The carrying value of these is
dependent on future cash flows and if these cash flows do not meet the group’s expectations there is risk that the assets will
be impaired. The impairment reviews performed by the group contain a number of significant estimates including energy
prices, gate fees, forecast tonnage prices, gas yield projections, long-term growth and discount rates. Management relies on
anumber of third party experts to value a number of these key estimates.

Changes in these assumptions can have a significant irmpact on the headroom available in the impairment calculations.
In the current period, two generating units within the Resources and Energy divisions were identified to have low levels of
headroom and high sensitivity to key inputs. The group has incorporated a COVID-19 risk adjustment across both divisions
to reflect the associated risks in the group’s modelling based on reasonable and supportable information available to
management at year end.

How the scope
of our audit
responded to the
key audit matter

We held discussions with management to understand the process that the group followed in its asset impairment
assessment. Following these discussions we assessed the design and implementation of the controls that management
operates over the process.

We reviewed tha forecast reports provided by management’s experts for consistency with other third party experts,
publicly availahle information and the reflection in the cashflow forecasts. We assessed the independence, objectivity,
and competency of the internal and external experts used.

We evaluated the accuracy of future cash flow forecasts with reference to recent performance, trend analysis and an
assessment of historical forecasting accuracy of their forecasts against actual outturn that underpin the cash flows
used in the assessment.

Having ascertained the extent of change in those assurptions that either were individually or collectively would
be required for the goodwill and intangible assets to be impaired, we considered the likelihood of such movements
in those key assumptions arising.

We involved our internal valuation specialists to determine an acceptable range of discount rates utilising market
comparable information and compared the rate calculated by management. We challenged management on their long
term growth rates and compared them to those used by comparable competitors. We assessed whether they fell within
areasonable range of external market data. Where they did not, we applied our independent view of a more appropriate
rate to management's forecast. We also tested the mathematical accuracy of the calculation as performed.

We validated the integrity of management's impairment model through testing the mechanical accuracy and verifying
the application of the input assumptions. We also evaluated the process management undertook to prepare the cash
flow forecasts in its impairment model including agreement with the latest Board approved plans and management
approved forecasts.

We considered reasonable possible changes in assurmptions to challenge the appropriateness of management’s
assessment of reasonable possible change scenarios. Our challenge was informed by input from certain of our
internal valuation specialists, utilising their knowledge and expertise.

Key observations

Whilst we considered management's assurmptions tolie towards the optimistic end of the reasonable range, based on
the work performed as outlined above we conclude the assurnptions to be appropriate and concur with management
that the key estimates are materially accurate.

We are satisfied that the disclosures in notes 13 and 14 appropriately highlighted the reasonable possible changes in
key assumptions to the recoverable amounts of the cash generating units within the Resource and Energy divisions.
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Independent Auditor's Report to the members of Biffa plc continued

5.4. Onerous contract provisions

Key audit matter
desgription

Account balances: Provisions. Please refer 1o note 21 to the financial statements. The Audit Committee has included
their assessment of this risk on page 59 and is included within the key sources of estimation uncertainty in Note 1,
For specifics of the group’s accounting policy please see page 117.

Certain of the group’s contracts are onerous and long-term in nature, These contracts can be complex and contain key
performance indicator clauses where penalties may be incurred in the event of non-corpliance. The group is therefore
required to make operational and financial assumptions to estimate future losses over periods that can extend beyond
seven years. In the period ending 27 March 2020, the provision against onerous contracts reduced to £15.4 million [2019:
£17.1 million).

Variability of contract penalties, underlying delivery costs, commodity prices applied and customer claims or disputes
can put additional pressure on margins and an future contract profitability, giving rise to onerous contract provisions.
The prediction of future events over extended periods contains inherent risk and the outcome of customer and sub-
contractor claims is uncertain and involves a high degree of management estimation.

Due to the size and nature of the onerous provision and management’s judgements and estimates used in forecasting
future financial performance, we have determined this is a key audit matter. The key sources of estimation uncertainty
are in relation to the Retail Price Index (RPI), commodity pracess applied and unavoidable costs under the contracts.

How the scope
of pur audit
responded to the
key audit matter

We performed procedures to assess the design and implementation of controls in place to identify contracts which may
be onerous, and to determine whether the potential liability is appropriately accounted and disclosed in the group's
financial staterments. We performed analytics on contract margins to identify unusual or unexpected trends and to
assess whether management’s process had identified all onerous and problematic contracts.

Tor the identified onerous contracts, we obtained and read the key contractual terms to evaluate whether revenue was
recognised in accordance with these terms and whether it is supported by evidence of service delivery. We read and
understood the contract penalty clauses and evaluated the cornpleteness of penalties through discussions with contract
managers and reading minutes of meetings.

Wa assessed each of tha key assumptions underpinning management's foracasts to quantify enerous contract provisions
and independently sensitised management's model. We evaluated the accuracy of future forecasted cash flow forecasts
with reference to recent performance, trend analysis, an assessiment of historical forecasting accuracy and operationat
improvernents against the contracts.

Additionally, we assessed the forecast assumptions used by management around RPL, commodity values against extarnal
market data and other rates in the model checked against underlying signed contracts and agreements. We also tested the
appropriateness of the discount rate used to present value the obligation, evaluating whether the rates used appropriately
reflect the risk in the underlying cash flows.

We reviewed the models created by management for arithmetical accuracy and the approach taken in relation to the
recent IAS 37 “Provisions, Contingent Liabilities, and Contingent Assets” amendments published by the Financial
Reporting Council (“FRC™) in May 2020.

Key observations

We considered the level of provisioning to be acceptable and in accordance with IAS 37 “Provisions, Contingent Liabilities,
and Contingent Assets. We are satisfied with the group's related disclosures of thaese oneorous gontracts in light of the
underlying assumptions and accounting judgrnents made.
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5.5. Capitalisation and classification of costs associated with Project Fusion x4

Key audit matter
description

Account balances: Intangible assets. Please refer to note 13 to the financial statements. The Audit Gommittee has
included their assessment of this risk on page 59 and is included within the key sources of estimation uncertainty
in Note 1. For specifics of the group’s accounting policy please see page 117,

Inthe year ended 27 March 2020 management hold a net book value of £14.1 million of intangible assets in relation
to costs capitalised under the IT infrastructure madernisatian Project Fusion. Amounts capitalised included internal
development costs of £15.9 million (2018: £17.4 million).

We identified this as a key audit matter due to the significant amounts invested and the level of judgement involved,
for example in considering whether internal costs should be capitalised, existing assets being potentially impaired
(due to technolagy being superseded) and also the appropriateness of the useful economic life assigned to project
assets. As assessment of useful life or potential impairment of assets requires cansiderable judgement including
the proposed benefits and has an impact on the amounts recorded as an expense in the Income Staternent, there

is a potential risk of misstatement due to fraud or error.

In the current yvear our audit procedures also considered the risk of impairment in the context of significant sums
being invested, the change in the systems integrator resetting projected costs and the fast pace of development. New
technology could supersede previously capitalised costs or inappropriate amortisation rates could be used. Given
the current year developments, we challenged management’s assessment of the impact of COVID-13 on the control
environment and cash flow forecasts.

How the scope
of our audit
responded to the
key audit matter

We held discussions with management to understand the process that the group followed in the recognition of costs
associated with Project Fusion and their process for assessing impairment, for example a half-yearly review of project
status involving project managers and finance. Following these discussions we assessed the design and implementation
of the controls that managerent operates over the pracess.

We compared a sample of costs capitalised to external invoices or tiresheets, where appropriate, to assess whether
costs have been appropriately capitalised, by reference to the recognition criteria of the applicable accounting standards,
including challenging the group's assessment of the technical feasibility of the related assets.

We also met with project managers responsible to inform our assessment of the feasibility and economic benefits of

the projects, and to identify any indicators of impairment. We assessed the reasonableness of the assumptions used in
managerment's impairment review, including corroborating key inputs such as farecast costs and benefits, to internal
performance reporting and knowledge gained performing our other audit procedures, Specifically in relation to recoverability,
we challenged the group's assessment of which assets represent inefficient spend and should therefore be discontinued.

Key observations

We consider the capitalisation and classification of Project Fusion related costs to be appropriate and fairly disclosed
in the financial statements.
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Independent Auditor’s Report to the members of Biffa plc continued

5.6. Impact of COVID 19 on going concern and viability .

Key audit matter
description

How the scope
of our audit
responded to the
key audit matter

The COVID-19 pandemic has had a significant impact on the UK economy with consequences to the judgements and
estimates made by the group, principally in relation to the valuation of certain pension assets. Refer to the going
concern assureption in note 1 to the financial statements and the Auvdit Committee's discussion on page 59.

Prom February 2020 the scale and impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on the global econormy and markets in which the
group operates has increased significantly. This has impacted the results of the group for the 2020 financial year to date
and is expected to continue to impact the group for the remainder of 2020, albeit the severity of the impact is expected
to reduce over time.

A risk was also identified in relation to the irpact of the pandemic on the group's cash flows and liquidity and accordingly
its ability to continue as a going concern. In order to conclude that it is appropriate for the financial staternents to ba drawn
up on a going concern basis and on the viability of the Group, management have performed a detailed bottom-up analysis
of the impact of COVID-19 on revenue, profit and cashflows including cost rneasures given the period of uncertainty.

In response Management has agsessed the completeness of accounting considerations across the group and determined
that the primary risks that arose frorm the COVID-19 pandemic related to the valuation of unquoted pension assets,
particularly certain assets in the property and alternative investment portfolios which are subject to increased valuation
uncertainties. The key judgements related to the valuation of certain unguoted pension assets are discussed in the
'retirement benefit obligations’ key audit matter.

In doing so, management have made estimates and judgements that are critical to the outcome of these considerations,
such as the speed of macroeconomic recovery and the guantum and timing of collected tonnages over the next tweive
months. This analysis has been used in conjunction with an assessment of the group’s liquidity and consideration of loan
covenants. Management have a reasonable expectation that the group has adequate resources to continue in operational
existence for the foreseeable future and have therefore adopted the going aoncern basis of accounting in preparing the
financial statements.

We held discussions with management to understand the process that the group has followed in respect of the going
concern and viability assessment. Following these discussions we assessed the design and iraplementation of the
controls that management operates in the process.

We assessed bath the baseline going concern model prepared by management, and the COVID-18 overiay adjustments,
which have been used to sensitise the base case model.

In relation to the baseline model, we agreed the key inputs including EBITDA and net debt values back to board approved
budgets. In addition, we considered the historical accuracy of the budgeting process to assess the reliability of the data.

Specifically, in relation to the COVID-19 overlay, we obtained managernent’s COVID-19 analysis and chalienged the
underlying assurmptions used with group management. This included considetalion of the quantum ond timing of
cash flows and assessing long-term growth assumptions against Bank of England and OBR projections. Further this
involved an understanding of the mitigating cost actions being taken, including thase involving local government
assistance. We challenged a these assurnptions based on pur understanding of the business and our knowledge of
the industry sectors in which the group operates.

In conjunction with the above we reviewed management’s analysis of both liquidity and loan covenant compliance

to assess whether any breaches are anticipated over the period of assessrnent. As the results for April and May 2020
have becorne available, we have updated our analysis to reflect the most recent data. From this, we have rebased our
reasonable worst case to build upon current levels of cash and drawdowns on the current facilities in place. We have
focused on the working capital cash flow and assessed the actual movements.

In relation to covenant compliance we assessed the stress testing performed on management’s adjusted baseline
model and considered to what extent sufficient headroorn exists to absorb any further downside risk in relation to
both EBITDA and net debt. We have performed further analysis on the levels of overdue debt held by the Group and
the plans in place with key customers 1o assess the recoverability of debtor balances and the impacts to forecasted
cash flows. We also reviewed the appropriateness and feasibility of management’s mitigations in the case of a
reasonable worst case scenario in order to meet covenant compliance.

Lastly, we reviewed the adequacy of the group’s disclosures in relation to the impact of COVID-19 on going concern
and appropriateness of the sensitivity analysis presented in the notes of the financial statements.

Key observations

Our conciusion on the valuation of certain pension assets is set out in our ‘net pension obligation’ key audit matter.

Our conclusion on going concern is set out in the ‘Canclusions relating to going concern, principal risks and viability
statement’ section of this teport. We are satisfied that appropriate disclosures are provided in the Annual Report and
the notes of the financial statements.

We concluded that management's disclosures included in nate 1 to the accounts in respect of the key judgements and
areas of estimation uncertainty are appropriate.
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6. Ourapplication of materiality

6.1. Materiality

We define materiality as the magnitude of misstaternent in the financial statements that makes it probable that the economic decisions
of a reasonably knowledgeable person would be changed or influenced. We use materiality both in planning the scope of our audit work
and in evaluating the results of our work.

Based on our professional judgement, we deterrnined rateriality for the financial statements as a whole as follows:

Group financial statements

Parent company financial staternents

Materiality

£4.4 million [2019: £4.0m)

£1.8 million (2019: £1.7m)

Basis for
determining
materiality

Materiality has been determined with reference to revenue, underlying
EBITDA and profit before tax, exceptional items and re-measurements
[“adjusted profit before tax™). The materiality determined of £4.4 million
equates to 0.4% (2019: 0.3%] of revenue.

In making this determination, we calculated an adjusted profit before
tax as follows:

m taking the statutory profit before tax;

m adding back items ciassed as exceptional in note 3; and

m adjusting the effect of the change in discount rate on aftercare
provisions, so that its impact on adjusted profit represents a five
vear normalised average figure.

The Company rmateriality was determined
on the basis of net assets and equates to 0.6%
[2018: 0.6%) of the Company’s net assets.

Rationale for
the benchmark
applied

The business is currently highly acquisitive, and therefare profit before
tax is very low in the overall context of the balances within the financial
statermnents. We believe that using a materiality based on these benchmarks
reflects critical underlying measures of the group which is given substantial
prominence throughout the annual report and reflacts the key metrics
used by analysts in their reports and comnmunications to shareholders
and investors, as well as the communications of peer companies.

In calculating an adjusted profit before tax figure, we removed exceptional
itermns as these are not reflective of the underiyving performance of the
Group. We consider that the impact of the change in discount rate on the
aftercare provision is a recurring itern and have therefore included it in our
calculation; however, because of its volatility, we have taken an average
over five years. We consider this measure suitable having considered
also other benchrmarks: our materiality equates to 27% (2019: 2.7%) of
Underlying EBITDA, 1.1% (2019: 1.1%) of Net Assets, 8.8% [2019: 8.8%) of
operating profit; and 0.5% (2019: 0.5%) of revenue.

As the Company is non-trading and operates
primarily as a holding company for the
group’s trading entities, we believe that the
net asset position is the most appropriate
benchmark to use, The entity is not in itself
profit-oriented. The strength of the balance
sheet is the key measure of financial health
that is important to shareholders since the
prirmary concern of the parent company is the
payment of dividends and servicing of debt.

Adjusted PBT
£71.7m
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£4.4m

Cormponent materiality
range of £3.5m to £1.50m

Audit Committee
reporting threshold £0.22m
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Independent Auditor's Report to the members of Biffa plc continued ‘

6.2, Performance materiality

We set performance materiality at a level lower than materiality to reduce the probability that, in aggregate, uncorrected and undetected
misstatements exceed the materiality for the financial statements as a whole. Group performance materiality was set at 80% of group
materiality for the year ended 27 March 202G (2019: 70%]. In determining performance materiality, we considered our cumulative
experience from prior year audits, our risk assessment, including cur understanding of the entity and its environment, the quality

of the control environment and the history of uncorrected misstaternents in previous years.

6.3. Error reporting threshold

We agreed with the Audit Commitiee that we would report to the Committee all audit differences in excess of £0.22 million (2019: £0.20 million),
as well as differences below that threshold that, in our view, warranted reporting on qualitative grounds. We also report to the Audit Committee
on disclosure matters that we identified when assessing the overall presentation of the financial staterments.

7. An overview of the scope of our audit

7.1. Identification and scoping of components

Biffa primarily operates in the United Kingdorn; the group has two active overseas entities based in Gibraltar that provide insurance services
tothe group. In the prior year this component was hased in Malta, however in response to Brexit the group decided to move the company to
Gibraltar. However our audit approach has not changed in this respect.

We consider the statutory reporting structure to reflect the components of the group as this is how management monitor and control the
business. The materiality and scope of work for each entity has been assessed based upon its significance and contributions to the group. Audit
procedures are then performed based upon the level of scope identified.

Based on this assessment, we performed full scope audits on 15 (2019: 15) legal entities and specified audit procedures on one (2019: one] legal
entity located in the United Kingdom and Gibraltar. Al! United Kingdom entities are managed from one central location in the UK and all audit
work is completed by the group audit team. 1'he full scope and specified sudit provedures entities account for 03% (2019: 98%) of the group’s
revenue, 98% (2019: 98%) of profit before taxation and 99% (2019: 98%) of net asseats.

In addition to the work performed at a component level the group audit team also performs audit procedures on the parent company financial

statements including but not limited to corporate activities such as treasury and pensions as well as on the consolidated financial statements

themselves, including entity level controls, litigation provisions, the consolidation, financial statement disclosures and risk assessment work |
on components not included elsewhere in the scope of our audit. In addition we carried out review procedures to confirm our conclusion that ‘
there were no significant risks of material misstatement of the aggregated financial information of the remaining components not subject toa

full scope audit or specified audit procedures.

Full audit scope 98% Fuil audit scope a6% Full audit scope g97%
Specified audit procedures 0% Specified audit procedures 2% Specified audit procedures 1%
Review at group level 2% Review at group level 2% Review at group level 2%

7.2. Our consideration of the control environment

We have taken a controls reliance approach on landfill accounting, revenue recognition, fixed assets and financial reporting by testing
whether key controls on these areas were aperating effectively during the period. We have not taken a controls reliance approach over a
number of other areas: asset impairment, onerous contracts, Project Fusion, retirerment benefit obligations, expenditure and payroll. The
control improvements that are identified in relation to these areas are reported to management and the Audit Committee as appropriate.
Managerment determines their response to these observations and continues to monitor their resolution with reporting to and oversight
from the Audit Committee. In the current year, we have highlighted the potential to enhance the formality of the control and process
docurmentation including evidencing their operation. We have taken a substantive audit approach on all other areas not mentioned above.

7.3. Working with other auditors

A senior member of the group audit team oversaw the Deloitte component team's work on the Gibraltar entity. We included them in cur team
briefings, discussed the risk assessment, attended the closing meeting and reviewad their audit working papers. In regsponse to the COVID-18
pandemic and restrictions on in person meetings after the year-end, frequent calls were held between the group and the component team
and remote access to relevant documents was provided.
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8. Other information
The directors are responsibie for the other information. The other information comprises the information included in the annual report,

other than the financial statements and our auditor's report thereon.

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and, except to the extent otherwise explicitly stated in our
report, we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the financial staternents, our responsibility is toread the other information and, in doing so, consider
whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or
otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If we identify such material inconsistencies or apparent material misstaternents, we are required to determine whether there is & material
misstatement in the financial statements or a material misstatement of the other information. If, based on the work we have performed,
we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact.

In this context, matters that we are specifically required to report to you as uncorrected material misstatements of the other information
include where we conclude that:

a Fair, balanced and understandable - the statement given by the directors that they consider the annual report and financial statements
taken as a whole is fair, balanced and understandable and provides the information necessary for shareholders to assess the group’s
position and performance, business model and strategy, is materially ingonsistent with our knowledge obtained in the audit; or

m Audit committee reporting - the section describing the work of the audit committee does not appropriately address matters
communicated by us to the audit commmittee; or

m Directors' statement of cormpliance with the UK Gorporate Governance Code - the parts of the directors’ statement required under the
Listing Rules relating to the company’s compliance with the UK Corporate Governance Code containing provisions specified for review by
the auditor in accordance with Listing Rule 9.8.10R(2) do not properly disclose a departure from a relevant provision of the UK Corporate
Governance Code.

We have nothing to report in respect of these matters.

9. Responsibilities of directors

As explained more fully in the directors’ responsibilities statement, the directors are responsible for the preparation of the financisl staternents
and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view, and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatemnent, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, the directors are responsibie for assessing the group's and the parent company’s ability to continue
as a going concern, disclosing as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the
directors either intend to liquidate the group or the parent company or ta cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

10. Auditor's responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s repart that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance,
but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs {UK) will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be
expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.

Details of the extent to which the audit was considered capable of detecting irregularities, including frand and non-compliance with laws
and regulations are set out below.

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements is located on the FRC's website at:
www.frc.org.ult/auditorsresponsibilities. This description forms part of our auditor's report.
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Independent Auditor’'s Report to the members of Biffa plc continued

11. Extent to which the audit was considered capable of detecting irregularities, including fraud

We identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial staterments, whether due to fraud or error, and then design
and perforrm audit procedures responsive to those risks, including obtaining audit evidence that is suificient and appropriate to provide
a basis for our opinion.

11.1. Identifving and assessing potential risks related to irregularities
In identifying and assessing risks of raterial misstatemaent in respect of irregularities, including fraud and non-compliance with laws and
regulations, we considered the following:

m thenature of the industry and sector, control environment and business performance including the design of the group’s remuneration
policies, key drivers for directors' remuneration, bonus levels and performance targets;

m results of our enquiries of management, internal audit, and the Audit Cornrnittee about their own identification and assessment of the
risks of irregularities;

w any matters we identified having obtained and reviewed the Group's documentation of their policies and procedures relating to:
~ identifying, evaluating and complying with laws and regulations and whether they were aware of any instances of non-campliance:
- detecting and responding to the risks of fraud and whether they have knowledge of any actual, suspected or alleged fraud;
- the internal controls established to mitigate risks of fraud or non-compliance with laws and regulations;

®» the matters discussed among the audit engagement tearn, including significant component tearns, and involving relevant internal
specialists, including tax, valuations, pensions, IT, and industry specialists regarding how and where fraud might occur in the financial
statements and any potential indicators of fraud.

A aresult of these procedures, we considered the opportunities and incentives that may exist within the organisation for fraud and identified
the greatest potential for fraud in the following areas: landfill accounting, impainnent of assets in the Resource and Energy divisions, provision
for onerous contracts and the capitalisation and classification of costs associated with Project Fusion. In common with all audits under ISAs
(UK, we are also required to perform specific procedures to regpond to the risk of management override.

We also obtained an understanding of the legal and regulatory frameworks that the group operates in, focusing on provisions of those laws and
regulations that had a direct effect on the determination of material amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. The key laws and
regulations we considered in this context included the UK Comparnies Act, Listing Rules, pensions legislation and tax legislation in all relevant
juristictions where the Group operates.

In addition, we considered provisions of other laws and regulations that do not have a direct effect on the financial staternents but compiiance
with which may be fundamental to the group's ability to operate or to avoid a material penalty.

11,2. Audit response to risks identified

As a result of performing the above, we identified landfill accounting, impairment of assets in the Resource and Energy divisions, provision
for onerous contracts and the capitalisation and classification of costs associated with Project Fusion as key audit matters related to

the potential risk of fraud. The key audit matters section of aur report explains the matters in more detail and also describes the specific
procedures we performed in response to those key audit matters.

In addition to the above, our procedures to respond to risks identified inctuded the following:

u reviewing the financial statement disclosures and testing to supporting documentation to assess compliance with provisions of relevant
laws and regulations described as having a direet effect vn e [luancial statcments;

» enquiring of managerment, the Audit Uomrmuttee and in-house legal vuuieel concerning aotual angd potential litigation and glaims;

& performing analytical procedures to identify any unusual or unexpected relationships that may indicate risks of material misstatement
due to fraud;

m reading minutes of meetings of those charged with governance, reviewing internal audit reports and reviewing correspondence with
HMRG; and

m in addressing the risk of fraud through management override of controls, testing the appropriateness of journal entries and other
adjustments; assessing whether the judgerents made in making accounting estimates are indicative of 2 potential bias; and evaluating
the business rationale of any significant transactions that are unusual or outside the normal course of business.

We also communicated relevant identified laws and regulations and potential fraud risks to all engagement teara members including
internal specialists and significant component audit teamns, and remained alert to any indications of fraud or non-compliance with laws
and regulations throughout the audit.
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Report on other legal and regulatory requirements

12. Opinions on other matters prescribed by the Companies Act 2006
In our opinion the part of the directors' remuneration report to be audited has been properly prepared in accordance with the
Companies Act 20086.

In our opinion, based on the work undertaken in the course of the audit:

m the information given in the strategic report and the directors' report for the financial year for which the financial staterments
are prepared is consistent with the financial statements; and
» the strategic report and the directors' report have been prepared in accordance with applicable legal requirements.

In the light of the knowledge and understanding of the group and the parent company and their environment obtained in the course
of the audit, we have not identified any material misstatements in the strategic report or the directors’ report.

13. Matters on which we are required to report by exception
13.1. Adequacy of explanations received and accounting records
Under the Companies Act 20086 we are required to report to you if, in our opinion:

» we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit; or
m adequate accounting records have not been kept by the parent company, or returns adequate for our audit have not been received from

branches not visited by us; or
m the parent company financial statements are not in agreement with the accounting records and returns.

We have nothing to report in respect of these matters.

13.2.Directors’ remuneration
Under the Companies Act 2006 we are also required to report if in our opinion certain disclosures of directors’ remuneration have not been
made or the part of the directors’ rermuneration report to be audited is not in agreement with the accounting records and returns.

We have nothing to report in respect of these matters.

14. Other matters

14.1. Auditor tenure

Following the recommendation of the audit committee, we were appointed by the Board on 23 August 2016 to audit the financial statements
for the period ending 24 March 2017 and subsequent financial periods. The period of total uninterrupted engagement including previous
renewals and reappointments of the firm is 4 years, covering the periods ending 24 March 2017 to 27 March 2020.

14.2.Consistency of the audit report with the additional report to the audit committee
Our audit opinion is consistent with the additional report to the audit committee we are required ta provide in accordance with ISAs (UK).

15. Use of our report

This raport is made solely to the company's members, as a body, in accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the Companiss Act 2008. Our
audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the company's members those matters we are required to state to them in an
auditor's report and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other
than the company and the company's members as a body, for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we have formed.

N@@d%

Makhan Chahal ACA
(Senior statutory auditor)

For and on behalf of Deloitte LLP
Statutory Auditor
London, United Kingdom

9 June 2020
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Consolidated Income Statement

652 weeks ended 27 March 2020

52 weeks ended 29 March 2019

Underlying Other items Underlying Othey items
activities £m Total activities £m Total

Notes £m (Note 3] £m £m (Note 3) £m
Revenue 2 1,163.1 - 1,163.1 1,091.2 - 1,091.2
Cost of sales (1,012.7) (11.6] (1,024.3) (959.0}) (34.5] (993.5]
Gross profit 1504 (11.8) 138.8 132.2 (34,5) a77
Operating costs (57.7) (4.8) (62.5) (50.1) (1.8) {51.9)
Expected credit loss recognised 16 (2.2) - (2.2) [0.4) - [04)
Operating profit 90.5 (16.4) 731 817 (36.3) 454
Finance incorme 4 2.3 1.1 3.3 1.5 - 15
Finance charges 4 (21.0) - (21.0) 19.2) [B.2] [25.4)
Share of results in joint venture (0.1) - (0.1) - - -
Profit/(loss) before taxation B 7 (16.3) 56.4 64.0 [42.5) 215
Taxation 9 14.3) 3.5 (10.8) [12.5) 9.0 [3.5)
Profit/(loss) for the period 57.4 (11.8) 45.8 515 (33.5) 18.0
Profit/{loss] attributable
to shareholders of the
parent Cornpany 574 (11.8) 45.6 51.5 (33.5) 18.0
Basic earnings/(loss)
per share (pence} 10 231 4.8) 18.3 208 (1343 e
Diluted earnings/(loss)
per share [pence) 10 22.5 £4.6) 179 12.9 [13.0) 6.9

Other itemns includes exceptional items, the impact of real discount rate changes tolandfill provisions and amortisation of acquisition intangibles.

Consolidated Statement of Other Comprehensive Income

s2 weeksended 52 weeks ended
27 March 2020 29 March 2019

Notes £m £
Profit for the period 4a5.6 18.0
Dther comprehensive income/(loss)
Items that will not be reclassifiad subsequently to profit or loss:
Actuarial gain on defined benefit pension scheme 29 40.9 27.3
Share of other comprehensive incoms of joint ventures
Tax relating to iterns that will not be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss 9 [(8.3) (4

32.8 224

Iterns that may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss:
Netloss on cash flow hedge (0.6) (0.4)
Nat loss on cash flow hedge in joint venture (1.8} -
Other comprehensive income for the period, net of income tax 30.2 22.0
Total comprehensive income for the period 75.8 40.0
Attributable to shareholders of the parent Company 75.8 40,0
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

Asat As at
27March 2020 29 March 2019
Notes £m £m
Assets
Non-current assets
Goodwill 12 13z2.2 128.2
Other intangible assets 13 197.0 213.0
Property, plant and equipment 14 52727 3854
Investment in joint venture 33 3.0 -
Long-term receivables 16 6.2 68.9
Deferred tax assets 22 - 21
Retirement benefit surplus 29 1247 79.0
1,052.8 886.6
Current assets
Inventories 15 16.1 14.4
Trade and other recejvahles 16 165.2 142.0
Contract assets 37 66.2 54.2
Financial assets 19 6.7 157
Current tax assets - 0.5
Cash and cash equivalents 17 878 B6.2
Assets held for sale 18 0.1 0.1
332.2 293.1
Current liabilities
Borrowings 19 (43.6) (31.7]
Derivative financial instruments 19 1.2) (07
Trade and other payables 20 (274.2]) (232.0]
Contract liabilities 37 (17.8) (17.8)
Provisions 21 (10.2) {16.0)
Total current liabilities [347.0) (298.0]
Net current liabilities (14.8) (4.9)]
Non-current liahilities
Borrowings 19 (511.0) [3875)
Trade and other payables 20 (13.6) [137)
Provisions 21 (85.1) (90.3)
Deferred tax liability 22 17.3) -
Total non-current liabilities (627.0) {481.5)
Net assets 411.0 360.2
Equity
Called up share capital 24 25 2.5
Share premium 24 235.3 235.3
Hedging reserves (2.8) [(0.4)
Merger reserve 24 74.4 74.4
Retained earnings 25 101.6 48.4
Total equity attributable to shareholders 411.0 360.2

The Financial Statements were approved by the Board of Directors and authorised for issue on 8 June 2020. They were signed on its behalf by:

-

/

A

—¥
Richard Pike
Director

T

Company no: 10336040
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

Hedging

Called up Share Merger and other Retained Total

share capital premium reserve reserves earnings equity

Notes fm £m £m £ro £m £m

As at 30 March 2018 2.5 235.3 74.4 - 22.8 236.0

Profit for the period - ~ - - 18.0 18.0

Other comprehensive (loss)/income - - - [04) 22.4 22.0

Total comprehensive (loss)/income - - - {0.4] 40.4 40.0

Value of employee service in respect

of share option schemes (net of tax] 23 - - - - 22 22
Dividends paid - - - - [17.0} {17.0}

As at 29 March 2019 25 235.3 74.4 (0.4) 48.4 360.2

Profit for the period - - - - 45.6 456

Other comprehensive (loss)/income - - - 24] 3286 302

Total comprehensjve (loss)/income - - - {2.4) 78.2 75.8
Share purchased by employee benefits trust - - - - (9.1 9.1

Value of employee service in respect

of share option schemes [net of tax) 23 - - - - 2.4 2.4
Dividends paid - - - - (18.3] (18.3]

As at 27 March 2020 2.5 2353 7.4 (2.8) 101.6 411.0
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

52 weeks ended

52 weeksended 29 March 2019
27 March 2020 Restated
Nates £m £m
Cash flows from operating activities
Cash generated fror operations 26 193.8 1330
Restructuring and exceptional costs (14.0) (4.5]
Receipt of funds held on long-term deposit - 6.1
Net cash from operating activities 179.8 134.6
Income tax paid [0.2) [0.2)
Net cash inflow from operating activities 179.6 134.4
Cash flows from investing activities
Purchases of property, plant and equipment (56.8) (424)
Purchases of intangible assets (3.8) (37
Compensation 4.4 -
Purchase of business, nat of cash acquired 11 (5.1) [41.5)
Investment in joint venture (5.0) -
Proceeds from the sale of property, plant and equipment 16 08
Loan to joint venture [2.4) -
Interest received 03 0.3
Net cash used in investing activities (66.8) (86.4)
Cash flows from financing activities
Interest paid (17.2) [16.3)
Employee share scherme purchase (6.0) (1.4)
Drawdown of borrowings a7 1.0 45.1
Fees payable on 1 year extention to RCF [0.5) -
Lease liabilities principal payments 27 (50.2) (33.0)
Dividends paid (18.3) (17.0]
Net cash flow used in financing activities (81.2) (22.8)
Netincrease in cash and ¢ash equivalents 21.6 25.4
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the period 66.2 40.8
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the period 17 a8 B66.2
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

1. Accounting Policies

Basis of preparation

The consolidated Financial Statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards [IFRS] and
related interpretations as issued by the IASB and IFRS adopted by the European Union (EU] and therefore comply with Article 4 of the EU 1AS
regulations and the parts of the Companies Act 2006 applicable to entities reperting under IFRS. The comparative financial information has
also been prepared on this basis.

The Consclidated Financial Statements have been prepared on a historical cost basis, except for the recording of pensions assets and
liabilities and the revaluation of certain derivative financial liabilities instruments.

The Financial Statements for 2020 have been prepared for the 52-weel period ended 27 March 2020. The prior year was a 52-week period, to
29 March 2019, The upcoming year will also be a 52-week period, to 26 March 2021. The Notes to the accounts refer to 2020 and 2018 meaning
G52-week period ended 27 March 2020 and 52-week period ended 29 March 2019 respectively.

The preparation of Financial Statements in conformity with IFRS requires the use of certain critical accounting estimates. It also requires
managerent to exercise its judgement in the procass of applying the Sroup’s accounting policies. The areas involving a higher degres of
judgernent or complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates are significant to the consolidated Financial Statements are disclosed
on page 117.

The Group's income statement and segmental analysis separately identify financial results before exceptional and other items. The Directors
helieve that the presentation of the results in this way is relevant to an understanding of the Group's financial performance. Presenting
financial results before exceptional and other iteras is consistent with the way that the financial performance is measured by management
and reported to the Board and aids the comparability of reported results from year to year in this context. The Group's income statement and
segmental analysis separately identify a number of Alternative Performance Measures [APMs) in addition to those reported under IFRS. The
Directors believe that the presentation of the results in this way, which is not meant to be a substitute for or superior to IFRS measures, i5
relevant to an understanding of the Group's underlying trends, financial performance and position, These APMs are also used to enhance the
comparability of information between reporting periods and the Group's divisions, by adjusting for non-recurring or uncontrollable factors
which affect IFRS measures, to aid the user in understanding the underlying performance. Qur APMs and KPIs are aligned to our strategy
and together form the basis of the performance measures for remuneration. Consequently, APMs are consistent with how the business
performance is planned and reported internally to the Board and Operating Committees ta aid their decision making. Additionally, some

of these measures are used for the purpose of setting remuneration targets.

Going concern

The Group meets its day-to-day working capital requirements through its bani facilities. The current economic and political conditions
create uncertainty; however, the Group's forecasts and projections, taking account of reasonably possible changes in trading performance,
show that the Group should be able to operate within the current level of its facilities. Having assessed the principal risks and other matters
discussed in connection with the Viability Staternent, the Directors consider it appropriate to adopt the going concern basis in preparing the
Consolidated Financial Statements.

The Group's business activities, together with the factors likely to affect its future development, performance and position are set out in the
Strategic Report an pages 1-39. The financial position of the compaty, its vash flows, liquidity position apd hnrrowing facilities are described
in the Chief Financial Officer's review on page 18. In addition, note 19 to the Financial Statements include the company's objectives, policies
and processes for managing its capital; its financial risk management objectives; details of its financial instruments

and hedging activities; and its exposures to credit risk and liquidity risk.

The Group has significant financial resources including unutilised bank facilities of £98m and net cash of £87.8rm at 27 March 2020. These
funds, together with the Group's long-term custorner contract portfolio, flexible cost base coupled with the geographically diverse operating
footprint of the Group and breadth of customer industry groupings, means that the Group is well placed to manage the direct business impacts
and the current global economic uncertainty arising trom the COVID-19 pandemic. This view is underpinned by sensitivity analysis which
has been rarried out to model the potential financial impact on the Group of the pandemic over 2020. The Directors have assessad the
principal rieks discussed on pages 34-38, including by madelling a reasonable worst-case scenario. This scenario covers the cash flow
impact associated with an extended lockdown for a period of 3 months and a gradual recovery in the remainder of the year. The main cash
flow irmmpacts identified in the reasonable worst-case scenario ara:

a significant reduction in the collections business and landfill businesses driven by lower demand;

areduction in capital expenditure across the Group;

areduction in discretionary spend across all areas;

no payment of the final FY20 dividend;

the FY20 annual bonus will not be paid in cash;

m the exec are taking a 20% pay cut with senior management (85 employee's) taking a 10% pay reduction for the duration of the furloughing period;
= thereis arecruitment freeze in place; and

® an intensive furloughing programme involving both operational and central support services. This consists of approx. 1200 employees

As part of their analysis the Board also considered the following potential levers at their discretion to improve the position identified
by the reasonable worst-case scenario including:

m anurmber of further reductions in operating expenditure across the Group primarily related to workforce cost options; and
& further reduction in capital expenditurs

Having considered the reasonable worst-scenario and further Jevers at the Board's discretion, the Group continues to have headroom against

the Group's cormymitted facilities identified in note 19 to the Financial Staterents. The Bank of England CCFF scheme is being explored by the
Group in order to increase headraom in the case af an extreme downside scenario. Other fagtors cangidered by the Board as part of their going
concern assessment included the potential impact of Brexit trade talks, alongside inherent uncertainties in cash flow forecasts.
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Based on the above, the Directors have concluded the Group is well placed to manage its financing and other business risks satisfactorily,
and have a reasonable expectation that the Group will have adequate resources to continue in operation for at least twelve rmonths from
the signing date of these Consclidated Financial Statements. They therefore consider it appropriate to adopt the going concern basis of
accounting in preparing the Financial Staternents.

Basis of consolidation
The consolidated financial statements incorporate the Financial Staterments of the Company and entities controlled by the Company
(its subsidiaries) made up to 27 March 2020. Control is achieved when the Company:

m has the power over the investee;
m is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee; and
m has the ability to use its power to affect its returns

The company reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one or more
of the three elements of control listed ahove.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Company obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases when the Company loses control
of the subsidiary. Specifically, the rasults of subsidiaries acquired or disposed of during the year are included in the Incorme Statement from
the date the Cormpany gains control until the date when the Gompany ceases to control the subsidiary.

All intra-group transactions are eliminated as part of the consolidation process. Accounting policies of subsidiaries have been changed
where necessary to ensure consistency with the policies adopted by the Group.

Changes in accounting policies and disclosures

New and amended IFRS Standards that are effective for the current year

Impact of initial application of IFRS 16 Leases

IFRS 16 Leases was adopted by the Group on 30 March 2019 and replaces IAS 17 Leases. IFRS 16 removes the distinction between uperating
leases and finance leases. The result is that the majority of 1eases are capitalised on the statement of financial position as a right-of-use
asset within property, plant and equipment, with a corresponding finance creditor. The cost of leasing these assets in the income statement
isrecognised as a depreciation charge and an interest charge, opposed to the operating lease charge previously reflected under IAS17. The
exception to this is the leasing of assets for a period of less than 12 months and the leasing of low-value assets which donot require the
recognition of a right of use asset or corresponding creditor.

On transition, IFRS 16 allows for either a full retrospective approach whereby all prior year comparatives are restated or the modified retrospective
approach. The Group has adopted the modified retrospective approach. On transition the Group has made use of the practical expedients to
exclude leases where the term ends within 12 months from the date of initial application, and to not reassess whether a contract is or contains
alease. Accordingly, the definition of a lease in accordance with IAS 17 and IFRIC 4 will continue to apply to those leases entered or modified
before 30 March 2019. The Group has applied a single discount rate to portfolios of assets with similar characteristics.

The Group assesses whether a contract is or contains a lease at inception of the contract. The Group recognises a right-of-use asset and

a corresponding lease liability with respect to all lease arrangements in which it is the lessee, except for short-term leases [defined as leases
with a lease term of 12 months or less) and leases of low-value assets (defined by management to not exceed £5,000). For these leases, the
Group recognises the lease payments as an operating expense on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease unless another systematic
basis is more representative of the time pattern in which economic benefits from the leased assets are consumed.

The lease liability is initially raeasured at the present value of the lease payments that are not paid at the commencement date, discounted
by using the rate implicit in the lease, If this rate cannot be readily determined, the Group uses its incremental borrowing rate. The Group's
incremental borrowing rate is defined as the rate of interest that the lessee would have to pay to borrow over a similar term and with a similar
security the funds necessary to obtain an asset of a similar value in a similar economic environment.

Lease payrments included in the measurement of the liability comprise:

m fixed lease payments, less any lease incentives;

w variable lease payments that depend on an index or rate, initially measured using the index or rate at the commencement date;
a the amount expected to be payable by the lessee under residual value guarantees;

s the exercise price of purchase options, if the lessee is reasonably certain to exercise the options; and

m payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the lease term reflects the exercise of an option to terminate the lsase

The lease liability is presented within borrowings in the consolidated statement of financial position.

The lease liability is subsequently measured by increasing the carrying amount to reflect the interest on the lease liability (using the
effective interest method) and by reducing the carrying amount to reflect the lease payments made.

The Group remeasures the lease liability {(and makes a corresponding adjustment to the related right-of-use asset) whenever:

m thelease term has changed or there is a change in the assessment of exercise of a purchase option, in which case the lease liability
is remeasured by discounting the revised lease payrnents using a revised discount rate;

» the lease payments change due to changes in an index or rate or a change in expected payment under a guaranteed residual
value, in which cases the lease liability is remeasured by discounting the revised lease payments using the initial discount rate
[unless the lease payment change is due to a change in floating rate, in which case a revised discount rate is used]); or

m alease contract is modified and the lease modification is not accounted for as a separate lease, in which case the lease liability
is remeasured by discounting the revised lease payments using a revised discount rate.

The right-of-use assets comprise the initial measurermnent of the corresponding lease liability, lease payment at or before the commencement
day and any initial direct costs. They are subsequently measured at cost less accurnulated depreciation and impairment losses.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statermnents continued

1. Accounting Pelicies continued

Changes in accounting policies and disclosures continued

Whenever the Group ingurs an obligation for costs to dismantle and remove a leased asset, restore the sita on which it is located or restore
the underlying asset to the condition required by the terms and conditions of the lease, a provision is recognised and measured under IAS 37,
The costs are included in the related right-of-use asset.

Right-of-use assets are depreciated over the shorter period of lease term and useful life of the underlying agset. If a lease transfers ownarship
of the underlying asset or the cost of the right-of-use asset reflects that the Group expects to exercise a purchase option, the related right-of-
use asset is depreciated over the useful life of the underlying asset. The depraciation starts at the commencement date of the lease.

At implernentation the Group recognised right of use assets of £134.9m and the corresponding lease iiability of £134.9m,

To aid comparability the tables below highlight the differences arising as a result of the adoption of IFRS 16 showing the impact on Statement
of Finaneial Position and Income Statement. A reconciliation of the closing balance under IAS 17 to the opening balance under IFRS 16 is
detailed in Note 28. The tables below use APM’s to demonstrate the IFRS 16 impact as this provides a comparable pre-exceptional position.

2020 2020 2020
Post IFRS18 Pre
Group Em [unless stated) JFRS 16 adjustment IFRS16 2018
Property, plant and equipment 5277 [139.4) 388.3 365.4
Lease liability (258.0) 141.0 (117.0) (122.6)
Other 141.3 {0.5) 130.8 137.8
Net assets 411.0 11 4121 3601
2020 2020 2020
Post IFR316 Pre
Group £m {unless stated) IFRS16 adjustment IFRS 16 2019
Revernue 1,163.1 - 1,163.1 1,081.2
Net Revenue 1,102.8 - 1,102.8 1,030.8
Underlying EBITDA 174.0 (18.9) 155.1 1607
Underlying EBITDA rargin 15.0% - 13.3% 13.8%
Depreciation (83.5) 161 (67.4) (69.0}
Underlying Operating Profit 90.5 {2.8) 877 817
Underlying Operating Profit margin 7.8% - 7.5% 7.5%
Statutory operating Profit 74.1 [2.8) 7.3 45,4
Underlying nét Finance Charges (187 4.2 [14.5) 1727
Underlying Profit before Tax 717 14 73.1 64.0
Statutory profit betore Tax 5G.4 11 R7.R 2Lb
Underlying Profit after Tax 57.4 11 68.5 51.5

The table above shows underlying measurements; IFRS 16 has no further impact on statutory measures.

2020 2020 2020

Post IFRS16 Pre
Group £m (unless stated) IFRS1B8 adjustment IFRS 16 2019
Return 73.6 [2.8) 70.8 B&.2
Average Capital Employed 8231 (137.5) 685.6 B892.3
ROCE 8.9% 10.3% 9.4%

2020 2020 2020

Post IFRS16 Pre
Group £m (unless stated) IFRS 16 adjustment IFRS 16 2019

Average Net Debt [a72.3) 1379 [339.4) (336.0)

2020 2020 2020

Post IFRS16 Pre
Collections £m IFRS16 adjustment IFRS 16 2019
Revenue 870.8 - 870.8 7972
Net Revenue 870.8 - 870.8 7972
Underlying EBITDA 126.4 {11.2) 115.2 1065
% margin 14.5% 13.2% 13.4%
Undeilying Operating Profit 72.2 nn 70.5 61.5
% margin 8.3% 8.1% 1%
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2020 2020 2020

Post IFRS16 Pre
Resources & Energy £m IFRS 16 adfustment IFRS 16 2019
Revenue 292.3 - 292.3 293.9
Net Revenue 2321 - 2321 233.5
Underlying EBITDA 63.4 [5.8) 57.8 591
% margin 21.7% - 19.8% 20.1%
Underlying Operating Profit 377 (0.8) 36.9 371
% margin 12.9% - 12.6% 12.6%

In the current year, the Group has applied a number of amendments to IFRS Standards and Interpretations issued by the International
Accounting Standards Board {IASB] that are effective for an annual period that begins on or after 1 January 2018. Their adoption has not
had any material impact on the disclosures or on the arnounts reported in these Financial Staternents.

The UK's Financial Conduct Authority announced that LIBOR will cease to exist by the end of 2021, and will be replaced by alternative
reference rates. In September 2019, the IASB amended IFRS 9 and IFRS 7 by issuing Interest Rate Benchmark Reform, which provides
exceptions to specific hedge accounting requirements to ensure that hedging relationships are not considered to be modified as a result
of the change in the reference rate. The amendments were endorsed in January 2020 for adoption in the EU. The Group early-adopted
these changes to IFRS 7 and IFRS 9 with effect from 1 April 2018. There were no transition adjustments on adoption.

1AS 19 (armendments) Plan Amendment, Curtailment or Settlernent

Annual Improverments to IFRS Standards 2015-2017 Cycle Amendments to IFRS 3 Business Combinations, IAS 12 Income Taxes
and IAS 23 Borrowing Costs

IFRS 8 (amendments) Prepayrment Features with Negative Compensation
Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its Associate

IFRS 10 and 1AS 28 (amendments) or Joint Venture

[FRIC 221 January 2018 Foreign Currency Transactions and Advance Consideration

Annual Improvements to IFRS Standards 2014-2018 Cycle Amendments to IFRS 1, IFRS 12 and IAS 28 1 January 2018

IFRIC 23 Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments

Adoption of the above has not had any material impact on the disclosures or on the amounts reported in these Financial Staterments.

Changes in accounting policies and disclosures - future developments
At the date of authorisation of these Financial Staternents, the Group has not applied the fellowing new and revised IFRSs that have been
issued but are not yet effective:

IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts

IFRS 3 (amendments) Definition of a Business

IAS 1and IAS 8 (amendments) Definition of Material

Conceptual Framework Armendrnents to references to the Conceptual Framework in IFRS Standards

There are no other IFRSs or IFRIC Interpretations that are not yet effective that would be expected to have a material impact on the Group.

Business combinations

The Group accounts for acquisitions of businssses using the acquisition method. The consideration transferred in a business combination
is measured at fair value, which is calgulated as the sum of the acquisition date tair values of the assets transferred to the Group, ligbilities
incurred by the Group to the former owners of the acquiree and the equity interests issued by the Group in exchange for control of the
acquiree. Acquisition-related costs are recognised in profit or loss as incurred.

At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities assumed are recognised at their fair value, except that:

m deferred tax assets or liabilities, and assets or liabilities related to employee benefit arrangements are recognised and measured in
accordance with JAS 12 Income Taxes and IAS 19 Employee Benefits respectively;

u liabilities or equity measurements related to sharg-based payment arrangements of the acquiree or share-based payment arrangements of
the Group entered into to replace share-based payment arrangements of the acquiree are measured in accordance with IFRS 2 Share based
payrnents at the acguisition date;

w assets (or disposal groups) that are classified as held for sale in accordance with IFRS 5 Non-current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued
Operations are measured in accardance with that Standard.

Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interests in the acquiree,
and the fair value of the acquirer's previously held equity interest in the acquiree (if any] over the net of the acquisition date amounts of the
identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities assumed. If, after reassessment, the net of the acquisition date amounts of the identifiable
assets and acquired and the liabilities assumed exceeds the sum of the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling
interests inthe acquiree and the fair value of the acquirer's previously held interest in the acquiree (if any), the excess is recognised
immediately in profit or loss as a bargain purchase gain.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Staternents continued

1. Accounting Policies continued

Business combinations continued

When the consideration transferred by the Group in a business combination includes assets or liabilities resulting from a contingent consideration

arrangement, the contingent consideration is measured at its acquisition date fair value and included as part of the consideration transferred in
a business corabination. Changes in the fair value of the contingent cansideration that qualify as measurermnent period adjustments are adjusted
retrospectively, with corresponding adjustrnents against goodwill, Measurement period adjustments are adjustments that arise from additional

information obtained during the measurement period {which cannot exceed one year from the acquisition date) about facts and circumstances

that existed at the acquisition date,

1f the initial accounting for a business combination is incomplete by the end of the reporting period in which the combination occurs,
the Group reports provisional amounts for the items for which the accounting is incoraplete.

Those provisional amounts are adjusted during the measurement period (see above), or additional assets or liabilities are recognised, to
reflect new information obtained about facts and circumstances that existed at the acquisition date that, if known, would have affected
the amounts recognised at that date.

Goodwill
Goodwill is initially recognised and measured as set out above,

Goodwill is tested annually for impairment or if there is an indication of impairment. Gains and losses on the disposal of a cash-generating
unit include the carrying amount of goodwill relating to that cash-generating unit.

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated to each of the Group's cash-generating units (or groups of cash-generating units)
that is expected to benefit from the synergies of the business combination. If the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit is less than
the carrying amount of the unit, the impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the unit and
then to the other assets of the unit pro-rata on the basis of the carrying amount of each asset in the unit.

Gains and losses on the disposal of a cash-generating unit include the carrying amount of goodwill relating to that cash-generating unit.

Investment in joint venture

A joint venture is a joint arrangement whereby the parties that have joint control of the arrangement have rights to the net assets of the joint
arrangernent. Joint control is the contractually agreed sharing of control of an arrangement, which exists only when decisions sbout the
relevant activities require unanimous consent of the parties sharing control.

Under the equity method, an investroent in an associate or a joint venture is recognised initially in the consolidated staternent of financial
position at cost and adjusted thereafter to recognise the Group's share of the profit or loss and other comprehensive income of the associate
or joint venture. When the Group's share of losses of an associate or a joint venture exceeds the Group’s interest in that associate or joint
venture [which includes any long-term interests that, in substance, form part of the Group’s net investment in the associate or joint venture],
the Group discontinues recognising its share of further losses. Additional losses are recognised only to the extent that the Group has incurred
legal or constructive obligations or made payments on behalf of the associate or joint venture.

An investment in an associate or a joint venture 15 accounted fur s the squity method from the date an which the investae becormes an
associate or a joint venture, On acquisition of the investment in an associate or a joint venture, any excess of the cost of the investmment over
the Group's share of the net fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities of the investee is recognised as goodwill, which is inciuded within
the narrvine arqount of the investment. Any excess of the Group's share of the net fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities over the
cost of the investment, after reassessment, is recognised imrnediately 11 profli vt luss in e peiiod in whioh tho invoctment is anmuired.

Segmental reporting

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the internal reporting provided to the chief operating decision maker.
The chief operating decision maker, who is responsible for aliocating resources and assessing performance of the operating segments,
has been identified as the Group Executive Tearn.

The 52-weeks ended 29 March 2019 has been restated to reflect the Group reorganisation into two operating divisions, The historical
Municipal and Industrial & Commercial divisions have been merged into the Collections division. The Resource Recovery & Treatinent
and Energy divisions have been merged into the Resources & Energy division. The Hazardous Waste business was transierred from the
Resource Recovery & Treatment division into the new Collections division.

Revenue recognition

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable once performance obligations have been fulfilled. Revenue
is reduced for value added taxes, trade discounts and comimadity rebates. The methodology and assurnptions for the calculations of trade
discounts and cormmadity rebates are monitored and adjusted regularly with reference to contractual and legal obligations, historical trends,
past experience and projected market conditions. The nature of the service provided by the Group means that returns or refunds are extremely
limnited. Landfill Tax is included within both revenue and cost of sales.

Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised when the perforrance obligation has been met, the goods are delivered and titles have passed.

Revenue from the provision of services is recognised at the point when service has been provided. Collection revenues are recognised at
the point of collection from customer sites. For municipal collections, revenue is recognised in accordance with quantities specified in the
customer contracts.

When the outcorne of a transaction involving the rendering of services can be estimated reliably, revenue associated with the transaction is
recognised as the services are provided and in accordance with the terms of the contract.

Revenue from waste processing, treatment and landfill facilities is recognised when the performance obligation has been met which is
deemed to be when waste is physically received at the Group sites.

Energy generation revenue is recognised at the point that power is supplied to the custorner based on the quantity of units supplied.

The Group's standard terms for paymaent offered to customers is typically 30 days.
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Leasing

The Group assesses whether a contract is or contains a lease, at inception of the contract. The Group recognises a right-of-use assetand a
corresponding lease liability with respect to all lease arrangerments in which it is the lessee, except for short-term leases (defined as leages with
alease term of 12 months or less) and leases of low-value assets (such as tablets and personal cormputers, small iterns of office furniture and
telephones). For these leases, the Group recognises the lease payments as an operating expense on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease
unless another systematic basis is more representative of the time pattern in which economic benefits from the leased assets are consumed.

The lease liability is initially measured at the present value of the lease payments that are not paid at the commencement date, discounted
by using the rate impiicit in the lease. If this rate cannot be readily deterrmined, the Group uses its incremental borrowing rate. Lease
payments included in the measurement of the lease liability comprise:

» fixed lease payments (including in-substance fixed payments), less any lease incentives receivable;

m variable lease payments that depend on an index or rate, initially measured using the index or rate at the commencement date;
® the amount expected to be payable by the lessee under residual value guarantees;

w the exercise price of purchase options, if the lessee is reasonably certain to exercise the options; and

» payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the lease term reflects the exercise of an option to terminate the lease.

The lease liability is presented as a separate line in the consolidated statement of financial position. The lease liability is subsequently
measured by increasing the carrying amount to reflect interest on the lease liability (using the effective interest method) and by reducing
the carrying armount to reflect the lease payments made.

The Group remeasures the lease liability (and makes a corresponding adjustment to the related right-of-use asset) whenever:

m the lease term has changed or there is a significant event or change in circumstances resulting in a change in the assessment
of exercise of a purchase option, in which case the lease liability is remeasured by discounting the revised lease payments using
arevised discount rate;

m the lease payments change due to changes in an index or rate or a change in expected payment under a guaranteed residual value,
in which cases the lease liability is remeasured by discounting the revised lease payments using an unchanged discount rate
(unless the lease payments change is due to a change in a floating interest rate, in which case a revised discount rate is used); or

m alease contract is modified and the iease modification is not accounted for as a separate lease, in which case the lease liability is
remeasured based on the lease term of the modified lease by discounting the revised lease payrents using a revised discount rate
at the effective date of the modification.

The right-of-use assets comprise the initial measurement of the corresponding lease liability, lease payments made at or before the
commencement day, less any lease incentives received and any initial direct costs. They are subsequently measured at cost less
accumulated depreciation and imgpairment logses. Whenever the Group incurs an obligation for costs to dismantle and rermove a
leased asset, restore the site on which it is located or restore the underlying asset to the condition required by the terms and conditions
of the lease, a provision is recognised and measured under IAS 37, To the extent that the costs retate to a right-of-use asset, the costs are
included in the related right-of-use asset, unless those costs are incurred to produce inventories.

Right-of-use assets are depreciated over the shorter period of lease term and useful life of the underlying asset.

If a lease transfers ownership of the underlying asset or the cost of the right-of-use asset reflects that the Group expects to exercise
a purchase option, the related right-of-use asset is depreciated over the useful life of the underlying asset. The depreciation starts
at the commencement date of the lease.

The right-of-use assets are disclosed within property, plant and equipment note 14 to the Financial Statements.

The Group applies IAS 36 to determine whether a right-of-use asset is impaired and accounts for any identified impairment loss as described
in the 'Property, plant and equipment’ policy. Variable rents that do not depend on an index or rate are not ingluded in the measurernent the
lease liability and the right-of-use asset. The related payments are recognised as an expense in the period in which the event or condition
that triggers those payments occurs.

Foreign currencies

In preparing the finaneial information of each individual Group entity, transactions in currencies other than the entity’s functional currency
[foreign currencies] are recognised at the rates of exchange prevailing at the dates of the transactions. At the end of each reporting period,
monetary items denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing at that date, Non-monetary items carried at fair
value that are denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing at the date when the fair value was determined.
Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences on monetary iterns are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they arise except for:

m exchange differences on foreign currency borrowings relating to assets under construction for future productive use, which are included
in the cost of those assets when they are recognised as an adjustraent to interest costs on those foreign currency borrowings; and

m exchange differences on monetary items receivable from or payable to a foreign operation for which settlement is neither planned
nor likely to occur (therefore forming part of the net investment in the foreign operation), which are recognised initially in other
comprehensive income and reclassified from equity to profit or loss on repayment of the monetary items.

For the purposes of presenting these Consolidated Financial Statements, the Group's foreign currency denominated agsets and liabilities
are translated into Sterling using the exchange rates prevailing at the end of each reporting period. Income and expense items are translated
at the average exchange rates for the period, unless exchange rates fluctuate significantly during that period, in which case the exchange
rates at the dates of the transactions are used. Exchange differences arising, if any, are recognised in other compreghensive income and
accumulated in equity.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements continued

1. Accounting Policies continued

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of qualifying assets, which are assets that necessarily
take a substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use or sale, are added to the cost of those assets, until such time as the assets
are substantially ready for their intended use or sale.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they are incurred.

Interest income from a financial asset is recognised when it is probabie that the economic benefits will flow to the Group and the ampunt
of income can be measured reliably. Interest income is accrued on a time basis, by reference to the principal cutstanding and at the effective
interest rate applicable, which is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts through the expected life of the financial
asset to that asset’s net carrying arnount on initial recognition,

Government grants
Government grants are not recognised until there is reasonable assurance that the Group will comply with the conditions attaching to them
and that the grants will be received.

Government grants are recognised in profit or loss on a systematic basis over the periods in which the Group recognises as expenses the
related costs for which the grants are intended to compensate, Specifically, Government grants whose primary condition is that the Group
should purchase, construct or otherwise acquire non-current assets are recognised as deferred revenus in the consolidated staternent of
financial position and transferred to profit or loss on a systematic and rational basis over the useful lives of the related assets.

Employee benefits
Payraents to defined contribution retirement benefit plans are recognised as an expense when employees have rendered service entitling
them to the gontributions.

For defined henefit retirement plans, the cost of providing benefits is determined using the projected unit credit method, with actuarial
valuations being carried out at the end of each annual reporting period. Remeasurement, comprising actuarial gains and losses and the
return on plan assets (excluding interest), is reflected immediately in the statement of financial position with a charge or credit recognised
in other comprehensive income in the period in which they occur.

Remeasurement recognised in pther comprehensive income is refiected immediately in retained earnings and will not be reciassified to
profit or loss. Past service cost is recagnised in profit or loss in the period of a plan amendment. Net interest is calculated by applying the
discount rate at the beginning of the period to the net defined benefit liability or asset. Defined henefit costs are categorised as follows:

& Service cost (including current service cost, past service cost as well as gains and lasses on curtailmernts and settlemeants)
m Net interest expense or incorme
& Remeasurernent

The Group presents service costs in aperating costs and net interest expense or income is included in finance income. Curtailment gains
and losses are accounted for as past service costs.

The retirernent benefit obligation recognised in the consolidated staterment of financial position represents the actual deficit or surplus

in the Group's defined benefit plans. Any surplus resulting from this calculation is limited to the present value of any econoimic benefits
available in the form of refunds from the plans or reductions in future contributions to the plans. The Group makes contributions under
Admitted Body status to a number of Lucal Government 1%ension Schemss (LGPS) for the period to the end of the relevant customer contracts.
The Group will only participate in LGPS for a finite period up to the end of the relevant custorner contracts. At re-bid, any deficit or surplus
will be transferred to the next contractor. The Group recagnises the defined benelit ohligation less the fair value of scherne assets, and an
adjustment to only recognise the amount of defined benefit for which it is responsible under the contract. Movernents in this adjustment
are racognised in the same way as movements in plan assets.

A liability for a termination benefit is recognised at the earlier of when the entity can no longer withdraw the offer of the termination benefit
and when the entity recognises any related restructuring costs.

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to emplovees in respect of wages and salaries, annual leave and sick leave in the period the
related service is rendered at the undiscounted amount of the benefits expected to be paid in exchange for that service.

Liabilities recognised in respect of short-term ernployee benefits are measured at the undiscounted amount of the benefits expected to be
paid in exchange for the related service.

Share-based payment plans

The Group's management awards employee share options, from time to time, on a discretionary basis which are subject to vesting conditions.
The economic cost of awarding the share options to its employees is recognised as an employee benefit expense in the incorne statement
equivalent to the fair value of the benefit awarded. The fair value is determined by reference to the stochastic pricing model. The charge is
recognised over the vesting period of the award.

Exceptional items

Exceptional iterns are thoge that in the Directors’ view are required to be separately disclosed by virtue of their size or incidence to enable
a full understanding of the Group’s performance. This facilitates comparison with prior periods to assess trends in financial performance
morve readily. It is determined by management that each of these iters relates to events or circumstances that are non-recurring in nature.

Cash flow

Cash and cash equivalents as defined for the Statement of Cash Flows cormprisa cash in hand, cash held at bank with immediate access,
other short-term investments and bank deposits with maturities of three months or less from the date of inception, and bank overdrafts.
In the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position, cash and cash equivalents are presented net of bank overdrafts where there is a legal
right to offset, otherwise are included within borrowings in current liabilities,
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Following a review in the year, we have restated our presentation of £6.1 million of cash inflows in relation to the receipt of funds held
on long term deposits in the cash flow staternent, to be presented as operating activities rather than financing activities for the financial
period ending on 29 March 2019. The reclassified cash flows relate to consideration arising from the modification of a revenue contract,
and are therefore more appropriately presented as operating activities which is where the cash flows from revenue would be presented.

Taxation

Income tax represents the sum of the tax currently payable and deferred tax. This facilitates comparisen with prior periods to assess
trends in financial performance more readily. It is determined by management that each of these items relates to events or circumstances
that are non-recurring in nature.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year. Taxable profit differs from ‘profit before tax’ as reported in the consolidated
income statement becauss of itemns of income or expense that are taxable or deductible in other years and items that are never taxable

or deductible. The Group's gurrent tax is calculated using rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the

reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities and their tax bases. Deferred
tax liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax assets are generally recognised for all deductible
ternporary differences to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be available against which those deductible tempoerary
differences can be utilised. Such deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference arises from the initial
recognition (other than in a business combination] of assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor the
accounting profit. In addition, deferred tax liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference arises from the initial recognition

of goodwill.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of each reporting period and reduced ta the extent that it is no longer
probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax liabilities and assets are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the period in which the liability is settled
or the asset realised, based on tax rates [and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects the tax consequences that would follow fror the manner in which the
Group expects, at the end of the reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss, except when they relate to itermns that are recognised in other comprehensive
incorne or directly in equity, in which case the current and deferred tax are also recognised in other comprehensive income or directly
in equity respectively. Where current or deferred tax arises from the initial accounting of a business combination, the tax effect is
included in accounting for the business combination.

Property, plant and equipment

Landfill sites are recorded at cost less accurmulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses. The cost of landfill sites includes
the cost of acquiring, developing and engineering sites. There are no directly attributable borrowing costs. Property, plant and equipment
is stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of assets less their residual value over their useful economic lives. The estimated
useful lives, residual values and depreciation method are reviewed at the end of each reporting period, with the effect of any changes
in estimate accounted for on a prospective basis.

In the Financial Statements depreciation was recognised so as to write off the assets on the below basis;

w Buildings - length of leaze straight-line method
® Plant, vehicles and equiprnent - 4 to 15 years straight-line method
m Landfill sites - 2 to 51 years void consurned

Where the obligation to restore a landfill site is an integral part of its future economic benefits, a non-current asset within property, plant
and equipment is recognised. Changes to the obligation are recorded as adjustments to the carrying value of the asset. The asset recognised
is depreciated based on energy production and void used.

Right-of-use assets are depreciated over their expected useful lives on the same basis as owned assets. However, when there is no reasonable
certainty that ownership will be obtained by the end of the lease term, assets are depreciated over the shorter of the lease term and their
useful lives.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected to arise from the
continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising on the disposal or retirernent of an item of property, plant and equipment is determined
as the difference between the sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and is recognised in profit or loss.

Intangible assets

Intangible assets with finite useful lives that are acquired separately are carried at cost less accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment
losses. Amortisation is recognised on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives, The estimated useful life and amortisation method
are reviewed at the end ¢f éach reporting pariod, with the effect of any changes in estimate being accounted for on a prospective basis. Intangibla
assets with indefinite useful lives that are ecquired separately are carried at cost less accumulated impairment losses.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Staterments continued

1. Accounting Policies continued
Intangible assets continued
The following useful lives have been applied to the intangible assets during the periad:

# Brand - indefinite life

m Customer contracts - 3 to 20 years

= IT development - 3105 years

u Landfill gas rights - length of projected profitable gas extraction based on landfill site content degradation (average 28 year)

An internally generated intangible asset arising from developrment (or from the development phase of an internal project] is recognised ii,
and only if, all of the following have been demonstrated:

m the technical feasibility of completing the intangible asset so that it will be available for use of sale;

w theintention to complete the intangible asset and use or sell it;

m the ability to use or sell the intangible asset;

m how the intangible asset will generate probable future econormic benefits;

m the availability of adequate technical, financial and other resources to complete the development and to use or sell the intangible asset; and
» the ahility to measure reliably the expenditure attributable to the intangible asset during its development.

The amount initially recognised for internaily generated intangihle assets is the sum of the expenditure incurrad frorn the date when the
intangible asset first meets the criteria listed above. When no internally generated intangible asset can be recognised, development expenditure
is recognised in profit or 1oss in the period in which it is incurred, Expenditure on research activities is recognised as an expense in the period

in which it is incurred.

Subsequent toinitial recognition, internally generated intangible assets are reported at cost less accumulated amortisation and accumulated
impairment losses on the same basis as intangible assets that are atquired separalely. A intangible assct ic dorecognised on dispnsal,

or when no future economic benefits are expected from use or disposal. Gains or losses arising from derecognition of an intangible asset,
measured as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset, are recognised in profit or loss when
the asset is derecognised,

Impairment of tangible and intangible assets other than goodwill
Assets that have an indefinite useful life are not subject to amortisation and are tested annually for impairment.

Assets that are subject to amortisation or depreciation are reviewed for impairment whenever events or circumstances indicate that the
carrying amount may not be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the asset's carrying amount exceads
its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and value in use. For the purposes of assessing
impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which there are separately identifiable cash flows (cash-generating units).

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Costs of inventories are determined on a first-in-first-out basis. Net realisable
value represents the estimated selling price for inventories less estimated costs of completion and costs necessary to make the sale. Full provision
is made for obsolete or defective stock,

Provisions
Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation (legal or constructive] as a result of a past event, it is probable that the
Group will be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable estirnate ¢an be thade ul g sbligation.

The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the consideration required to settle the present obligation at the end of the
reporting period, taking into account the risks and uncertaintias surrcunding the obligation. When a provision is measured using the cash
flows estimated to settle the present obligation, its carrying arnount is the present value of those cash flows (when the effect of the time
value of maoney is material]. The effects of inflation and tnwinding of the discount element on existing provisions are reflected in the
Financial Statements as a finance charge.

When some or all of the economic benefits required to settle a provision are expected to be recovered from a third party, a receivable
is recognised as an asset if it is virtually certain that reimbursement will be received and the amount of the receivable can be
measured reliably.

Provisions for the cost of restoring landfill sites and aftercare costs are made as the obligation to restore the site arises. Costs are charged
1o the profit or loss over the operational life on the basis of the usage of void space for each landfill site. The restoration obligation is
typically fulfilled within two years of the landfill site being closed to waste.

Provisions for aftercare costs are made as the aftercare liability arises. Costs are charged to the profit or loss over the operational life of each
landfill site on the basis of usage of void space. When the obligation recognised as a provision gives access to future economic benefits, an
asget in property, plant and equipment is recognised. Changes in the provision arising from revised estimates that relate to the asset are
recorded as adjustments to the carrying value of the asset. The asset is depreciated over the period of gas generation which comumences
during the active phase of landfill and extends beyond the closure date, producing comrercial voluraes of gas for up to 16 years. Aftercare
costs are provided for based on the Directors' expectation that the obligation will have been fulfilled B0 years post closure of the site.

Onerous contracts

Present obligations arising under onerous contracts are recognised and measured as provisions. An onerous contract is considered to exist
where the Group has a contract under which the unavoidable costs of meeting the obligations under the contract exceed the economic
benefits expected to be received from the contract,

Service concessian arrangements

Where the Group has constructed infrastructure on behalf of a third party as part of an integrated waste management contract which grants
the Group unconditional, contractual rights to future revenues, the right to consideration is recarded as a financial asset. This financial agset
accrues finance incame and is reduced as the financial payments are received.
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Financial instruments
Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when a Group entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instruments.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value. Transaction costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition
or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities (other than financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss])

are added to or deducted from the fair value of the financial assets or financial lHabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction
costs directly attributable to the acquisition of financial assets or financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are recognised
immediately in profit or loss.

Derivative financial instruments and hedging activities

Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value on the date the entity becomes party to the contractual provisions of the instrument and
are subsequently remeasured at their fair value at each balance sheet date. The method of recognising the resulting gain or loss depends
on whether the derivative is designated as a hedging instrument and the nature of the item being hedged.

The Group designates certain derivatives as either a) fair value hedge (hedges of the fair value of recognised assets or liabilities);
or b) cash flow hedge (hedges of a particular risk associated with a recognised asset or liability or a highly probable forecast transaction);
or ¢] net investment hedge (hedges of net investments in foreign operations).

The Group documents the transaction relationship between the hedging instruments and hedged items at inception.

At inception and at each reporting date the Group assesses whether the derivatives used have been effective in offsetting changes in the fair
value of hedged items.

The fair values of derivative instruments used for hedging are shown in Note 19. Movernents in the hedging reserve are shown in the statement
of changes in equity.

At the reporting date the Group has no fair value hedges or net investrnent hedges.

Cash flow hedge
The effective portion of changes in the fair value of derivatives that are designated as cash flow hedges are recognised in equity. The Group's
cash flow hedges in respect of forward foreign exchange contracts result in recognition in either profit and loss or in the hedging reserve.

When a hedging instrument expires or is sold, any curmulative gain or loss in equity at that time remains in equity and is recognised when
the forecast transaction occurs. When a forecast transaction is no longer expected to ocour, the cumulative gain or loss that was reported in
equity will be transferred to the income staternent.

If a hedging relationship ceases to meet the hedge effectiveness requirement relating to the hedge ratio but the risk management objective
for that designated hedging relationship remains the same, the Group adjusts the hedge ratio of the hedging relationship so that it meets
the qualifying criteria again.

Changes in the fair value of any derivative instruments that do not qualify for hedge accounting are recognised immediately in the
income staternent,

Financial assets

All regular way purchases or sales of financial assets are recognised and derecognised on a trade date basis. Regular way purchases
or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets within the timeframe established by regulation or
convention in the marketplace.

Financial assets are classified into the following specified categories: financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL) and
loans and receivables.

Ali recognised financial assets are measured subsequently in their entirety at either amortised cost or fair value depending on the
classification of the financial asset.

Debt instruments that meet the following conditions are measured subsequently at amortised cost:

m The financial asset is held within a business model whose objective is to hold financial assets in order to collect contractual cash flows; and
m The contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest
on the principal amount gutstanding.

Debt instruments that meet the following conditions are measured subsequently at fair value through other comprehensive
income (FVTOCI):

m The financial asset is held within a business model whose objective is achieved by both collecting contractusl cash flows and selling
the financial assets; and

m The contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest
on the principal amount outstanding.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements continued

1. Accounting Policies continued
Financial assets continued
By default, all other financial assets are measured subsequently at FVTPL.

Amortised cost and effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a debt instrurment and of allocating interest income over
the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts (including all fees and
points paid or received that form an integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts)
through the expected life of the debt instrument, or, where appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying armeunt on initial recognition.

Income is recognised on an effective interest basis for debt instruments measured subsequently at amortised cost and at FVTDCL

Financial assets at FVTPL
Financial assets that do not meet the ¢riteria for being measured at amortised cost or FVTOCI are measured at FVTFL. Specifically:

= Investments in equity instrurnents are classified as at FVTPL, unless the Group designates an equity investment that is neither
held for trading nor a contingent consideration arising from a business combination as at FVTOCI on initial recognition.

® Debt instruments that do not meet the amortised cost criteria or the FVTOC] criteria are classified as at FVTPL. The Group has
not designated any debt instruments as at FVTPL.

Financial assets at FVTPL are stated at fair value, with any gains or losses arising on remeasurament recognised in profit or loss to the
extent that they are not part of a designated hedging relationship.

Irnpairment of financial agsets

Financial assets, other than those at F'VTPL, are assessed for indicators of impairment at the and of each reporting peried. The Group
recognises a loss allowance tor expected credil lusses. The amount of expected credit lnosses is updated at sach reporting date to reflect
changes in credit risk since initial recognition.

The expected credit losses are estirnated based on the Group’s historical credit loss experience, adjusted for factors that are specific to the
debtors, general economic conditions and an assessment of both the current as well as the forecast future conditions at the reporting date.

For financial assets, the expected credit loss is estimated as the difference between all contractual cash flows that are due to the Group
in accordance with the contract and all the cash flows that the Group expects to receive, discounted at the original effective interest rate.

In assessing whether the credit risk on a financial instrument has increased significantly since initial recognition, the Group compares the
risk of a default occurring on the financial instruraent at the reporting date with the risk of a default oocurring on the financial instrument
at the date of initial recognition. In making this assessment, the Group considers both quantitative and qualitative information that is
reasonable and supportable, including historical experience and forward-looking information that is available without undue cost or effort.

Irrespsctive of the outcome of the above assessment, the Group presumes that the credit risk on a financial asset has increased significantly
gince initial recognition when contractual payments are more than 90 days past due, unless the Group has reasonable and supportable
information that demonstrates otherwiss.

Impairment of financial instrumerits
The Group assumes that the credit risk on a financial instrument has not increased significantly since initial recognition if the financial
instrument is determined Lo have low credit risk at the reporting data. A financial instrument is determined to have low credit risk if:

w the financial instrument has a low risk of default;

w the debtor has a strong capacity to meet its contractual cash flow obligations in the near term; and

m adverse changes in eaconomic and business conditions in the longer term may, but will not necessarily, reduce the ability of the borrower
to fulfil its contractual cash flow obligations.

All customers are subject to credit scoring on a quarterly basis. The Group considers a financial asset to have low credit risk when the
external credit rating of the counterparty exceeds the Group’s minimum required score, and when the counterparty has a strong financial
position and payments are being made within the contractual terms.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of the criteria used to identify whather there has been a significant increase in credit risk
and revises thern as appropriate to ensure that the criteria are capable of identifying a significant increase in credit risk before the amount
hecomes past due.

The Group considers the below as constituting an event of default as historical experience indicates that financial assets that meet the
following criterion are generally not recoverable:

» infarmation developed internally or obtained from external sources indicates that the debtor is unlikely to pay its creditors, including
the Group, in full {without taking into account any collateral held by the Group).

Financial assets may still be subject to enforcement activities under the Group’s recovery procedures, taking into account legal advice
where appropriate.

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more events that have a detrimental impact o the estimated future cash flows of that
financial asset have occurred. Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired includes observable data such as significant financial
difficulty of the borrower or it is becoming probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation. The Group
writes off a financial asset when there is information indicating that the debtor is in severe financial difficulty and there is no realistic
prospect of recovery.
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Derecognition of financial assets
The Group derecognises a financial asset when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or when it transfers the
financial asset and substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the asset to another party.

On derecognition of a financial asset, the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the surmn of the consideration received
and receivable and the cumulative gain or loss that had been recognised in other cornprehensive income and accumulated in equity
isrecognised in profit or loss.

The Group has not participated in any material supplier financing arrangements during the current or prior year.

Financial liabilities and equity instruments

Borrowings

Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net of transaction costs incurred. Any difference between the amount initially recognised
[net of transaction costs) and the redemption value is recognised in the income statement over the period of the borrowings using the
effective interest method.

Commitment and borrowing fees ara capitalised as part of the loan and armortised over the life of the relevant agreement. All other borrowing
costs ara recognised in the income staternent in the period in which they are incurred.

Borrowings are classified as non-current liabilities where the Group has an unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for at least
12 months after the balance sheet date.

Derecognition of financial liabilities
The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only when, the Group's obligations are discharged, cancelled or they ¢xpire. The difference
between the carrying armount of the financial liability derecognised and the consideration paid and payable is recognised in profit or loss.

Share capital
Ordinary Shares are classified as equity and recorded at par value of proceeds received. Where shares are issued above par value, the proceeds
in excess of par value are recorded in the share premium account net of direct issue costs.

Dividend distribution
Final dividend distribution to the Company's shareholders is recognised as a liability in the Financial Statements in the period in which
the dividends are approved. Interim dividends are recognised when paid.

Areas of judgement and key sources of estimation uncertainty

The preparation of IFRS compliant Financial Statements requires the use of accounting estimates and assumptions and also requires
management to exercise its judgerment in the process of applying Group accounting policies. The Group continually evaluates its estimates,
assumptions and judgements based on available information and experience. As the use of estimates is inherent in financial reporting,
actual results could differ from these estimates.

Judgements
The cost of internally generated assets is capitalised as an intangible asset where it is determined by management’s judgement that the ability
to develop the assets is technically feasible, will be completed, and that the asset will generate economic benefit that outweighs its cost.

The Group also applies judgement in identifying the significant, exceptional and non-recurring items of income and expense. We have
summarised the policy in more detai} in Note 3.

Estimates
The Group has the following key sources of estimation uncertainty that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial period:

m Assetimpairment; growth rates, pre-tax discount rate, food waste, energy prices, ROC rates, gate fees and haulage costs, see Note 14

m Intangible assets; The assessment of the useful economic life of the Group's assets involves a significant amount of estimation
uncertainty based on the anticipation of future events which may impact their useful life, such as changes in technology or methods
of rernediation. Given the significant investment in technology and other assets, the Group undertakes a review of the remaining useful
lives of assets each vear and will reduce the remaining useful lives, or impair where necessary, assets that are being superceded by new
technology, see Note 13.

» Environmental and aftercare commitments; Landfill aftercare provision is a key source of estimation uncertainty in the calculation
of the provision including, long-term inflation rates, discount rates and the estimates for future expenditure of up to B0 years depending
on the date of each site closure. Estimates are applied on a site by site basis to reflect the time scales, see Note 21

= Pension obligations: discount rate, mortality, inflation, salary and longevity, see Note 29

a Uncertain tax provisions; The uncertain tax disputes; EVE, HMRC have been paid and this is treated as a prepayment in the accounts
with a corresponding liability recognised. Also, Hazardous soils assessment has similarly been paid to HMRC and treated as a prepayment
in the current year, see Notes 32 and 33

Inorder to illustrate the impact that changes in assumptions could have on the Group's results and financial position, sensitivity analysis
has been included within the Notes.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements continued

1. Accounting Policies continued
Areas of judgement and key sources of estimation uncertainty continued

In light of the current ongoing impact of the COVID-19 pandemic, valuations of certain assets and liabilities are necessarily more subjective.
In particular further areas of estimation uncertainty impacting the Group's position as at 27 March 2020 have been identified including the

valuation of certain pension assets, in particular unquoted equities and property investments Note 19,

The Board believes that the potential irmpact of Brexit on the Group wiil be relatively limited given that it operates primarily within the United
Kingdem. Principal risks include foreign exchange movements, imposition of tariffs and potential constraint of labour supplies. The Board will
continue to closely monitor developrments in the UK Gevernunent's Brexit plans and any potential impatts on the Group. Similarly, management
will continue to mornitor potential cost impacts on services and seek to discuss those with customers as appropriate, on a case by case basis.

2. Segmental Information

The Group is managed by type of business and is organised into two operating divisions. With effect from the start of the 52 weeks ended
27 March 2020, the Group has been reorganised into two operating divisions. The divisions were merged according to type of service offered.
Collections comprises of Waste and recycling collections and related services to industrial, commercial, municipal and household customers.
Resources & Energy consists of Waste and recycling treatment and energy generation services. The historic Municipal and Industrial &
Cormmercial divisions have been merged into the Collections division. The Resource Recovery & Treatment and Energy divisions have been
merged into the Resources & Energy division. The Hazardous Waste business was transferred from the Resource Recovery & Treatment
division into the new Gollections division. The prior period results have therefore been restated for cormparison purposes.

These divisions represent the business segments in which the Group reports its primary segment information and are consistent with the
internal reporting pravided to the chief operating decision maker. The chief operating decision maker, wha is respansible for allgeating
resources and assessing performance of the operating segments, has been identified as the Group Executive Team. The activities of the

divisions are detailed on pages 21-24. The Group’s segmental results are as follows:

Revenue within segments is eliminated on consolidation.

2019
2020 £
£m restated
Revenue
Collections 870.8 797.3
Resources & Energy 292.3 292.9
Statutory Revenue 1,163.1 L0912
2020 2019
£m £m
Revenue reconciliation
Statutory Revenue 1,163.1 10812
Landmnll Tax (60.3) [60.4)
NetRevenue 1,102.8 1,030.8
Growth
£m factor
FY19 Net Revenue 1,030.8
Acquisition revenue growth 467 4.5%
Organic revenue growth 25.3 2.5%
FY20 Net Revenue 1,102.8

Sales betweean operating divisions are carried out at arm’'s langth.
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All trading activity and operations are in the United Kingdom and there is therefore no secondary reporting format by geographical segment.
There is no single customer that accounts for more than 10% of Group revenue (2019: none).

2020 IFRS16 2020 2019

Post IFRS 16 Adjustment Pre IFRS 16 £

£m £m £m restated

Underlying EBITDA

Collections 126.4 (1L2) 115.2 106.5

Resaurces & Energy 634 (5.6 578 58.1
Group costs (15.8) 2.1) (17.9) (14.9)

Underlying EBITDA 174.0 (18.9) 156.1 150.7
Depreciation and amortisation (83.5) 16.1 (67.4) (69.0)

Underlying Operating Profit 90.5 (2.8} 877 817
Exceptional itermns (Note 3] 4¢.49) - 4.9) {18.2)
Amortisation of acquisition intangibles (16.9) - (16.9) (16.5)
Impact of real discount rate changes tolandfill provisions 4.9 - 4.9 (16)

Operating Profit 74.1 (2.8} 71.3 a45.4

Finance income 34 - 34 15
Finance charges (21.0) 4.2 [16.8) [25.4)
Share of result in joint venture [(0.1) - (0.1) -
Profit before taxation 56.4 1.4 57.8 215

The 52-week period ended 29 March 2019 hag been restated to reflect the Group reocrganisation into two eperating divisions. The historical
Municipal and Industrial & Commercial divisions have been merged into the Gollections division. The Resource Recovery & Treatment and
Energy divisions have been merged into the Resources & Energy division. The Hazardous Waste business was transferred from the Resource

Recovery & Treatment division into the new Collections division.

Group costs represent those components of shared services and corporate costs (including, inter alia, board and corporate costs, finance,
HR, IT, legal and insurance, external affairs and SHEQ) that cannot be meaningfully allocated to the operating segments.

Underlying EBITDA represents the underlying profit earned by each segment without allocation of the share of depreciation and amortisation,
exceptional iterns, finance costs, material impacts of changes in real discount rate applied to the Group's lang-term landfill provisions
and income tax expense. Underlying Operating Profit recognises the impact of depresiation and amortisation excluding the amortisation

of acquisition intangibles. These measuyes are both reported to the Group Executive Team for the purpose of resource allocation and

assessment of segment performance,

The exceptional costs of £4.4m [2019: £18.2m] are disclosed in Note 3.

2020 IFR516 2020 2019
PostIFRS 16 Adoption FPre IFRS 16 £m
£m £m £ restated
Underlying Operating Profit

Collections 722 7 70.5 Bl15
Resources & Energy 377 (0-8) 36.9 371

Group costs (19.4) (0.3) [19.7) (16.9)
90.5 (2.8) 877 817
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements continued

2. Segmental Information continued

The 52-week period ended 29 March 2019 has been restated to reflect the Group reorganisation into twoe operating divisions. The historical
Municipal and Industrial & Commercial divisions have been merged into the Collections division. The Resource Recovery & Treatment and
Energy divisions have been merged into the Resources & Energy division. The Hazardous Waste business was transferred from the Resource
Recovery & Treatment division into the new Collections division.

2020 2020

2020 IFRS16 Pre 2019
Post [IFR5 16 adoption IFRS 16 £m
£m £m £m restated

Tangible and intangible assets net book value
Collections 325.6 (77.8) 248.0 2470
Resources & Energy 309.6 [474) 262.2 256.5
Shared services and corporate 89.5 (1a.4) 751 74,9
Total 724.7 {139.4) 585.3 578.4

The 52-week period ended 29 March 2019 has been restated to reflect the Group reorganisation into two operating divisions. The historical
Municipal and Industrial & Cormmmercial divisions have been merged into the Collections division. The Resource Recovery & Treatment and
Energy divisions have been merged into the Resources & Energy division. The Hazardous Waste business was transferred from the Resource
Recovery & Treatment division into the new Collections division.

2020 2020 2020
Post LERS 16 Pre 2018
IFRS 16 adoption IFRS 16 £
£m £ £m restated

Capital sxpenditure

Collections 65.4 (13.2) 52.2 78.0
Resources & Energy 48.1 (8.5) 39.6 213
Shared services and corpaorate 6.4 - 6.4 71
119.9 21.7} aB.2 106.4

Capital expenditure comprises additions to intangible assets and property, plant and equipment including leased assets.

The 52-week period ended 29 March 2019 has been restated to reflect the Group reorganisation into two operating divisions. The historical
Municipal and Industrial & Coramercial divisions have been merged into the Collections division. The Resource Recovery & Treatment and
Energy divisions have been merged into the Resources & Energy division. The Hazardous Waste business was transferred from the Resource
Recovery & Treatment division into the new Collections division.

The Industrial & Commercial division expenditure includes £3.2m of acquired agsets as detailed in Note 11.

2020 2020 202a
Post IFR516 Pre 2019
IFRS18 adoption IFRS 18 £m
£m £m £m restated

Depreciation and amortisation

Collections 542 {9.5) 447 45,0
Resources & Energy 25,7 4.9) 20.8 22.0
Shared services and corporate 3.7 7 2.0 2.0
83.6 (16.1) 675 B9.0
Amortisation of acquisition intangibles 16.9 - 16.9 16.5
Total 100.5 (16.1) 84.4 85.5

Depreciation and amortisation relates to the write down of both intangible and tangible fixed assets over their estimated useful economic
lives. Amaortisation of acquisition intangibles is disclosed separately in line with the segmental Underlying Operating Profit.

The 52-week perind ended 29 March 2019 has been restated to reflect the Group reorganisation into two operating divisions. The his{orical
Municipal and Industrial & Commercial divisions have been merged into the Collections division. The Resource Recovery & Treatment and
Energy divisions have been merged intc the Resources & Energy division. The Hazardous Waste business was transferred from the Resource
Recovery & Treatment division into the new Collections division.
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3. OtherItems

The Group's financial performance is analysed into two components, underlying performance (which excludes other items) and other items.
Underlying performanee is used by managernent to ronitor financial performance as it is considered it aids comparability of the reported
financial performance year to year. The Group's income statement and segmental analysis separately identify a number of Alternative
Performance Measures (APMs) in addition to those reported under IFRS. The Directors believe that the presentation of the results in this way,
which is not meant to be a substitute for or superior to IFRS measures, is relevant to an understanding of the Group's underlying trends, financial
performance and position. These APMs are also used to enhance the comparability of information between reporting periods and the Group's
divisions, by adjusting for non-recurring or uncontrollable factors which affect IFRS measures, to aid the user in understanding the underlying
performance. Our APMg and KPIs are aligned to our strategy and together form the basis of the performance measures for remuneration.
Consequently, APMs are consistent with how the business performance is planned and reported internally to the Board and Operating
Comrmnittees to aid their decision making. Additionally, some of these measures are used for the purpose of setting remuneration targets.

Other items includes exceptional iterns, amortisation of acquisition intangibles and the impact of real discount rate changes in landfill provisions.

Management utilises an exceptional itern framework that has been approved by the Board. This follows a three step process which considers
the nature of the event, the financial materiality involved and the particular facts and circumstances.

Iterns of income and expenise that are considered by management for designation as exceptional items include items such as significant
corporate restructuring costs, acquisition-related costs, write downs or impairments of non-current assets, movernents on onerous contract
provisions and strategy-related costs, including the implementation of Project Fusion.

2020 2019
Included within operating profit: Em £m
Exceptional items:
Acquisition related costs 11 2.8
Onerous contracts (1.5) 10.2
Strategy related and gorporate restructuring costs 4.8 21
Pensions GMP equalisation - 3.1
Total exceptional iterns 4.4 18.2
Other non-underlying items:
Amortisation of acquisition intangibles 16.9 16.5
Impact of real discount rate changes to iandfill provisions (4.9) 18
Total non-underlying itemns 16.4 36.3
Corporate restructuring costs included within finance costs:
Finance charges (11) 6.2
Taxation impact of other items (3.5) (8.0)
2020 2019
£m £m
Segmental excaptional items:
Collections 0.7 9.3
Resources &Energy {1.5]) 3.7
Group costs 5.2 52
4.4 18.2

Acquisition-related costs

Delivery of the Group's strategy includes investment in acquisitions that enhance the guality of its operations. The exclusion of significant
items arising from M&A activity is designed by the Board to align short-term operational decisions with this longer-term strategy. Accordingly,
amounts arising on acquisitions are excluded from underlying profit measures. The £1.1m of acquisition-related expenditure in the 62 weeks
ended 27 March 2020 relates to professional fees and ather costs which are directly attributable to acquisitions.

The £2.8m of acquisition-related expenditure in the 52 weeks ended 29 March 2018 relates to professional fees and other costs which are
directly attributabie to acquisitions. This includes £0.7m in relation to the acquisition of 100% of the issued share capital of Specialist
Waste Recycling Limited and £0.9m in relation to the acquisition of Weir Waste Services Limited.

Onerous contracts

Onerous contract costs reflect all moverent on onerous service contract provisions. In the prior period the Group identitied two contracts
which were loss making and not expected to return to profitability; the Directors accordingly provided for these. In the 52-weeks ended

27 March 2020, no further onerous contracts have been identified. Onerous contract costs include the unwinding of provisions recognised
on all loss-making contracts in prior periods. Any additional provisions required against these contracts, or unwinding of these provisions,
is reflected within exceptional items on the basis that they do not represent the underlying year-on-year trading of each of these contracts.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements continued

3. OtherItems continued

Strategy-related and corporate restructuring costs

Strategy-related costs arise from Group-wide initiatives to reduce the ongoing cost base and improve efficiency in the business. These

costs are substantial in scope and impact, and do not form part of recurring operational or management activities that the Directors would
consider part of our underlying performance. Adjusting for these charges provides a rmeasure of operating profitability that is comparable
over time. Strategy-related costs primarily relate to the Group’s system replacement programre Project Fusion. Within the year the Group
received compensation of £4.4m from the original systems integrator, this was offset against a write off of some previously capitalised costs.
The net charge relating to Project Fusion is £3.8m, this was ingurred progressing Project Fusion following the project pause and change of
advisers. The Project has now been put on hold temporarily due to COVID-19.

Amortisation of acquisition intangibles

Amortisation of acquisition intangibles represents the amount amortised by the Group in each period in respect of intangibles from prior
acguisitions, which amounts are reported separately frorn the Group's depreciation and amortisation charges. The charges are reported
separately and performance of the acquired business is assessed through the underlying operational results. The Group uses this alternative
performance measure [APM] to improve the comparability of information between reporting periods and its divisions to aid the user

of the Annual Report in understanding the activities taking place across the Group’s portfolio.

GMP egualisation

As a result of the 2018 High Court ruling that Lloyds Banking Group must amend its pension schemes in order to equalise benefits for men
and woren. In the prior year an additional past service cost of £3.1m being recognised in the 52-week period ended 29 March 2019. This
was reported separately to aid the understanding of the Group’s performance as it is a non-operational itermn.

Impact of real discount rate changes to landfill provisions
Impact of real discount rate changes to landfill provisions reflects the impact on provisions which arises wholly due to the change in
discourt rate on landfill provisions as this is not reflective ot operational petluiiiiaince.

inaddition to the Jther items disclosed above, the Group uses Return on Operating Assets and Return on Capital Employed as performance
measures, These are aligned to the strategy and are reported internally to the Board and Operating Comruittees to aid their decision making.
These are calculated as below:

2020 IFR5 16 2020
Post IFRS 16 Adoption Pre IFRS 16 2019
£m £m £m £m
Return on Operating Assets
Underlying Operating Profit* 90.5 (2.8) 877 817
Average of property, plant and equipment® 514.0 (134.9] 374.1 357.5
Average net working capital® [(46.7) - {46.7) (37.6)
Total average ot property, plant and equipinent plus net working capital® 467.3 [134.9) 3324 318.9
Return on Operating AssetsS 19.4% 26.4% 265.5%

1 Profit before exceptional items, amortisation of agguired intangibles, impact of real discount rate changes to landfill provisions, finance costs and taxation.
2 Average of opening and closing net baok value of property, plant and equipment.
3 Average balance in 2020 and 2019 of the closing net of inventories, trade and other receivables and trade and other payables.
4 Average property, plant and equipment has been adjusted for the balance recognised on the adoption of IFRS 16.
5 Return on Operating Assets is determined by Underlying Operating Profit divided by the average of opening and closing PP&E plus net working capital.
2020 2020
Post IFRG 16 IFR516 Pre IFR5 16 2019
£m Adjustment Em £m
Return en Capital Employed
Operating profit 74.1 (2.8) 713 45.4
Exceptional iterns {Note 3) 4.4 - 4.4 182
Impact of real discount rate changes tolandfill provisions (Note 3} 4.9} - {4.9} 16
Adjusted operating profit 73.8 2.8) 70.8 65.2
Average of sharehoclders’ equity! 385.6 0.5 386.1 3507
Average net debt? 4713 (138.0) 339.3 336.0
Average retirermnent benefits [101.8) - [(101.8) (65.2)
Average environmental provisions B62.0 - 62.0 70.8
8231 137.5) 685.6 692.3
Average Return on Capital Employed® B8.9% 10.3% 9.4%

1 Average of opening and closing shareholders' equity.
2 Netdebt carnprises the average net debt in 2020 and 2018 (Note 27].

3 Retvrn on Capital Employed is determined by adjusted operating profit givided by the average of opening and closing shareholders equity. pius the average
of net debt, pensions and environmental provisions.
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4. Finance Income and Charges

2020 2019
£m fm
Finance charges
Interest on bank overdrafts, bonds and loans (.03 (17.9)
Interest on obligations under lease liabilities (4-2) 5.0)
IFRS 16 lease interest 4.2) -
Interest unwind on discounted provisions (1.8) 20
Interest on forward contracts - (0.5)
Total finance charges (21.0) (25.4)
Interestincome 1.4 0.2
Interest on net retirement benefit {pension) 2.0 13
Finance income 3.4 15
Net finance charges (17.6) (23.93
Recognised in other items (Note 3)
2020 2018
£m £
Finance charges
Interest on bank overdrafts, bonds and loans - (3.8)
Fair value discount unwind on EVP preference instrurnent 1.1 (2.4)
Total finance charges 1.1 (6.2)

During the period total finance charges have decreased by £4.4m. The reduction of interest on bank overdrafts, bonds and loans is largely due
to the refinancing in March 201%. During the year the Group has also renegotiated loan borrowings and bonding facilities at more favourable
rates. There has also been g natural decline in the nurnber of older, more expensive lease liabilities, resulting in reduced financing costs. This
amount also includes an additional £4.2m of interest on right-of-use asset leases recognised due to the implementation of IFRS 16. The £3.8m
of interest on bank loans recognised in the prior period in other items is the write off of previously capitalised borrowing costs which arose a
result of the completion of the Group refinancing in the prior year. The finance charges are adjusted by £1.1m for the fair value EVP discount

unwind which is not part of the Group’s underlying results as defined in Note 3. Further details on EVP are expanded in Note 34.

5. Financial Instrument Gains and Losses

2020 2019
£m £
Financial assets atamortised cost
Interest incorme 3.4 1.5
Financial liabilities at amortised cost
Interest expense (21.0) {25.4)
6. Profit/(Loss) Before Taxation
2020
2020 IFRS 16 2020
Post IFRS 16 adoption Pre IFRS 16 2018
£m £m £m £
The following items have been included in arriving
at the pre-tax profit/(loss):
Exnployee costs [Note 7) 292.4 - 292.4 283.0
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment
u Owned assets 36.3 - 36.3 380
m Assets held under lease liabilities 46.3 [16.1) 30.2 29.7
Amortisation of intangible assets
= Acguisition intangibleg [Note 2) 16.9 - 16.9 18.5
m Other intangibles 1.0 - 1.0 13
Expense relating to short-term leases and leases of low-value assets:
m Plant and machinery - - - 1.9
m Other 0.7 16.1 16.8 129
Exceptional items (Note 3] 4.4 - 4.4 18.2
Income from sub-leasing right-of-use assets (2.2) - 2.2) nfa
Profit on disposal of property, plant and equipment 1.0 - 1.0 2.2
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements continued

6. Profit/{Loss) Before Taxation continued
Underlying operating costs have been split into administration and distribution costs as detailed below:

2020 20189
£m Em

Operating costs
Distribution costs 20.1 21.7
Administrative expenses 398 28.8
59.9 50.5

7. Employees and Directors
The average monthly number of persons {including Executive Directors] erployed by reporting segment, by the Group during the period was:

2013
2020 Nuraber
Number restated

By segment
Collections 6,989 6,501
Resources & Energy 788 867
Shared services and corporate 368 354
8,145 7822

The 52-week period ended 29 March 2019 has been restated to reflect the Group reorganisation in two operating divisions. The historical
Municipal and Industrial & Cormmercial divisions have merged into the Collections division. The historical Resource Recovery & Treatment
and Energy divisions have been merged into the Resources & Energy division. The Hazardous Waste business was transferred from the
Resgurce Recovery and Treatment division into the new Collections division.

2020 2019
£m £m

Their aggregate remuneration comprised:
Wages and salaries 254.7 2465
Social security costs 24.2 18.4
Other pension costs 12.3 15.3
Redundancy and termination payments 1.2 1.8
2924 283.0

The remuneration of the Directors is set out on pages 62-87 within the Directors’ Réport ot Reltuneiativn desuribead s being oudited and
forms part of these Financial Statements,

Key management compensation

2013
2020 Restated
£m £m

Their aggregate remuneration comprised:
Wages and salaries 2.2 2.4
Social security costs 11 0.6
Other pension costs 0.3 0.3
Long-term incentives 2.5 11
Short-term incentives 14 1.5
75 58

Key management personnsl have been defined as the Group Executive Team.
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8. Auditor’s Remuneration
The analysis of the Company and Biffa Group's auditor's remuneration is as follows:

2020 2018
£m £m
Fees payable to the Company’s auditor for the audit of the Company's Consolidated annual
Financial Statements 0.6 0.6
Fees payable to the Company’s auditor for the audit of the Company’s subsidiaries 0.3 0.3
Total audit fees 09 0.9
Audit-related assurance services 0.1 01
Total audit and non-audit fees 1.0 1.0
The other assurance services provided by the auditor related to agreed upon procedures and other assurance services outside of
statutory requirernents.
9, Income Tax Recognised in Profit or Loss
2020 2019
£fm £
Current tax
Inrespect of the current year - o.e
Adjustment in respect of prior years 0.1 (o1}
0.1 01
Deferred tax
Origination and reversal of temporary differences 11.4 5.0
Adjustment in respect of prior years (0.8) (11)
Adjustment attributable to changes in tax rates and laws 0.1 (0.5)
10.7 3.4
10.8 35

Total tax charge

Corporation tax is ¢alculated at 19% (2019: 19%) of the estimated assessable profit for the period. The charge for the peried can be reconciled

to the profit per the consclidated income statement as follows:

2020
Underlying Other
activities iterns Total
£m £m £m
Profit before tax 717 (15.3) 56.4
Prafit on ordinary activities multiplied by the standard rate of corporation tax
in UK of 19% (2019: 19%) 13.6 2.9 107
Effects of:
Over provision in respect of prior years - - -
Expenses not deductible for tax purposes 08 - 0.8
Non-taxable incorme (0.1) - (0.1)
Effect of change in tax rate - (0.6) (0.8)
Total taxation 14.3 (3.5) 10.8
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Notes to the Cansolidated Financial Statements continued

9. Income Tax Recognised in Profit or Loss continued

2019
Underlying Other
activities iterns Total
£m £m fm
Profit before tax 64.0 {42.5) 215
Profit on ordinary activities multiplied by the standard rate of corporation tax
in UK of 19% {2018: 19%) 122 (8.1) 41
Effects of:
Over provision in respect of prior years - (L2) (1.2)
Expenses not deducstible for tax purposes 05 0.8 13
Non-taxable income [0.2) - (0.2)
Effect of change in tax rate - (0.5] (0.5}
Total taxation 185 8.0 35
In addition to the amount credited to the consolidated income statement, the following amounts have been credited/[charged) directly
to equity:
2020 2018
£m fra
Deferred tax (charge] arising on actuarial (gains)/losses (8.3) (4.9)
Deferred tax (charge] arising on share-based paymants (0.2) (0.9)
Tota) deferred tax charged directly to eguity (8.5) 5.8)

Budgset 2020, substantively enacted on 17 March 2020, announced that the main UK corporation tax rate applicable from 1 April 2020 now
remains at 19%, rather than the previously enacted reduction to 17%. As deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the rates expected

to apply in the period of the reversal, deferred tax balances have been calculated at 19%.

As the Group’s presence is mainly in the UK we do not envisage a significant impact on the Group following the decision of the UK

Cavernment to invoke Article 50 to leave the EU.

The UK have introduced various stimulus/reliefs for businesses to cope with the impact of COVID 19 pandemic. We will monitor as the

details become available for any that may materially impact our future tax charges.

10. Earnings per Share

Basic Earnings per Ordinary Share are based on the Group profit for the year and a weighted average of 250,000,000 (2013: 250,000,000)

Ordinary Shares in issue during the year.

An underlying Earnings per Ordinary Share figure has bean presented to eliminate the effects ol uxveplivnal items, amortisation of acquisition
intangibles and the impact of the change in the real discount rate to long-term provisions. The presentation shows the trend in Earnings

per Ordinary Share that ig attributable to the underlying trading activities of the Group.

The recongiliation between the basic and underlying figures for the Group is as follows:

2020 2019

Earnings Earnings
per Share per Share
Em pence £m pence

Profit attributable to owners of parent Company for basic Earnings per Share
calculation 45.6 18.3 18.0 72
Other items [Note 3] 11.8 4.3 335 13.4
Underlying earnings 574 231 515 20.6
2020 2019
Total number of Ordinary Shares 250.0 250.0
Shares held in employee benefit trust in respect of share options (1.9) -
Weighted average number of Ordinary Shares for the purposes of basic Earnings per Share 248.1 250.0

Effect of dilutive potential Ordinary Shares

Share options 8.5 -
Weighted average number of Ordinary Shares for the purposes of diluted Earnings pex Share 254.6 250.0
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11. Acquisitions

52 weeks ended 27 March 2020

On 1 July 2019, the Group paid IWMS Wastecollection.com Limited £2.5m for the purchase of customer lists in both the collections and
brokerage arms of the business, along with the Wastecollection.com brand and containers. It was acquired in order to extend the Group’s
commercial customer base and market presence in the region, and is highly complementary to the Group’s existing business. IWMS
Collection.com Limited contributed £2.3m of revenue and £0.3rm of profit for the period between the date of acquisition and the balance
sheet date. If the acquisition had been completed on the first day of the financial period, Group revenues would have increased by £8.2m
and Group profit would have increased by £0.4m.

On 30 September 2019, the Group acguired vehicles, containers, lease liability and custorner lists from Ribbex UK Limited for £2.0m.
During the year the Group also acquired certain trade and assets of:

m Kier Group
m Winchester City Council I&C contract; and
a Thamesdown Recveling

Total net assets of £0.5m were acquired for cash consideration of £0.6m resulting in goodwill of £0.1m being recognised. If these acquisitions
had been completed on the first day of the financial period, Group revenues would have increased by £6.6m and Group profit before interest

and tax would have increased by £0.8m.

The preliminary amounts recognised in respect of the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed are as set out in the table below:

TWMS Waste
Collection.com Ribbex Other Total
Limited Limited acquisitions preliminary
£ £fm £m £m
Property, plant and equiprment 01 06 - 0.7
Intangible assets 13 Q7 0.5 2.5
Debtors - - - -
Cash and cash equivalents - - - -
Deferred tax [liability)/asset {02) (0.1) - (0.3)
Creditors - - - -
Borrowings - (05) - (0.5)
Total net assets 1.2 0.7 0.5 2.4
Goodwill 1.3 1.3 0.1 27
Total consideration 2.5 2.0 0.6 51
Satisfied by:
Cash 2.5 2.0 0.6 5.1
Total consideration transferred 2.5 2.0 0.6 51
Net cash outflow arising on acquisition:
Cash consideration 2.5 2.0 0.6 5.1
Less: cash and cash equivalent balances acquired - - - -
2.5 2.0 0.6 51

No contingent liabilities were identitied at the acquisition date. Acquisition-related costs included in exceptional costs amount to £1.1m.

The preliminary total goodwill of £2.7m arising from these acquisitions represents an increase in Industrial & Commercial businesses
and the Group's strategy to become the leading UK-based integrated waste management business. None of the goodwill is expected to
be deductible for income tax purposes,

52 weeks ended 29 March 2019

On 16 August 2018, the Group acquired 100% of the issued share capital of Weir Waste Services Limited, a leading provider of waste and
recycling splution in the Birmingharm and West Midlands region. It was acguired in order to extend the Group's commercial customer
base and market presence in theregion, and is highly complementary to the Group’s existing business.

On 11 March 2019, the Group acquired 100% of the issued share capital of Specialist Waste Recycling Limited. It was acquired in order
to extend the Group’s commercial customer base and is highly complermentary to the Group’s existing business.

The Group acquired certain trade and assets of:

m London Recycling Services Limited on 30 April 2018
m Bisset Waste Management Limited on 30 April 2018
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements continued

11, Acquisitions continued

52 weeks ended 28 March 2019 continued

» BEA Recyeling Limited 31 August 2018

m The Kier Group on 31 O¢tober 2018

m Saving British Business Money Limited on 30 Novermber 2018

Total net assets of £19.2m were acquired for cash consideration of £46.9m resulting in goodwill of £27.7m being recognised.

If these acquisitions had been completed on the first day of the financial period, Group revenues for the period would have increased by
£57.9m and Group profit would have increased by £2.7m.

12. Goodwill
Total
fin
Cost:
As at 30 March 2018 100.8
Additions 279
As at29 March 2019 128.7
Purchase price adjustment 1.3
Additions a7
As at 27 March 2020 1327
Amortisation:
As at 30 March 2018 [0.5)
As at 29 March 2019 (0.5)
As at 27 March 2020 {0.5)
Net book amount:
‘Asat27March2020 1322
As at 29 March 2019 128.2
2020 2018
£m £m
By segment
Collections 82.9 88.9
Resources & Energy 30.3 39.3
132.2 128.2

The purchase price adjustment is in relation to Weir Waste Services Limited and the associated deferred tax. The Group completed the
acquisition of Weir Waste Services on 16 August 2018. Subsequent to the acquisition it was identified that the previous operators had been
operating the MRF in a non-compliant way and as a result the underlying MRF performance was misstated at acquisition. As a result of these
isgues, it has also been determined that the carrying value of the plant should be written down.

The purchase price allocation has been reconsidered and an adjustment made to reflect the revised carrying value of the MRF

The Group reviews at each reporting period whether there are any indicators of impairment in accordance with JAS 36 Impairment of Assets.
An annual impairment review is completed by comparing the carrying amount of the goodwill for each operating segment to its recoverable
amount. The recoverable amaount is the higher of its fair value less costs of disposal and its value in use. If the recoverable amount is less
than the carrying amount, an irnpairment logs is allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of the goodwill and then to the assets of

the cash-generating unit. In the current year all cash-generating units have been valued on the basis of value in use, with the exception

of Leicester which uses fair value lass costs of disposal.

The valuation of goodwill allocated to the Resources & Energy cash-generating unit is noted to be most sensitive to any changes in assumptions
due to the limited headroom of £63m. The key assumptions when calculating the value in use are forecast revenue and costs. Management's
calculation of value in use has been developed frorm forecast five-year cash flows which are prepared on the basis of past performance,
expectation of future performance and market information and a consistent growth rate thereafter, based on the underlying assets of each
division. The final year growth rate assumption used beyond the five-year plan period based on market trends, after adjusted for assumed
inflation, is 3.0% (2013: 3.0%] for the landfiil gas CGU and 2.0% (2018: 2.0%] for the other operating divisions. These assumptions are considered
appropriate based on the long-term nature of the business. These forecasts are adjusted to the extent that events since they were developed
fthe impact of COVID 19]) indicate that they may nolonger be relevant. A pre-tax discount rate of 9.01% [2019: 8.28%) was applied across all
cash-generating units as the inherent risks have been included in the segmental cash flow forecasts. No reasonably foreseeable change in
the assumptions used in the value in use calculations would cause an impairment to any of the Collections or Resources & Energy cash-
generating units,
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13. Other Intangible Assets

Landfill gas IT Customer
rights development Brand contracts Total
£m £m £m £rm £m

Cost:
Asat 30 March 2018 190.2 181 348 578 298.5
Opening IFRS 15 adjustment - - - (6.9] (6.9)
Additions - 37 - - 37
Acquired through business combination - 0.3 21 13.5 15.9
Disposals - {0.7] - - {07)
As at29 March 2019 190.2 19.4 36.7 64.2 3105
Acquired through business combination - - 0.3 2.2 25
Additions - 3.8 - - 3.8
Compensation - [4.4] - - 4.4)
Disposals - [0.4]) - - (0.4)
Asat 27 March 2020 190.2 18.4 37.0 66.4 312.0
Accumulated amortisation:
As at 30 March 2018 f47.9) (1.2) (0.8) (31.7] (81.8)
Opening IFRS 15 adjustment - - - 1.4 1.4
Charge for the period (10.2) (1.3] (0.4 (5.9] (17.8]
Disposals - 0.5 - - 0.5
As at29 March 2019 (68.1) (2.0) (1.2) (36.2) (97.5)
Charge for the period (10.2) (0.9) - (6.8) (27.9)
Disposals - 04 - - 0.4
As at 27 March 2020 (68.2) [2.5) a2 (a3.0) (115.0)
Net book amount:
As at 27 March 2020 121.9 15.9 35.8 234 197.0
As at 29 March 2019 132.1 174 355 28.0 213.0
Asat 30 March 2018 142.3 14.9 33.8 25.9 216.9

All amortisation charges are recognised in profit or loss. Included within IT development costs are internally generated assets with anet
book value of £14.1m (2019: £16.5m). The amortisation charge in relation to these assets was £0.9m (2019: £0.8m]. During the current period
the Group received compensation of £4.4ra from one of its suppiiers due to the non-performance of its obligations under contracted terms.

Given the significant investment in technology and IT development, the Group undertakes a review of the remaining useful lives of assets
each year and impairs where necessary those that are superseeded by new technology. The key estimates underpinning the value
in use for IT projects is the forecast costs. A 10% change in the forecast cost would reduce the value in use by £1.4m.

The landfill gas rights ara amortised over the length of projected profitable gas extraction based upon landfill site degradation. The calculations
that determine available gas reserves involve a number of estimates and judgements. Should the amortisation profile be shortened to reflect a
weighted gas consumption in earlier years, this could result in an increased arnortisation charge of circa. £8.8m in the next year, which would
the subsequently reduce in future years.

As at 27 March 2020, the landfili gas CGU had a value in use of £133.9m against assets of £131.0m. The Group's reasonable worst case scenario
represents an increase in the gas degradation rate of the sites by an additional 2%, which would reduce the value in use by £10.5m. A change
in the discount rate from the pre tax rate from 9% to 12% would reduce the values in use by £13.5m.

The export energy prices have been assumed to be £52.42 at the end of FY24. The reasonable worst case scenario of no growth in energy
prices beyond this point would result in a reduction of £8.9m to the value in use.

IFRS 3 requires that on acquisition, intangible assets are recorded at fair value. The Biffa brand was first created in the sarly 20th century
and has been used throughout the Group since then. It remains a highly recognisable brand. Given the longevity of the brand, the Directors
consider the asset to have an indefinite life. The Directors reconsider the valuation of the brand at each reporting date. The recognition of
brand and landfill gas rights as intangible assets initially arose during the fair value exercise undertaken following the acquisition of the
Biffa Group by Wasteshargholderco 1in 2008. The values were subsequently remeasured following the restructuring of the Group in 2013.

In 2019, the SWR brand was acquired on acquisition of Specialist Waste Recycling Limited for £2.1m.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements continued

14. Property, Plantand Equipment

Land and Plant, vehicles Total
buildings Landfill Sites and Equipment preliminary
£m £m frn £m

GCost:
As at 30 March 2618 70.6 77.8 308.0 456.4
Additions 1.8 6.6 59.6 780
Acquired through business combination 35 - 5.9 9.4
Disposals r0.4) - (45.0) (45.4)
Reclassifications 0.2 [0.5) (2.9} 8.2
As at 29 March 2019 75.7 839 335.6 4952
Adoption of [FRS 16 128.6 - 5.3 134.8
As at 30 March 2019 205.3 B83.9 340.9 630.1
Additions 116 47 965 1128
Acquired through business combination - - o7 0.7
Disposals 21 - (42.3) (44.4)
Reclassifications® - 02 - (0.2)
As at 27 March 2020 214.8 884 395.8 699.0
Accumulated depreciation:
As at 30 March 2018 [15.6) [41.0) [50.3) [106.9)
Charge for the pericd (4.0} (6.1) (578] (67.7]
Impairment of assets - - (0.8) {0.8)
Dispoesals 0.4 - 447 45.1
Reclassifications - - 0.5 0.5
As at 29 March 2019 [19.2) (a7.1) (63.5) (129.8)
Purchase price adjustment - -~ (1.5) (1.5)
Charge for the period [185) (4.9) 161.2) (82:8)
Disposals 1.0 - 41.6 428
Reclassifications* - ~ - -
As at 27 March 2020 3a.7) (52.0) (84.6) (171.3)
Net book amount:
As at 27 March 2020 180.1 36.4 311.2 5277
As at 29 March 2019 56.5 36.8 2721 365.4
As at 30 March 2018 55.0 36.8 2677 349.5

1 Reclasifications relate to Landfill sites includes £6.7m (2018: £7.7rq) in relation to future econormic benefit to be derived as a result of actively fulfilling aftercare
obligations that results in gas generation. Landfill site additions include £0.2m (2019: £0.7m)] in relation to the future economic benefit to be derived as a result of
actively fulfilling aftercare obligations that results in gas generatiorn. When the obligation recognised as a provision gives access to future economic benefits, an
asset in property, plant and equiprment is recognised. Changes in the provision arising from revised estimates that relate to the asset are recorded as adjustments
to the carrying value of the asset. When the carrying value of the asset is niegative, these are classified to provisions.
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The Group leases assets including buildings and plant and equipraent. The average lease term is 4.5 years (2019: 3.4 years). The Group has
options to purchase certain plant and equipment for a nominal amount at the end of the lease term. The Group's obligations are secured
by the lessors' title to the leased assets for such leases.

The valuation of certain assets within the landfill gas energy (see Note 13] and certain organic cash generating units within the Resource
and Energy segments are sensitive to a number of assumptions: the value in use is considered to be most sensitive to changes on future ROC
Recycle price, market prices for food waste, export energy prices, the growth rate and discount rates. The assumptions have been calculated
based on external market reports within the 5 year plan period. Beyond the 5 vear plan pericd the assumptions have been inflated using the
cash-generating units assumed growth rate of 2% with the exception of landfill gas which uses 3%.

As at the 27 March 2020 the Poplars AD CGU had a value in use of £22.3m versus gross segmental assets of £21.0m.

Based on third party reports, the Group has assurmed the market price for food waste at the end of FY24 to be c£28/te. The reasonable worst case
scenario would be a reduction of the price by in excess of 27% to cE20/te, this would result in a reduction to the value in use of £5.0m. An annual
reduction in haulage of £0.2m has been assumed, if this assumption was rernoved the value in use would reduce by £1.6m. If the Poplars AD
energy price rernained flat at £52.16 this would reduce value in use by £1.0m. The ROC recycle benefit has been modelled at £7.93, if this was

£4 per ROG, it would reduce the value in use by £6.3m. If the discount rate increased to 12% this would reduce the value in use by £3.1m.

The above sensitivity analysis considers each assumption and related reasonable worst case scenario in isolation. The commercial reality
is that typically there will be mitigating operating factors that would offset the above impact in instances where the reasonable worst case
scenario is realised.

The maturity analysis of leasg liabilities is presented in Note 13,

The carrying amount of the Group's total right-of-use assets are analysed as follows:

2020
2020 Plant,
Land and vehicles and 2020
Group £m (unless stated) buildings equipment Total
At 30 March 2019 on adoption of IFRS 16 131.7 137.5 269.2
Additions 9.0 41.8 50.8
Depreciation [12.5) (33.8) (46.3)
Disposals 1.1) (0.1) (1.2)
1271 145.4 272.5
The split of new right-of-use assets recognised in the period is as follows:
2020
2020 Plant,
Land and vehicles and 2020
Group £m (unless stated)] buildings equipment Total
At 30 March 2019 on adoption of IFRS 16 129.6 5.3 134.9
Additions 9.3 124 217
Depreciation [12.4) 37) (16.1)
Disposals 11) - 1.1)
125.4 14.0 139.4

The carrying amount of the Group's property, plant and equipraent includes £422.4m [2019: £134.3m] in respect of leased assets, analysed as follows:

2020
2020 IFRS 18 2020
Group £m (unless stated) Post [FRS 16 adjustment Pre IFRS518 2019
Land and buildings 141.3 [(125.4]) 15.9 2.1
Plant, vehicles and equipment 2811 (14.0) 267.1 132.2
4224 (139.4) 283.0 134.3

The accurnulated depreciation of the Group’s property, plant and equipment includes £16.1m (2019: n/a) in respect of right-of-use assets.

2020
2020 IFRS16 2020
Group £m (unless stated) Post IFRS 16 adjustment Pre IFRS 16 2018
Land and buildings 14.2 (12.4] 1.8 2.1
Landfill sites - - - -
Plant, vehicles and equipment 135.8 37) 1321 132.2
150.0 [16.1) 133.9 134.3

No other assets have been pledged to secure borrowings.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Staternents continued

i4. Property, Plantand Equipment continued
Land and buildings and Jandfill sites at net hook amount comprise:

2020 2019
Land and Landfill Land and Landfill
buildings sites buildings sites
£m £m £m £m
Freehold 36.0 15.0 37.0 155
Long leasehold 403 134 13.0 14.0
Short leasehold 103.8 8.0 6.5 73
1801 364 5B.5 388

As at 27 March 2020 the Group had entered into contractual cormmitments for the acquisition of plant, property and equipment amounting to
£7.9m (2019: £6.5m).

15. Inventories

2020 2019

£m £m

Raw materials and consumables 18 2.5
Finished goods 143 119
161 14.4

Inventories are stated at the lowser of cost and net realisable value.

Inventories consumed in the period ended 27 March 2020 were £55.3m (2018: £45.8m]. Inventory written down in the period totalled £nil
(2019: £nil). Reversals of inventory previously written down in the period were £nil (2018: £nil).

16. Trade and Other Receivables

2020 2019
£m £rn
Amounts falling due within one year

Trade receivables 139.4 125.8
Less expected credit loss allowance 4.3) [(21)

Trade receivablas - net 135.1 1237

Other debtors 3.2 5.0

Propayments 24.1 11.9

Prepaid landfill provision expenditure 29 14

165.3 142.0

All ampunts included within other debtors and prepayments are due within one year. The movement in prepayrnents relate to the timing of
pavyments to suppliers. The in year increase £8.5m that has been paid to HMRC in respect of Landtill tax on sub-soils, further detail on this
is disclosed in Note 32. Trade receivables are non-interest bearing. Due W Uieir short maturities, tho fair value of trads and other receivables
approximates to their baok value. The average credit period taken on invoices was 38.1 days {2018: 38.1days).

Credit limits for new customers are assigned based on the potential customer's credit quality. An external credit scoring system is used
before assigning any credit limit over £500. Managerment monitors the utilisation of credit limits regularly. The trade receivables balance
consists of a large number of customaer balances, represented largely by local account customers, and there is no significant concentration
of credit risk.

Included in the Group's trade receivables balances are debts with a carrying amount of £21.1m (2019: £19.1m) which are past due at the
reporting date. As a result of COVID-19 and associated circumstances as at the 27 March 2020, there has been an increase in credit risk due

to a number of factors such as payment behaviour and financial pogition of our customers. This increase in credit risk has lead to an increase
in ECL of £2.0m.

The Group writes off a trade receivable when there is information indicating that the debtor is in severe financial difficulty and there
is no realistic prospect of recovery. None of the trade receivable that have been written off is subject to enforcement activities,

The following table details the risk profile of trade receivables. As the Group's historical credit loss experience does not show significantly
different loss patterns for different customer segments, the provision for loss allowance based on past due status is not distinguished
between the Group's type of custorner.
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Expected Lifetime
credit loss expected
rate % creditloss
As at 27 March 2020
Trade receivables - days past due
1to 30 days 1% 03
31to B0 days 1% -
6110 90 days 1% -
9110120 days 50% 0.5
Over 120 days 50% 1.5
Expected Lifetirne
creditloss expected credit
rate% loss
As at 29 March 2019
Trade receivables - days past due
1to 30 days 1% Q.2
31 to 60 days 1% -
61to 90 days 1% -
91 to 120 days 50% 0.6
Over 120 days 50% 1.3

The allowance for ECL includes individually impaired trade receivables which are in excess of 120 days overdue, in liquidation or are the
subject of legal action. The ECL recognised represents the difference between the carrying amount of these trade receivables and the present
value of any expected recoveries.

The following tabla shows the movement in ECL that has been recognised in trade and other receivables in accordance with the simplified
approach set out in IFRS 9.

2020 2019
£m £m
Movement in expected cradit losses
Balance at the beginning of the period 2.1 17
Impairment losses recognised D2 0.7
Amounts recovered during the period 1.4 07
Amounts written off as uncollectable 1.4) (1.0])
Expected creditlosses in relation to increase in credit risk 2.0 -
4.3 21
The Directors consider that the carrying amount of trade receivables approximates their fair value.
Long-term receivables
2020 2019
£m £m
Amounts falling due after more than one year
Funds on long-term deposit 2.2 2.4
Prepayment in respect of EVP Dispute (Note 34) 632.6 B3.6
Loans to Employes Benefit Trust - 2.9
Other long-term debtors 24 -
B68.2 B8.9

The Group is engaged in a dispute with HMRC in relation to the Langfill Tax treatment of certain materials used in the engineering of landfill
sites from Septemhber 2009 to May 2012. Prior to the IPO, the Group had hardship relief which meant payment was not required to bemade to
HMRC. Subsequent to the IPO the Group pre-paid the disputed armount to HMRC as disclosed in Note 34,

In determining the expected credit losses for these long-term receivabies, the Directors have taken into account the histarical default
experience and financial position of the counterparties. No expected credit loss has been recognised on the basis that the counterparties
are HMRC and A-rated financial institutions.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements continued

17. Cash and Cash Equivalents

2020 20198

£m £

Cash at bank and in hand 53.6 24.4
Short-term deposits 34.2 41.8
Balance at the end of the period 878 86.2

Deposits comprise £25.0m (2019: £36.2m) of funds on overnight deposit via a Group cash pooling facility and an insurance deposit of
£9.2m (2019: £57m) which represents ¢ash held as security for self-insurance obligations. Included within the total cash balance is £12.0m
(P0O19: £68.6m) which cannot be accessed by the Group as it is held as collateral against insurance liabilities by Bray Insurance Company
Limited, whichis the Group's captive insurance company.

18. Assets Classified as Held for Sale

2020 2019
£m £ro
Preehold land held for sale 0.1 a1

The Group holds a freehoid property that it no longer requires and intends to dispose of it within the next 12 months. A search is currently
under way for a buyer and the Diractors expect that the fair value less costs to sell will be higher than the carrying amount.

19, Financial Instruments

2020 2019
£m £

Amortised cost
Liguidity fund! 33 131
3.3 131

1 Qurrent investments held by Bray Insurance Company Limited, the Group's captive insurance company.

Derivative financial instruments

The derivatives that the Group has entered into qualify for hedge designation as a cash flow hedge under IFRS 8. The Group has entered into
forward foreign exchange rate contracts which all raature within one year. During the year the Group has also entered into interest rate swaps
which rnature in line with the Group’s revolving credit facility (RCF).

The forward foreign exchange contracts have resulted in the recognition of a derivative asset of £0.4m. During the year a loss of £0.6m has
been recognisaed in the statement of other comprehensive income.

The fair value of forward foreign exchange contracts and interest rate swaps are calculated by discounting the contracted forward values and
translating at the balance sheet rates. The fair value measurernents are classified as Level 2 in the fair value hierarchy as defined by [FR5 13
Tair Value Meoouromont, 2€ tha inpuils are from pbservable quoted exchanges.

The fair value and the notional amounts axe as follows:

2020 2019
Fair Fair
value Notional value Notional
£fm £m £m £m
Forward foreign exchange contracts 0.4 10.9 (07 16.0
Interest rate swaps [(1.6) 200.0 - -
n.2) 210.9 (07 16.0
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Borrowings
2020 2019
Book Book Book
value value value
Post IFRS 16 Pre Average Boak Average
IFRS 16 adoption IFRS 16 interest value interest
£m £m £m rate % £n rate %
Current

Lease liabilities 43.6 (15.0) 28.6 4.4% 317 5.8%

Non-current
Lease liabilities 214.4 [126.0) 884 4.4% 90.9 5.8%
Bankloans 249.0 - 249.0 2.6% 248.0 3.2%
EVP preference instrurment 47.6 - 47.6 5.5% 48.6 5.5%

511.0 (126.0) 385.0 3875
554.8 (131.0) 413.6 419.2

2020 2018
£m £m
Barnk borrowings including finance leases 507.0 370.6
EVP preference instrument 478 48.8
554.6 419.2

At 27 March 2020 the Group has an undrawn revolving credit facility (RCF] of £98m, (2019: £99m). Due to the nature of the RCT
and continued repayments and drawdowns, the cash flows were presented on a net basis in the Statement of Cash Flows.

In the year ended 29 March 2018, the Group settled its £200m term facility and entered into a £350.0m RCF. The costs of £3.0m attributed
to obtaining the facility were capitalised and continue to be amortised over the existing life of the facility. The unamortised costs of £3.8m
inrelation to the historic £200m term facility were written off as a finance charge in Other itemns (Note 3).

In the year ended 24 March 2017 certain pre-IP0 lenders were issued with preference share capital in Wasteholdco 1 Limited in exchange for
settlement of amounts due to them. In the event that the Group is successful in its EVP case (see Note 34) with HMRC, the EVP preference
shareholders will be entitled to certain funds recovered from HMRC by the Company.

The Directors consider it likely that the Group will be successful in the case and accordingly have recognised a liability in respect of the EVP
preference shares. In the event that the Group is unsuccessful in the EVP proceedings and does not recover the arnount prepaid to HMRC,
the Group expects to release the majority of the associated EVP liability as disclosed in Note 34.

Borrowings are measured at amortised cost with the exception of the EVP preference instrument which is measured at fair value. All
financial assets and financial liabilities have been categorised as Level 2. Level 2 financial instruments have been valued using inputs
other than gquoted prices that are observahle for the asset or liability either directly or indirectly.

Interest rates on borrowings

2020 2019
Average Average
interest interest
Principal rate Principal rate
£m % £m %
Term facility 249.0 2.6% - 3.2%

Unamortised transaction costs of £3.0rm incurred in the origination of these facilities have been netted against the carrying value of the
loans. The EVP preference instrument is non-interest bearing; however, in accordance with IFRS 9 Financial Instruments, an imputed
interest charge of 5.5% (2019: 5.5%) is being recognised.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements continued

19. Financial Instruments continued

Fair value of financial assets and liabilities

2020 2019
Book Fair Book Fair
value value value value
£m £m £m £m
Borrowings (507.0) (507.0) [370.8) (3708)
EVP preference instrument [(47.6) (47.8) (48.6) [48.8)
Trade and other payables! (Note 20) (233.2) [(233.2) [189.1) (189.1)
Derivative financial instrument 1.2) Lz) (0.7] (0.7]
Trade and other receivables? (Note 18] 135.1 135.1 1237 1237
Financial asset arising on liquity fund® 3.3 3.3 131 13.1
Financial asset arising from IFRIC 12° (Note 35] 3.4 34 - -
Funds on long-term deposit 2.2 2.2 2.4 14
Prepayment in respect of EVF Dispute B63.6 63.6 636 82.9
Other long-term debtors 25 2.5 2.9 2.9
Cash and cash equivalents [Note 171 87.8 87.8 66.2 66.2
[491.1) 491.1) (337.1) (338.8)

1 Trade and cther payables excludes deferred income, taxation and sorial security and other non-financial iabilities.
2 Trade and other receivables excludes prepaymments, ather debtors and acorued income.
3 Total financial assets are the liquidity fund and IFRIC 12,

The fair values of financial assets and liabilities are determined as follows:

Interest rate swaps are measured at the present value of future cash flows estimated and discounted based on the applicable yield curves
derived from quoted interest rates.

The fair values of non-derivative financial assets and liabilities are determined based on discounted cash flow analysis using current market
rates for similar instruments.

Financial risk management

The Group's activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: market risk {including capital risk management, cash flow interest rate risk,
currency risk and price risk), credit risl and liyuidity risk. The Croup'c overall risl management programmes focus on the unpredictability
of financial markets and seeit to minimise potential adverse effects on the Group’s financial performance. Financial risk management in
the above areas is carried out under a policy approved by the Board of Directors.

Capital risk management

The Group manages its capital structure using a number of measures and taking into agcount its future strategic plans. Such measures
include its net interest cover, liquidity and leverage ratios. Total capital is calculated as ‘equity’ as shown in the consolidated statement of
financial position plus Net Debt. Net Debt is calculated as total borrowings (including ‘current and non-current borrowings as shown in the
consolidated statament of financial position) less cash and cash equivalents. The Directors are satisfied that the current risk management
strategy is appropriate and effective.

Cash flow interest rate risk

The Group's interest-bearing assets include cash and cash equivalents which earn interest at floating rates. The Group's income and
operating cash flows are substantially independent of changes in market interest rates. The Group’s interest rate risk arises from long-term
borrowings. Borrowings issued at variable rates expose the Group to cash flow interest rate risk. Group policy is to maintain an appropriate
proportion of its borrawings at fixed rate using interest rate swaps to achieve this when necessary.
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The interest rate risk profile of the Group's financial assets and liabilities was as follows:

2020
2020 IFRS16 2020
Post IFRS 16 adoption Pre IFRS 16 2019
£m £fm £m £m
Financial liabilities
Floating rate financial liabilities (excluding derivatives) 249.0 - 249.0 248.0
Fixzed rate financial liabilities 258.0 (1410} 170 1226
Non-interest bearing financial liabilities 233.2 - 233.2 189.1
Non-interest bearing EVP preference ingtrument 476 - 47.6 48.6
Total financial liabilities 787.8 (141.0) 646.8 608.3
Fixed rate financial liabilities relate to lease liabilities. Nan-interest bearing financial liabilities cormprise trade payables.
2020 2018
£m £fm
Financial assets
Floating rate financial assets (excluding derivatives) B65.7 68.6
Floating rate financial assets (cash and cash equivalents) 87.8 B8.2
153.5 134.8
Non-interest bearing assets
Liquidity fund 3.4 131
Non-interest bearing financial agsets 135.1 123.7
1385 136.8
Total financial assets 292.0 2716
The interest on fixed rate financial instruments is fixed until the maturity of the investrnent. The interest on floating rate financial
instruments is re-set at intervals of 1ess than one year. The other financial assets and liabilities of the Group that are not included in
the above tables are non-interest bearing and therefore not subject to interest rate rislk.
Fixed rate and non-interest bearing f{inancial assets and liabilities are exposed to fair value interest rate risk and floating rate financial
assets and liabilities to cash flow interest rate risl.
The minirmum payments for lease liabilities fall due as follows:
2020 2020 2020
Post IFRS 168 IFRS 16 Pre I[FRS 16 2019
£m £m £m £m
No later than one year 517 (19.5) 3z.2 35.6
Later than one vear but not more than five years 145.6 (63.8) 81.8 841
More than five years 144.3 [123.4) 20.9 23.3
341.6 (206.7) 134.9 143.0
Future finance charges on leases liabilities (83.6) 65.7 (17.9) (20.4]
Present value of 1ease liabilities 258.0 (141.0) 117.0 122.6

Currency risk

The Group is exposed to currency risk arising from currency exposures primarily related to the disposal of RDF via export to Europe. The
Group enters into forward contracts to purchase Euros based upon expected costs. These derivatives are classified as cash flow hedges.

Price risk

The Broup is not materially exposed to any equity securities price risk. Both divisions are exposed to commodity price risks to a greater

or lesger degree on their outputs. The cormnmodities that the Group is exposed to commodity price risks on are fuel, electricity, paper, glass,
cardboard, steel, aluminium and plastics (including HDPE and PET). The price risk associated with commodities is considered to be in the
ordinary course of business faor the Group.

Creditrisk

Credit risk is managed on a Group basis as appropriate. Credit risk arises from cash and cash equivalents, derivative financial instruments
and deposits with banks and financial institutions, as well as credit exposures to customers, including outstanding receivables. For banks
and financial institutions, only independently rated parties with a minimum rating of A are accepted.

Biffa Annual Report and Accounts 2020 137

sjuswalels [eroveury soueuasog ayerodion JIoday] DI8B1ENIS

UOHBULIOJU] [BUOTIIPPY



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements continued

19. Financial Instruments continued
Credit risk continued
Management does not expect any significant losses of receivables that have not been provided for as shown in Note 16.

The carrying amount of financial assets recorded in the financial informatior, which is net of impairment losses, represents the Group’s
maxirmum exposure to credit risk. These amounts include receivable balances frora local authority clients, hence are not exposed to
significant credit risk, Given the above factors, the Board does not consider it necessary to present a detailed analysis of credit risk.
Liguidity risk

The Group ensures that there are sufficient committed loan facilities in order to meet short-term business requirements, after taking into
account the cash flows from operations and its holding of cash and cash equivalents. The expected undiscounted cash flow of the Group’s
financial liabilities (including derivatives), by remaining contractual maturity, at the balance sheet date is shown below:

2020
Due between Due between Due five
Due within one and twoand yearsand
one year two years five years beyond Total
£m £m £m £m £
Non-derivative financial liabilities
Borrowings, excluding lease liabilities - - [(252.0) - (252.0)
Lease liabilities (28.8) (25.9) (49.9) (13.1) (117.0)
IFRS 18 lease liability (15.0) (13.8) 37.3) (74.9) {141.0)
Trade and other payablas {233.2] - - - {e3a.2)
Contract liabilities (17.9) - - - 17.9)
Non-derivative financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents 87.8 - - - 87.8
Liguidity fund 3.4 - - - 3.4
Trade and other receivables 135.1 68.2 - - 203.3
Contract assets 56.2 - - - 66.2
[12.2) 285 [338.7) (88.0) (410.4)
2018
Due between Due between Due five
Due within one and two and years and
ane year WO years five years beyond Total
£m £m £rn £m £m
Non-derivative financial liabllities
Borrowings, excluding finance lease - - (261.0) - (261.0)
Finance Iease liabilities (35.6] (28.3) (65.7] (23.3] {142.93
Interest payments on borrowings - - - - -
Dther non-interest bearing liabilities {189.1) - - - (189.1)
Non-derivative financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents B66.2 - - - 66.2
Liquidity fund 131 - - - 13.1
Non-interest bearing financial assets 123.7 68.9 - - 192.6
(217} 405 [30B.7) (23.3) [313.1)

Interest rate sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analyses below have been determined based on the exposure to interest rates for both derivative and non-derivative
instruments at the balance sheet date. For floating rate liabilities, the analysis is prepared taking an average of the liability outstanding
over the period.

During the year ended 27 March 2020, the Group entered into a £260m Interest Rate Swap to fix its variable exposure to LIBOR. If interest
rates had been 2% higher/1% lower and all other variables were held constant, the Group's result for the 52 weeks ended 27 March 2020 would
increase/(decrease] by the arnounts shawn in the tabie below. This analysis assumes that, where interest rates are currently less than 1%, any
reduction is capped at zero.

2020 2019
2% increase 1% decrease 2% increase 1% decrease
interest rates interest rates interest rates interest rates
£m £m £ra £m
Gain/{loss]) - variable rate financial instruments (1.0} 04 (4.2] 27
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20. Trade and Other Payables

2020 2019
£m £m
Current
Trade payables 176.7 155.9
Taxation and social security 40.9 42.9
Interest payable 0.8 -
Accruals 556.2 32.6
Other payables 0.6 0.6
274.2 2320
Non-current
Trade and other payableg 13.6 137
£13.0m has been recognised in relation to the EVP Dispute as disclosed in Note 33.
21. Provisions
Landfill
restoration & Onerous
aftercare Insurance Contracts Other Total
£rm £m £ £m £m
As at 30 March 2018 742 12.6 77 11.9 106.4
Utilised (93] - - (1.1} (10.4)
Charged/(credited] to profit and loss account (0.8] 1.1) 9.4 [0.5) 70
Impact of real discount rate changes to profit and loss
account 16 - - - 1.6
Unwinding of discount 2.0 - - - 2.0
Transfers from fixed/other assets (0.3] - - - (03]
As at29 March 2019 674 11.5 171 103 108.3
Utilised (8.0) [0.4) - [2.4) (10.8)
(Credited)/charged to profit and loss account (0.9] [(0.1) 1.7 4.4 17
Impact of real discount rate changes to profit and loss
account [4.9] - - - [4.8])
Unwinding of discount 17 - - - 17
Transfers from fixed/other agsets 1.3 - - - 13
As at 27 March 2020 56.6 11.0 15.4 12.3 95.3
Provisions have been analysed between current and non-current as follows:
2020 2019
£fm £rm
Current 10.2 16.0
Non-current 85.1 80.3
95.3 106.3

Landfill restoration and aftercare

As part of its normal activities, the Group undertakes to restore its landfill sites and to maintain the sites and control leachate and methane
emissions from the sites, Provision is rnade for these anticipated costs. A number of estimate uncertainties affect the calgulation, including
the impact of regulation, accuracy of site surveys, transportation costs and changes in the real discount rate. The provisions incorporate

our best estimates of the financial effects of these uncertainties, hut future changes in any of these estimates could materially impact the
calculation of the provision, Restoration costs are incurred as each site is filled and in the period immediately after its closure. The provision
incorporates the best estimate of the financial effect of these uncertainties, but future changes in any of the assumptions could materially

impact the calculation of the provision.

Maintenance and leachate and methane control costs are incurred as each site is filled and for a nurber of years post closure.

Aftercare costs are incurred as each site is filled and for a number of years post closure. This period can vary significantly from site to site,

depending upon the types of waste landfilled and the speed at which it decomposes, the way the site is engineered and the regulatory

requirernents specific to the site.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements continued

21. Provisions continued

Changes in the provision arising from revised estimates or discount rates or changes in the expected timing of expenditures that relate

10 property, plant and equipment are recorded as adjustments to their carrying value and depreciated prospectively over their remaining
useful economic lives; otherwise such changes are recognised within the income staterment.

The associated nutflows are estimated to arise over a period of up to 60 years depending on the date of each site closure. In determining the
provision, the estimates for future expenditure required to settle the abligation are iniflated using longer-term inflation rates, and discounted
using the nominal discount rate. The rates utilised reflect the period of the obligation on a site by site basis which varies between 10 and

B0 years.

Long-term aftercare provisions included in iandfill restoration and aftercare provisions have been inflated and discounted using the below

nominal rates:

Inflation rate Discount rate
restated
Period of obligation 20206 2019 2020 2019
5vyears 2.1% 2.4% 2.1% 1.4%
10 years 2.3% 2.4% 2.1% 1.9%
20 years 2.3% 2.7% 2.5% 2.5%
30 years 2.1% 2.5% 2.4% 2.5%
60 years 1.6% 2.1% 2.2% 2.4%

An increase of 1% in the real discount rate [at current cost) would result in a dacrease of environmental provisions of approximately £10.3m.

A 10% increase in cash cutflows would result in an increased environmental provision of £5.9m.

Long-term aftercare provisions included in Iandfili restoration and aftercare provisions hava been inflated at a rate of 2.3% (2018: 24%].

An increase of 1% in the rate of inflation would result in an increase of environmental provisions of approximately £14.3m.

Insurance

The associated outflows are estimated to arise over a period of up to five years from the balance sheet date.

Other

Other provisions include a provision for dilapidations of £7.8m (2018: £8.0m) and £15.4m {2019: £17.1m) relating to onerous contracts.

The associated outflows are estimated to arige over a period of up to 20 vears from the balance sheet date.

22. Deferred Taxation

The following are the major deferred tax assets and liabilities recognised by the Group and movements thereon during the current period:

Temporary
difference
arising on Recognised
property. Retirernent tax losses
plantand Share-based benefit Intangible carried
equipment payments  Provisions obligation Goodwill assets farward Total
£m £m el £m £m £ Em £m
As at30 March 2018 324 18 15 (85) B8 [33.5) ils 14.6
Acquired [0.5)] - - - - 27) - (3.2]
Credit/[charge] to incorne statement 24 0.5 (13 - (0.9) 3.0 (2.8) {3.4]
Cradit/(charge] to SOCT - - - (4.9] - - - (4.9]
Credit/[charge] to retained earnings - (0.9) - - - - - [(0.9)]
As at 23 March 2019 29.5 1.4 0.9 (13.4]) 7.7 (33.2) 9.2 21
Acquired 0.3 - - - - [0.5) - {0.2)
Credit/{charge) to income statement (7.9} [0.4) - (1.9) - 07N 0.2 (107
Credit/{charge) to 50CI - (0.2] - (8.3) - - - (8.5)
As at 27 March 2020 21.9 0.8 0.9 (23.6) 1.7 33.4) 9.4 [(17.3)

A deferred tax liability of £17.3m (2019: £2.1m asset) has been recognised in the current year using the tax rate of 19% (2013: 17%). Deferred
tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets against current tax liabilities.

As at 27 March 2020 the Group had unused tax 1osses of £66.9m (2019: £71.9m) available for offset against future profits.

A deferred tax asset has been recognised in respect of £49.8mm [2019: £54.7m] of these losses. No deferred tax asset has been recognised

in respect of the remaining £17.2m (2019: £17.21n) as it is not considered probable that there will be future taxable profits available in the
statutory entity in which these 1osses are being carried forward.
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23. Share-based Payments

2020 2019

Date of grant Number Number
20 October 2016 - 2,282,240
24 January 2017 - 59,088
3July 2017 1,575,164 1622,420
1 September 2017 28,230 26,230
2 July 2018 870,176 938,125
1 October 2018 218,359 218,359
11 December 2018 18,819 18,819
1July 2019 1,773,968 -

The following share-based expenses charged in the year are included within administration expenses:

2020 2019

£m £m

Performance Share Plan 3.0 38

During the year tha Group had three conditional share-based payrment arrangements granted to Directors and amployees. The schemes are

equity settled.

Performance Share Plan

Number of Share price

options  Contractual atdate Nurmber of Fair value

originally life of grant employees Expected Expectedlife Risk free per option

Date of grant granted (years) (pence) at grant volatility [vears) rate (pence)
20 October 2016 2,635,794 2.65 179.5 13 27% 2.65 0.25% 105.2
24 January 2017 84,189 2.4 186.8 4 27% 24 0.23% 109.3
3 July 2017 2,198,313 3.0 221.8 78 2e% 3.0 0.36% 154.6
1September 2017 26,230 2.8 228.8 1 26% 2.83 0.22% 1618
2 July 2018 1,014,880 2.9 251.0 36 24% 293 0.71% 1732
1 October 2018 218,359 2.9 253.0 2 24% 2.93 0.89% 173.8
11 December 2018 18,819 2.8 192.2 1 24% 2.93 0.90% 1141
1July 2019 1,773,988 3.0 211.0 37 25% 3.0 0.54% i12.8

The Group has used the stochastic model to value its share awards.

The expected volatility is a measure of the amount by which a share price is expected to fluctuate during the period. It is typically calculated
based on statistical analysis of daily share prices over the length of the award period. Due to the recent listing of Biffa plc this information
isnot available, Instead it has been based on the volatility of another company of a similar size which operates in the same market.

A reconciliation of movements in the number of share awards can be summarised as follows:

Numbt_ar of
options
originally Lapsed/
Date of grant granted Vested forfeited 27 March 2020
20 October 2016 2,635,794 [1,664,399) (971,395) -
24 January 2017 84,189 {43,157) (41,032) -
3 July 2017 2,198,313 - [623,149) 1,675,164
1 Septernber 2017 26,230 - - 26,230
2 July 2018 1,014,880 - (144,704) 870,176
1 October 2018 218,359 - - 218,359
11 December 2018 18,819 - - 18,819
1July 2019 1,773,988 - - 1,773,988
At27 March 2020 7,970,572 (1,707,5656) (1,780,280) 4,482,736
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Staternents continued

23. Share-based Payments continued

The Performance Share Plan (PSP) provides for the grant of awards in the form of conditional free shares or nil-costs options. Shares in
relation to the award will be released to participants subsequent to the date of the preliminary announcement of results for the 2013/20
financial year dependent upon the extent to which the performance conditions of achievernent of adjusted EPS targets for the fiscal year
ended March 2020 and performance of the Company's relative total shareholder growth have been satisfied. The EPS fair value is equivaient
to the share price at grant date on the basis that it is a non-market based measure.

In 2017 the Group launched the Biffa Sharesave Plan 2017 (the Scheme) o all employees with six months’ or more continuous employment
at the date of the Scheme launch. The Scheme is subject ta HMRC rules which limit menthly contributions to £500 and the option price for
this award was £1.58 being a 20% discount to the average market price over the three consecutive days preceding the offer date. The Scheme
term is for three years and options may be exercised during the six months after cormpletion of the Save as You Earn contract.

During the pericd 444,438 options were granted at a fair value of 34.8 pence, and as at 27 March 2020 403,290 were outstanding under the
Scheme. The share price at award was £2.07 and the option price was £1.81.

24. Share Gapital

Nuwmber of Called up share

shares capital

£

As at 29 March 2019 260,000,000 2,600,000
As at 27 March 2020 250,000,000 2,500,000

Share premivm
The share premium represents amounts received in excess of the nominal value of shares issued upon IP0, net of the direct costs associated
with issuing those chares.

fm
Asg at 27 March 2020 and 29 March 2019 2356.3

Merger reserve
The merger reserve of £74.4m arose on the acquisition of Wasteholdeo 1 Lirnited and is the difference between the carrying value of the net
assets acquired and the nominal value of the share capital.

25. Retained Earnings/(Deficit)

2020 2019

Ern fm

Retained earnings/(deficit) at the start of the period 484 29.0
Adjustment in respect of adoption of IFRS 15 - [6.2)

Profit for the period 45.6 18.0

Other comprehensive incaome for the period 328 22.4

Shares purchased by employee benefit trust [9.1) -

Employee service in respect of share aption schemes (Note 23) 2.4 2.2
Dividends paid {18.3) {17.0)

Retained surplus at the end of the peripd 101.6 48.4
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26. Cash Flows from Operations

2020 2018
£m £fm
Profit/(loss) for the period 45.6 18.0
Adjustments for:
Finance incorme 3.4) [1.5]
Finance charges 21.0 25.4
Share of result in joint vanture 01 -
Taxation 10.8 35
Operating protit 741 45.4
Share based payments 3.0 38
Exceptional items [(Note 3) 4.4 18.2
Amortisation of intangibles (Note ) 17.9 17.8
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment (Note 8) 82.6 B7.7
Protit on disposal of fixed assets (L0} (2.8
(Increase) in inventories .7 1.7
{Increase)in receivables (14.7) (0.9)
Increase in payables 32.3 4.1
(Increase)/decrease in financial asset 9.2 (8.2)
(Decrease) in provisions (12.3) [11.0]
Total cash generated from operations 193.8 133.0
27. Reconciliation of Net Cash Flow to Movement in Debt
2020 2019
£m £m
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 216 25.4
Net (increase) in bortowings [135.9) (59.5])
Movemnent in Net Debt in the period [113.8) (34.1)
Net Debt at beginning of period (353.0) (318.9)
Net Debt at end of period (466.8) (353.0)
Analysis of Net Debt
2020 2020 2020
PostIFRS 16 IFRS 16 PreIFRS 16 2019
£m £m £m £fm
Cash and cash equivalents 87.8 - 87.8 B6.2
Lease liabilities (258.0) 141.0 {117.0] (122.6)
Bank loans (249.0) - (249.0) (248.0)
EVP preference liability (6.3) - (6.3) (6.3)
Reported Net Debt (425.5) 141.0 (284.5) {3107)
EVP preference liability (41.3) - [(31.3) [42.3)
(466.8) 141.0 (325.8) [353.0)
0f the EVP preference liability, £8.3m has been included within Reported Net Debt as it will be payable to EVP preference shareholders
irrespective of the outcomne of the EVP Dispute. The remaining £41.3m has been excluded on the basis that it will only become payable
subject to the outsome of the EVP Dispute and will be funded by recovery of funds from HMRC.
The Groups leverage is calculated on reported Net Debt ag follows:
2020 2020 2020
Post IFRS 16 IFRS 16 PreIFRS 16 2019
£m £m £m £m
Cash and cash equivalents 878 - 878 BB.2
Lease liabilities (258.0) 1410 7o [(122.6)
Bankloans (249.0) - (249.0) (P48.0)
EVP preference liability (6.3) - (6.3) (8.3)
Reported Net Debt (425.5) 141.0 (284.5) (310.7)
Reported Net Debt: EBITDA 2.4x [0.6)x 1.8x 2.1x
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Staterments continued

27. Reconciliation of Net Cash Flow to Movement in Debt continued

Changes in liabilities arising from financing activities

The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities arising from financing activities, including both cash and non-cash changes.
Liabilities arising from financing activities are those for which cash flows were, or future cash flows will be, classified in the Group’s
consolidated cash flow staternent as cash flows from financing activities.

Non-cash changes

Asat New Asat

29 March  Adoption of Financing Fair value Acquisition finance Cther &7 March

2019 IFRS 18 cashflows movements of subsidiary lgases changes 2020
Lease liabilities (122.6) (134.9) 50.2 - [0.5) (50.8) 0.6 (268.0)
Bank loans (248.0) - (1., - - - - (249.0)
EVP preference liability (48.8) - - 1.0 - - - (47.6)
(419.2) [134.9) 49.2 1.0 {0.5) (50.8) 0.6 [554.6)

The cash flows in respect of the Group’s bank loans include repayrments of £251.0m and drawdowns of £252.0m.

Non-cash changes

Asat New Asat

29 March Financing Fair value Acquisition finance Other 29 March

2018 cashflows movements of subsidiary leases changes 2019
Obligations under finance leases (118.8) 33.0 - (1.9) [36.5) 18 [122.6)
Bank loans [194.7) (461) - - - (8.2) [248.0)
EVP preference liahility (46.2] - 243 - - - (48.6)
[358.7) (12.1) (2.4) (1.9) [36.5) (6.B) [419.2)

28. Lease Liabilities
2020 undiscounted lease liability maturity analysis under IFRS 16

2020
Land and

buildings Other Total

£m £m £m

Within one vear 15.0 36.7 51.7

Between one and five years 54.8 90.8 1456

After five years 133.0 113 144.3
202.8 138.8 ~ 341.1

Reconciliation of operating leases under IAS 17 to cpening IFRS 16

2020

fm

Dperating lease commitments disclosed under IAS 17 a1 258 March 2019 173.4
Short-term and low-value lgase commitments straight-line expensed under IFRS 16 0N
Effect of discounting (37.8)
Exempt [o.2)
Lease liabilities recognised at 30 March 2019 134.9

Amounts recognised in the Income Statement arising from IFRS 16 leasa liabilities have been included in Note 8. These charges include
depreciation and short-term or exempt leases. Interest on lease liabilities have been surnmarised in Note 4, Right-of-use assets and

the associated movernent in the year are sumraarised in Note 14. The transition narrative in reiation to IFRS 18 is included in Note 1.
Repayment of lease liabilities are included within the Statement of Cash flow.

2019 operating leases under IAS 17

2019

Land and
buildings Other Total
£m £m £m
Within one year 14.4 24 16.8
Between one and five years 510 31 541
After five years 102.5 - 102.5
167.9 55 173.4

144 Biffa Annual Report and Accounts 2020



29. Pension and Post-retirement Benefits
Defined contribution schemes

2020 2019
£m £m
Defined contribution expense 10.2 9.8

Defined benefit schemes

The Group operates a nurnber of defined benefit schemaes: Biffa Pension Scheme (BPS], the Cornwall Pension Fund (the Cornwall Fund], an
Unfunded Unapproved Retirerment Benefits Scherme [UURBS), the Federated Pension Plan (FPP), Prudential Platinum [Platinum]), the Kent
County Council Pension Fund (the Kent Fund), the Staffordshire Pension Fund {the Staffordshire Fund) and the Greater Manchester Pension
Fund (GMPF] (collectively, the Schernes). The Schemes offer both pensions in retirement and death benefits to members. All the Schemes
are closed to new mernbers. The BPS, Platinum, the Cornwall Fund, the Kent Fund and the Staffordshire Fund are open to accrual although
the BPS is closed for the majority of members and only a few employees with statutory protections remain in active service. The BPS makes
up around 95% of the total liability across the Schemes.

The Schemes expose the Group to actuarial risks such as market (investment) risk, interest rate risk, inflation risk currency risk and
longevity risk, Contributions to the Schemes for the year ended 26 March 2021 are expected to be £5.9m.

The Schemes’ are administered by Trustees and the assets are held separately to the legal entity that is the Group. The Trustee board

of the Schemes is composed of an independent Trustee, and other ernployer and member nominated Trustees (where the legal minimum
proportion of member nominated Trustees has been upheld). The Trustees are required by law to act in the best interasts of the members
of the Scheme. The Trustees are responsible for the investment policy with regard to the assets of the Schemes.

The Group considers two measures of the Schemes surplus or deficit. The accounting position is shown on the Group balance sheet. The
funding position, calculated at the triennial actuarial assessment, is used to agree contributions to the Schemes. The two measures will
vary because they are for different purposes, and are caloulated at different rates and in different ways. The key calculation difference is
that the funding position considers the expected returns of Scheme assets when calculating the Schemes liability, whereas the accounting
position under IAS 19 discounts liabilities based on corporate bond yields.

The Schemes have an accounting surplus that is fully recognised on the basis that future economic benefits are unconditionally available
in the form of a reduction in the future cash contributions or as a cash refund. Where a surplus of a defined benefit scheme arises or there
is potential for a surplus to arise from committed future contributions the rights of the Trustees to prevent the Group obtaining a refund

of that surplus is considered in determining whether it is necessary to restrict the amount of the surplus that is recognised.

A full actuarial valuation of the Schemes was carried out as at 31 March 2015 which revealed a funding shortfall of £66.7m. The Group
committed to deficit payments of £3.85m each year to 31 March 2017 and escalating with RPI inflation each year from 31 March 2018 to
31 March 2024.

The Group is an admitted body in one other scheme that is part of the Local Government Pension Schemes. The contractual terms of the
cormmercial agreements that admit the Group to the schemes limit the actuarial risk that the Group is exposed to; consequently the scheme
has been accounted for as a defined contribution scheme,

Investment risk

The present values of the Schermes' liabilities are calculated using a discount rate determined by reference to yields available on high-quality
AA-rated corporate bond vields; in other words, from the position of being fully funded then if the return on the Schemes' assets were below
this rate, it would create a deficit in the Schemes.

In addition to the natural interest rate hedging provided by its investment in bonds the Trustee also purchases derivatives to ensure that the
funding position of the Schermes are, overall, hedged against B0% of movements in long-term risk free interest rates and 60% of movements
in inflation expectations. No annuities or specific mortality hedging products have been purchased by the schemes.

Interest risk
A decrease in the corporate bond yield will increass the Schemaes’ liabilities; however, this will be partially offset by an increase in the value
of the Schemes’ corporate bond assets.

Longevity risk
The present values of the Schemes’ liabilities are calculated by reference to the best estimate of the mortality of the Schemes' members
both during and after their employment. An increase in the life expectancy of the Schemes’ members will increase the Schemes’ liabilities.

Inflation risk

The present values of the Schemes’ liabilities are calculated by reference to the future expected pension indexation (both indexation in
deferment and pension increases in payment), which will depend on future inflation expectations. As such, an increase in the expectation
of future inflation will increase the Schemes' liabilities.

The Iump surn death benefits paid to the dependants of the Schemes’ mermbers are insured with an external insurance company.

The present value of the obligation, and the related current service cost and past service cost, were measured using the projected unit
credit method.

The COVID-19 pandemic

The COVID-19 pandernic has had a global impact on econormies, equity and bond markets. Market volatility during March has had an impact
on the value of assets held by our DB and DC pension plans. Our UK DB plans have low-risk investment strategies with limited exposure to
equities and other return seeking assets.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements continued

29. Pension and Post-retirement Benefits continued
A full actuarial valuation of the Schemes was carried out as at 31 March 2015 and has bean updated to 27 March 202G by a qualifiad
independent actuary. The major assumptions used by the actuary were (in nominal terrs) as follows:

2020 2019
£m £rn
Discount rate 2.5% 2.5%
Rate of salary increase 2.5% 3.3%
Rate of inflation - RP1 2.8% 3.3%
Rate of inflation - CP1 2.0% 2.3%
Rate of pension increases! - RPI with floor of 0% cap of 25% p.a. 2.1% 2.2%
Rate of pension increases® - RPI with floor of 0% cap of 5.0% p.a. 2.8% 3.2%
Rate of pension increases® - RPI with floor of 0% cap 0f6.0% p.a. 2.8% 3.3%
Rate of pension increases® - CPI with floor of 0% cap of 3.0% p.a. 1.9% 2.2%
Longevity (years)
Expected future lifetime of a male pensioner currently aged 65 20.9 210
Expected future lifetime of a female pensioner currently aged 85 22.9 233
Expected future lifetime from age 65 of a male mermber currently aged 50 21.9 22.0
Fxapected future lifetime frorn age 65 of a female member gurrently aged 50 24.5 241
1 Inexcess of any Guaranteed Minimum Pension (GMP).
The assets in the Schemes were:
2020 2019
£m % £m %
Asset category
Equities i02.8 17.1% 1268.2 21.4
Bonds 327.8 84.7% 301.9 514
Properties and infrastructure 80.9 13.5% 828 16.8
Hedge funds 39.5 6.6% 49.9 85
Other 48.3 8.1% 16.8 2.9
599.3 5878
Actual return on plan assets 26.3 46.9

The fair value of all of the abuyve asset Glasses are dotermined bused on qunted (bid) market prices. Virtually all equity and debt instruments
have gquoted prices in active markets. Derivatives are classified as Level 2 instruments and hedge funds and property as Level 3 instruments.
It is the policy of the Schemes to use hedge funds and liability driven investments to hedge some of their exposure to interest rate and
inflation risks. This policy has been irnplemented during the currant and prior years.

The key source of estimation uncertainty relates to the valuation of the property portfolio, where a valuation is obtained annually from
professionally qualified external valuers. The evidence to support these property valuations is based primarily on recent, comparable
market transactions on an arm's length basis. However the assumptions applied are inherently subjective and so are subject ta a degree
of uncertainty, especially as a result of Covid-19 and volatile assumptions as at the balance sheet date.

Anincrease in the property valuation of 10% would increase pension assets by £8.1m. An increase in the valuation of unquoted assets of 10%
would increase pension assets by £1.2m.

Reconciliation of opening and closing balances of the present value of the defined benefit obligation

2020 2018
fm £m
Benefit obligation at beginning of period 523.8 472.8
Newly recognised obligations - 42.8
Service cost 2.8 3.2
Past service cost - 31
Interest cost 12,9 137
Contributions by Schema participants 0.4 05
Net remeasurernent (gains)/losses ~ financial (29.3) 29.2
Net remeasurerment (gains) - demographic (0.4) (7.9}
Net remeasurement [gains) - experience {a.5) (14.5)
Benetits paid (19.8) {18.9)
Benefit obligation at end of period 485.9 523.8
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Reconciliation of opening and closing balances of the fair value of Schemes’ assets

2020 2019
fm £m
Fair value of Schemes' assets at beginning of period 5876 524.9
Newly recognised GMPF asset - eve
Interest income on Schemes' assets 14.5 14.6
Return on assets, excluding interest income 11.8 323
Contributions by employers 5.9 5.8
Contributions by Schemes’ participants 0.4 05
Benefits paid (19.8) 18.9)
Scheme administrative cost 1) (0.8)
Fair value of plan assets at end of period 599.3 5876
Amounts recognised in comprehensive income in respect of defined benefit Schemes
2020 2019
£m £m
Current service cost 2.3 3.2
Past service cost - 31
Administrative cost 11 0.8
Adjustment in respect of Greater Manchester Pension Fund (0.7) (0.8)
Net interest on tha net defined benefit liability (2.0) (1.3)
Components of defined benetit cost recognised in profit or loss 1.2 5.0
Remeasurement on the net defined henefit liability
Return on Schemes' assets [excluding amounts in net interest expense) 11.8 32.3
Actuarial gains and losses from changes in financial assumptions 294 (29.2)
Actuarial gain from changes in demographic assumptions 0.4 7.9
Actuarial gain from changes in experience assumptions 4.5 14.5
Moverment in agset ceiling (5.2) 18
Components of defined benefit cost recognised in other comprehensive income 40.9 27.3

The current service cost is included in operating costs in profit or loss. The net interest expense is included within finance ¢harges in the
consolidated staterment of profit or loss.

The remeasurement of the net defined benefit liability is inciuded in other comprehensive income.

The amount included in the consolidated statement of financial position arising frorn the Group’s obligation in respect of its defined benefit
Schemes is as follows:

2020 2019
£m £m
Present value of funded defined benefit abligation (485.9) (523.8)
Fair value of funded Schemes' assets 599.3 587.6
Adjustment for the restriction in asset benefit 1.7) (0.3)
Adjustment in respect of GMPF agreement 13.0 155
Net asset arising from defined benefit obligation 124.7 79.0

Significant actuarial assumptions for the determination of the defined benefit obligation are the discount rate, expected future inflation
and mortality. The sensitivity analyses below have been determined based on reasonably possible changes of the respective assumptions
occurring at the gnd of the reporting period, while holding all other assumptions constant.

If the discount rate is 0.5% lower the defined benefit asset would decrease by £50.5m (2019: £56.6m).
If the inflation assumption increases by 0.5% the defined benefit asset would decrease by £42.6m (2018: £44.2].

If the life expectancy increases by one year for both men and women, the defined benefit asset would decrease by £13.4m (2019: £21.8m).

Biffa Annual Report and Accounts 2020 147

SUaWae)S [eFueury a0ueRUIBAD] 8yeroding yoday o18aieng

Uon el [BUOTIpRY



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements continued

29. Pension and Post-retirement Benefits continued
The sensitivity analysis presented above may not be representative of the actual change in the defined benefit abligation as it is unlikely
that the change in assumptions would occur in isolation of one another as some of the assumptions may be correlated.

Furthermore, in presenting the above sensitivity analysis, the present value of the defined benefit obligation has been calculated using the
projected unit credit method at the end of the reporting period, which is the same as that applied in calculating the defined benefit obligation
liability recognised in the staterment of financial position.

The Schemes’ participating employers are Biffa Waste Services Limited, Biffa Municipal Limited, Biffa Environmental Municipal Services
Limited, Biffa Leicester Limited and Biffa West Sussex Limited. These subsidiaries fund the cost of any protected members’ future accrual
[tothe extent that any protected members rernain working for each of these companies) earned on a yearly basis.

Protectaed members pay a range of fixed contributions of pensionable salary depsnding on what section of the Schemes they are in. These
contributions range from 3% to 6% of pensionable salary. The residual contribution (including past service augmentations) is paid by the
above entities of the Group. These contributions, required to fund accrual, are agreed between Biffa Corporate Holdings Limited (the Principal
Employer] and the Trustees of the Schemes following each triennial valuation of the Schemes.

In accordance with the Pensions Act 2004, the Schemes' liabilities are measured using a prudent discount rate at the triennial valuation,
but some asset sutperformance is allowed for when calculating the deficit recovery contributions paid for by the participating employers.
Additional liabilities sternming from past service due to augmentation of benefits ayre added to the Schemes’ deficit.

The average duration of the benefit cbligation at 27 March 2020 is approximately 21 years (2019: 21 years).

The Group expests to make a contribution of £4.0m (2019:; £4.2m) to the Schemes during the financial year to 26 March 2021,

30. Related Party Transactions
There have been no material related party transactions in the 52 weeks ended 27 March 2020 (201%: nil] except for key management
compensation as set out in the Directors’ Remuneration Report.

Details of the Directors’ rernuneration arae set out in the Directors' Remuneration Report on pages 62-83. There have been no related party
transactions with any directors in the year or in the subsequent period.

During the year to 27 March 2020, the Group invested £6im in Newhurst ERF Limited a joint venture that the Group haolds 50% share in through
Newhurst ERF Holding Limited. This is therefore a related party of Biffa Plc. On financial close the Group received from the joint venture
reimbursement for development costs incurred. There was one other related party transaction in the year. The Group issued loan notes

of £2.2m to Newhurst ERF Holding Limited, the parent company of Newhurst ERF Limited. Both parties can redeem the notes at any time.
Annual rate of interest on the notes is eight per cent. This whole balance remained outstanding at year end. None of the amount is deemed

to be uncollectable and no expenses have been recognised during the period in respect of bad or doubtful debts in this regard.

No Directors held any material interest in any contract with the GCornpany or the Group in the year or subsequent period to 27 March 2020.
The Group has made £10.2m {2019: £8.2m] contributivns to the pension schermes.
31. Subsidiary Undertakings

Al subsidiary undertakings have a financial year ended coterminous with Biffa plc unless otherwise noted. The Companies disclosed below
are deemed to be the principal subsidiaries of the Group.

Prineipal subsidiary Place of incorporation Activity Shareholding
Biffa Municipal Lirnited’ England and Wales Waste management  160%
UK Waste Management Limited! England and Wales Waste management  100%
Biffa Waste Management Limited’ England and Wales Waste management  100%
Biffa West Sussex Limited? England and Wales Waste management  100%
Eray Insurance Company Limited? Gibraltar Insurance services 1806%
Barge Waste Management Limited’ England and Wales Waste management  100%
Island Waste Services Limited! England and Wales Waste management  100%
Paplars Resaurce Management Company Limited? England and Wales Waste managerment  100%
Biffa Waste Services Limited! England and Wales Waste management  100%
Biffa Leicester Limited? England and Wales Waste management  100%
Biffa Environmental Municipal Services Limited? England and Wales Waste management  100%
Weir Waste Services Lirnited? England and Wales Waste management  100%
Weir Recycling Services Limited!? England and Wales Waste management  100%
Specialist Waste Recycling Limited®* England and Wales Waste management  100%

1 Registered at Coronation Road, Cressex, High Wycombe, Buckingharmshire HP12 3TZ.
2 Registered at Fiduciary Manageraent Limited, Suite 23 Portland House, Glacis Road, Gibraltar, GX111A4

3 Registered at Annan Suite, 10 York Place, Edinburgh, Seotland EH1 3EP
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32. Contingent Liabilities

The Group must satisfy the financial security requirements of environmental agencies in order to ensure that it is able to discharge the
obligations in the licences or permits that the Group holds for its landfill sites. The Group satisfies these financial security requirements

by providing financial security honds. The amount of financial security which is required is determined in conjunction with the regulatory
agencies, as is the method by which assurance is provided. The Group has existing bond arrangements in England and Wales of approximately
£85.7m outstanding at 27 March 2020 (2019: £84.9m) in respect of the Group's permitted waste activities where the Group has obligations
under the Environment Agency’s fit and proper person test to make adequate financial provision in order to undertake those activities.
Additionally the Group has bonds to a value of £18.0m (2019: £19.8m) in connection with security for performance of local authority and
other contracts. Noliability is expected to arise in respect of these bonds. The Group also has two letters of credit in relation to Newhurst EfW
amounting to £38.8m.

The Group is engaged in a dispute with HMRC in relation to the landfill tax treatment of certain materials used in the engineering of landfill
sites from September 2008 to May 2012, which is fully explained in Note 34,

The Group is also engaged in a dispute with HMRC in relation to the landfill tax treatment of sub-soils with low levels of contamination from
asbestos. At the date of signing of the accounts the outscome is not certain, however the Group has received a protective assessment of £8.5m,
which has been paid and is included in prepayments in the current year as the Group is disputing this assessment.

The Group is subject to a number of other HMRC enquiries which are on-going.

33. Joint Ventures
Details of each of the Group's joint ventures at the end of the reporting period are as follows:

Place of incorporation and Propoartion of ownership interest and voting

Name of joint venture Principal activity principal place of business rights held by the group
2020

Newhurst ERF Holding Ltd Energy from waste England and Wales 50%
Newhurst ERF Limited Energy from waste England and Wales 50%

All of the above joint ventures are accounted for using the equity method in these consolidated financial staternents as set out in the
Group's accounting policies in note 1.

Summarised financial information in respect of each of the Group's material joint ventures is set out below. The summarised financial
information below represents amounts in joint ventures financial statements prepared in accordance with IFRS Standards adjusted by
the Group for equity accounting purposes.

2020
£m

Current assets 4.4
Non-current assets 28.0
Current liabilities 7.0
Non-current liabilities [22.2]
The above amounts of assets and liabilities include the following:
Cash and cash equivalents 1.9
Current financial liabilities (excluding trade and other payables and provisions) (5-2)
Non-current financial liabilities (excluding trade and other payables and provisions] (22.2)
Revenue
Profit or loss from continuing operations -
Profit/(loss] for the year (0.1)
Other comprehensive income attributable to the owners of the company (1.8)
Total comprehensive income 1.9)

The above profit (loss] for the year include the following:

Depreciation and amortisation

Interest income

Interest expense

Income tax expense (income)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements continued

33. Joint Ventures continued
Reconciliation of the above summarised financial information to the carrying armount of the interest in the joint venture recognised in the
Consolidated financial statements:

2020

E£m

Net assets of joint venture 6.0
Proportion of the Group’s ownership interest in the joint venture 50%
Soodwill -
Carrying amount of the Group’s interest in the joint venture 3.0
2020

£m

Interest in joint venture at 30 March 2019 -
Addition 4.9
Share of post-tax results (0.1)
Share of net loss on cash flow hedge in joint venture 1.8)
Interest in the jaint venture at 27 March 2020 3.0

34. EVP-related Items
The Group is engaged in a dispute with HMRC concerning historical Landfill Tax.

HMRC claims that the Group is liable for £61.9m of Landfill Tax in respect of certain waste materials deposited in Biffa's landfill sites from
20089 to 2012 (EVP). Biffa contests that the material was used in the sites for an engineering purpose and is not therefore subject to Landfill
Tax. Notwithstanding the Group’s opinion on the tax treatment of this material, since 2012 all materials of this nature have been subjected
to Landfil) Tax. The matter was heard by the Second tier Tax Tribunal which found in Biffa's favour. The Environment Agency has exercised
its right to appeal this decision.

The contested amount was originally unpaid under a hardship agreement with HMRC but was paid to HMRC following the refinancing
of the Group upon its [P0 in October 20186. In addition to the payment of £61.8mm, the Group paid £1.7m in interest in the prior year.

The Directars, having taken appropriate advice, da not believe that a liability to tax exists, and accordingly have treated the payrnent
of the tax and associated interest as a prepayment.

As part of the IPO of the Group, arrangerments were put in place to make certain payments to the shareholders and certain members of employee
incentive schemes of the Group immediately prior toits Listing, subjeci lu and in respect of tho outcome of tha dispute. A liability of £47.6m
has been recognised in borrowings, an accrual of £13m has been recognised in non-current liabilities, and a non-underlying non-cash interest
charge of £1.1m has been recognised in finance charges in respect of these obligations. Of the liability of £47.6m, £6.3m has been included
within Reporrard Niet Neht as it wil) be payable irraspective of the outcome of the dispute. The rernaining balance of £41.3rn has been excluded
from Reported Net Debt.

35. Service Concession Arrangements

The Group has two integrated waste management contracts with Leicester Gity Council (25 years - awarded in 2003) and West Sussex
County Council (85 years - awarded in October 2010). The concessions vary a8 to the extent of their abligations, but typically require
the construction and operation of an asset during the concession period including scheduled maintenance and capital expenditure.
The operation of the assets includes the provision of waste management services such as collection, recyeling and disposal. Typically
at the end of concession periods the assets are returned to the concession owner. There have notbeen any significant changes to these
arrangements in the period. The construction of the infrastructure for West Sussex County Coungil was funded by the Council and
therefore falls outside of the scope of IFRIC 12 and no financial asset or intangible has been recognised. A financial asset of £3.4m

has been recognised in relation to the Leicester City Council contract (Note 19].

These contracts generated revenue of £457m in the 52 weeks ended 27 March 2020 (2019: £49.6m). The contract with Leicester City
Council is ioss making and a return to profitability is not expected and as such an anerous contract provision has been recognised.

36. Non-principal Subsidiary Undertakings
The following entities complete the full list of the Company's subsidiary undertakings. All subsidiaries are 100% awned and consolidated
unless otherwise stated.

Name Country of incorporation  Activity Shareholding
Wasteholdco 1 Limited*™*? Jersey Holding company 100%
Wasteholdco 2 Limited*? Jersey Holding company 100%
Biffa Group Holdings Lirmited*? Jersay Holding company 100%
Biffa Group Limited*! England and Wales Hoiding company 100%
GS Equity Go® Cayman Islands Holding company 100%
GS Acquisitions Limited*! England and Wales Holding company 100%
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Name Country of incorporation  Activity Sharehaolding
Biffa GS Holdings Limited** England and Wales Holding company 100%
Material Recovery Nominees Limited*! England and Wales Dormant 100%
Biffa G5 UK Holdings Limited*! England and Wales Holding company 100%
Biffa GS (LPP] Limited*! England and Wales Waste management  100%
Biffa GS Environmental Limited*t England and Wales Waste management  100%
Biffa GS (RUR) Limited*! England and Wales Dormant 100%
Biffa GS Environmental Recycling Limited* England and Wales Waste managemeant  100%
Biffa GS (M&B) Limited*! England and Wales Waste management  100%
Biffa GS (FC) Limited™* England and Wales Waste management  100%
Biffa (WES) Limited** England and Wales Waste management  100%
Biffa Group Holdings (UK} Limited* England and Wales Holding company 100%
Biffa Corporate Services Limited*! England and Wales Dormant 100%
Biffa Corporate Holdings Limiteg* England and Wales Holding company 100%
Biffa Netherlands Bv.* Netherlands Holding company 100%
Biffa Servicios de Energia Mexico SA de CV.** Mexico Waste management  100%
Empresa de Servicios Espezialoados en Generacion de Ener-gia, S.A.de CV.*  Mexico Waste management  100%
Biffa Waste Limited* England and Wales Waste management  100%
Biffa Holdings (Jersey) Limited*? Jersey Holding company 100%
Biffa UK Group Limited*! England and Wales Dormant 100%
Biffa UK Limited*! England and Wales Dormant 100%
Biffa (UK) Holdings Limited*! England and Wales Waste management  100%
UK Waste Managemment Holdings Limited*! England and Wales Waste management  100%
A Smith & Sons (Waste Disposal] Limited*! England and Wales Dormant 100%
Biffa (Land) Limited*® Guernsey Waste management  100%
Pilmuir Waste Disposal Limited*! England and Wales Dormant 100%
Biffa [Roxby) Limited*! England and Wales Waste management  100%
Norwaste Limited™? England and Wales Dormant 100%
Loristan Services Ltd England and Wales Dormant 100%
Biffa West Sussex Holdco Limitgd*! England and Wales Dormant 100%
Bray 2008 (Malta) Limited*’ Malta Holding company 100%
Reclamation & Disposal Limited*! England and Wales Dormant 100%
Biffa Holdings Limited*! England and Wales Holding company 100%
Biffa (Jersey) Limited*? Jersey Holding company 100%
Richard Biffa (Reclamation) Limited*! England and Wales Dorrant 100%
M Joseph & Son (Birmingham) Limited*! England and Wales Dormant 100%
Biffa Pension Scheme Trustees Limited*! England and Wales Dormant 100%
Cressex Insurance Services Limited*! England and Wales Dormant 100%
White Cross Limited*! England and Wales Dormant 100%
Wastedrive Limited*! England and Wales Dormant 100%
Wastedrive (Manchester) Lirnited! England and Wales Waste management 100%
Amber Engineering Limited*! England and Wales Waste management  100%
('Brien Waste Recycling Solutions Holdings Limited*! England anad Wales Holding company 100%
O’Brien Waste Recycling Solutions Lirnited*! England and Wales  Waste management  100%
SWR Plastics Limited™ England and Wales Dormant 100%
SWR Waste Management Limited* England and Wales Dormant 100%
Smash & Grab Glass Recycling Limited*! England and Wales Dormant 100%
Wastecutter Limited™ England and Wales Dormant 100%
New Star Environmental Limited* England and Wales Waste management 100%
SWR Equipment Limited™ England and Wales Dormant 100%
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Staternents continued

36, Non-principal Subsidiary Undertakings continued

Name Gountry of ingorporation  Activity Shareholding
SWR Smash & Grab Limited* England and Wales Waste managernent  100%
RUR3 Environmental Lirmnited* England and Wales Waste management  100%
National Waste Collection Limited* England and Wales Dormant 100%
SWR Just Bins Limited*! England and Wales Dormant 100%
SWRNewstar Limited™! England and Wales Dormant 100%
Protos Investco Lirnited England and Wales Waste management  100%
Newhurst ERF Holding Limited*** England and Wales Waste management  50%
Newhurst ERF Limited**® England and Wales Waste management  50%
*  Financial year ended 27 March 2020,
** Financial year ended 31 December 2019
***Directly held by Biffa plc.
1 Registered at Coronation Road, Cressex, High Wycombe, Buckinghamshire HP12 3TZ.
2 Registered at 44 Esplanade, St Helier, Jersey, JE4 9WG.
4 Registered at Strawinskylaan 3127 8e verdieping, 1077Z2X Armsterdam.
5 Registered at Intertrust Corporate Services (Cayman) Limited, 190 Elgin Avenue, George Town, Grand Cayman KY13005
6 Registered at PO Box 119, Martello Court, Admiral Parls, St Peter Port, Guernsey, GY1 3H.
7 Registered at Development House, 8t Anne Street, Floriana, Malta.
8 Registered at Suite 1, 3rd Floor 11-12 St Jarnes's Square, London, England, SW1Y 4LB
37. Assets and liabilities related to contracts with customers
The Group has recognised the following contract assets and liabilities related to contracts with customers:
2020 2018
£m £m
Current contract assets 56.2 B54.2

Current contract liabilities {17.8) (176)

The timing of payments received from custemers, relative lu Lhs iwcocding of revenue, can have a significant impact on the contract-related
assets and lianilities recorded on the Group's Staternent of Financial Position.

Contract liability is what was previously reterred to as deferred income under TAS 18. Included within contract liability is £0.1m (2019: £0.1m)
in relation to Governrmerit grantys wlilcli will be 1ecoginisad in lace than one yasr

Certain contracts have payment terms based on contractual milestones, which are not necessarily aligned to when revenue s recognised,
particularly for those contracts with revenue recognised over-time by reference to the stage of completion. Where work is carried out and
revenue recognised in advance of the customer being invoiced this creates a contract asset. Where revenue is received in advance of work
carried out and therefore the revenue recognised a contract liability arises.

The contract assets primarily relate to the Group's right to consideration for worik completed bul not invoiced at the Statement of Financial
Position date. The contract assets are transferred to trade receivables when the amounts are agreed by the customer. On most contracts,
certificates and agreement is by the customer on a monthly basis, All contract assets held at 27 March 2020 are expected to be invoiced
and transferred to trade receivables within the next 12 months. The movement in contract assets relates to £66.2m performance obligations
satisfied in the year and recegnised as revenue £54.2m which has been transferred to trade receivables.

None of the contract assets at the end of the reporting period are past due, and, taking into ascount the historical default experience
and the future prospects in the industry, the directors consider that no contract assets are impaired.

The contract liabilities primarily relate to the advance consideration received from customers in respect of performance obligations which
have not yet been fully satisfied and for which revenue has not been recognised. All contract liabilities held at 27 March 2020 are expected
to satisfy performance obligations in the next 12 months. The movement in contract liabilities rglates to £17.8rm performance obligations
satisfied and recognised as revenue in the year and £17.8rm cash received for performance obligations not satisfied.

38. Dividends
As annopunced in the COVID-19 update on 25 March 2020 the Board recornmended there will be no final dividend for the year ended
27 March 2020. An interim dividend of 2.47p per share was paid on 20 December 2019. All dividends were paid from distributable reserves.

39. Post balance sheets
There have been no post balance sheet events.
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Parent Company Statement of Financial Position

The parent company statements are prepared under FRS 101 and relate to the Cormpany and not to the Group. The accounting policies which
have been applied tg these accounts can be found on page 155 and a separate independent auditor’s report on page 88-101.

2020 2019
Notes £m £m
Assets
Non-current assets
Investments 2 255.8 2565.7
Trade and other receivables 3 34.3 29
280.1 254.4
Current assets
Other receivables 3 - 34.0
Cash and cash equivalents 4 0.1 0.1
Current liabilities
Derivatives financial instruments 5 (1.3) (0.7}
Trade and other payables 6 (33.6) (29.3)
Net current assets/(llabilities) (34.8) 4.1
Net assets 256.3 2627
Equity
Cailed up share capital 7 25 2.5
Share premium 235.3 235.3
Retained earnings 19.8 20.2
Hedging and other reserves 2.3) 4.7
Total surplus/(deficit) attributable to shareholders 255.3 2827
Retained profit for the year was £17.9m (2019: £27.6rn).
The Financial Staternents on pages 1563 to 154 were approved by the Board and signed on its behalf by:
70
e .
Richard Pike
Director
Biffa plc
Registered no: 10336040
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Parent Company Statement of Changes in Equity

Retained
Calledup Share Hedgingand earnings/ Total
share capital premium  otherreseyves (definit) equity
£m £m £m fm £m
Ag at 30 March 2018 25 235.3 18 9.5 249.2
Profit for the period - - - 276 27.8
Cashflow hedges - - [0.4) - (0.4}
Value of emnployee service in respect of share option
schernes and share awards - - 3.3 - 3.3
Dividends paid - - - [17.0) [17.0]
As at 29 March 2019 2.5 2353 a7 20.2 2827
Profit for the period - - - 17.9 17.9
Cashflow hedges - - [0.8) - (0.8)
Shares purchased by employee beneift trust - - (8.8] - (8.8)
Value of employee seyvice in respect of share option
schemes and share awards - - 24 - 24
Dividends paid - - - [18.3] (18.3)
As at 27 March 2020 25 2353 @3] 19.8 255.3

As permiitted by section 408 of the Companies Act 2006, the Company has not presented its own income statement or statement of comprehensive
income. The protfit of the Company for the year attributable to shargholders was £17.9m.

The Company's distributable reserves amount to £19.8m (2019: £20.2m] at the end of the period. The Company regularly reviews its distributable
reserves and makes dividend recapitalisations as and when necessary to ensure it can make all expected dividend payments. The company
has suificient subsidiary reserves to enable recapitalisation in 2021 and going forward.
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Accounting Policies to the Parent Company Financial Statements

Basis of Preparation
These Financial Statements relate to Biffa plc, a publicly traded company incorporated and domiciled in England and Wales, The registered
address is Coronation Road, Cressex, High Wycombe, Buckinghamshire, HP12 3TZ.

These Financial Statements present the results of the Company as an individual entity and are prepared on the going congern basis,
in accordance with Financial Reporting Standard 101 ‘Reduced Disclosure Framework’ (FRS 101) and the Companies Act 2006.

The Company is part of a larger group and participates in the Group's centralised treasury and banking arrangements. The Company
is expected to generate positive cash flows to continue to aperate in the foreseeable future.

The Company has not presented its own income statement or statement of cormprehensive income as permitted by section 408
of the Companies Act 2008.

The Financial Statements have heen prepared in accordance with the accounting policies set out below, which have been consistently
applied to all the years presented except where the Company has elected to take the following exemptions under FRS 101:

m The requirements of IAS 7 'Statement of Cash Flows".
m The requirements of paragraph 17 of IAS 24 ‘Related Party Disclosures’ in respect of key managerment personnel.
m Requirements of IAS 24 ‘Related Party Disclosures’ to disclose transactions between wholly owned members of the Group.

w The requirements of IFRS 7 'Financial Instrurments: Disclosures|, as equivalent disclosures are provided in the consolidated Financial
Statements of the Group to which the Company helongs.

m Therequirements of IFRS 2 '‘Share-based Payrmaeants'.

w Therequirements of paragraphs 91 to 99 of IFRS 13 ‘Fair Value Measurernents', as equivalent disclosures are presented in the consolidated
Financial Staternents.

Areas of Judgement and Key Sources of Estimation Uncertainty
Judgement
Due to the uncertainty following COVID-18 the company considers Expected Credit Loss [ECL) on inter-company balances tobe a key judgement.

Estimation
The Cormpany does not have any key assumptions concerning the future, or other key areas of estimation uncertainty in the reporting period
that may have a significant risk of causing material adjustment to the carrying amount of assets and liabilities within the next financial year.

Investments

Investments are initially stated at cost. Investments are tested for impairment when an event that might affect asset value has occurred.

An impairment 10ss is recognised to the extent that the carrying amounts cannot be recovered either by selling the asset or by the discounted
future cash flows from the investment.

Dividend Distribution
Final dividend distribution to the Company’s shareholders is recognised as a liability in the Company’s Financial Statements in the period
in which the dividends are approved by the Company's shareholders. Interim dividends are recognised when paid.

Other Receivables
Other receivables are recognised initially at fair value less any provision for expected credit loss. They are subsequently held at amortised
cost less any provision for expected credit loss.
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Accounting Policies to the Parent Company Financial Statements continued

Derivative Financial Instruments and Hedging Activities

Derivatives ara initially recognised at fair value on the date a derivative contract is entered into and subsequently remeasured at fair value
at each balance sheet date. The method of recognising the resulting gain or 1oss depends on whether the derivative is designated as a hedging
ingtrument and, if so, the nature of the iterm being hedged.

The Company designates certain derivatives as either a) fair value hedge (hedges of the fair value of recognised assets or liabilities);
or b) cash flow hedge (hedges of a particular risk agsociated with a recognised asset or liability or a highly probable forecast transaction);
or ¢] net investment hedge (hedges of net investments in foreign operations).

The Company documents the transaction relationship between the hedging instruments and hedged items at inception. At inception and
at each reporting date the Company assesses whether the derivatives used have been highly effective in offsetting changes in the fair value
of hedged items.

The fair values of derivative instruments used for hedging are shown in Note 5. Moverments in the hedging reserve are shown in the statement
of changes in equity.

At the reporting date the Company has no fair value hedges or net investment hedges.

Cash Flow Hedge

The effective portion of changes in the fair value of derivatives that are designated as cash flow hedges are recognised in equity. The Company's
cash flow hedges in respect of forward foreign exchange contracts result in recognition in either profit and loss or in the hedging reserve.

When a hedging instruraent expires or is sald, or when the hedge no longer raeets the criteria for hedge accounting, any cumulative gain or
1oss in equity at that time remains in equity and is recognised when the forecast transaction cccurs. When a forecast transaction is no longer
expected to occuy, the cumulative gain or loss that was reported in equity will be transterred to the income statement.

Changes in the fair value of any derivative instrumants that do not qualify for hedge accounting are recognised immediately in the income staternent.
Other Payables

Accounts payable are classified as current liabilities if payment is due within one year or Jess. If not, they are presented as non-current
liabilities.

Share Capital

Drdinary shares are classified as equity and are recorded at par value of proceeds received. Where shares are issued above par value,
the proceeds in excess of par value are recorded in the share premium account net of direct issue costs.
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Notes to the Parent Company Financial Statements

1. Employees and Directors
Details of the remuneration received by Directors of Biffa plc are included in the Directors’ Rernuneration Report on pages 66 to 83, Biffa pic

has two employees (2019: two).

2. Investments

2020

£m

As at 29 March 2019 255.7
Movements relating to share options granted/[(issued) on behalf of subsidiary employees 0.1
As at 27 March 2020 255.8

There have been no indicators of impairment during the year and no requirement for impairment. The Directors believe that the carrying
value of the investments is supported by their underlying net assets.

Disclosure of the Company's subsidiaries is given in Notes 31 and 36 of the Group Financial Statermnents.

3. Trade and Other Receivables

2020 2019
£m fm
Amounts falling due within one year
Armounts due from subsidiary undertaking - 34.0
Amounts falling due after more than one year
Amounts due frorm subsidiary undertaking 34.0 -
Other receivables 0.3 29
Total 34.3 29

During the vear amournts due from subsidiary undertakings was reclassified to falling due after more than one year due to managerments assessment.

The Directors consider that the carrying armount of trade receivables approximates their fair value.

4. Cashand Cash Equivalents

2020 2019
£m £m
Cash at bank and in hand 01 01
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Notes to the Parent Company Financial Statements continued

5. Fair Value of Financial Assets and Liabilities

2020 2019

Book value Fair value Book value Fairvalue

Financial assets and liabilities £m £m £m £rn
Derivative asset [.3] 1.3) {0.7] (o7

Trade and other receivables 34.3 343 36.9 36.9

Cash and cash equivalents 0.1 04 01 01
Trade and other payables [(33.8) (33.6) [28.3) (29.3)

Total financial assets and liabilities (0.5) (a.5) 7.0 7.0

Derivative financial instruments

Full details of the derivative financial instruments are disclosed in Note 19 of the Group Consolidated Statements. The fair valug and the
notional arnounts are as follow:

2020 2019
Fair value Notional Fair value Notional
£m £m £m £m
Forward foreign exchange contracts 0.4 10.9 (o7 18.0
Interestrate swaps (1.8) 200.0 - -
6. Trade and Other Payables
2020 2019
fin fm
Non-current
Amounts payable to subsidiary undertakings (33.8) (29.3)
Dther - -
Total trade and other payables (33.6] (29.3)

All creditors are unsecured.

The fair value of non-derivative financial assets and liabilities are determined based on discounted cash flow analysis using current market
rates for similar instruments.

7. Called up share capital

Number of Called up
shares share capital
Nn £
As at 27 March 2020 and 29 March 2019 250,000,000 2,500,000

8. Related Party Transactions
There have been no material related party transactions in the 52 weelks ended 27 March 2020 (2019: nil) except for key management compensation
as set out in the report of the remuneration comrmittee.
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9., UK Registered Subsidiaries Exempt from Audit
The following UK subsidiaries will take advantage of the audit exemption set out within sectior 4794 of the Companies Act 2006 for the

period ended 27 March 2020. Unless otherwise stated, the undertakings listed below are 100% owned, either directly or indirectly, by Biffa plc.

Name Proportion of shares held by subsidiary (%) Company nurcber
GS Acquisitions Limited 100% 07255980
Biffa GS Holdings Limited 100% 04602885
Materials Recovery Nominees Limited 100% 05186581
Biffa GS UK Holdings Lirmited 100% 04631832
Biffa GS (LPP) Limited 100% 02278396
Biffa GS Environmental Limited 100% 03446693
Biffa GS (RUR) Limited 100% 045394882
Biffa GS Environmental Recycling Limited 100% 04786413
Biffa GS (M&B) Limited 100% 01173507
Biffa GS (FC) Limited 100% 04800628
Biffa Group Holdings (UK] Limited 100% 04081901
Reclamation and Disposal Limited 100% 00879315
Biffa Waste Limited 100% 04084432
Biffa UK Group Limited 100% 03650457
Biffa UK Limited 100% 03650459
Bitfa (UK) Holdings Limited 100% 03249158
UK Waste Management Limited 100% 01362615
A, Smith & Sons (Waste Disposal) Limited 100% 013486573
Pilmuir Waste Disposal Limited 100% 01829739
Biffa Waste Management Limited 100% 01138022
Biffa (Roxby) Limited 100% 02031961
Norwaste Limited 100% 01041912
White Cross Lirnited 100% 01537610
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements continued

9. UK Registered Subsidiaries Exempt from Audit continued

Name Proportion of shares held by subsidiary [%) Company nurnber
Wastedrive Limited 100% 01396771
Wastedrive (Manchester] Limited 100% a1517254
Biffa Holdings Limited 100% 01032104
Richard Biffa (Reclamation] Limited 100% 00829000
Barge Waste Management Limited 100% 02843409
Island Waste Services Lirnited 100% 01652791
M. Joseph & Son (Birmingham) Lirnited 100% 00440100
Amber Engineering Limited 100% 01067283
O'Brien Waste Recycling Solutions Limited 100% 09362987
O'Brien Waste Recycling Solutions Holdings Limited 100% 09560589
Weir Recycling Services Lirmited 100% 333908664
Woeir Waste Services Limited 100% 03777183
SWR Equipment Limited 100% 08974078
SWR Plastics Limited 100% 07800637
SWR Waste Management Limited 100% 07800679
Smash & Grab Glass Recycling Limited 100% 07800734
Wastecutter Limited 100% 08212454
National Waste Collection Limited 100% 09700337
SWR Just Bins Limited 100% 10060304
SWRNewstar Limited 100% 11098385
UK Waste Management Holdings Limited 100% 02536345
Protos Investco Limited 100% 12216502
Biffa [WES] Limited 100% 02729607
Biffa West Sussex Holdeo Limited 100% 07001231
New Star Environmental Limited 100% 07306131
SWR Srnash & Grab Limited 100% 05867032
RUR3 Environmental Limited 100% 068304761
Loristan Services Limited 100% 01390710
Newhurst ERF Holding Limited 50% 11998817
Newhurst ERF Limited 50% 12005738

In accordance with section 479C of the Companies Act 2006, the Company will guarantee the debts and liabilities of the above UK subsidiary

undertakings. As at 27 March 2020 the total surn ot these debls aind lialnlilies is £33.7 million.
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Glossary

A

Acquisition Acquisition Net Revenue Growth in any period FTSE Financial Times Stock Exchange
NetRevenue representsthe Net Revenue Growth in the - -
Growth relevant period from (i) acquisitions completed FY Financial Year
in the relevant period and (ii) acquisitions
completed inthe 12 months ended to the G
start of the relevant pericd up to the 12 month - -
anniversary of the relevant acquisition date GDPR General Data Protection Regulation
(to the extent such Net Revenue falls in the GHG Greenhouse gas
current period). Acquisition Revenue Growth is
calculated on the same basis, using revenue in H
place of Net Revenue
Anaerobic Anaerobic digestion, a8 process that generates HDPE High-density palyethyiene
Digestion renewable electricity using biogas created from
biodegradable waste material [primarily food I
waste] in the absence of oxygen 1&C Industrial and commercial business
Admission The Company’s admission of its shares to the UK " . .
Listing Authority's Official List and listing on the 10 Initial Public Offering
Main Market of the London Stock Exchange on
20 October 2016 I<
AFPM Alternative Performance Measures KPIs Key Performance Indicators
C Kktns or kt Thousand tonnes
CO:e Carbon dioxide equivalent is a standard L
unit in carbon accounting to quantity Leverage Ratio of Reported Net Debt to Underlying EBITDA
greennhouse gas emissions, emissions A
reductions and carbon credits Ratio
LTI Lost Time Injury Frequency rate, a safety

benchmarking measure calculated as the
number of lost time injuries occurring in

EfW Energy from waste, typically from the a workplace per 100,000 hours worked
incineration of RDF
ERF Energy recovery facility M
ESG Environmental, Social and Governance M&A Mergers & acquisitions
ES08 Energy Savings Opporturity Scheme - MBT Mechanical and biclogical treatment
amandatory energy assessment scheme X . e
for organisations in the UK that meet the MRF Materials recycling facility
qualification criteria MW Megawaltt
EV Electric Vehicle MWh Megawatt hour
EVP Engineered into the void permanently, related N
to the use of certain material at a landfill site,
placed at specified depths immediately below National Grid  High-voltage electric power transmission
the geomembrane layer at the top of a landfill network in the UK
cell, for use in capping the site -
Net Capex Cash capex less proceeds from disposal of
tangible assets
Net Revenue  Statutory Revenue excluding landfill tax,
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unless stated otherwise, ‘revenue’ refers
to Statutory Revenue

161

SIUaWIL RIS TRIDURUL] aouewIaAos) ayelodiog 11oday o1dayens

VOReWIOLUY [EUOTIPDY



Glossary continued

0

U

Organic Net
Revenue
Browth

The increase/(decrease] in net revenue in the
period excluding net revenue from acquisitions
completed in the period and net revenye from
acquisitions cormpleted in the prior period up

to the anniversary of the relevant acquisition
date, to the extent such net revenue fails in the
current period. Organic net revenue growth can
be expressed both as an absolute financial value
and as a percentage of prior period revenue

PET Polyethylene terephthalate

PSP Performance Share Plan

RCF Revolving credit facility

RDF Refuse-derived fuel, produced by processing
solid waste to segregate largely vombustible
components for incineration

Recyclate Raw material sent to, and processed in, a waste
recycling plant or materials recycling facility

Reported Net Debt excluding the EVP preference instrument

Net Debt

Return on Operating Profit excluding exceptional iterns

Capital and impact of real discount rate changes to

Employed landfill provisions divided by the average of

(ROCE) opening and closing shareholders' equity plus
Net Debt (including finance ieases], pensions
and environmental provisions

Return on Underlying Operating Profit divided by the

Operating average of opening and closing Tangible Fixed

Assets (ROOA) Assets plus net working capital

RIDDOR Reporting of Injuries, Diseases and Dangerous
Occurrences Regulations 2013

ROC Renewable Obligations Certificate

SD6s Sustainable Development Goals - a collection
of 17 global goals (set by the UN] designed to
be a “hlueprint to achieve a better and more
sustainable future for ail”

Section 172 Section 172 of the Companiaes Act 2008

ors172

SHEQ Safety, health, environment and quality

5IP Share Incentive Plan

SWR Specialist Wasta Services
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Underlying Undetlying Earnings per Share is expressed

Earningsper  asunderlying profit after tax dividend by the

Share weighted average number of shares in the year

UN United Nations

Underlying Profit befare depreciation and amortisatior,

EBITDA exceptional items, impact of real discount rate
changes to landfill provisions, {inance costs and
taxation, Divisional underlying EBITDA is stated
after allocation of sharad services costs

Underlying The net increase/{decrease] in cash and ¢ash

Free Cash aquivalents excluding dividends, restructuring

Flow and exceptional items, acquisitions, movement
in financial assets and movements in borrewings
or share capital (but including finance lease
principal payments)

Underlying Frofit before exceptional items, amortisation of

Operating acquisition intangibles, impact of real discount

Profit rate changes to landfill provisions, finance costs
and taxation. Divisional underlying operating
profit is stated after allocation of shared
service costs

Underlying Underlying Profit after tax is the profit or loss

Prafit after for the period a5 adjusted for nor-underlying

Tax operating iterns (exceptional iterns, amortisation
of agquisition intangibles and impact of real
discount rate changes to landfill provisions),
non-underlying net interest items and
non-underlying taxation

Underlying Underlying Operating Profit margin is expressed

Operating as Underlying Operating Profit as a percentage of

Profit Margin  Statutory Revenue

vlogs Video blogs

Void Measure of potential capacity of a landfill site
in cubic metres

WEEE Waste Electronic and Electrical Equipment

Working Working Capital Movement represents the

Capital movement from the previous period in relation

Movement to inventories, trade and other receivables, trade

and other payables and provisions adjusted for
the impact of acquisitions on these balances
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Forward-looking statements

Certain statements made in this Annual Report are forward-looking
and are based on current expectations. The statements are subject
to assurmptions, inherent risks and uncertainties, many of which
are beyond the Company’s control and which could cause actual
results to differ significantly from those expected. Unless required
by law, regulations or accounting standards, the Company does

not undertake to update or revise any forward-looking statement,
whether as a result of new information or future developments. Any
forward-looking statements made by or on behalf of the Group speak
only as of the date that they are made and are based on knowledge
and information available to the Directors on the date of this Annual
Repart. Nathing in this Annual Report should be regarded as a profit
forecast or constitute an offer to sell or an invitation to buy any
shares in Bitfa plc,

Website

The Company's website www.biifa co.uk gives additional information
on the business. Notwithstanding the references made in the Annual
Report to the website, none of the information made on the website
constitutes part of this Annual Report or is deemed to be incorporated
by reference herein.
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